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„ HENRY VIII.

aspects, extenuating nothing nor selling down aughl in malice, is a task of no

Utile (lidiculty. It is two centuries and a half since Lord Herbert produced

his Life and licigii of Henrij VIII. The late Mr. Brewer, in his prefaces to the

first four volumes of the Letters and Papers of the Heign of Henry VIII.,

published under the direction of the Master of the Rolls, dealt adequately with

the earlier portion of Henry's career. But Mr. Brewer died when his work

reached the year 1530; his successor, Dr. James Gairdner, was directed to

confine his prefaces to the later volumes within the narrowest possible limits;

and students of history were deprived of ihe prospect of a satisfactory account

of Henry's 'later years from a writer of unrivalled learning.

Henry's reign, from 1530 onwards, has been described by the lale Mr. Froude

in one of the most brilliant and fascinating masterpieces of historical literature,

a work which still holds the field in popular, if not in scholarly, estimation.

But Mr. Froude does not begin until Henry's reign was half over, until his

character had been determined by influences and events, which lie outside

the scope of Mr. Froude's inquiry. Moreover, since Mr. Froude wrote, a Hood

of lio-ht has been thrown on the period by the publication of the above-mentioned

Letters and Papers; they already comprise a summary of between thirty and

forty thousand documents in twenty thousand closely piinled pages, and, when

completed, will constitute the most magnificent body of materials for the

history of any reign, ancient or modern, English or foreign. Simultaneously

there have appeared a dozen volumes containing the State papers preserved at

Simancas, and similar series comprising the correspondence relating lo Venice,

Scotland, and Ireland; while the despatches of French ambassadors have been

published under the auspices of the Ministry for Foreign Afl'airs at Paris. Still

further information has been provided by the labours of the Historical Manuscripts

Commission, the Camden, the Royal Historical, and other learned Societies.

These sources probably contain at least a million definite facts relating to

the reio-n of Henry VIII. ; and it is obvious that the task of selection has become

heavy as well as invidious. Mr. Froude has expressed his concurrence in

the dictum that the facts of history are like the letters of the alphabet; by

selection and arrangement they can be made lo spell anything, and nothing can

be arranged so easily as facts. E.iperto crede. Yet selection is inevitable, and

arrano-ement essential. The historian has no option if he wishes to be intelligible.
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111- will iKiliirally arrange his (acts so thai they spell whal lie believes lo he the

liulli; and lie iiiusL oC nccessily suppress those facts which he judges to he

inimalerial or incousislent with ihe scale on which he is writing. And il' ihe

superabundance of facts compels both selection and suppression, it counsels no

less a restraint of judgment. A case in a court of law is not sin)i)lificd by a

cloud of witnesses; and the new wealth of contemporary e\i(lence does not solve

Ihe problems of Henry's reign. It elucidates some points liilherto obscure, but it

raises a host of others never bel'ore suggested. In ancit'ut history we often

accept statements written hundreds of years aflei' the event, simply because we

Uiiow no belter; in modern history we frequently have half a ilo/.en witnesses

giving inconsistent accounts of what they have seen with their own eyes.

Dogmatism is merely the result of ignorance ; and no honest historian will

[jretend to have mastered all the fads, accurately weighed all the evidence, or

pronounced a final judgment.

The present volume does not profess lo do more than roughly sketch

Henry \'lll.'s more prominenl characteristics, outlines the chief features of his

policy, and suggest some reasons for the measiu'e of success he attained.

Episodes such as the divorce of Catherine of Aragon, the dissolution of the

monasteries, and the determination of the relations between Church and State,

would severally demand for adequate treatment works of much greater bulk than

the present. On the divorce, valuable light has recently been thrown by

Dr. Stephan I'^hses in his RomiscJie Dokiiineiile. The dissolution of the monas-

teries has been exhaustively treated from one point of view by Dr. Gasquet; but

an adef|uate and impartial history of what is called the Reformation still remains

to be written. Here it is possible to deal with these questions only in the

briefest outline, and in so far as they were affected by Henry's personal action.

For my facts I have depended entirely on contemporary records. It was not

consistent with the scheme of this series to load these pages with foot notes and

references; but I have endeavoured, so far as was practicable, to indicate in the

text the source of my statements. If I quote a Venetian, his words will be found

in the ^'enetian Calendar; if a Spaniard, in the Spanish; the bulk of the facts

will be found under the dates in the Letters and Papers of Henry ] HI. The

deductions from these facts are my own. I have depended as little as possible

even on contemporary historians, and scarcely at all on later writers. I have,
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however, made frequent use of Dr. Gairdner's artirles in ihc Dictionary of

National Biography, particularly of that on Henry VIII., the best summary extant

of his career; and I owe not a little to Bishop Stubbs's two lectures on Henry VIII.,

While the text of this volume is devoted to the work of a man eminent in

statecraft, the illustrations are largely reproductions of the Avork of a man no

less eminent in art. Rarely has there occurred so remarkable a conjuncture of

a great ruler and a great painter, as when Holbein was summoned to the Court of

Henry VIII. The portraits included in this volume are mainly a Holbein Gallery;

but their selection has been attended with the same difllculty, as the selection

of facts for the text. There was the same superabundance of material. It was

originally proposed to reproduce portraits of Erasmus, of Luther, of the Popes

Julius II. Leo X. and Clement VII., of Ferdinand and Maximilian, of Francis I.

and Charles V. All these men have been painted by tiie greatest masters of

art, such as Diirer and Titian, Raphael and Andrea del Sarto, and all came into

fairly close contact with Henry VIII. The association might have excused the

presence in these pages of Raphael's Julius and Titian's Charles V. ; but our main

business is with Henry VIII. and his Queens, with Wolsey and More, Cromwell

and Cranmer. In a gallery of European celebrities little room would have been

left for the English men and women and for the English art, with which this

volume is chiefly concerned. Even with this limitation, the field was wide and

the task of selection severe. Two principles have been kept in view, the

historic importance of the person represented and the artistic merit of the

representation. But these two principles do not always work in harmony.

Many of Holbein's best pictures were painted for private patrons, whose public

insignificance precluded their appearance in these pages. Occasionally great

men neglected to sit for their portraits or failed to secure their due preservation.

Of Henry himself, the best portrait is said to be that at Petworth, but it did

not admit of reproduction. Some, like the magnificent cartoon in the Duke of

Devonshire's possession, are sadly decayed; but, fortunately, it has been possible

to supply their place from other collections. Portraits of VV^olsey abound, but
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none are by Holbein. They are all of one conventional type, the original of

which is not easy to trace; and most have been much overpainted in subse-

quent years by inferior hands. The recently discovered drawing at Arras is of

interest as being contemporary and as giving the only full face of the Cardinal

known to be extant; but its artistic merits are slight.

Another difficulty arises from the reckless fashion in which pictures have been

ascribed to Holbein's brush in defiance of the most elementary facts of history

and of Holbein's biography. The fact has not yet been grasped that Holbein

only arrived in England in 1526-7 and died in 1543 ; and that, therefore, no

portrait of Edward VI. as King, no portrait representing him as more than six

years old, can possibly be by Holbein. The same reason forbids the ascription

to Holbein of any portrait representing Henry VIII. as more than fifty-two.

Such portraits may contain technical similarities to Holbein's work; but this

intrinsic evidence counts for nothing against the fact of Holbein's death, and

merely proves that he left behind him a school of skilful imitators. No English

portraits other than those painted between 1527 and 1543 can come from Holbein's

studio. Within these limits the follo^ving portraits may reasonably be ascribed

to Holbein; the Sir Thomas More, the Cromwell at Tyttenhanger, the Prince

Edward at Hanover, the drawing of Henry at Munich, the miniature of Catherine

Howard at Windsor, the Jane Seymour at Vienna, the Duke of .Norfolk at

Windsor, and the Anne of Cleves in the Louvre. The last named portrait is

doubtless one of the two described by Henry's ambassador, Dr. Wotton, on

August 11, 1539, when he wrote : "Your Grace's servant, Hanze Albein, hath

taken th' effigies of my Ladye Anne and the ladye Amelye, and hath expressyd

theyr imaiges verye lyvelye." Similarly, in March 1538, Holbein was sent by

Henry to Brussels to paint the portrait of Christina of Milan, whose hand the

King was then seeking in marriage. This portrait, executed, it is said, in three

hours, is probably that at Windsor ; the exquisitely finished full-length portrait

belonging to the Duke of Norfolk, which is here reproduced, was probably

painted by Holbein more at his leisure.

Outside the work of Holbein, the uncertainty of the portraits becomes still

more perplexing. There were many portrait-painters who visited or lived in

England, such as Quentin Matsys, Lucas Horembault, Fliccius, and Guillim Stretes;

there was also one John Brown, who was King's painter for twenty years, but to
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wlioiii no oxlanl purlrail h;ceins lo be ascribed, excopl one of the Princess Mary,

which is certainly not ol'Mary, nor l)y Brown. The scarcity of their woric anil the

absence of external evidence render it impossible to attribute lo any of these

painters a number of the unknown portraits relating to the period. There is,

however, little doubt that the Cranmer is by Fliccius; and the portrait of Henry

Howard, Earl of Surrey, is probably by Guillim Stretes, who, in March 1552,

was paid by the Council fifty marks for three pictures, of which Surrey's portrait

was one, fetched by the Council's order from the painter's house.

Two of the illustrations— the famous Dancing Picture and the portrait of

Henry VHI. as a child— call for further remark. In neither case is it possible

to supply the painter's name, or affirm positively that the pictures are what they

are commonly assumed to be. The Dancing Picture is said to represent the

figures of Henry YIH., the Dukes of Norfolk and Suffolk, Anne Boleyn, and

Henry's two sisters, Margaret and Mary. These conjectures are certainly wide

of the mark. Margaret's only visit to England was in 1516, when Anne Boleyn

was nine years old. The faces of the two Dukes present no points of resemblance

to authenticated portraits of those noblemen. The Duke of Suffolk is always

portrayed with a short, square beard, and the Duke of Norfolk without any beard

at all. The youngest lady is much more fascinating than other portraits of Anne

Boleyn and the descriptions of contemporaries would lead us to suppose ; her

chief attractions were her bright black eyes and long dark hair. Nor is the like-

ness to Henry VHI. very striking. Henry was in the habit of disporting himself

in the glades near Greenwich, but there is no conclusive evidence that Greenwich

is the scene of this picture. Lely thought the male figures were done by

Holbein, the female by Clouet, and the tradition in the Norfolk family was that

the picture was painted for the third Duke by Clouet. Horace Walpole was

inclined to think the whole composition French, and that the male figure in the

centre is Francis I. If the figure to the right is also Henry YIII., the incident

represented can only have taken place during Henry's visit to France in 1532.

That would agree with the age at which the two kings are represented and would

harmonise well with the idea that the youngest lady is Anne Boleyn. There is,

however, as Walpole says, "a well-grounded tradition," that the figures are all

English; and the picture was in the possession of the Dukes of Norfolk until

1675, when it was bought by the ancestor of its present owner. >Yith regard
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to llie porli'ait of llcMiiy N'lII. ;is a rhilil, llio coiuliliou ol' llic paiiiliiig and llie

fact thai il is painlccl on canvas are againsl its claim to he contemporary. It

may l)o a copy of a conlcniporai y |)ainting on panel, and the exti'aordinary like-

ness to Henry VIII. in feature, colour of the hair and eyes, leaves little douht

that it was intended to be a representation of the King in his early years.

For the privilege of reproducing llu; illuslialions in lliis \ohinie, tlie Puhlishers

and myself arc indebted to the kindness of their respective owners. First and

foremost our thanks are due to his Majesty the King, to whose gracious per-

mission no fewer than eleven out of forty-four illustrations owe their presence

in these pages. Fifteen come from public galleries, and the remaining eighteen

are reproduced through the courtesy of the Duke of Norfolk and the Duke of

Buccleuch, the Earl of Ashburnham and the Earl of Yarborough, the Countess of

Caledon, the Viscount Dillon, Sir lulminul and Lady \'ei'ney, Major-General

Sotheby, Mr. Edward lluth and Mr. Richaid Holt. The initial letters of the six

chapters are taken from the original edition of Henry VIII. 's book against Luther.

We have once more to express our appreciation of the help rendered by

Mr. Lionel Cust, Surveyor of His Majesty's Pictures and Director of the National

Portrait Gallery, and also to Mr. R. R. Holmes, Librarian at Windsor. Like

my predecessors in this series, the late Dr. S. R. Gardiner and Dr. Osmund Airy,

I have to acknowledge deep obligations to Dr. Firth for his kindness in reading

the proofs, and for the many valuable suggestions he has made; and to my wife

I owe the correction of numerous slips of the pen and the press.

A. F. POLLARD.
PuT.NEY, Marcli 1, 190-\
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CHAPTER OXE.

rAUENT.VGE, BIRTH, AND EARLY YEARS Ol HENRY VIII.

N the whole range of English history there is no

monarch whose character has been more variously

depicted by contemporaries or more strenuously

debated by posterity than the " majestic lord who

broke the bonds of Rome." To one historian an

inhuman embodiment of cruelty and vice, to another

a superluimau incarnation of courage, wisdom and

strength of will, Henry YIH. has, by an almost universal consent, been

placed above or below the rank of humanity. So unique was his per-

sonality, so singular his achievements, that he appears in the light of a

special dispensation sent like another Attila to be the scourge of mankind,

or like a second Hercules to cleanse, or at least to demolish, Augean stables.

The dictates of his will seemed as inexorable as the decrees of fate, and

the history of his reign is strewn with records of ihe ruin of those who

failed to propitiate the wrath of an implacable deity. Of the six cpieens he
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married, two he divorced, and two he beheaded. Four English cardinals

lived in his reign; one perished by the executioner's axe, one escaped it

by absence, and a third by a timely but natural death. Of a similar

number of dukes half were condemned by attainder; and the same method

of speedy despatch accounted for six or seven earls and viscounts and for

scores of lesser degree. He began his reign by executing the ministers of

his father, he continued it by sending his own to the scaffold. The Tower

of London was both palace and prison, and statesmen passed swiftly from

one to the other; in silent obscurity alone lay salvation. Religion and

politics, rank and profession made little difference; priest and layman, car-

dinal-archbishop and " hammer of the monks," men whom Henry had raised

from the mire, and peers, over whose heads they were placed, were joined

in a common fate. Wolsey and More, Cromwell and Norfolk, trod the same

dizzy path to the same fatal end ; and the English people looked on power-

less or unmoved. They sent their burgesses and knights of the shire to

Westminster without let or hindrance ; and Parliament met with a regularity

that grew with the rigour of Henry's rule, to register the royal edicts and

clothe with the forms of law the naked violence of Henry's acts. It remem-

bered its privileges only to lay them at Henry's feet, it cancelled his debts,

endowed his proclamations with the force of laws, and authorized him to

repeal acts of attainder and dispose of his crown at will. Secure of its

support Henry turned and rent the spiritual unity of Western Christendom,

and settled at a blow that perennial struggle between Church and State,

in which kings and emperors had bitten the dust. With every epithet of

contumely and scorn he trampled under foot the jurisdiction of him who

was believed to hold the keys of heaven and hell. Borrowing in practice

the old maxim of Roman imperial law, cii/iis regio, ejus religio, he placed

himself in the seat of authority in religion and presumed to define the faith

of which Leo had styled him defender. Others have made themselves

despots by their mastery of many legions, through the agency of a secret

police, or by means of an organized bureaucracy. Henry's standing army

consisted of a few gentlemen pensioners and yeomen of the guard ; he
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had neither secret police nor organized bureaucracy. Even then English-

men boasted that they were not slaves like the French. Henry not only

left them their arms, but repeatedly urged them to keep those arms ready

for use. He eschewed that air of mystery with which tyrants have usually

sought to impose on the mind of the people. All his life he moved familiarly

and almost unguarded in the midst of his subjects, and he died in his bed,

full of years, with the spell of his power unbroken and the terror of his

name unimpaired.

What manner of man was this, and wherein lay the secret of his

strength? Is recourse necessary to a theory of supernatural agency, or is

there another and adequate solution ? Was Henry's individual will of

such miraculous force that he could ride roughshod in insolent pride over

public opinion at home and abroad ? Or did his personal ends, dictated

perhaps by selfish motives and ignoble passions, so far coincide with the

interests and prejudices of the politically effective portion of his people,

that thev were willing to condone a violence and tyranny, the brunt of

which fell after all on the few ? Such is the riddle which propounds

itself to every student of Tudor history. It cannot be answered by pagans

in honour of Henry's intensity of will and force of character, nor by invec-

tives against his vices and lamentations over the woes of his victims. The

miraculous interpretation of history is as obsolete as the catastrophic theory

of geology, and the explanation of Henry's career must be sought not so

much in the study of his character as in the study of his environment, of

the conditions which made things possible to him that were not possible

before or since and are not likely to be so again.

It is a singular circumstance that the King who raised the personal power

of English monarchy to a height to which it had never before attained,

should have come of humble race and belonged to an upstart dynasty. For

three centuries and a half before the Battle of Bosworth one family had
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occupied the English throne. Even the usurpers, Henry of Bolingbroke and

Richard of York, were directly descended in unbroken male line from

Henry II., and from 1154 to 1485 all the sovereigns of England were Planta-

genets. But who were the Tudors? They were a Welsh family of modest

means and doubtful antecedents. They claimed, it is true, descent from

Cadwallader, and their pedigree was as long and not more fabulous than

most Welsh genealogies; but Henry VII. 's great-grandfather was steward or

butler to the Bishop of Bangor. His son, Owen Tudor, came as a young man

to seek his fortune at the Court of Henry V. , and obtained a clerkship of the

wardrobe to Henry's Queen, Catherine of France. So skilfully did he use or

abuse this position of trust, that he won the heart of his mistress ; and within

a few years of Henry's death his widowed Queen and her clerk of the ward-

robe were secretly, and possibly without legal sanction, living together as

man and wife. The discovery of their relations resulted in Catherine's retire-

ment to Bermondsey Abbey, and Owen's to Newgate prison. The Queen died

in the following year, but Owen survived many romantic adventures. Twice

he escaped from prison, twice he was recaptured. Once he took sanctuary

in the precincts of Westminster Abbey, and various attempts to entrap him

were made by enticing him to revels in a neighbouring tavern. Finally,

on the outbreak of the ^^'ars of the Roses, he espoused the Lancastrian

cause, and was beheaded by order of Edward IV. after the battle of

Mortimer's Cross. Two sons, Edmund and Jasper, were born of this

singular match between Queen and clerk of her wardrobe. Both enjoyed

the favour of their royal half-brother, Henry VI. Edmund, the elder, was

first knighted and then created Earl of Richmond. In the Parliament of

1453, he was formally declared legitimate; he was enriched by the grant

of broad estates and enrolled among the members of Henry's council. But

the climax of his fortunes was reached when, in 1455, he married the

Lady Margaret Beaufort. Owen Tudor had taken the first step which led

to his family's greatness; Edmund took the second. The blood-royal of

France flowed in his veins, the blood-royal of England was to flow

in his children's; and the union between Edmund Tudor and Margaret
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Beaufort gave Henry VII. such claim as he had by descent to the English

throne.

The Beauforts were descended from I'Alward Hi., hul a bar sinister

marred their royal pedigree. John of Gaunt had three sons by Catherine

Swynford before she became his wife. That marriage would, by canon law,

have made legitimate the children, but the Barons had, on a famous occasion,

refused to assimilate in this respect the laws of England to the Canons of

the Church ; and it required a special Act of Parliament to confer on the

Beauforts the status of legitimacy, ^^'hen Henry IV. confirmed this Act,

he introduced a clause specifically barring the contingent claim of the

Beauforts to the English, throne. This limitation could not legally abate

the force of a statute; but it sufficed to cast a doubt upon the Beaufort

title, and has been considered a sufficient explanation of Henry VH.'s reluc-

tance to base his claim upon hereditary right. However that may be, the

Beauforts played no little part in the English history of the fifteenth century;

their inlluence was potent in peace and war in the councils of their royal

half-brother, Henry IV., and of the later sovereigns of the House of

Lancaster. One was cardinal-bishop of ^^'inchester, another was Duke of

Exeter, and a third was Earl of Somerset. Two of the sons of the Earl

became Dukes of Somerset ; the younger fell at St. Albans, the earliest

victim of the ^^ ars of the Roses, which proved so fatal to his House; and

the male line of the Beauforts failed in the third generation. The sole heir

to their claims was the daughter of the first Duke of Somerset, Margaret,

now widow of Edmund Tudor; for, after a year of wedded life, Edmund

had died in November 1456. Two months later his widow gave birth to

a boy, the future Henry VII. ; and, incredible as the fact may seem, the

youthful mother was not quite fourteen years old. When fifteen more years

had passed, the murder of Henry VI. and his son left Margaret Beaufort

and Henry Tudor in undisputed possession of the Lancastrian title. A

barren honour it seemed. Edward IV. was firmly seated on the English

throne. His right to it, by every test, was immeasurably superior to the

Tudor claim, and Henry showed no inclination and possessed not the means



6 HENRY Vlll.

to dispute it. The usurpation by Richard III., and the hideous crimes

-which polluted his reign, completely changed the aspect of affairs, and set

men seeking for an alternative to the blood-stained tyrant. The battle of

Bosworth followed, and the last of the Plantagenets gave way to the first

of the Tudors.

For the first time, since the Norman conquest, a King of decisively

British blood sat on the English throne. His lineage was, indeed, English

in only a minor degree; but England might seem to have lost at the battle

of Senlac her right to native kings; and Norman were succeeded by Angevin,

Angevin by Welsh, Welsh by Scotch, and Scotch by Hanoverian sovereigns.

The Tudors were probably more at home on the English throne than most

of England's Kings; and their humble and British origin may have contri-

buted to their unique capacity for understanding ihe needs, and voicing

the feelings, of the English nation. It was well for them that they estab-

lished their throne in the hearts of their people, for no dynasty grasped the

sceptre with less of hereditary right. Judged by that criterion, there were

many claimants whose titles must have been preferred to Henry's. There were

the daughters of Edward IV. and the children of Lionel, Duke of Clarence;

and their existence may account for Henry's neglect to press his hereditary

claim. But there was a still better reason. Supposing the Lancastrian case

to be valid and the Beauforts to be the true Lancastrian heirs, even so the

rightful occupant of the throne was not Henry VII. , but his mother, Margaret

Beaufort. England had never recognized a Salic Law at home; on occasion

she had disputed its validity abroad. The only precedent was Matilda's

case, and though she had never obtained effective possession of the king-

dom, she was crowned Queen, and the justice of her claim was admitted by

the succession of her son. But Henry VII. was not disposed to let his

mother rule; she could not unite the Yorkist and Lancastrian claims by

marriage, and, in addition to other disabilities, she had a second husband

in Lord Stanley, who might demand the crown matrimonial. So Henry VII. s

hereditary title was judiciously veiled in vague obscurity. Parliament wisely

admitted the accomplished fact and recognized that the crown was vested
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in him, without rashly venluring upon llic why or the wherefore, lie had

in truth been raised to the throne because men were weary of Richard's

crimes and of the anarchy of the Civil War. He was chosen to vindicate

no theory of hereditary or other abstract right, but to govern with a firm

hand, to give peace within his gates and prosperity unto his people. That

was the true Tudor title, and, as a rule, they remembered the fact.

Peace, however, could not be obtained at once, nor the embers of thirty

years' strife stamped out in a moment. For fifteen years open revolt and

whispered sedition troubled the rest of the realm and threatened the stability

of Henry's throne. Ireland remained a hot-bed of Yorkist sympathies, and

Ireland was zealously aided by Edward IV. 's sister, Margaret of Burgundy;

she pursued, like a vendetta, the family quarrel with Henry VII., and

earned the title of Henry's Juno by harassing him as vindictively as the

Queen of heaven vexed the pious ^neas. Other rulers, with no Yorkist

bias, were slow to recognize the pan'enu King and quick to profit by

his difficulties. Pretenders to their rivals' thrones were useful pawns

in the games which Kings played with each other; and though the Princes

of Europe had no reason to desire a Yorkist restoration, they thought

that a little judicious backing of Yorkist claimants would be am])ly repaid

by the restriction of Henry's energies to domestic affairs. Seven months

after the battle of Bosworth there was a rising in the West under the

Staffords, and in the North under Lovell ; and Henry himself was nearly

captured while celebrating at York the feast of St. George. A year later

a youth of obscure origin, Lambert Simnel, claimed to be first the Duke

of York and then the Earl of \A'arwick. The former was son, and the

latter was nephew, of Edward IV. Lambert was crowned King at Dublin

amid the acclamations of the Irish people. Not a voice was raised in

Henry's favour; Kildare, the practical ruler of Ireland, earls and arch-

bishops, bishops and barons, and great officers of State, from Lord Chan-
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cellor downwards, swore fealty to the reputed son of an Oxford tradesman.

Ireland was only the volcano which gave vent to the subterranean Hood
;

reason in England and intrigue abroad were working in secret concert with

open rebellion across St. George's Channel. The Queen dowager was

secluded in Bermondsey Abbey and deprived of her jointure lands. John

de la Pole, who, as eldest son of Edward IV. 's sister, had been named his

successor by Richard III., fled to Burgundy; thence his aunt Margaret sent

Martin Schwartz and two thousand mercenaries to co-operate Avith the Irish

invasion. But, at Stoke-on-Trent, Martin Schwartz and his merry men, De

la Pole and Lovell, were slain; and the most serious of the revolts against

Henry ended in the consignment of Simnel to the royal scullery and his

tutor to the Tower.

Lambert, however, was barely initiated in his new duties when the son

of a boatman of Tournay started on a similar errand with a less congenial

end. An unwilling puppet at first, Perkin Warbeck was on a trading visit

to Ireland, when the Irish, who saw a Yorkist prince in every likely face,

insisted that Perkin was Earl of Warwick. This he denied on oath before

the Mayor of Cork. Nothing deterred they suggested that he was

Richard III.'s bastard; but the bastard was safe in Henry's keeping, and the

imaginative Irish finally took refuge in the theory that Perkin was Duke of

York. Lambert's old friends rallied round Perkin ; the re-animated Duke

was promptly summoned to the Court of France and treated with princely

honours. \Mien Charles VIII. had used him for all he was worth to beat

down Henry's terms, Perkin found a home with Margaret, aunt to all the

pretenders. As usual, there were traitors in high places in England. Sir

^^"illiam Stanley, whose brother had married Henry's mother, and to whom

Henry himself owed his victory at Bosworth, was implicated. His sudden

arrest disconcerted the plot, and when Perkin's fleet appeared off the coast

of Kent, the rustics made short work of the few who were rash enough to

land. Perkin sailed away to the Yorkist happy hunting-ground in Ireland,

but Kildare no longer was deputy. ^A'aterford, to which he laid siege, was

relieved, and the Pretender sought in Scotland a third basis of operations
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against his wily foe. .Vii ahorlivc raid on llic Hordcrs and a high-horn

Scottish wife were all thai he ohlained of James IV., and in 1497, after a

second attempt on Ireland, he landed in Cornwall. The Cornishmen had just

risen against Henry's extortions, marched on London and been defeated at

Blackheath ; but Henry's lenience encouraged a fresh revolt, and three

thousand men llocked to Perkin's standard. They failed to take Exeter;

Perkin was seized at Beaulieu and sent up to London to be paraded through

the streets amid the jeers and taunts of the people. Two years later a foolish

attempt at escape and a fresh personation of the Earl of Warwick by one

Ralf Wulford led to the execution of all three, Perkin, Wulford, and the real

Earl of Warwick, who had been a prisoner and probably the innocent centre

of so many plots since the accession of Henry ^TI. Warwick's death may

have been due to the instigation of Ferdinand and Isabella of Spain, who

Avere negotiating for the marriage of Catherine of Aragon with Prince

Arthur. They were naturally anxious for the security of the throne their

daughter was to share with Henry's son; and now their ambassador wrote

triumphantly that there remained in England not a doubtful drop of royal

blood. There were no more pretenders, and for the rest of Henry's reign

England enjoyed such peace as it had not known for nearly a century.

The end which Henry had sought by fair means and foul was attained, and

there was no practical alternative to his children in the succession to the

English throne.

But all his statecraft, his patience, and labour would have been writ

in water without children to succeed him and carry on the work which he

had begun; and at times it seemed probable that this necessary condition

Avould remain unfulfilled. For the Tudors were singularly luckless in

the matter of children. They were scarcely a sterile race, but their off-

spring had an unfortunate habit of dying in childhood. It was the

desire for a male heir that involved Henry VIll. in his breach with

Rome, and led Mary into a marriage that angered the nation and pre-

cipitated revolt ; the last of the Tudors perceived that heirs might be

purchased at too great a cost, and solved the difficulty by admitting its
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insolubility. Henry VIII. had six Avivcs, but only three children -who

survived infancy ; of these, Edward \ I. withered away at the age of

fifteen, and Mary died childless at forty-two. By his various mistresses

he seems to have had only one son, Avho died at the age of eleven,

and as far as we know, he had not a single grandchild, legitimate or

other. His sisters were hardly more fortunate. Margaret's eldest son by

James IV. died a year after his birth; her eldest daughter died at birth;

her second son lived only nine months ; her second daughter died at

birth; her third son lived to be James V., but her fourth found an early

grave. Mary, the other sister of Henry VIII., lost her only son in his teens.

The appalling death-rate among Tudor infants cannot be attributed solely

to medical ignorance, for Yorkist babies clung to life with a tenacity that

was quite as inconvenient as the readiness with which Tudor infants relin-

quished it; and Richard HI., Henry VII. and Henry VIII. all found it

necessary to accelerate, by artificial means, the exit from the world of the

superfluous children of other pretenders. This drastic process smoothed

their path, but could not completely solve the problem; and the charac-

teristic Tudor infirmity was already apparent in the reign of Henry VII.

He had three sons; two predeceased him, one at the age of fifteen years,

the other at fifteen months. Of his lour daughters, two died in infancy,

and the youngest cost the mother her life. The fruit of that union between

the Red Rose and the White, upon which so much Store had been set,

seemed doomed to fail.

The hopes built upon it had contributed more than anv other factor to

the success of Henry's raid upon the English throne, antl before he

started on his quest he had solemnly promised to marry Elizabeth, eldest

daughter of Edward IV. and heiress of the House of York. But he was

resolute to avoid all appearance of ruling in virtue of her right ; his title

had been recognized by Parliament, and he had been five months de facto

king before he wedded his Yorkist wife (January 18, 1486). Eight months

and two days later, the Queen gave birth, in the priory of St. Swithin's,

at Winchester, to her first-born son. Four days later, on Sunday, Sep-
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tember 2''i, the cliikl was christened in the minster of the old west Saxon

capital, and given in baptism the name of Arthur, the old British king.

It was neither Yorkist nor Lancastrian, it evoked no bitter memories of

civil strife, and it recalled the fact that the Tudors claimed a pedigree and

boasted a title to British sovereignly, beside the antirpiity of which Yorkist

pretensions were a mushroom growth. Duke of Cornwall from his birth.

Prince Arthur was, when three years old, created Prince of Wales.

Already negotiations had been begun for his marriage with Catherine,

the daughter of Ferdinand of Arngon and Isabella of Castile. Both were

cautious sovereigns, and many a rebellion had to be put down and many

a pretender put away, before they would consent to entrust their daughter

to the care of an English king. It was not till October 2, 1501, that

Catherine landed at Plymouth. At her formal reception into England, and

at her marriage, six weeks later, in St. Paul's, she was led by the hand

of her little brother-in-law. Prince Henry, then ten years old. Against the

advice of his council, Henry VII. sent the youthful bride and bridegroom

to live as man and wife at Ludlow Castle, and there, five and a half months

later, their married life came to a sudden end. Prince Arthur died on

April 2, 1502, and was buried in princely state in Worcester Cathedral.

Had he lived to become Ring Arthur the First, there would have been

no divorce of Catherine, no Queen Elizabeth, conceivably no breach with

Rome, and certainly no Reformation in the form that it took in England.

A reflection on such possibilities might convert confirmed sceptics of the

power of personal character to a belief in the importance of Henry's

place in history.

The Prince, who now succeeded to the position of heir-apparent, was

nearly five years younger than his brother. The third child and second

son of his parents, he was born on June 28, 1491, at Greenwich, a

palace henceforth intimately associated with the history of Tudor sove-
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reigns. The manor of Greenwich had belonged to the alien priory of

Lewisliam, and, on the dissolution of those houses, had passed into

the hands of Henry IV. Then it was granted to Humphrey, Duke of

Gloucester, who began to enclose the palace grounds ; on his death it

reverted to the Crown ; and Edward IV., whose tastes and characteristics

passed in no small measure to his grandson, Henry VIII., took great

delight in beautifying and extending the palace. He gave it to his Queen,

Elizabeth, and in her possession it remained until her sympathy with

Yorkist plots was punished by the forfeiture of her lands. Henry VII.

then bestowed it on his wife, the dowager's daughter, and thus it became

the birthplace of her younger children. Here was the scene of many a

joust and tournament, of many a masque and revel; here the young Henry,

as soon as he came to the throne, was wedded to Catherine of Aragon
;

here Henry's sister was married to the Duke of Suffolk; and here were

born all future Tudor sovereigns, Edward VI., Mary, and Elizabeth. At

Greenwich, then, through the forfeit of his grandmother, Henry was born;

he was baptized in the church of the Observant Friars, an Order, the

object first of his special favour, and then of an equally marked dislike;

the ceremony was performed by Richard Fox, then Bishop of Exeter, and

afterwards one of the child's chief advisers. His nurse was named Ann Luke,

and years afterwards, when Henry was King, he allowed her the annual

pension of twenty pounds, equivalent to about three hundred in modern

currency. The details of his early life are few and far between. Lord

Herbert, who wrote his "'Life and Reign" a century later, records that the

young Prince was destined by his father for the see of Canterbury, and

provided with an education more suited to a clerical than to a lay career.

The motive ascribed to Henry VII. is typical of his character; it was more

economical to provide for younger sons out of ecclesiastical, than royal,

revenues. But the story is probably a mere inference from the excellence

of the boy's education, and from his father's thrift. If the idea of an

ecclesiastical career for young Henry was ever entertained, it was soon

abandoned for secular preferment. On April 5, 1492, before ihe child was
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ten months old, he was appointed to the ancient and important posts of

warden of the Cinque Ports and Constable of Dover Castle. A little

later he received the still more honourable office of Karl-marshal ; the

duties were performed by deputy, but a goodly portion of the fees was

doubtless appropriated for the expenses of the boy's establishment, or

found its way into the royal coffers. Further promotion awaited him at

the mature age of three. On September 12, 1494, he became Lord-Lieute-

nant of Ireland; six weeks later he was created Duke of York, and dubbed,

with the usual quaint and formal ceremony, a knight of the Bath. In

December, he was made warden of the Scottish Marches, and he was

invested with the Garter in the following May.

The accumulation of these great offices of State, any one of which

might have taxed the powers of a tried administrator, in the feeble hands

of a child appears at first sight a trille irrational; but there was always

method in Henry's madness, and generally subtlety too. In bestowing

these administrative posts upon his children he was really concentrating

them in his own person and bringing them directly under his own super-

vision. It was the policy whereby the early Roman emperors imposed upon

republican Rome the substance, without the form, of despotism. It limited

the powers of mischief which Henry's nobles might otherwise have enjoyed,

and provided incomes for his children without increasing taxation or dimi-

nishing the privy purse. The work of administration could be done at

least as effectively, much more economically, and with far less danger to

internal peace by deputies of lower rank than the dukes and earls and

barons who had been wont to abuse these high positions for the further-

ance of private ends, and often for the levying of private war. Nowhere

were the advantages of Henry's policy more conspicuous than in his

arrangements for the government of Ireland. Ever since Richard, Duke

of York, and Lionel, Duke of Clarence, had ruled as Irish viceroys, Ire-

land had been a Yorkist stronghold. There Simnel had been crowned

king, and there peers and peasants had fought for Perkin \Varbeck.

Something must be done to heal the running sore. Possibly Henry
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thought that some of Irelaiurs loyalty might be diverted from Yorkist

channels by the selection of a Tudor prince as its viceroy; but he put

his trust in more solid measures. As deputy to his infant son he nominated

one who, though but a knight, was perhaps the ablest man among his

privy council. It was in this capacity that Sir Edward Poynings crossed

to Ireland about the close of 1494, and called the Parliament of Drogheda.

Judo-ed by the durability of its legislation, it was one of the most

memorable of Parliaments; and for nearly three hundred years Poynings'

laws remained the foundation upon which rested the constitutional relations

between the sister kingdoms. Even more lasting was the precedent set

by Prince Henry's creation as Duke of York ;
from that day to this, from

Henry VIII. to the present Prince of Wales, the second son of the sove-

reign or of the heir-apparent has almost invariably been invested with

that dukedom. The original selection of the title was due to substantial

reasons. Henry's name was distinctively Lancastrian, his title was no less

distinctively Yorkist; it was adopted as a concession to Yorkist prejudice.

It was a practical reminder of the fact which the Tudor laureate, Skelton,

celebrated in song :
" The rose both red and white, in one rose now

doth grow." It was also a tacit assertion of the death of the last Duke

of York in the Tower and of the imposture of Perkin Warbeck, now

pretending to the title.

But thoughts of the coercion of Ireland and conciliation of Yorkists

were as yet far from the mind of the child, round whose person these

measures were made to centre. Precocious he must have been, if the

phenomenal development of brow and the curiously mature expression attri-

buted to him in his portrait are- any indication of his intellectual powers at

the age at which he is represented. Without the childish lips and nose,

the face might well be that of a man of fifty; and with the addition of a

beard, the portrait would be an unmislakeable likeness of Henry himself in

his later years. When the Prince was no more than a child, says Erasmus,

he was set to study. He had, we are told, a vivid and active mind,

above measure able to execute whatever tasks he undertook ; and he
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never allrniplcd aiiylliiny in which he chd not succeetl. The Tudors

had no modern dread of edncational over-pressure when applied to their

chiKh-en, and llie young Henry was j)r()l)al)ly as forward a pupil as his son,

Edward \'l., his daughter, Elizabeth, or his grand-niece, Lady Jane Grey.

But, fortunately for Henry, a physical exuberance corrected his mental

])reco(ily; and, as he grew older, any excessive devotion to the Muses

was checked by an unwearied pursuit of bodily culture. He was the

first of English sovereigns to be educated under the new influence of the

Renaissance. Scholars, divines and poets thronged the Court of Henry MI.

Margaret Beaufort, who rulcil in Henry's household, was a signal bene-

factor to the cause of English learning. Lady Margaret professors com-

memorate her name in both our ancient universities, and in their bidding-

prayers she is to this day remembered. Two colleges at Cambridge

revere her as their foundress; Caxton, the greatest of English printers,

owetl much to lier munificence, and she herself translated into Eniilish

books from both Latin and French. Henry VI L, though less accomplished

than the later Tudors, evinced an intelligent interest in art and letters,

and provided for liis children efficient instructors; while the Queen is

described l)y Erasmus as possessing the soundest judgment and being

remarkable for her prudence as well as for her pietv. IJernard Andre,

historian and poet, who had been tutor to Prince Arthur, probably took

no small part in the education of his younger brother; to him he dedicated,

after Arthur's death, two of the annual summaries of events which he was

in the habit of compiling. Giles D'Ewes, apparently a Frenchman and the

author of a notable French grammar, taught that language to Prince Henrj',

as many years later he did to his daughter. Queen Mary; probably either

D'Ewes or Andre trained his hand-writing, which is a curious compromise

between the clear and bold Italian style, soon to be adopted by well-

instructed Englishmen, and the old English hieroglyphics in Avhich more

humbly educated individuals, including Shakespeare, concealed the meaning

of their words. But the most famous of Henry's teachers was the poet

Skelton, the greatest name in English verse from Lydgate down to Surrey.
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Skelton was poet laureate to Henry VII. 's Court, and refers in his poems

to his wearing of the white and green of Tudor liveries. He celebrated

in verse Arthur's creation as Prince of Wales and Henry's as Duke of York

;

and before the younger prince was nine years old, this " incomparable

light and ornament of British Letters," as Erasmus styles him, was directing

Henry's studies. Skelton himself writes :

The honor of iingland I learned to spell,

I gave him drink of the sugred well

Of Helicon's waters crystalline,

Acquainting him with the Muses nine.

The coarseness of Skelton's satires and his open disregard of the

clerical vows of chastity may justify some doubt of the value o( the

poet's influence on Henry's character; but he so far observed the conven-

tional duties of his post as to dedicate to his royal pupil, in 1.501, a

moral treatise in Latin of no particular worth. More deserving of Henry's

study were two books inscribed to him a little later by young Boerio,

son of the King's Genoese physician and a pupil of Erasmus, who, accord-

ino- to his own account, suffered untold afflictions from the father's

temper. One was a translation of Isocrates' De Regno, the other of

Lucian's tract against believing calumnies. The latter was, to judge from

the tale of Henry's victims, a precept which he scarcely laid to heart

in youth. In other respects he was apt enough to learn. He showed

"remarkable docility for mathematics," became proficient in Latin, spoke

French with ease, understood Italian, and, later on, possibly from Catherine

of Aragon, acquired a knowledge of Spanish. In 1499 Erasmus himself,

the greatest of the humanists, visited his friend. Lord Mountjoy,, near

Greenwich, and made young Henry's acquaintance. " 1 was staying," he

Avrites, "at Lord Mounljoy's country house when Thomas More came to

see me, and took me out with him for a walk as far as the next village,

where all the King's children, except Prince Arthur, who was then the

eldest son, were being educated. When we came into the hall, the

attendants not only of the palace, but also of Mountjoy's household were
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all assembled. In tho midst stood Prince Henry, now nine years old,

and having already something of royally in his demeanour in whicli there

was a certain dignity combined with singular courtesy. On his right

was Margaret, about eleven years of age, afterwards married to James,

King of Scots ; and on his left played Mary, a child of four. Edmund

was an infant in arms. More, with his companion Arnold, after paying

his respects to tlie boy Henry, the same that is now King of England,

presented him with some writing. For my part, not having expected

anything of the sort, 1 had nothing to offer, but promised that, on

another occasion, 1 would in some way declare my duty towards him.

Meantime, I was angry with More for not having warned me, especially

as the boy sent me a little note, while we were at dinner, to challenge

something from my pen. I went home, and in the Muses' spite, from

wliQni I had been so long divorced, finished the poem within three days."

The poem, in which Britain speaks her own praise and that of her

princes, Henry VII. and his children, was dedicated to the Duke of York

and accompanied by a letter in which Erasmus commended Henry's devo-

tion to learning. Seven years later Erasmus again wrote to Henry, now

Prince of Wales, condoling with him upon the death of his brother-in-

law, Philip of Burgundy, King of Castile. Henry replied in cordial

manner, inviting the great scholar to continue the correspondence. The

style of his letter so impressed Erasmus that he suspected, as he says,

" some help from others in the ideas and expressions. In a conversa-

tion 1 afterwards had with William. Lord Mountjoy, he tried by various

arguments to dispel that suspicion, and when he found he could not do

so he gave up the point and let it pass until he was sufficiently instructed

in the case. On another occasion, when we were talking alone together,

he brought out a number of the Prince's letters, some to other peojile

and some to himself, and among them one which answered to mine : in

these letters were manifest signs of comment, addition, suppression, cor-

rection and alteration— You might recognise the first drafting of a letter,

and you might make out the second and third, and sometimes even the
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fourth correction ; but whatever was revised or added was in the same

handwriting. I had then no further grounds for liesitation, and, overcome

by the facts, I laid aside all suspicion." Neither, he adds, would his

correspondent doubt Henry Vlll.'s authorship of the book against Luther

if he knew that king's " happy genius." That famous book is sufficient

proof that theological studies held no small place in Henry's education.

They were cast in the traditional mould, for the Lancastrians were very

orthodox, and the early Tudors followed in their steps. Margaret Beau-

fort left her husband to devote herself to good works and a semi-monastic

life; Henry VII. converted a heretic at the stake and left him to burn;

and the theological conversatism, which Henry Vlll. imbibed in youth,

clung to him to the end of his days.

Nor were the arts neglected, and in his early years Henry acquired a

passionate and life-long devotion to music. Even as Duke of York he had

a band of minstrels apart from those of the King and Prince Arthur; and

when he was Ring his minstrels formed an indispensable part of his retinue,

whether he went on progress through his kingdom, or crossed the seas on

errands of peace or war. He became an expert performer on the lute, the

organ and the harpsichord, and all the cares of State could not divert him from

practising on those instruments both day and night. He sent all over

England in search of singing men and boys for the chapel royal, and

sometimes appropriated choristers from Wolsey's chapel, which he thought

better provided than his own. From Venice he enticed to England his

musician, Dionysius Memo, and on occasion Henry and his Court listened

four hours at a stretch to Memo's organ recitals. Not only did he take

delight in the practice of music by himself and others; he also studied

its theory and wrote with the skill of an expert. Vocal and instrumental

pieces of his own composition, preserved among the manuscripts at the

British Museum, rank among the best productions of the time ; and one

of his anthems " Lorde, the Maker of all thyng," is of the highest

order of merit, and still remains a favourite in most English cathe-

drals.
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In April 1502, at the age of ten, Henry became the heir apparent

to the English throne. He succeeded at once to the dukedom of Corn-

wail, l)ut again a precedent was set which was followed but yesterday;

and ten months were allowed to elapse before he was, on February 18,

ITjOS, created Prince of Wales and Earl of Chester, the ilukedom of

York becoming void until a king or an heir apparent should again have

a second son. The first sign of his increased importance was his impli-

cation in the maze of matrimonial intrigues which formed so large a part

of sixteenth century diplomacy. The last thing kings considered was the

domestic felicity of their children ; their marriages were pieces in the

diplomatic game and sometimes the means by which states were built up.

While Duke of York, Henry had been proposed as a husband for one of

the daughters of the Archduke Philip; and his sister iMary as the bride

of Philip's son Charles, who, as the heir of the houses of Castile and

of Aragon, of Burgundy and of Austria, was from the cradle destined to

wield the imperial sceptre of Ciesar. No further steps were taken at the

lime, and Prince Arthur's death brought other projects to the front.

Immediately on receiving the news, and two days before they dated their

letter of condolence to Henry VIL, Ferdinand and Isabella commissioned

the Duke of Estrada to negotiate a marriage between the widowed Catherine

and her youthful brother-in-law. No doubt was entertained but that the Pope

would grant the necessary dispensation, for the spiritual head of Christendom

was apt to look tenderly on the petitions of the powerful princes of this

world. A more serious difficulty was the question of the widow's dower.

Part only had been paid, and Ferdinand not merely refused to hand over

the rest, but demanded the return of what had already been paid. Henry, on

the other hand, considered himself entitled to the whole, refused to refund

any part, and gave a cold reception to the proposed marriage between

Catherine and his sole surviving son. He was, however, by no means

blind to the advantages of the Spanish matrimonial and political alliance,

and still less to the attractions of Catherine's dower; he declined to send

back the Princess, Avhen Isabella, shocked at Henry VII. 's proposal to
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marry his daughter-in-law himself, demanded her return; and eventually,

when Ferdinand reduced his terms, he suffered the marriage treaty to be

signed. On June 25, 1503, Prince Henry and Catherine were solemnly

betrothed in the Bishop ol Salisbury's house, in Fleet Street.

The papal dispensation arrived in time to solace Isabella on her death-bed

in November 1504; but that event once more involved in doubt the prospects

of the marriage. The crown of Castile passed from Isabella to her daughter

Joanna; the government of ihe kingdom was claimed by Ferdinand and by

Joanna's husband, Philip of Burgundy. On their way from the Netherlands

to claim their inheritance, Philip and Joanna were driven on English shores.

Henry VII. treated them with all possible courtesy, and made Philip a knight

of the Garter, while Philip repaid the compliment by investing Prince Henry

with the Order of the Golden Fleece. But advantage was taken of Philip's

plight to extort from him the surrender of the Earl of Suffolk, styled the

White Rose, and a commercial treaty with the Netherlands, which the

Flemings named the Malus Intercursus. Three months after his arrival in

Castile, Philip died, and Henry began to fish in the troubled waters for a

share in his dominions. Two marriacje schemes occurred to him ; he miijht

win the hand of Philip's sister Margaret, now regent of the Netherlands,

and with her hand the control of those provinces; or, he might marry

Joanna and claim in her right to administer Castile. On the acquisition

of Castile he set his mind. If he could not gain it by marriage with

Joanna, he thought he could do so by marrying her son and heir, the

infant Charles, to his daughter Mary. Whichever means he took to further

his design, it would naturally irritate Ferdinand and make him less anxious

for the completion of the marriage between Catherine and Prince Henry.

Henry VII. was equally averse from the consummation of the match. Now

that he was scheming with Charles's other grandfather, the Emperor

Maximilian, to wrest the government of Castile from Ferdinand's grasp,

the alliance of the Kine^ of Ara^ron had lost its attraction, and it was

possible that the Prince of Wales might find elsewhere a more desirable

bride. Henry's marriage with Catherine was to have been accomplished
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when he reached the age of fourteen; hut on the eve of his fifteenth hirthday

lie mnde a solemn protestation that the contract was null and void, and that he

would not carry out his engagements This protest left him free to consider

other proposals, and enhanced his value as a tliplomatic pawn in his father's

game. More than once negotiations were started for marrying him to

Marguerite de ^'alois, sister of the Duke of Angouleme, afterwards famous

as Francis I.; and in the last months of his father's reign, the Prince of

\\'ales was giving audience to ambassadors from Maximilian, who came to

suggest matrimonial alliances between the prince and a daughter of Duke

Albert of Bavaria, and between Henry VII. and the Lady Margaret of

Savoy, Regent of the Netherlands. Meanwhile, Ferdinand, threatened on

all sides, first came to terms with France; he married a French princess,

Germaine dc Foix, abandoned his claim to Navarre, and bought the

security of Naples by giving Louis XII. a free hand in the North of Italy.

He then diverted Maximilian from his designs on Castile by humouring

his hostility to Venice. By that bait he succeeded in drawing off his

enemies, and the league of Candjray united them all , Ferdinand and

Louis, Emperor and Pope, in an iniquitous attack on the Italian republic.

Henry VII., fortunately for his reputation, was left out of the compact.

He was still cherishing his design on Castile, and in December, 1508, the

treaty of marriage between Mary and Charles was formally signed. It

was the last of his worldly triumphs, the days of his life were numbered,

and in the early months of 1509 he was engaged in making a peace with

his conscience.

The twenty-four years during which Henry VII. had guided the destinies

of England were a momentous epoch in the development of western civili-

zation. It was the dawn of modern history, of the history of Europe in

the form in which we know it to-day. The old order was chanffinc' and

yielding place to new. The Mediaeval ideal, described by Dante, of a uni-
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versal monarchj' with two aspects, spiritual and temporal, and two heads,

emperor and pope, was passing away. Its place was taken by the modern

but narrower ideal of separate states, each pursuing its own course, inde-

pendent of, and often in conllict with, other societies. Unity gave way to

diversity of tongues, of churches, of states ; and the cosmopolitan became

nationalist, patriot, separatist. Imperial monarchy grew to a shadow; and

kings divided the emperor's power at the same time that they consolidated

their own. They extended their authority on both sides, at the expense

of their superior, the Emperor, and at the expense of their subordinate

feudal lords. The struggle between the disruptive forces of feudalism

and the central power of monarchy ended at last in monarchical triumph

;

and internal unity prepared the way for external expansion. France under

Louis XI. was lirst in the field. She had got over her civil wars half a

century earlier than England. She then expelled her foreign foes, crushed

the remnants of feudal independence, and began to expand at the cost

of weaker states. Parts of Burgundy, Provence, and Brittany became

merged in France; the exuberant strength of the new-formed nation burst

the barriers of the Alps and overflowed into the plains of Italy. The

time of universal monarchy was past, but the dread of it remained ; and

from Charles VIII.'s invasion of Italy in liOi to Francis I.'s defeat at Pavia

in 1.52."), French dreams of world-wide sovereignty were the nightmare of

other kings. Those dreams might, as Europe feared, have been realized, had

not other states followed France in the path of internal consolidation. Fer-

dinand of Aragon married Isabella of Castile, drove out the Moors, and

founded the modern Spanish kingdom. Maximilian married Mary, the

daughter of Charles the Bold, and joined the Netherlands to Austria.

United France found herself face to face Avith other united states, and

the political system of modern Europe was roughly sketched out. The

boundaries of the various kino-doms were fluctuatinij. There still remained

minor principalities and powers, chiefly in Italy and Germany, which offered

an easy prey to their ambitious neighbours ; for both nations had sacri-

ficed internal unity to the shadow of universal dominion, Germany in
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tomporal, ami Italy in spiritual, things. Mutual jealousy of each other's

growth at tlu> expense of these slates gave rise to the theory of the

halance of pcnver; mutual acljiistment of each other's disputes produced

international law; and the necessity of watching each other's designs hegat

modern diplomacy.

Parallel with these developments in the relations between one state and

another marched a no less momentous revolution in the domestic position

of their sovereigns. National expansion abroad was marked by a corres-

ponding growth in royal authority at home. The process was not new in

England ; every step in the path of the tribal chief of Saxon pirates to the

throne of a united England denoted an advance in the nature of kingly

power. Each extension of his sway intensified his authority, and his

power grew in degree as it increased in area. So with fifteenth ccnturv

sovereigns. Local liberties and feudal rights, that had checked a Duke of

Brittany or a King of Aragon, were powerless to restrain the King of

France or of Spain. The sphere of royal authority encroached upon all

others ; all functions and all powers tended to concentration in royal

hands. The king was the emblem of national unity, the centre of national

aspirations, and the object of national reverence. The Renaissance gave

fresh impetus to the movement. Men turned not only to the theology,

literature, and art of the early Christian era; they began to study anew

its political organization and its system of law and jurisprudence. The

code of Justinian was as much a revelation as the original Greek of the

New Testament. Roman imperial law seemed as superior to the bar-

barities of common law as classical was to mediaeval Latin ; and Roman

law supplanted indigenous systems in France and in Germany, in Spain

and in Scotland. Both the Roman imperial law and the Roman imperial

constitution were useful models for kings of the New Monarchy ; the

Roman empire was a despotism
;
quod principi placitit legis hahct i'igorein

ran the fundamental principle of Roman empire. Nor was this all ; Roman

emperors were habitually deified, and men in the sixteenth century

seemed to pay to their kings while alive the divine honours Romans
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paid to their emperors when dead. " Le nouveau Messie," says Michclet,

" est le roi."

Nowhere was the king more empliatically the saviour of society than

in England. The sixty years of Lancastrian rule were in the seventeenth

century represented as the golden age of parliamentary government, a sort

of time before the fall to which popular orators appealed Avhen they wished

to paint in vivid colours the evils of Stuart tyranny. But to keen observers

of the time the pre-eminent characteristic of Lancastrian rule appeared to

be its "lack of governance " or, in modern phrase, administrative anarchy.

There was no subordination in the state. The weakness of the Lancastrian

title left the King at the mercy of parliament, and the limitations of par-

liament were never more apparent than when its powers stood highest.

Even in the realm of legislation, the statute book has seldom been so

barren. Its principal act was to narrow the county electorate to an oli-

garchy and impair its own influence as a focus of public opinion. It

w'as not content with legislative authority ; it interfered with an executive

Avhich it could hamper but could not control. It was possessed by the

inveterate fallacy that freedom and strong government are things incom-

patible; that the executive is the natural enemy of the legislature; that if

one is strong, the other must be weak ; and of the two alternatives it

vastly preferred a weak executive. So, to limit the king's power, it sought

to make him "live of his own," when "his own" was absolutely inade-

quate to meet the barest necessities of government. Parliament was in fact

irresponsible; the connecting link between it and the executive had yet to

be found. Hence the Lancastrian "lack of governance ;
"

it ended in a

generation of civil war, and the memory of that anarchy explains much

in Tudor history.

The problems of Henry VIII. s reign can indeed only be solved by

realizing the misrule of the preceding century, the failure of parliamentary

government, and the strength of the popular demand for a firm and

masterful hand. It is a modern myth that Englishmen have always been

consumed with enthusiasm for parliamentary government and with a thirst
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for a parliaiiienlary vole. The iiiter[)ietation ol history, like that of the

Scriptures, varies from age to age; and present political theories colour

our views of the past. The political developnicnt of the nineteenth cen-

tury created a parliamentary legend; and civil and religious liberty became

the inseparable stage properties of the Englishman. Whenever he appeared

on the boards, he was made to declaim about the rights of the subject

and the privileges of Parliament. It was assumed that the desire for a

voice in the management of his own affairs had at all times and all

seasons been the mainspring of his actions; and so the story of Henry's

rule was made into a political mystery. In reality, love of freedom has

not always been, nor will it always remain, the predominant note in

the English mind. At times the English people have pursued it through

battle and murder with grim determination, but other times have seen other

ideals. On occasion the demand has been for strong government irre-

spective of its methods, and good government has been preferred to

self-government. ^^^ars of expansion and wars of defence have often

cooled the love of liberty and impaired the faith in parliaments; and

generally English ideals have been strictly subordinated to a passion for

material prosperity.

Never w^as this more apparent than under the Tudors. The parliamentary

experiment of the Lancastrians was premature and had failed. Parliamentary

institutions were discredited and people were indifferent to parliamentary

rights and privileges : "A plague on both your houses," was the popular

feeling, "give us peace, above all peace at home to pursue new avenues of

wealth, new phases of commercial development, peace to study new problems

of literature, religion, and art;" and both houses passed out of the range

of popular imagination, and almost out of the sphere of effective political

action. Parliament played during the sixteenth century a feebler part than

it had played since its creation. Even its legislative powers suffered decay
;

statutes, which had originated in the petitions of one house or the other,

were now elaborated in the privy council and merely submitted to Par-

liament for ratification ; with even this form the king could dispense, and
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legislate by means of proclamation. Towards the close of the period

Shakespeare wrote his play of King John, and in that play there is not

the faintest allusion to Magna Charta. Such an omission would be incon-

ceivable now or at any time since the death of Elizabeth; for the Great

Charter is enshrined in popular imagination as the palladium of the British

constitution. It was the fetish to which parliament appealed against the

Stuarts. But no such appeal would have touched a Tudor audience. It

needed and desired no weapon against a sovereign who embodied national

desires, and ruled in accord with national will. References to the charter

are as rare in parliamentary debates as they are in the pages of Shake-

speare. The best hated instruments of Stuart tyranny were popular

institutions under the Tudors ; and the Star Chamber itself found its main

difliculty in the number of suitors which flocked to a court where the king

was judge, the law's delays minimised, counsel's fees moderate, and justice

rarely denied merely because it might happen to be illegal. England in

the sixteenth century put its trust in its princes far more than it did in

its parliaments ; it invested them with attributes almost divine. By Tudor

majesty the poet was inspired with thoughts of the divinity that doth

hedge a king. "Love for the King," wrote a Venetian of Henry VIII. in

the early years of his reign, "is universal with all who see him, for his

Highness does not seem a person of this world, but one descended from

heaven." Le nouveau Messie est le Hoi.

Such were the tendencies which Henry VII. and Henry VIII. crystallized

into practical weapons of absolute government Few kings have attained

a greater measure of permanent success than the first of the Tudors ; it

was he who laid the unseen foundations uj)on Avhich Henry VIII erected

the imposing edifice of his personal authority. An orphan from birth and

an exile from childhood, he stood near enough to the throne to invite

Yorkist proscription, but too far off to unite in his favour Lancastrian sup-

port. He owed his elevation to the mistakes of his enemies and to the

cool, calculating, craft which enabled him to use those mistakes without

makinp' mistakes of his own. He ran the great risk of his life in his
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invasion of England, but henceforth he left nothing to chance. He was

never betrayed by passion or enthusiasm inlo rash adventures, and he

loved the substance, rather than the pomp and circumstance, of power.

Untrammelled by scruples, unimpeded by principles, he pursued with con-

stant fidelity the task of his life, to secure the throne for himself and

his children, to pacify his country, and to repair the waste of the civil wars.

Folly easily glides into war, but to establish a permanent peace required

all Henry's patience, clear sight and far sight, caution and tenacity. A

full exchequer, not empty glory, was his first requisite, and he found in

his foreign wars a mine of money. Treason at home was turned to like

profit, and the forfeited estates of rebellious lords accumulated in the

hands of the royal family and filled the national coffers. Attainder, the

characteristic instrument of Tudor policy, was employed to complete the

ruin of the old English peerage which the Wars of the Roses began :

and by 1509 there was only one duke and one marquis left in the whole

of England. Attainder not only removed the particular traitor, but disqua-

lified his family for place and power ; and the process of eliminating

feudalism from the region of government, started by Edward I., was finished

by Henry Vll. Feudal society has been described as a pyramid; the upper

slopes were now washed away leaving an unscaleable precipice, at the top

of which stood the Tudor monarch alone in his glory. Royalty had become

a caste apart. Marriages between royal children and English peers had

hitherto been no uncommon thing; since Henry VII. 's accession there have

been but four, two of them in our own day. One only took place in the

sixteenth century, and the Duke of Suffolk was by some thought worthy

of death for his presumption in marrying the sister of Henry YIII. The

peerage was weakened not only by diminishing numbers, but by the sys-

tematic depression of those who remained. Henry VII. preferred to govern

by means of lawyers and churchmen ; they could be rewarded by judge-

ships and bishoprics, and required no grants from the royal estates. Their

occupancy of office kept out territorial magnates who abused it for private

ends. Of the sixteen regents nominated by Henry VIII. in his will, not
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one could boast a peerage of twelve years' standing ; and all the great

Tudor ministers, Wolsey and Cromwell, Cecil and Walsingham, were men

of comparatively humble degree. With similar objects Henry VII. passed

laws limiting the number of retainers and forbidding the practice of main-

tenance. The courts of Star Chamber and Requests were developed to keep

in order his powerful subjects and give poor men protection against them.

Their civil law procedure, influenced by Roman imperial maxims, served

to enhance the royal power and dignity, and helped to build up the Tudor

autocracy.

To the office of King thus developed and magnified, the young Prince

who stood upon the steps of the throne brought personal qualities of the

highest order, and advantages to Avhich his father was completely a stranger.

His title was secure, his treasury overflowed, and he enjoyed the undivided

affections of his people. There was no alternative claimant. The White

Rose, indeed, had languished in the Tower since his surrender by Philip,

and the Duke of Buckingham had some years before been mentioned as a

possible successor to the throne; but their claims only served to remind

men that nothing but Henry's life stood between them and anarchy, for

his young brother Edmund, Duke of Somerset, had preceded Arthur to

an early grave. Upon the single thread of Henry's life hung the peace

of the realm ; no other could have secured the throne without a second

civil war. It was small wonder if England regarded Henry with a some-

what extravagant loyalty. Never had King ascended the throne more richly

endowed with mental and physical gifts. He was ten weeks short of

his eighteenth year. From both his parents he inherited grace of mind

and of person. His father in later years was broken in health and soured

in spirit, but in the early days of his reign he had charmed the citizens

of York with his winning smile. His mother is described by the Venetian

ambassador as a woman of great beauty and ability. She transmitted to
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Henry many of the popular characteristics of her father, Edward IV., though

little of the military genius of that consummate commander who fought

thirteen pitched battles and lost not one. Unless eye-witnesses sadly

helietl themselves, Henry Vlll. must have been the desire of all eyes.

"His Majesty," wrote one a year or two later, "is the handsomest

potentate I ever set eyes on ; above the usual height, with an extremely

fine calf to his leg ; his complexion fair and bright, with auburn hair

combed straight and short in the French fashion , and a round face so

very beautiful that it would become a pretty woman, his throat being

rather long and thick." Another foreign resident in 1519 described him

as " extremely handsome. Nature could not have done more for him. He

is much handsomer than any other sovereign in Christendom ; a great

deal handsomer than the King of France ; very fair and his whole frame

admirably proportioned. On hearing that Francis I. wore a beard, he

allowed his own to grow, and as it is reddish, he has now got a beard

that looks like gold. He is very accomplished, a good musician, composes

well, is a capital horseman, a fine jouster , speaks French, Latin, and

Spanish He is very fond of hunting, and never takes his diversion

without tiring eight or ten horses which he causes to be stationed before-

hand along the line of country he means to take, and when one is tired

he mounts another, and before he gets home they are all exhausted. He

is extremely fond of tennis, at which game it is the prettiest thing in

the world to see him play, his fair skin glowing through a shirt of the

finest texture."

The change from the cold, suspicious Henry VII to such a King as

this was inevitably greeted with a burst of rapturous enthusiasm. "I have

no fear," wrote Mountjoy to Erasmus, "but when you heard that our

Prince, now Henry the Eighth, whom we may well call our Octavius, had

succeeded to his father's throne, all your melancholy left you at once.

For what may you not promise yourself from a Prince, with whose extra-

ordinary and almost divine character you are well acquainted But

when you know what a hero he now shows himself, how wisely he behaves,
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what a lover he is of justice and goodness, what affection he bears to the

learned, I will venture to swear that you will need no wings to make you

fly to behold this new and auspicious star. If you could see how all the

world here is rejoicing in the possession of so great a Prince, how his

life is all their desire, you could not contain your tears for joy. The

heavens laugh, the earth exults, all things are full of milk, of honey, of

nectar ! Avarice is expelled the country. Liberality scatters wealth with

a bounteous hand. Our King does not desire gold or gems or precious

metals, but virtue, glory, immortality." The picture is overdrawn for

modern taste, but making due allowance for Mountjoy's turgid efforts to

emulate his master's eloquence, enough remains to indicate the impression

made by Henry on a peer of liberal education. His unrivalled skill in national

sports and martial exercises appealed at least as powerfully to the mass

of his people. In archery, in wrestling, in joust and in tourney, as well

as in the tennis court or on the hunting field, Henry was a match for

the best in his kingdom. None could draw a bow, tame a steed, or

shiver a lance more deftly than he, and his single-handed tournaments on

horse and foot with his brother-in-law, the Duke of Suffolk, are likened

by one who watched them to the combats of Achilles and Hector. These

are no mere trifles below the dignity of history ; they help to explain

the extraordinary hold Henry obtained over popular imagination. Suppose

there ascended the throne to-day a young Prince, the hero of the athletic

world, the finest oar, the best bat, the crack marksman of his day, it is

easy to imagine the enthusiastic support he would receive from thousands

of his people who care much for sport, and nothing at all for politics.

Suppose also that that Prince were endowed with the iron will, the instinc-

tive insight into the hearts of his people, the profound aptitude for govern-

ment that Henry Vlll. displayed, he would be a rash man who would guarantee

even now the integrity of parliamentary power or the continuance of cabinet

rule. In those days, with thirty years of civil war and fifteen more of con-

spiracy fresh in men's minds, with no alternative to anarchy save Henry Vlll.,

with a peerage fallen from its high estate, and a Parliament almost lost to
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respect,, royal autocracy was not a thing to clreail or distrust. If it was

an evil at all, it saved men from greater ills. To the strong right arm

of llieir King they looked for protection, and they bore it in patience

when that arm was raised to chastise as well as defend. "If a lion knew

his strength,"' said Sir Thomas More of his master to Cromwell, " it were

liartl for any man to rule him." Henry VIII. had the strength of a lion;

it remains to be seen how soon he learnt it, and what use he made of

that strength when he discovered the secret.





CHAPTER TWO.

DEFENDER OF THE FAITH

uiETLY and peacefully, without a threat from abroad

or a murmur at home, the crown, which his father

had won amid the storm and stress of the field of

battle, devolved upon Henry VHI. With an eager

profusion of zeal Ferdinand of Aragon placed at

Henry's disposal his army, his fleet, his personal

services. There was no call for this sacrifice. For

generations there had been no such tranquil demise of the crown. Not a

ripple disturbed the surface of affairs as the old king lay sick in April, 1509,

in Richmond Palace at Sheen. By his bedside stood his only surviving

son; and to him the dying monarch addressed his last words of advice.

He desired him to complete his marriage with Catherine, he exhorted him

to defend the Church, and to make war on the Infidel ; he commended to
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him his faithful councillors, and is believed to have urged the execution of

De La Pole, Earl of Suffolk, the White Rose of England. On the 22nd

he was dead. A fortnight later the funeral procession wended its way

from Sheen to St. Paul's, where the illustrious John Fisher, cardinal and

martyr, preached his eloge. Thence it passed down the Strand, between

hedges and willows clad in the fresh green of spring, to

That acre sown indeed

Witli the richest, rojallost seed

That the eartli did e'er drink in.

There, in the vault beneath the chapel in Westminster Abbey, which

bears his name and testifies to his magnificence in building, Henry VII.

was laid to rest beside his Queen; dwelling, says Bacon, " more richly

dead in the monument of his tomb than he did alive in Richmond or

any of his palaces." For years before and after, Torregiano, the rival

of Buonarotti, wrought at that "matchless altar," not a stone of which

survived the Puritan fury of the civil war.

On the day of his father's death, or the next, the new King removed

from Richmond Palace to the Tower, whence, on April 23, was dated the

first official act of his reign. He confirmed in ampler form the general

pardon granted a few days before by Henry VII. ; but the ampler form

was no bar to the exemption of four-score offenders from the act of

grace. Foremost among them were the three brothers De la Pole, Sir

Richard Empson and Edmund Dudley. The exclusion of Empson and

Dudley from the pardon was more welcome than the pardon itself. If

anything could have enhanced Henry's favour with his subjects, it was the

condign punishment of the tools of his father's extortion. Their death

was none the less welcome for being unjust. They were not merely

refused pardon and brought to the block ; a more costly concession was

made when their bonds for the payment of loans were cancelled. Their

victims, so runs the official record, had been, " without any ground or

matter of truth, by the undue means of certain of the council of our
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said laic father, lIuMXHinto driven contrary to law, reason and irood con-

science, to the manifest charge and jjcril of the soul of our said late

father."

If filial piety demanded the delivery of his father's soul from peril, it

counselled no less the fulfilment of his dying- requests, and the arrange-

ments for Catherine's marriage were hurried on with an almost indecent

haste. The instant he heard rumours of Henry Vll.'s death, Ferdinand

sent warning to his envoy in England that Louis of France and others

would seek by all possible means to break off the match. To further it,

he would withdraw his objections to the union of Charles and Mary; and

a few days later he w^'ote again to remove any scruples Henry might

entertain about marrying his deceased brother's wife ; while to Catherine

herself he declared with brutal frankness that she would get no other

husband than Henry. All his paternal anxiety might have been spared.

Long before Ferdinand's persuasions could reach Henry's ears, he had made

up his mind to consummate the marriage. He would not, he wrote to

Margaret of Savoy, disobey his father's commands, reinforced as they were by

the dispensation of the Pope and by the friendship belw^een the two families

contracted by his sister's betrothal to Catherine's nephew. There were

other reasons besides those he alleged. A council trained by Henry VII.

was loth to lose the gold of Catherine's dower ; it was of the utmost

importance to strengthen at once the royal line ; and a full-blooded youth

of Henry's temperament was not likely to repel a comely wife ready to

his hand, when the dictates of his father's policy no longer stood between

them. So on June 11, barely a month after Henry Vll.'s obsequies, the

marriage, big wnth destinies, of Henry VIH. and Catherine of Aragon was

privately solemnized by Archbishop Warham at Greenwich. On the same

day the commission of claims was appointed for the King's and Queen's

coronation. A week then sufficed for its business, and on Sunday, June 24,

the Abbey was the scene of a second State function within three months.

Its splendour and display were emblematic of the coming reign. Warham

placed the crown on the King's head; the people cried "yea, yea!" in a
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loud voice when asked if they would have Henry as King; Sir Robert Dymock

performed the office of champion ; and a banquet, jousts and tourneys

concluded the ceremonies.

Though he had wedded a wife and been crowned a king, Henry was

as yet little more than a boy. A powerful mind ripens slowly in a

vigorous frame, and Henry's childish precocity had given Avay before a

youthful devotion to physical sports. He was no prodigy of early deve-

lopment. His intellect, will, and character were of a gradual, healthier

growth ; they were not matured for many years after he came to the

throne. He was still in his eighteenth year; and like most young English-

men of means and muscle, his interests centred rather in the field than

the study. Youth sat on the prow and pleasure at the helm. " Con-

tinual feasting " was the phrase in which Catherine described their early

married life. In the winter evenings there were masks and comedies,

romps and revels, in which Henry himself, Bessie Blount and other young

ladies of his Court played parts. In the spring and summer there were

archery and tennis. Music, we are told, was practised day and night.

Two months after his accession Henry wrote to Ferdinand that he diverted

himself with jousts, birding, hunting, and other innocent and honest pas-

limes, in visiting various parts of his kingdom, but that he did not

therefore neglect affairs of State. Possibly he was as assiduous in his

duties as modern university athletes in their studies. The neglect Avas

merely comparative ; but Ferdinand's ambassador remarked on Henry's

aversion to business, and his councillors complained that he cared only

for the pleasures of his age. Two days a week, said the Spaniard, were

devoted to single combats on foot, initiated in imitation of the heroes

of romance, Amadis and Lancelot ; and if Henry's other innocent and

honest pastimes were equally exacting, his view of the requirements of

State may Avell have been modest. From the earliest days of his reign
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the general outline of policy was sketched out in accord with his sen-

timents, and he was probably consulted on most questions of importance.

But it was not always so; in August, 1509, Louis XII. acknowledo-ed a

letter purporting to come from the English King with a request for

friendship and peace. " Who wrote this letter?" burst out Henry.

" I ask peace of the King of France, who dare not look me in the

face, still less make war on me!" His pride at the age of eighteen

was not less than his ignorance of what passed in his name. He had

yet to learn the secret that painful and laborious mastery of detail is

essential to him who aspires not merely to reign but to rule; and matters

of detail in administration and diplomacy were still left mainly in his

ministers' hands.

With the exception of Empson and Dudley, Henry made little or no

change in the council his father bequeathed him. Official precedence

appertained to his chancellor, Warham, Archbishop of Canterbury. Like

most of Henry VIL's prelates, he received his preferment in the Church

as a reward for services to the State. Much of the diplomatic work of

the previous reign had passed through his hands; he helped to arrange

the marriage of Arthur and Catherine, and was employed in the vain

attempt to obtain Margaret of Savoy as a bride for Henry VII. As arch-

bishop he crowned and married Henry VIII., and as chancellor he delivered

orations at the opening of the young King's first three Parliaments. They

are said to have given general satisfaction, but apart from them, Warham,

for some unknown reason, took little part in political business. So far

as Henry can be said at this time to have had a prime minister, that

title belongs to Fox, his Lord Privy Seal and Bishop of Winchester. Fox

had been even more active than Warham in politics, and more closely

linked with the personal fortunes of the two Tudor kings. He had shared

in the exile of Henry of Richmond ; the treaty of Etaples, the Intercursus

Magnus, the marriage of Henry's elder daughter to James IV., and the

betrothal of his younger to Charles, were largely the Avork of his hands.

Malicious gossip described him as willing to consent to his own father's
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death to serve the turn of his King, and a better founded belief ascribed

to his wit the invention of " Morton's fork." He was chancellor of Cam-

bridge, as Warhani was of Oxford, but won more enduring fame by

founding a college in the university over which the Archbishop presided.

He had baptized Henry VIII. and advocated his marriage to Catherine; and

to him the King extended the largest share in his confidence. Badoer,

the ^'enetian ambassador, called him "alter rex," and Carroz, the Spaniard,

said Henry trusted him most; but Henry was not blind to the failings of

his most intimate councillors, and he warned Carroz that the Bishap of

Winchester was, as his name implied, a fox indeed. A third prelate, Ruthal

of Durham, divided with Fox the chief business of State; and these clerical

advisers were supposed to be eager to guide Henry's footsteps in the

paths of peace, and counteract the more adventurous tendencies of their

secular colleagues.

At the head of the latter stood Thomas Howard, Earl of Surrey, soon

to be rewarded for his victory at Flodden by his restoration to the

dukedom of Norfolk. He and his son, the third duke, were Lord High

Treasurers throughout Henry's reign; but jealousy of their past, Tudor

distrust of their rank, or personal limitations, impaired the authority that

would otherwise have attached to their official position ; and Henry never

trusted them as he did ministers whom he himself had raised from the

dust. Surrey had served under Edward IV. and Richard III. ; he had

fought against Henry at Bosworth, been attainted and sent to the Tower.

Reflecting that it was better to be a Tudor official at Court than a baronial

magnate in prison, he submitted to the King and was set up as a shining

example to his peers of the advantage of seeing the error of their feudal

ways. The rest of the council were men of little distinction. Shrewsbury,

the Lord High Steward, Avas a pale reflex of Surrey, and illustrious in

nought but descent. Charles Somerset, Lord Herbert, who was cham-

berlain and afterwards Earl of Worcester, was a Beaufort bastard, and

may have derived some little intluence from his harmless kinship with

Henry VIII. Lovell, the treasurer, Poynings the controller, of the House-
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hold, and Harry Marncy, chancellor of the Duchy of I.ancaster, \vcre tried

and trusty officials. Bishop Fisher was great as a churchman, a scholar,

a patron of learning, but not as a man of affairs; while Buckingham, the

only duke in England, and his brother, the Karl of Wiltshire, were rigidly

excluded by dynastic jealousy from all share in political authority.

The most persistent of Henry's advisers was none of his council. He

was Ferdinand the Catholic, King of Aragon ; and to his inspiration has

been ascribed the course of foreign policy during the (irst five years of

his son-in-law's reign. He worked through his daughter; the only thing

she valued in life, wrote Catherine a month after her marriage, was her

father's confidence. When Membrilla was recalled because he failed to

satisfy Catherine's somewhat exacting temper, she was herself formally

commissioned to act in his place as Ferdinand's ambassador at Henry's

Court; Henry was begged to give her implicit credence and communicate

with Spain through her mediation! "These kingdoms o( your highness,"

she wrote to her father, "are in great tranquillity." Well might Ferdi-

nand congratulate himself on the result of her marriage, and the addition

of fresh, to his already extensive, domains. He needed them all to ensure

the success of his far-reaching schemes. His eldest grandson, Charles,

was heir not only to Castile and Aragon, Naples and the Indies, which

were to come to him Irom his mother, Ferdinand's imbecile daughter,

Joanna, but to Burgundy and Austi'ia, the lands of his father, Philip, and

of Philip's father, the Emperor Maximilian. This did not satisfy Ferdinand's

grasping ambition; he sought to carve out for his second grandson, named

after himself, a kingdom in northern Italy. On the duchy of Milan, the

republics of Venice, Genoa and Florence, his greedy eyes were fixed.

Once conquered, they would bar the path of France to Naples; compensated

by these possessions, the younger Ferdinand might resign his share in the

Austrian inheritance to Charles; while Charles himself was to marry the

only daughter of the King of Hungary, add that to his other dominions,

and revive the empire of Charlemagne. Partly with these objects in

view, partly to draw off the scent from his own track, Ferdinand had.
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in 1508, raised the hue and cry after Venice. Pope and Emperor, France

and Spain, joined in the chase, but, of all the parties to the league of

Canibrai, Louis XII. was in a position to profit the most. His victory

over Venice at Agnadello (May 14, 1509), secured him Milan and Venetian

territory as far as the Mincio ; it also dimmed the prospects of Ferdi-

nand's Italian scheme and threatened his hold on Naples; but the Spanish

King was restrained from open opposition to France by the fact that

Louis was still mediating between him and Maximilian on their claims to

the administration of Castile, the kingdom of their common grandson Charles.

Such was the situation with which Henry VIII. and his council Avere

required to deal. The young King entered the arena df Europe, a child

of generous impulse in a throng of hoary intriguers, each of whom was

nearly three times his age. He was shocked to see them leagued to spoil a

petty republic, a republic, too, that had been for ages the bulwark of

Christendom against the Turk and from time immemorial the ally of

England. Venice had played no small part in the revival of letters which

appealed so strongly to Henry's intellectual sympathies. Scholars and

physicians from Venice, or from equally-threatened Italian republics, fre-

quented his Court and Cabinet. Venetian merchants developed the com-

merce of London ; Venetian galleys called twice a year at Southampton

on their way to and from Flanders, and their trade was a source of

profit to both nations. Inevitably Henry's sympathies went out to the sore-

pressed Republic. They were none the less strong because the chief of

the spoilers was France, for Henry and his people were imbued with an

inborn antipathy to everything French. Before he came to the throne he

was reported to be France's enemy; and s})eculations were rife as to the

chances of his invading it and imitating the exploits of his ancestor

Henry V. It needed no persuasion from Ferdinand to induce him to inter-

vene in favour of Venice. Within a few weeks of his accession he refused
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to publish the Papal bull which threw the cloak of the Churcli over the

bandits of Cambrai. The day after his coronation he deplored to Badoer

Louis's victory at Agnadello, and a week later he wrote to the sovereigns

of I]inopc urging the injustice of their Venetian crusade. In September

he sent Bainbridgc, cardinal archbishop of York, to reside at the Papal

Court, and watch over the interests of Venice as well as of England.

"Italy," wrote Badoer, "was entirely rescued from the barbarians by the

movements of the English King; and, but for that, Ferdinand would have

done nothing." Henry vainly endeavoured to persuade Maximilian, the

Venetians' life-long foe, to accept arbitration ; he succeeded in inducing the

Doge to make his peace with the Pope, and Julius to remove his eccle-

siastical censures. To Ferdinand he declared that Venice must be pre-

served as a w^all against the Turk, and he hinted that Ferdinand's own

dominions in Italy would, if Venice were destroyed, " be unable to resist

the ambitious designs of certain Christian princes." The danger was as

patent to Julius and Ferdinand as it was to Henry; and as soon as Fer-

dinand had induced Louis to give a favourable verdict in his suit with

the Emperor, the Catholic King was ready to join Henry and the Pope

in a league of defence.

But, in spite of Venetian, Spanish and Papal instigations to "recover

his noble inheritance in France," in spite of his own indignation at the

treatment of Venice, and the orders issued in the first year of his reign

to his subjects to furnish themselves with weapons of war, for wdiich the

long peace had left them unprepared, Henry, or the peace party in his

council, was unwilling to resort to the arbitrament of arms. He renewed

his father's treaties not only with other powers, but, much to the disgust

of Ferdinand, Venice and the Pope, with Louis himself. His lirst martial

exploit, apart from fifteen hundred archers whom he w^as bound by treaty

to send to aid the Netherlands against the Duke of Guelders, was an expedi-

tion for the destruction of the enemies of the Faith. Such an expedition,

he once said, he owed to God for his peaceful accession ; at another time

he declared that he cherished, like an heirloom, the ardour against the
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Infidel which he inherited from his father. He repressed that ardour, it

must be added, with as much success as Henry VII.; and with the exception

of this one youthful indiscretion, he did not suffer his ancestral zeal to

diminish by overflowing into practical channels. His generous illusions

soon vanished before the sordid realities of European statecraft; and the

defence of Christendom became with him, as with others, a hollow pre-

tence, a diplomatic fiction, the infinite varieties of which age could not

wither nor custom stale. Did a monarch wish for peace? Peace at once

was imperative to enable Christian princes to combine against the Turk.

Did he desire war ? War became a disagreeable necessity to restrain

the ambition of Christian princes who, " worse than the Infidel," dis-

turbed the peace of Christendom and opened a door for the enemies of

the Church. Nor did the success of Henry's first crusade encourage him

to persist in similar efforts. It sailed from Plymouth in May, 1511, to

join in Ferdinand's attack on the Moors, but it had scarcely landed when

bickerings broke out between the Christian allies, and Ferdinand informed

the English commanders that he had made peace with the Infidel, to gird

his loins for war with the Most Christian King.

In the midst of their preparation against Infidels, so runs the preamble

to the treaty in Avhich Henry and Ferdinand signified their adhesion to

the Holy League, they heard that Louis was besieging the Pope in Bologna.

The thought of violent hands being laid on the Vicar of Christ stirred

Henry to a depth of indignation which no injuries practised against a

temporal power could rouse. His ingenuous deference to the Papacy was

in singular contrast to the contempt with which it was treated by more

experienced sovereigns, and they traded on the weight which Henry always

attached to the words of the Pope. He had read Maximilian grave lectures

on his conduct in countenancing the schismatic conciliabulum assembled

by Louis at Pisa. He wrote to Bainbridge at the Papal Court that he was

ready to sacrifice goods, life and kingdom for the Pope and the Church
;

and to the Emperor that at the beginning of his reign he thought of nothing

else than an expedition against the Infidel. But now he was called by
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the Pope and the clanger of the Church in another direction ; and he pro-

ceeded to denounce the impiety and schism of the French and their

atrocious deeds in Italy. He joined Ferdinand in requiring Louis to desist

from his impious work. Louis turned a deaf ear to their demands; so they

bound themselves, in November, 1511, to defend the Church against all

aggression and make war upon the aggressor.

This reversal of the pacific policy which had marked the first two and

a half years of Henry's reign was not exclusively due to the King's zeal

for the Church. The clerical party of peace in his council was now

divided by the appearance of an ecclesiastic who was far more remarkable

than any of his colleagues, and to whose turbulence and driving force

the boldness of English policy must, henceforth, for many years be mainly

ascribed. Thomas Wolsey had been appointed Henry's almoner at the

beginning of his reign, but he exercised no apparent influence in public

affairs. It was not till 1511 that he joined the council, though during

the interval he must have been gradually building up his ascendency over

the King's mind. How far Wolsey, restlessly ambitious for himself, for

Henry, and England, was responsible for the sudden adoption of a spirited

foreign policy, cannot be positively determined; but it was in the pre-

parations for the war of 1512 that his marvellous industry and grasp of

detail first found full scope.

The main attack of the English and Spanish monarchs was to be on

Guienne, and in May, 1512, Henry went down to Southampton to speed

the departing fleet. It sailed from Cowes under Dorset's command on

June 3, and a week later the army disembarked on the coast of Guipuscoa.

There it remained throughout the torrid summer, awaiting the Spanish

King's forces to co-operate in the invasion of France. But Ferdinand

was otherwise occuj^ied. Navarre was not mentioned in the treaty with

Henry, but Navarre was what Ferdinand had in his mind. It was then
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an independent kingdom, surrounded on three sides by Spanish territory,

an easy prey which would serve to unite all Spain beyond the Pyrenees

under Ferdinand's rule. Under pretence of restoring Guienne to the

English crown, Dorset's army had been enticed to Passages, and there it

was used as a screen against the French, behind which Ferdinand calmly

proceeded to conquer Navarre. It was, he said, impossible to march into

France with Navarre unsubdued in his rear. Navarre was at peace, but

it might join the French, and he invited Dorset to help in securing the

prey. Dorset refused to exceed his commission, but the presence of his

army at Passages was admitted by the Spaniards to be "providential,"

as it prevented the French from assisting Navarre. English indignation was

loud and deep ; men and officers vowed that, but for Henry's displeasure,

they would have called to account the perfidious King. Condemned to

inactivity, the troops almost mutinied ; they found it impossible to live

on their wages of sixpence a day (equivalent now to at least six shil-

lings), drank Spanish wine as if it were English beer, and died of

dysentery like flies in the autumn. Discipline relaxed ; drill was neglected.

Still Ferdinand tarried, and in October, seeing no hope of an attempt on

Guienne that year, the army took matters into its own hands and embarked

for England.

Henry's first military enterprise had ended in disgrace and disaster.

The repute of English soldiers, dimmed by long peace, was now further

tarnished. Henry's own envoys complained of the army's insubordination,

its impatience of the toils, and inexperience of the feats, of war ; and its

ignominious return exposed him to the taunts of both friends and foes.

He had been on the point of ordering it home, Avhen it came of its own

accord; but the blow to his authority was not, on that account, less severe.

His irritation was not likely to be soothed when he realized the extent to

which he had been duped by his father-in-law. Ferdinand was loud in

complaints and excuses. September and October were, he said, the proper

months for a campaign in Guienne, and he was marching to join the English

army at the moment of its desertion. In reality, it had served his pur-
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pose to perfection. Its presence had diverted French levies from Italy,

and enabled him, unmolested, to conquer Navarre. With that he was

content. Why should he wish to see Henry in Guienne ? He was too

shrewd to involve his own forces in that hopeless adventure, and the

departure of the English furnished him with an excuse for entering into

secret negotiations with Louis. His methods were eloquent of sixteenth

century diplomacy. He was, he ordered Carroz to tell Henry many months

later, when concealment was no longer possible or necessary, sending a

holy friar to his daughter in England; the friar's health did not permit of

his going by sea; so he went through France, and was taken prisoner.

Hearing of his fame for piety, the French Queen desired his ghostly

advice, and took the opportunity of the interview to persuade tlie friar

to return to Spain with proposals of peace. Ferdinand was suddenly

convinced that death was at hand ; his confessor exhorted him to for-

give and make peace with his enemies. This work of i)iety he could

not in conscience neglect. So he agreed to a twelvemonth's truce, which

secured Navarre. In spite of his conscience he would never have con-

sented, had he not felt that the truce was really in Henry's interests.

But what weighed with him most was, he said, the reformation of the

Church. That should be Henry's first and noblest work ; he could

render no greater service to God. No reformation was possible without

peace, and so long as the Church was unreformed, wars among princes

would never cease.

Such reasoning, he thought, would appeal to the pious and unsophis-

ticated Henry. To other sovereigns he used arguments more suited to

their experience of his diplomacy. He told Maximilian that his main desire

was to serve the Emperor's interests, to put a curb on the Italians, and

to frustrate their design of driving himself, Louis and Maximilian across

the Alps. But the most monumental falsehood he reserved for the Pope;

his ambassador at the Papal Court was to assure Julius that he had failed

in his efforts to concert with Henry a joint invasion of France, that Henry

was not in earnest over the war and that he had actually made a truce
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with France. This had enabled Louis to pour fresh troops into Italy,

and compelled him, Ferdinand, to consult his own interests and make

peace ! Two days later he was complaining to Louis that Henry refused

to join in the truce. To punish Henry for his refusal he was Avilling to

aid Louis against him, but he would prefer to settle the differences

between the French and the English kings by a still more treacherous

expedient. Julius was to be induced to give a written promise that, if

the points at issue were submitted to his arbitration, he would pronounce

no verdict till it had been secretly sanctioned by Ferdinand and Louis.

This promise obtained, Louis was publicly to appeal to the Pope; Henry's

devotion to the Church would prevent his refusing the supreme Pontiff's

mediation; if he did, ecclesiastical censures could be invoked against him.

Such was the plot Ferdinand was hatching for the benefit of his daughter's

husband. The Catholic king had ever deceit in his heart and the name

of God on his lijis. He was accused by a rival of having cheated him

twice; the charge was repeated to Ferdinand. " He lies," he broke out,

" I cheated him three times." He was faithful to one principle only,

self-aggrandisement by fair means or foul. His favourite scheme was a

kingdom in Northern Italy; but in the way of its realization his own

over-reaching ambition placed an insuperable bar. Italy had been excluded

from his truce with France to leave him free to pursue that design; but

in July, 1512, the Italians already suspected his motives, and a papal

legate declared that they no more wished to see Milan Spanish than

French. In the following November, Spanish troops in the pay and

alliance of Venice drove the French out of Brescia. By the terms of

the Holy League, it should have been restored to its owner, the Venetian

Republic. Ferdinand kept it himself; it was to form the nucleus of his

North Italian dominion. Venice at once took alarm and made a compact

with France which kept the Spaniards at bay until after Ferdinand's

death. The friendship between Venice and France severed that between

France and the Emperor; and, in 1513, the war went on with a rearrange-

ment of partners, Henry and Maximilian on one side, against France and
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Venice on the other, with Ferdinand trying- in secret to dupe and to trick

thcni all.

For many months Henry knew not, or refused to credit, his father-

in-law's perfidy. To outward appearance, the Spanish king was as eager

as ever for the war in Guienne. He was urging Henry to levy six

thousand Germans to serve for that purpose in conjunction with Spanish

forces; and, in April, Carroz, in ignorance of his master's real intentions,

signed on his behalf a treaty for the joint invasion of France. This

forced the Catholic king to reveal his hand and his heart. He refused his

ratification ; now he declared the conquest of Guienne to be a task of

such magnitude that preparations must be complete before April, a date

already past ; and he recommended Henry to come into the truce with

Louis, to which he had now to confess. Henry had not yet fathomed the

depths; he thought appeals to his feelings would move his wily deceiver,

and he pathetically besought him, as a good father, not entirely to for-

sake him. But in vain; his father-in-law deserted him at his sorest hour

of need. To make peace was out of the question. England's honour had

suffered a stain that must at all costs be removed. No king with an

ounce of spirit would let the dawn of his reign be clouded by a weak

admission of defeat, ^^"olsey was there to stiffen his temper in case of

need ; with him it was almost a matter of life and death to retrieve the

disaster. His credit was pledged in the war. In their moments of anger

under the Spanish sun, the English commanders had loudly imputed to

Wolsey the origin of the war and the cause of all the mischief. Surrey,

for whose banishment from Court the new favourite had ex2iressed to Fox

a wish, and other "great men" at home, repeated the charge. Had

Wolsey failed to bring honour with peace, his name would not have been

numbered amonfj the "greatest of England's statesmen.

Henry's temper required no spur. Tudors never llinched in the lace
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of danger, their spirit rose with their difficulties, and nothing could have

made Henry so resolved to go on as Ferdinand's desertion and advice to

desist. He was prepared to avenge his army in person. There were to

he no expeditions to distant shores; there was to be war in the Channel,

where Englishmen were at home, and Calais was to be the base of an

invasion of France over soil worn by the tramp of English troops, while

the alliance with Flanders secured them from attack in the rear. In

March, 1513, Henry, to whom the navy was a weapon, a plaything, a

passion, watched his fleet sail down the Thames ; its further progress was

told him in letters from its gallant admiral, Sir Edmund Howard, who

had been strictly charged to inform the King of the minutest details in

the behaviour of every one of the ships. Never had such a display of

naval force left the English shores; twenty-four ships ranging downwards

from the 1,600 tons of the Henry Imperial, bore nearly five thousand

marines and three thousand mariners. The hostile fleet dared not ven-

ture out, Howard swept the Channel, and sought the French in their

jDorts. Brest was blockaded. A squadron of Mediterranean galleys coming

to its relief anchored in the shallow water off Conquet. Howard deter-

mined to cut them out ; he grappled and boarded their admiral's galley.

The grappling was cut away, his boat swept out in the tide, and Howard,

left unsupported, was thrust overboard by the Frenehmen's pikes. His

death was regarded as a national disaster, but he had retrieved England's

reputation for foolhardy valour.

Meanwhile, Henry's army was collecting at Calais. On June 30, at

seven p.m., the King himself landed. Before his departure, the unfor-

tunate Edmund De la Pole, Earl of Suffolk, was brought to the block for

an alleged correspondence Avith his brother in Louis' service, really because

rumours were rife of Louis' intention to proclaim the White Rose as King

of England. On July 21, Henry left Calais to join his army, which had

already advanced into French territory. Heavy rains impeded their march

and added to the discomfort of the troops. Henry, we are told, did not

put off his clothes, but rode round the camp at three in the morning,
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cheering his men with the remark, " Well, comrades, now that we have

suffered in the hcginning, fortune promises us better things, God willing."

Near Ardrcs some German mercenaries pillaged the church; Henry promptly

had three of them hanged. On August 1 the army sat down before

Therouanne ; on the 10th, the Emperor arrived to serve as a private at a

hundred crowns a day under the English banners. Three days later a

large French force arrived at Guinegate to raise the siege; a panic seized

it, and the bloodless rout that followed Avas named the Battle of Spurs.

Louis d'Orlcans, Due de Longueville, the famous Chevalier Bayard, and

others of the noblest blood in France, were among the captives. Ten

days after this defeat Therouanne surrendered; and on the 24th Henry

made his triumphal entry into the first town captured by English arms

since the days of Jeanne Dare. On the 26th he removed to Guinegate,

where he remained a week, "according," says a curious document, "to

the laws of arms, for in case any man would bid battle for the besieeinsr

and getting of any city or town, then the winner (has) to give battle,

and to abide the same certain days." No challenge was forthcomino-

and on September 15 Henry besieged Tournay, then said to be the

richest city north of Paris. During the progress of the siege the Lady

Margaret of Savoy, the Regent of the Netherlands, joined her father, the

Emperor, and Henry, at Lille. They discussed plans for renewing the

war next year and for the marriage of Charles and Mary. To please

the Lady Margaret and to exhibit his skill, Henry played the gitteron, the

lute and the cornet, and danced and jousted before her. He "excelled

everyone as much in agilily in breaking spears as in nobleness of stature."'

Within a week Tournay fell, on October 13 Henry commenced his return,

and on the 2Ist he re-embarked at Calais.

Therouanne, the Battle of Spurs, and Tournay were not the only, or

the most striking, successes in this year of war. In July, Catherine, whom

Henry had left as Regent in England, wrote that she was "horriblv busy

making standards, banners, and badges" for the army in the North; for

war with France had brought, as usual, the Scots upon the English backs.



50 HENRY VIII.

James IV., though Henry's brother-in-law, preferred to be the cat's paw

of the King of France ; and in August the Scots forces poured over the

border under the command of James himself. England was prepared; and

on September 9, "at Flodden hills," sang Skelton, "our bows and bills

slew all the flower of their honour." James IV. Avas left a mutilated

corpse upon the field of battle. " He has paid," -wrote Henry, " a

heavier penalty for his perfidy than we would have wished." There was

some justice in the charge. James was bound by treaty not to go to

war with England ; he had not even waited for the Pope's answer to his

request for absolution from his oath ; and his challenge to Henry, when

he was in France and could not meet it, w^as not a knightly deed. Henry

wrote to Leo for permission to bury the excommunicated Scottish King

Avith royal honours in St. Paul's. The permission was granted, but the

interment did not take place. In Italy, Louis fared no better; at Novara,

on June 6, the Swiss infantry broke in pieces the grand army of France,

drove the fragments across the Alps, and restored the duchy of Milan to

the native house of Sforza.

The results of the campaign of 1513 were a striking vindication of

the refusal of Henry VIII. and Wolsey to rest under the stigma of their

Spanish expedition of 1512. English prestige was not only restored,

but raised higher than it had stood since the death of Henry V., whose

"name," said Pasqualigo, a Venetian in London, "Henry VIII. would now

renew." He styled him " our great King." Peter Martyr, a resident

at Ferdinand's Court, declared that the Spanish King was " afraid

of the overgrowing power of England." Another Venetian in London

reported that "were Henry ambitious of dominion like others, he would

soon give law to the world." But, he added, " he is good and has

a good council. His quarrel was a just one, he marched to free the

Church, to obtain his own, and to liberate Italy from the French" The
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pomp and parade of Henry's wars have, indeed, somewhat ohsrnred tlic

fundamentally pacific character of his reign. The correspondence of the

time bears constant witness to the peaceful tendencies of Henry and his

council. "I content myself," he once said to Giustinian, " wilh my

own, I only wish to command my own suhjects ; but, on the other

hand, I do not choose that anyone shall have it in his power to com-

mand me." On another occasion he said : " we want all potentates

to content themselves with their own territories ; we are content with

this island of ours;" and Giustinian, after four years' residence at Henry's

Court, gave it as his deliberate opinion to his Government, that Henry did

not covet his neighbours' goods, was satisfied with his own dominions,

and "extremely desirous of peace." Ferdinand said, in 1513, that his

pensions from France and a free hand in Scotland were all that Henry

really desired; and Carroz, his ambassador, reported that Henry's coun-

cillors did not like to be at war with anyone. Peace, they told Badoer,

suited England better than war.

But Henry's actions proclaimed louder than the words of himself or

of others that he believed peace to be the first of English interests. He

waged no wars on the continent except against France; and though he

reigned thirty-eight years, his hostilities with France were compressed into

as many months. The campaigns of 1512-13, Surrey's and Suffolk's inroads

of 1522 and 1523, and Henry's invasion of 154'i, represent the sum of his

military operations outside Great Britain and Ireland. He acquired Tournay

in 1513 and Boulogne in 1544, but the one was restored in five years for

an indemnity, and the other was to be given back in eight for a similar

consideration. These facts are in curious contrast with the high-sounding-

schemes of recovering the crown of France, which others were always

suggesting to Henry, and which he, for merely conventional reasons, was

in the habit of enunciating before going to war; and in view of the tenacity

which Henry exhibited in other respects, and the readiness with which

he relinquished his regal pretensions to France, it is difficult to believe

that they were any real expression of settled policy. They were, indeed.
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impossible of achievement, and Henry saw the fact clearly enough.

Modern phenomena such as huge armies sweeping over Europe, and capitals

from Berlin to Moscow, Paris to Madrid, falling before them, were quite

beyond military science of the sixteenth century. Armies fought, as a

rule, only in the five summer months ; it was difficult enough to victual

them for even that time ; and lack of commissariat or transport crippled

all the invasions of Scotland. Hertford sacked Edinburgh, but he went

by sea. No other capital except Rome saw an invading army. Neither

Henry nor Maximilian, Ferdinand nor Charles, ever penetrated more than

a few miles into France, and French armies got no further into Spain,

the Netherlands, or Germany. Machiavelli points out that the chief safe-

guard of France against the Spaniards was that the latter could not victual

their army sufficiently to pass the Pyrenees. If in Italy it was different,

it was because Italy herself invited the invaders, and was mainly under

foreign dominion. Henry knew that with the means at his disposal he

could never conquer France; his claims to the crown were transparent

conventions, and he was always ready for peace in return for the status

quo and a money indemnity, with a town or so for security.

The fact that he had only achieved a small part of the conquest he

professed to set out to accomplish was, therefore, no bar to negotiations

for peace. There were many reasons for ending the war; the rapid dimi-

nution of his father's treasures ; the accession to the papal throne of the

pacific Leo in place of the warlike Julius ; the absolution of Louis as a

reiwai'd for renouncing the council of Pisa ; the interruption of the trade

with Venice ; the attention required by Scotland now that her King was

Henry's infant nephew; and lastly, his betrayal first by Ferdinand and now

by the Emperor. In October, 1513, at Lille, a treaty had been drawn

up binding Henry, Maximilian and Ferdinand to a combined invasion of

France before the following June. On December 6, Ferdinand wrote to

Henry to say he had signed the treaty. He pointed out the sacrifices he

was making in so doing ; he was induced to make them by considering

that the war was to be waged in the interests of the Holy Church, of
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Maximilian, Henry, and Catherine, and by his wish and hope to live and

die in friendship with the Emperor and the King of England. He thought,

however, that to make sure of the assistance of God, tlie allies ought to

bind themselves, if He gave them the victory, to undertake a general

war on the Inlidcl. Ferdinand seems to have imagined that he could

dupe the Almighty, as easily as he hoped to cheat his allies, by a pledge

which he never meant to fulfd. A fortnight after this despatch he ordered

Carroz not to ratify the treaty he himself had already signed. The reason

was not far to seek. He was deluding himseli with the hope, which Louis

shrewdly encouraged, that the French King would, after his recent reverses,

fall in with the Spaniard's Italian plans. Louis might even, he thought,

of his own accord cede Milan and Genoa, which would annihilate the

French King's influence in Italy, and greatly facilitate the attack on Venice.

That design had occupied him throughout the summer, before Louis

had become so amenable ; then he was urging Maximilian that the Pope

must be kept on their side and persuaded "not to forgive the great sins

committed by the King of France;" for if he removed his ecclesiastical cen-

sures, Ferdinand and Maximilian "would be deprived of a plausible excuse

for conliscating the territories they intended to conquer. " Providence

was, as usual, to be bribed into assisting in the robbery of Venice by a

promise to make war on the Turk. But now that Louis was prepared to

give his daughter Renee in marriage to young Ferdinand and to endow the

couple with Milan and Genoa and his claims on Naples, his sins might

be forgiven. The two monarchs would not be justified in making war

upon France in face of these offers. Venice remained a difficulty, for

Louis was not likely to help to despoil his faithful ally; but Ferdinand

had a suggestion. They could all make peace publicly guaranteeing the

Republic's possessions, but Maximilian and he could make a " mental

reservation" enabling them to partition Venice, when France could no longer

prevent it.

So on March 13, 1514, Ferdinand renewed his truce with France, and

Maximilian joined it soon after. The old excuses about the reformation
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of the Church, his death-bed desire to make peace with his enemies, could

scarcely be used again; so Ferdinand instructed his agent to say, if Henry

asked for an explanation, that there was a secret conspiracy in Italy. If

he had said no more, it would have been literally true; but he went on to

relate that the conspiracy was being hatched by the Italians to drive him

and the Emperor out of the peninsula. The two were alike in their

treachery; both secretly entered the truce with France and broke their

promise to Henry. Another engagement of longer standing was ruptured.

Since 1508, Henry's sister Mary had been betrothed to Maximilian's grand-

son Charles. The marriage was to take place when Charles was fourteen;

the pledge had been renewed at Lille, and the nuptials fixed not later

than May 15, 1514. Cliarles wrote to Mary signing himself voire inari,

while Mary was styled Princess of Castile, carried about a bad portrait of

Charles, and diplomatically sighed for his presence ten times a day. But

winter wore on and turned to spring; no sign was forthcoming of Maxi-

milian's intention to keep his grandson's engagement. All Henry's enquiries

were met by excuses ; the Ides of May came and went, but they brought

no wedding between Mary and Charles.

Henry was learning by bitter experience. Not only was he left to face

single-handed the might of Louis; but Ferdinand and Maximilian had secretly

bound themselves to make war on him, if he carried out the treaty to which

they had all three publicly agreed. The man whom he said he loved as a

natural father, and the titular sovereign of Christendom had combined to cheat

the boy-king who had come to the throne with youthful enthusiasms and

natural, generous instincts. "Nor do 1 see," said Henry to Giustinian, "any

faith in the world save in me, and therefore God Almighty, who knows this,

prospers my affairs." This absorbing belief in himself and his righteous-

ness led to strange aberrations in later years, but in 1514 it had some

justification. " Je vous assure," wrote Margaret of Savoy to her father,

the Emperor, " qu'en lui n'a nulle faintise." "At any rate," said Pasqua-

ligo, " King Henry has done himself great honour, and kept faith single-

handed." A more striking testimony was forthcoming a year or two later;
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when Charles succeeded Ferdinand, the Bishop of Badajos drew up for

Cardinal Ximenes a report on the state of the Prince's affairs. In it he

says: ''The King of England has been truer to his engagements towards

the House of Austria than any other prince. The marriage of the Prince

with the Princess Mary, it must be confessed, did not take place, but it

may be questioned whether it was the fault of the King of England or of

the Prince and his advisers. However that may be, Avith the exception of

the marriage, the King of England has generally fulfilled his obligations

towards the Prince, and has behaved as a trusty friend... An alliance with

the English can be trusted most of all."

But the meekest and saintliest monarch could scarce pass unscathed

through the baptism of fraud practised on Henry; and Henry was at no

time saintly or meek. Ferdinand, he complained, induced him to enter

upon the war, and urged the Pope to use his influence with him for that

purpose; he had been at great expense, had assisted Maximilian, taken

Tournay, and reduced France to extremities ; and now, when his enemy

was at his feet, Ferdinand talked of truce : he would never trust anyone

again. "Had the King of Spain," wrote a Venetian attache, "kept his

promise to the King of England, the latter would never have made peace

with France; and the promises of the Emperor were equally false, for he

had received many thousands of pounds from King Henrj', on condition

that he was to be in person at Calais in the month of May, with a

considerable force in the King's pay; but the Emperor pocketed the money

and never came. His failure was the cause of all that took place, for,

as King Henry was deceived in every direction, he thought fit to take

this other course." He discovered that he, too, could play at the game

of making peace behind the backs of his nominal friends; and when once

he had made up his mind, he played the game with vastly more effect

than Maximilian or Ferdinand. It was he who had been really formidable

to Louis, and Louis was therefore prepared to pay him a higher price than

to either of the others. In February Henry had got wind of his allies'

practices with France. In the same month a nuncio started from Rome tq
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mediate peace between Heniy and Louis; but, before his arrival, informal

advances had probably been made through ihe Due de Longueville, a prisoner

in England since the Battle of Spurs. In January Louis' wife, Anne of

Brittany, had died. Louis was fifty-two years old, worn out and decrepit;

but at least half a dozen brides were proposed for his hand. In March

it was rumoured in Rome that he would choose Henry's sister Mary, the

rejected of Charles. But Henry waited till May had passed, and Maximilian

had proclaimed to the world his breach of promise. Negotiations for the

alliance and marriage with Louis then went quickly on. Treaties for both

were signed in August. Tournay remained in Henry's hands, Louis increased

the pensions paid by France to England since the treatj' of Etaples, and

both kings bound themselves to render mutual aid against their common foes.

Maximilian and Ferdinand were left out in the cold. Louis not only

broke off his negotiations with them, but prepared to regain Milan and

discussed with Henry the revival of his father's schemes for the conquest

of Castile. Henry was to claim part of that kingdom in right of his

wife, the late Queen's daughter; later on a still more shadowy title by

descent was suggested. As early as October 5 the Venetian Government

wrote to its ambassador in France, "commending extremely the most sage

proceeding of Louis in exhorting the King of England to attack Castile."

Towards the end of the year it declared that Louis had wished to attack

Spain, and sought to arrange details in an interview with Henry ; but

the English King would not consent, delayed the interview, and refused

the six thousand infantry required for the purpose. But from the tenor

of Louis' reply to Henry, late in November, it would be inferred that the

proposal emanated from the English king or his ministers ; Louis professed

not to know the laws of succession in Spain, but he was willing to join

the attack, apart from the merits of the case on which it was based.

Whether the suggestion originated in France or in England, whether Henry

eventually refused it or not, its serious discussion shows how far Henry

had travelled in his resentment at the double dealing of Ferdinand. Carroz

complained that he was treated by the English "like a bull at whom every
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one throws dails," and lliat Heniv liiinself behaved in a most offensive

manner whenever Ferdinand's name was mentioned. " If," he added

'• Ferdinand did not put a bridle on this young colt," it would after-

wards become impossible to control him. The young colt was, indeed,

already meditating a project, to attain which he, in later years, took ihe

l)it in his teeth and broke loose from control. He was not only betrayed

into casting in Catherine's teeth her father's ill-faith, but threatening her

with divorce.

Henry had struck back with a vengeance. His blow shivered to frag-

ments the castles Maximilian and Ferdinand were building. Their dreams

of reviving the Empire of Charlemagne, of creating a new kingdom in

Italy, of inducing Louis to cede Milan and Genoa and assist in the conquest

of Venice, dissolved into thin air. The younger Ferdinand found no

provision in Italy; he was compelled to retain his Austrian inheritance,

and thus to impair the power of the future Charles V. ; while the chil-

dren's grand-parents were left sadly reflecting on means of defence against

the kings of England and France. The blot on the triumph was Henry's

desertion of Sforza, who, having gratefully acknowledged that to Henry

he owed his restoration of Milan, was now left to the uncovenanled mercies

of Louis. But neither 'he credit nor discredit is due mainly to Henry.

He had learnt much, but his powers were not yet developed enough to

make him a match lor the craft and guile of his rivals. The conscious-

ness of the fact made him rely more and more upon Wolsey, who could

easily beat both Maximilian and Ferdinand at their own game. He w^as

not more deceitful than they, but in grasp of detail, in boldness and

assiduity, he was vastly superior. While Ferdinand hawked, and Maximilian

hunted the chamois, Wolsey worked often for twelve hours together at

the cares of the State. Possibly, too, his clerical profession and the

cardinalate which he was soon to hold gave him an advantage which they

did not possess; for, whenever he wanted to obtain credence for a more

than usually monstrous perversion of truth, he always swore "as became

a cardinal and on the honour of the cardinalate." His services were richly
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rewarded ; besides livings, prebends and deaneries, he was made firstly,

Bishop of Lincoln and of Tournay, then Archbishop of York, and finally, in

1515, Cardinal. This dignity he had already, in May of the previous year,

sent Polydore Vergil to seek from the Pope; Vergirs mission was unknown

to Henry, to whom the grant of the Cardinal's hat was to be represented

as Leo's voluntary act.

The edifice which Wolsey had so laboriously built up was, however, based

on no surer foundation than the feeble life of a sickly monarch already tot-

tering to his grave. In the midst of his jireparations for the conquest of Milan

and his negotiations for an attack upon Spain, Louis XII. died on January 1,

1515; and the stone which Wolsey had barely rolled up the hill came

down with a rush. The bourgeois Louis was succeeded by the brilliant,

ambitious, and warlike Francis I., a monarch who concealed under the

mask of chivalry and the culture of arts and letters a libertinism beside

which the peccadilloes of Henry or Charles seem virtue itself; whose person

was tall and whose features were described as handsome; but of whom

an observer wrote with unwonted candour that he "looked like the Devil."

The first result of the change was an episode of genuine romance. The

old King's widow, " la reine blanche," was one of the most fascinating

women of the Tudor epoch. "I think," said a Fleming, "never man saw

a more beautiful creature, nor one having so much grace and sweet-

ness." "He had never seen so beautiful a lady," repeated Maximilian's

ambassador, "her deportment is exquisite, both in conversation and in

dancing, and she is very lovely." "She is very beautiful,'" echoed the

staid old Venetian, Pasqualigo, "and has not her match in England; she

is tall, fair, of a light complexion with a colour, and most affable and

graceful ;' he was warranted, he said, in describing her as "a nj'inph

from heaven." A more critical observer of feminine beauty thought her

eyes and eyebrows too light, but, as an Italian, he may have been biassed
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in favour of brunettes, and even he wound up by designating Mary " a

Paradise." She was eighteen at the time ; her marriage with a dotard like

Louis had shocked public opinion ; and if, as was hinted, the gaieties in

which his youthful bride involved him, hastened the French King's end,

there was some poetic justice in the retribution. She had, as she reminded

Henry herself, only consented to marry the "very aged and sickly"

monarch on condition that, if she survived him, she should be allowed to

choose her second husband herself. And she went on to declare, that

"remembering the great virtue" in him, she had, as Henry himself was

aware, "always been of good mind to my lord of Suffolk."

She was probably fascinated less by Suffolk's virtue than by his bold

and handsome bearing. A bluff Englishman after the King's own heart, he

shared, as none else did, in Henry's love of the joust and tourney, in

his skill with the lance and the sword ; he was the Hector of combat, on

foot and on horse, to Henry's Achilles. His father, plain William Bran-

don, was Henry of Richmond's standard-bearer on Bosworth field; and

as such he had been singled out and killed in personal encounter by

Richard III. His death gave his son a claim on the gratitude of Henry VII.

and Henry VIII. ; and similarity of tastes earned his rapid promotion at

the young King's Court. Created Viscount Lisle, he served in 1513 as

marshal of Henry's army throughout his campaign in France. With the

King there were said to be " two obstinate men who governed everything;"

one was Wolsey, the other was Brandon. In July he was offering his hand

to Margaret of Savoy, who was informed that Brandon was "a second king,"

and that it would be well to write him " a kind letter, for it is he who

does and undoes." At Lille, in October, he continued his assault on Mar-

garet as a relief from the siege of Tournay: Henry favoured his suit, and

when Margaret called Brandon a larron for stealing a ring from her finger,

the King was called in to help Brandon out with his French. Possibly it

was to smooth the course of his wooing that Brandon, early in 1514,

received an extraordinary advancement in rank. There was as yet only

one Duke in England, but now Brandon was made Duke of Suffolk, at



60 HENRY VIII.

the same lime that the dukedom of Norfolk was restored to Surrey for

his victory at Flodden. Even a dukedom could barely make the son of a

plain esquire a match for an Emperor's daughter, and the suit did not

prosper. Political reasons may have interfered. Suffolk, too, is accused

by the Venetian ambassador of having already had five wives. This

seems to be an exaggeration, but the intricacy of the Duke's marital rela-

tionships, and the facility with which he renounced them might well have

served as a precedent to his master in later years. Certainly they were

no bar in Henry's eyes to a marriage between his sister and Suffolk.

In January 1515. the Duke was sent to Paris to condole with Francis

on Louis' death, to congratulate him on his own accession, and renew

the league with England. Before he set out, Henry made him promise

that he would not marry Mary until their return. But Suffolk was not the

man to resist the tears of a beautiful woman in trouble, and he found

Marv in sore distress. No sooner was Louis dead than his lascivious

successor became, as Mary said, "importunate with her in divers matters

not to her honour," in suits "the which," wrote Suffolk, "I and the

Queen had rather be out of the world than abide." Every evening Francis

forced his attentions upon the beautiful widow. Nor was this the only

peril that threatened the lovers. There were reports that the French

would not let Mary go, but marry her somewhere to serve their own

political purposes. Henry, too, might want to betroth her again to Charles;

Maximilian was urging this course, and telling Margaret that Mary must

be recovered for Charles, even at the point of the sword. Early in

January, Wolsey had written to her, warning her not to make any fresh

promise of marriage. Two friars from England, sent apparently by Suffolk's

secret enemies, told Mary the same tale, that if she returned to England

she would never be suffered to marry the Duke, but made to take Charles

for her husband, "than which," she declared, "I would rather be torn in

pieces." Suffolk tried in vain to soothe her fears. She refused to listen,

and brought him to his knees with the announcement that unless he would

wed her there and then, she would continue to believe that he had come
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only to entice her back to England and force her into marriage with Charles.

What was the poor Duke to do, between his promise to Henry and the

pleading of Mary ? He did what every other man with a heart in his

breast and warm blood in his veins would have done, lie cast prudence

to the winds and secretly married the woman he loved.

The news could not be long concealed, but unfortunately we have only

Wolsey's account of how it was received by Henry. He took it, wrote

the cardinal to Suffolk, " grievously and displeasantly," not only on

account of the Duke's presumption, but of the breach of his promise to

Henry. "You are," he added, "in the greatest danger man was ever

in;" the council were calling for his ruin. To appease Henry and enable

the King to satisfy his council, Suffolk must induce Francis to intervene in

his favour, to pay Henry two hundred thousand crowns as Mary's dowry,

and to restore the plate and jewels she had received ; the Duke himself

was to return the fortune with which Henry had endowed his sister and

pay twenty-four thousand pounds in yearly instalments for the expenses of

her marriage. Francis proved unexpectedly willing
;

perhaps his better

nature was touched by the lovers' distress. He also saw that Mary's

marriage with Suffolk prevented her being used as a link to bind Charles

to Henry; and he may have thought that a service to Suffolk would secure

him a powerful friend at the English Court, a calculation that was partly

justified by the suspicion under which Suffolk henceforth laboured, of

being too partial to Francis. Yet it was with heavy hearts that the

couple left Paris in April and wended their way towards Calais. Henry

had given no sign ; from Calais, Mary wrote to him saying she would

go to a nunnery rather than marry against her desire. Suffolk threw

himself on the King's mercy; all the council, he said, except Wolsey,

were determined to put him to death. Secretly, against his promise, and

without Henry's consent, he had married the King's sister, an act the

temerity of which no one has since ventured to rival. He saw the exe-

cutioner's axe gleam before his eyes, and he trembled.

At Calais, Mary said she would stay until she heard from the King.
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His message has not been preserved, but fears were never more strangely

belied than when the pair crossed their Rubicon. So far from any

attempt beiiig made to separate them, their marriage was publicly solem-

nized before Henry and all his Court on May 13, at Greenwich. In

spite of all that happened, wrote the Venetian ambassador, Henry retained

his friendship for Suffolk; and a few months later he asserted, with some

exaggeration, that the Duke's authority was scarcely less than the King's.

He and Mary were indeed required to return all the endowment, Avhether

in money, plate, jewels or furniture, that she received on her marriage.

But both she and the Duke had agreed to these terms before their

offence. They were not unreasonable. Henry's money had been laid out

for political purposes which could no longer be served; and Mary did not

expect the splendour, as Duchess of Suffolk, which she had enjoyed as

Queen of France. The only stipulation that looks like a punishment was

the bond to repay the cost of her journey to France; though not only was

this modified later on, but the Duke received numerous grants of land to

help to defray the charge. They were indeed required to live in the

country; but the Duke still came up to joust as of old with Henry on

great occasions, and Mary remained his favourite sister, to whose issue,

in preference to that of Margaret, he left the crown bj will. The vindic-

tive suspicions which afterwards grew to rank luxuriance in Henry's mind

were scarcely budding as yet ; his favour to Suffolk and affection for

Mary were proof against the intrigues in his Court. The contrast was

marked between the event and the terrors which Wolsey had painted;

and it is hard to believe that the Cardinal played an entirely disin-

terested part in the matter. It was obviously his cue to exaggerate the

King's anger, and to represent to the Duke that its mitigation was due to

the Cardinal's influence ; and it is more than possible that Wolsey found

in Sulfolk's indiscretion the means of removing a dangerous rival. The

"two obstinate men" Avho had ruled in Henry's camp were not likely to

remain long united; Wolsey could hardly approve of any " second king"

but himself, especially a " second king" who had acquired a family bond
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with the first. The Venetian ambassador phiinly hints that it was through

W'olsey that Suffolk lost favour. In the occasional notices of him during

the next few years it is Wolscv, and not Henry, whom Suffolk is trying

to appease ; and we even find the C,ardinal secretly warning the King

against some designs of the Duke that probably existed only in his own

imagination.

This episode threw into the shade the main purpose of Suffolk's

embassy to France. It was to renew the treaty concluded the year before,

and apparently also the discussions for Avar upon Spain. Francis was

ready enough to confirm the treaty, particularly as it left him free to

pursue his designs on Milan. With a similar object he made terms with

the Archduke Charles, who this year assumed the government of the

Netherlands, but was completely under the control of Chievres, a French-

man bv birth and French in sympathies. Charles bound himself to marry

Louis XII. "s daughter Renee, and to give his grandfather Ferdinand no aid

unless he restored Navarre to Jean d'Albret. Thus safeguarded from

attack on his rear, Francis set out for Milan. The Swiss had locked all

the passes they thought practicable ; but the French generals, guided by

chamois hunters and overcoming almost insuperable obstacles, transported

their artillery over the Alps near Embrun; and on September 13, at Marig-

nano, the great "Battle of the Giants" laid the whole of Northern Italy at

the French Kinof's feet. At Boloijna he met Leo X., whose life-lonor endea-

vour was to be found on both sides at once, or at least on the side of

the bigger battalions ; the Pope recognized Francis's claim to Milan, while

Francis undertook to support the Medici in Florence, and to countenance

Leo's project for securing the duchy of Urbino to his nephew Lorenzo.

Henry watched with ill-concealed jealousy his rival's victorious pro-

gress ; his envy was personal, as well as political. "Francis," wrote the

Bishop of Worcester in describing the interview between the French Ring
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and the Pope at Bologna, " is tall in stature, broad-shouldered, oval

and handsome in face, very slender in the legs and much inclined to

corpulence." Ilis appearance was the subject of critical inquiry by Henry

himself. On May-Day, 1515, Pasqualigo vv^as summoned to Greenwich by

the Kins, whom he found dressed in green, " shoes and all," and

mounted on a bay Frieslander sent him by the Marquis of Mantua ; his

guard were also dressed in green and armed with bows and arrows for

the usual May-Day sports. They breakfasted in green bowers some dis-

tance from the palace. "His Majesty," continues Pasqualigo, "came

into our arbor, and addressing me in French, said :
' Talk with me

awhile. The King of France, Is he as tall as I am ?
' I told him there

was but little difference. He continued, ' Is he as stout?' I said he

was not; and he then inquired, 'what sort of legs has he?' I replied

'Spare.' Whereupon he opened the front of his doublet, and placing his

hand on his thigh, said :
' Look here ; and I also have a good calf to

my leg.' He then told me he was very fond of this King of France, and

that on more than three occasions he was very near him with his army,

but that he would never allow himself to be seen, and always retreated,

which His Majesty attributed to deference for King Louis, who did not

choose an engagement to take place." After dinner, by way of showing

his prowess, Henry " armed himself cap-a-pie and ran thirlv courses,

capsizing his opponent, horse and all." Two months later, he said to

Giustinian : "I am aware that King Louis, although my brother-in-law,

was a bad man. I know not what this youth may be; he is, however,

a Frenchman, nor can I say how far you should trust him ;" and

Giustinian says he at once perceived the great rivalry for glory between

the two young kings.

Henry now complained that Francis had concealed his enterprise from

him, that he was ill-treating English subjects, and interfering with matters

in Scotland. The last was his real and chief ground for resentment.

Francis had no great belief that Henry would keep the peace, and resist

the temptation to attack him, if a suitable opportunity were to arise. So,
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to tie his hands, he had sent Albany to provide Henry with an absorbing

disturbance in Scotland. Since the death of James IV. at Flodden, English

influence had, in Margaret's hands, been largely increased. Henry took

upon himself to demand a voice in Scotland's internal affairs. He claimed

the title of "Protector of Scotland;" and wrote to the Pope asking him

to appoint no Scottish bishops without his consent, and to reduce the

archbishopric of St. Andrew's to its ancient dependence on York. Many

urged him to complete the conquest of Scotland, but this apparently he

refused on the ground that his own sister was really its ruler and his own

infant nephew its king. Margaret, however, as an Englishwoman, was

hated in Scotland, and she destroyed much of her influence by marrying

the Earl of Angus. So the Scots clamoured for the Duke of Albany, who

had long been resident at the French Court and was heir to the Scottish

throne, should James IV. 's issue fail. His appearance was the utter dis-

comfiture of the party of England ; Margaret was besieged in Stirling and

ultimately forced to give up her children to Albany's keeping, and seek

safety in flight to her brother's dominions.

Technically, Francis had not broken his treaty with England, but he

had scarcely acted the part of a friend; and if Henry could retaliate without

breaking the peace, he would eagerly seize any opportunity that offered.

The alliance with Ferdinand and Maximilian was renewed, and a new

Holy League formed under Leo's auspices. But Leo soon afterwards made

his peace at Bologna with France. Charles was under French influence,

and Henry's council and people were not prepared for war. So he refused,

savs Giustinian, Ferdinand's invitations to join in an invasion of France.

He did so from no love of Francis, and it was probably Wolsey's ingenuity

that suggested the not very scrupulous means of gratifying Henry's wish

for revenge. Maximilian was still pursuing his endless quarrel with Venice;

and the seizure of Milan by the French and Venetian allies was a severe blow

to Maximilian himself, to the Swiss, and to their protege, Sforza. Wolsey

now sought to animate them all for an attempt to recover the duchy, and

Sforza promised him ten thousand ducats a year from the date of his
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restoration. There was nothing but the spirit of his treaty with France to

prevent Henry spending his money as he thought fit; and it was determined

to hire twenty thousand Swiss mercenaries to serve under the Emperor in

order to conquer Milan and revenge Marignano. The negotiation was one

of great delicacy; not only was secrecy absolutely essential, but the

money must be carefully kept out of Maximilian's reach. " Whenever,"

wrote Pace, "the King's money passed Avhere the Emperor was, he would

always get some portion of it by force or false promises of restitution."

The accusation was justified by Maximilian's order to Margaret, his

daughter, to seize Henry's treasure as soon as he heard it was on the

way to the Swiss. " The Emperor," said Julius II., " is light and

inconstant, always begging for other men's money, which he wastes in

hunting the chamois."

The envoy selected for this difficult mission was Richard Pace, scholar

and author, and friend of Erasmus and More. He had been in Bainbridge's

service at Rome, was then transferred to that of Wolsey and Henry,

and as the King's secretary, was afterwards thought to be treading too

close on the Cardinal's heels. He set out in October, and arrived in

Zurich just in time to prevent the Swiss from coming to terms with

Francis. Before winter had ended the plans for invasion were settled.

Maximilian came down with the snows from the mountains in March ; on

the 23rd he crossed the Adda ; on the 25th he was within nine miles of

Milan, and almost in sight of the army of France. On the 26th he turned

and fled without striking a blow. Back he went over the Adda, over

the Oglio, up into Tyrol, leaving the French and Venetians in secure

possession of Northern Italy. A year later they had recovered for Venice

the last of the places of which it had been robbed by the League of

Cambrai.

Maximilian retreated, said Pace, voluntarily and shamefully, and was

now so degraded that it signified little whether he was a friend or an

enemy. The cause of his ignominious flight still remains a mystery
;

countless excuses were made by Maximilian and his friends. He had heard
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that France and England had conic to terms ; six thousand of the Swiss

infantry deserted to the French on the eve of the battle. Ladislaus of

Hungary had died, leaving him guardian of his son, and he must go to

arrange matters there. He had no money to pay his troops. The last

has an appearance of verisimilitude. Money was at the bottom of all

his difficulties, and drove him to the most ignominious shifts. He had

served as a private in Henry's army for a hundred crowns a day. His

councillors robbed him ; on one occasion he had not money to pay for

his dinner ; on another he sent down to Pace, who was ill in bed, and

extorted a loan by force. He had apparently seized thirty thousand crowns

of Henry's pay for the Swiss ; the Fuggers, Welzers and Frescobaldi,

were also accused of failing to keep their engagements, and only the

first month's pay had been received by the Swiss when they reached

Milan. On the Emperor's retreat the Avretched Pace was seized by the

Swiss and kept in prison as security for the remainder. His task had

been rendered all the more difficult by the folly of Wingfield, ambas-

sador at Maximilian's Court, who, said Pace, " took the Emperor for a

god and believed that all his deeds and thoughts proceeded ex S/)lritit

Sa/icto." There was no love lost between them ; the lively Pace nick-

named his colleague " Summer shall be green," in allusion perhaps to

Wingfield's unending platitudes, or to his limitless belief in the Emperor's

integrity and wisdom. Wingfield opened Pace's letters and discovered

the gibe, which he parried by avowing that he had never known the time

when summer was not green. On another occasion he forged Pace's

signature, with a view of obtaining funds for Maximilian. At last his con-

duct brought down a stinging rebuke from Henry ; but the King's long-

suffering was not yet exhausted, and ^^'ingfield continued as ambassador

to the Emperor's Court.

The failure of the Milan expedition taught Wolsey and Henry a hitler

but salutary lesson. It was their first attempt to intervene in a sjihere
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of action so dislaiit from English shores and so remote from English

interests as the affairs of Italian States. Complaints in England were

loud against the waste of money ; the sagacious Tunstall wrote that he did

not see why Henry should bind himself to maintain other men's causes.

All the grandees, wrote Giustinian, were opposed to Wolsey's policy, and

its adoption was followed by what Giustinian called a change of ministry

in England. Warham relinquished the burdens of the chancellorship

which he had long unwillingly borne; Fox sought to atone for twenty-

eight years' neglect of his diocese by spending in it the rest of his

days. Wolsey succeeded Warham as Chancellor, and Ruthal, who "sang

treble to Wolsey's bass," became Lord Privy Seal in place of Fox. Suf-

folk was out of favour, and the neglect of his and Fox's advice was,

according to the Venetian, resented by the people, who murmured against

the taxes which Wolsey's intervention in foreign affairs involved.

But Wolsey still hoped that bribes would keep Maximilian faithful to

England and induce him to counteract the French influences with which

his grandson Charles was surrounded. Ferdinand had died in January, 1516,

having, said the English envoy at his Court, wilfully shortened his life

by hunting and hawking in all weathers, and following the advice of his

falconers rather than that of his physicians. Charles thus succeeded to

Castile, Aragon and Naples; but Naples was seriously threatened by the

failure of Maximilian's expedition and the omnipotence of Francis in Italy.

"The Pope is French," wrote an English diplomatist, "and everything from

Rome to Calais." To save Naples, Charles, in July, 1516, entered into

the humiliating treaty of Noyon with France. He bound himself to marry

Francis's infant daughter, Charlotte, to do justice to Jean d'Albret in the

matter of Navarre, and to surrender Naples, Navarre, and Artois, if he

failed to keep his engagement. Such a treaty was not likely to stand; but,

for the time, it was a great feather in Francis's cap, and a further step

towards the isolation of England. It was the work of Charles's Gallicized

ministry, and Maximilian professed the utmost disgust at their doings.

He was eager to come down to- the Netherlands with a view to breaking
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the treaty of Noyon and removing his grandson's advisers, but of course he

must have money from Engkind to pay his expenses. The money accord-

ingly came from the apparently bottomless English purse; and in January,

1517, the Emperor marched down to the Netherlands, breathing, in his

despatches to Henry, threatenings and slaughter against Charles's mis-

leaders. His descent on Flanders eclipsed his march on Milan. " Mon

fils," he said to Charles, "• vous allez tromper les Francais, et moi, je vais

tromper les Anglais." So far from breaking the treaty of Noyon, he joined

it himself, and at Brussels solemnly swore to observe its provisions. He

probably thought he had touched the bottom of Henry's purse, and that it

was lime to dip into Francis's. Seventy-five thousand crowns was his price

for betraying Henry.

In conveying the news to Wolsey, Tunstall begged him lo urge Henry

"to refrain from his first passions" and "to draw his foot out of the

affair as gently as if he perceived it not, giving good words for good

words which they yet give us, thinking our heads to be so gross that

we perceive not their abuses." Their persistent advances to Charles had,

he thought, done them more harm than good ; let the King shut his

purse in time, and he would soon have Charles and the Emperor again

at his feet. Tunstall was ably seconded by Dr. William Knight, who

thought it would be foolish for England to attempt to rupture the treaty

of Noyon ; it contained within itself the seeds of its own dissolution.

Charles would not wait to marry Francis's daughter, and then the breach

would come. Henry and Wolsey had the good sense to act on this

sound advice. Maximilian, Francis and Charles formed at Cambrai a fresh

league for the partition of Italy, but they were soon at enmity and too

much involved with their own affairs to think of the conquest of others.

Disaffection was rife in Spain, where a party wished Ferdinand, Charles's

brother, to be King. If Charles Avas to retain his Spanish kingdoms,

he must visit them at once. He could not go unless England provided

the means. His request for a loan was graciously accorded and his

ambassadors were treated with magnificent courtesy. "One day," says
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Chieregati, ihe papal envoy in England, "the King sent for these ambas-

sadors, and kept them to dine with him privately in his chamber with the

Queen, a very unusual proceeding. After dinner he took to singing and

playing on every musical instrument, and exhibited a part of his very

excellent endowments. At length he commenced dancing," and, con-

tinues another narrator, "doing marvellous things, both in dancing and

jumping, proving himself, as he is in truth, indefatigable." On another

day there was "a most stately joust." Henry was magnificently attired

in " cloth of silver with a raised pile, and wrought throughout with

emblematic letters." When he had made the usual display in the lists,

the Duke of Suffolk entered from the other end, with well-nigh equal

array and pomp. He was accompanied by fourteen other jousters. "The

King wanted to joust with all of them ; but this was forbidden by the

Council, which, moreover, decided that each jouster was to run six courses

and no more, so that the entertainment might be ended on that day. . . .

The competitor assigned lo the King was the Duke of Suffolk; and they bore

themselves so bravely that the spectators fancied themselves witnessing a

joust between Hector and Achilles." "They tilted," says Sagudino, "eight

courses, both shivering their lances at every time, to the great applause of

the spectators." Chieregati continues. "On arriving in the lists the King-

presented himself before the Queens and the ladies, making a thousand jumps

in the air, and after tiring one horse, he entered the tent and mounted

another. . . . doing this constantly, and reappearing in the lists until the end

of the jousts." Dinner was then served, amid a scene of unparalleled sj^len-

dour, and Chieregati avers that the "guests remained at table for seven

hours by the clock." The display of costume on the King's part was equally

varied and gorgeous. On one occasion he wore "stiff brocade in the Hun-

garian fashion," on another, he "was dressed in white damask in the Turkish

fashion, the above-mentioned robe all embroidered with roses, made of

rubies and diamonds;" on a third, he "wore royal robes down to the ground,

of gold brocade lined with ermine ;
" while " all the rest of the Court

glittered with jewels and gold and silver, the pomp being unprecedented."
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All this riot of wealth wouhl no doubt impress the impecunious Charles.

In September he landed in Spain, so destitute that he was glad to accept

the offer of a hobby from the English ambassador. At the first meeting

of his Cortes, they demanded that he should marry at once, and not

\vait for Francis's daughter; the bride his subjects desired was the daughter

of the King of Portugal. They were no more willing to part with Navarre;

and Charles was forced to make to Francis the feeble excuse that he

was not aware, when he was in the Netherlands, of his true title to

Navarre, but had learnt it since his arrival in Spain ; he also declined

the personal interview to which Francis invited him. A rupture between

Francis and Charles was only a question of time; and, to prepare for it,

both were anxious for England's alliance. Throughout the autumn of

1517 and spring of 1518, France and England were feeling their way

towards friendship. Albanv had left Scotland, so that source of irritation

was gone. Henry had now a daughter, Mary, and Francis a son. " I

will unite them," said Wolsey ; and in October, 1518, not only was a

treaty of marriage and alliance signed between England and France, but

a general peace for Europe. Leo X. sent Campeggio with blessings of

peace from the Vicar of Christ, though he was kept chafing at Calais

for three months, till he could bring with him Leo's appointment of

^A'olsey as legate. The ceremonies exceeded in splendour even those

of the year before. They included, says Giustinian, a "most sumptuous

supper" at Wolsey's house, "the like of which, I fancy, was never given by

Cleopatra or Caligula ; the whole banqueting hall being so decorated with

huge vases of gold and silver, that I fancied myself in the tower of Chosroes,

when that monarch caused divine honours to be paid him. After supper.. ..

twelve male and twelve female dancers made their appearance in the

richest and most sumptuous array possible, being all dressed alike. . . .

They were disguised in one suit of fine green satin, all over covered

with cloth of gold, undertied together with laces of gold, and had mask-

ing hoods on their heads ; the ladies had tires made of braids of damask

gold with longs hairs of white gold. AH these maskers danced at one
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time, and after ihey had danced they put off their visors, and then they

were all known. . . . The two leaders were the King and the Queen

Dowager of France, and all the others were lords and ladies." These

festivities were followed by the formal ratification of peace. Approval of

it was general, and the old councillors who had been alienated by Wolsey's

Milan expedition, hastened to applaud. " It was the best deed," wrote

Fox to Wolsey, " that ever was done for England, and, next to the

King, the praise of it is due to you." Once more the wheel had come

round, and the stone of Sisyphus was lodged more secure than before some

way up the side of the hill.

This general peace, which closed the wars, begun ten years before

by the league of Cambrai, was not entirely due to a universal desire

to beat swords into ploughshares or to even turn them against the Turk.

That was the everlasting pretence, but eighteen months before, Maximi-

lian had suffered a stroke of apoplexy ; men, said Giustinian, commenting

on the fact, did not usually survive such strokes a year, and rivals were

preparing to enter the lists for the Empire. Maximilian himself, faithful

to the end to his guiding principle, found a last inspiration in the idea of

disposing of his succession for ready money. He was writing to Charles

that it was useless to expect the Empire unless he would spend at least

as much as the French. " It would be lamentable," he said, " if we

should now lose all through some pitiful omission or penurious neglect ;

"

and Francis was " going about covertly and laying many baits," to attain

the Imperial crown. To Henry himself he had more than once offered

the prize, and rude scoffers had declared that the offer was only another

design for extracting Henry's gold. He had first proposed it while serving

under Henry's banners in France. He renewed the suggestion in 1516,

inviting Henry to meet him at Coire. The brothers in arms were thence

to cross the Alps to Milan, where the Emperor would invest the English
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King wilh iIk- (lucliy ; he would tlu'ii lake him on to Home, resign the

Empire himself, and have Henry crowned. Not that Maximilian desired

to forsake all earthly authority; he sought to eomhine a spiritual \vilh

a temporal glory; he was to lay down the imperial ' crown and place on

his brows the pa[)al tiara. Nothing was too fantastic for the Kmperor

Maximilian; the man who could not wrest a few towns from Venice was

always deluding himself with the hope of leading victorious hosts to the

seat of the Turkish empire and the Holy City o( Chrislendom ; the sove-

reign whose main incentive in life was gold, informed his daughter that

he intended to get himself canonized, and that after his death she would

have to adore him. He died at Welz on January 12, 1519, neither Po|)e

nor saint, wilh Jerusalem still in the hands of the Turk, and the succes-

sion to the Empire still undecided.

The contest broke out in real earnest, and the electors prepared to

garner their harvest of gold. The price of a vote was a hundredfold more

than the most corrupt parliamentary elector could conceive in his wildest

dreams of avarice. There were only seven electors and the prize was the

greatest on earth. Francis I. said he was ready to spend three million

crowns, and Charles could not afford to lag far behind. The Marquis of

Brandenburg, "the father of all greediness," as the Austrians called him,

WMS particularly influential because his brother, the Archbishop of Mayence,

was also an elector, and he required an especially exorbitant bribe. He

was ambitious as well as covetous, and the rivals endeavoured to satisfy

his ambitions M'ith matrimonial prizes. He was promised Ferdinand's

widow, Germaine de Foix ; Francis sought to parry this blow by offer-

ing to the Marquis's son the French Princess Renee ; Charles bid higher

by offering his sister Catherine. Francis relied much on his personal

graces, the military renown he had won by the conquest of Northern

Italy, and the assistance of Leo. ^\'ith the Pope he concluded a fresh

treaty that year for the conquest of Ferrara, the extension of the Papal

States, and the settlement of Naples on Francis's second son, on con-

dition that it was meanwhile to be administered by Papal legates, and
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thai its kino- was to abstain IVom all interference in spiritual matters.

Charles, on the other hand, owed his advantages to his position and

not to his person. Cold, reserved, and formal, he possessed none of the

physical or intellectual graces of Francis I. and Henry VIII. He excelled

in no sport, was unpleasant in features and repellent in manners. No

gleam of magnanimity or chivalry lightened his character, no deeds in

war or statecraft yet sounded his fame. He was none the less heir of

the Austrian House, which for generations had worn the imperial crown
;

as such, too, he was a German prince, and the Germanic constitution

forbade any other the sovereignty of the Holy Roman Empire. Against

this was the fact that his enormous dominions, including Naples and Spain,

would preclude his continued residence in Germany and might threaten

the liberties of the German people.

But was there no third candidate ? Leo at heart regarded the

election of either as an absolute evd. He had always dreaded Maxi-

milian's claims to the temporal power of the Church, though Maximilian

held not a foot of Italian soil. How much more would he dread

those claims in the hands of Francis or Charles! One threatened the

Papal States from Milan, and the other from Naples. Of the two, he

feared Francis the less; for the union of Naples with the empire had

been such a terror to the Popes, that before granting the investiture of

that kingdom, they bound its king by oath not to enter the Imperial

lists. But a third candidate would oiler an escape from between the

upper and the nether millstone; and Leo suggested at one time Charles's

brother Ferdinand, at another a German elector. Precisely the same

recommendations had been secretly made by Henry VIII. In public he

followed the course he commended to Leo; he advocated the claims of

both Charles and Francis, when asked so to do, but sent trusty envoys

with his testimonials to explain that no credence was to be given them.

He told the French King that he favoured the election of Francis, and

the Spanish King the election of Charles, but like Leo he desired in

truth the election of neither. Why should he not come forward himself?
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His dominions were not so extensive thai, when eonibined with tlie inijje-

rial dignity, they wouUl tlireaten to dominate Europe ; and his election

might seem to provide a useful check in the balance of power. In March

he had already told Francis that his claims were favoured by some of the

electors, though he professed a wish to promote the French King's pre-

tensions. In May, Pace was sent to Germany with secret instructions to

endeavour to balance the parties and force the electors into a deadlock,

from which the only escape would be the election of a third candidate,

either Henry himself or some German prince. It is difficult to believe

that Henry really thought his election possible or was seriously pushing

his claim. He had repeatedly declined Maximilian's offers; he had been

as often warned by trusty advisers that no non-German prince stood a

chance of election ; he had expressed his content with his own islands,

which, Tunstall told him with truth, were an Empire worth more than the

barren Imperial crown. Pace went far too late to secure a party for Henry,

and what was even more fatal, he went without the persuasive of money.

Norfolk told Giustinian, after Pace's departure, that the election would

fall on a German prince, and such, said the Venetian, was the universal

belief and desire in England. After the election, Leo expressed his

" regret that Henry gave no attention to a project which would

have made him a near, instead of a distant, neighbour of the Papal

States." Under the circumstances, it seems more probable that the first

alternative in Pace's instructions no more represented a settled design in

Henry's mind than his often-professed intention of conquering France,

and that the real purport of his mission was to promote the election of

the Duke of Saxony or another German prince.

Whatever its object, unless it was, as Henry himself gave out, merely

to see that peace was kept, the mission was foredoomed to failure.

The conclusion was really never in doubt. Electors might trouble the

waters in order to fish with more success. They might pretend to Francis

that if he was free with his money he might be elected, and to Charles

that unless he was free with his money he would not. But no sufficient
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reason luul been shown why they should violate national prejudices, the

laws of the Empire, and prescriptive hereditary right, in order to place

Henry or Francis instead of a German upon the imperial throne. Neither

people nor princes nor barons, wrote Leo's envoys, would permit the

election of the Most Christian King; and even if the electors wished to

elect him, it was not in their power to do so. The whole of the nation,

said Pace, was in arms and furious for Charles ; and had Henry been

elected, they would have killed, in their indignation. Pace and all his

servants. The voice of the German people spoke in no uncertain tones;

thev would have Charles and no other to be their ruler. Leo himself

saw the futility of resistance, and making a virtue of necessity, he sent

Charles an absolution from his oath as King of Naples. As soon as

it arrived, the electors unanimously declared Charles iheir Emperor on

June 28.

Thus was completed the shuffling of the cards for the game that lasted

till Henry's death. Francis had now succeeded to Louis, Charles to both

his grandfathers, and Henry at twenty-eight was the doyen of the princes

of Europe. He was two years older than Francis and eight years older

than Charles. Europe had passed under the rule of youthful triumvirs

whose rivalry troubled its peace and guided its destinies for nearly thirty

years. The youngest of all was the greatest in power. His dominions,

it is true, were disjointed, and funds were often to seek, but these

defects have been overrated. It was neither of these that prevented the

revival in his hands of the empire of Charlemagne. It was a cloud in

Germany, as yet no bigger than a man's hand, but soon to darken the

face of Europe. Ferdinand and Maximilian had at times been dangerous;

Charles wielded the power of both. He ruled over Castile and Aragon,

the Netherlands and Naples, Burgundy and Austria; he could command

the finest military forces' in Europe; the infantry in Spain, the science

of Italy, the lance-knights of Germany, for which Ferdinand sighed, were

at his disposal ; and the wealth of the Indies was poured out at his feet.

He bestrode the narrow world like a Colossus, and the only hope of
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lossci' moil lay in tlic niaintonancc of Francis's power. Were llial to

fail, CJiarles would become arbiter of Christendom, Italy a Spanish king-

dom, and the Pope little more than the Emperor's chaplain. " Great

masters," said Timstall wilh reference to a papal brief nrged by (Charles

in excuse for his action in 1517, "could get great clerks to say what

they liked. " The master}^ of Charles in 1517 was but the shadow of

what it became ten years later; and if under its dominance the "great

clerk" were called u|)on to decide between "the great master" and Henry,

it was obvious already that all Henry's services to the Papacy would count

for nothing'.

For the present, those services were to be remembered. They w^ere

not, indeed, inconsiderable. It would be absurd to maintain that, since

his accession, Henry had been actuated' by respect for the Papacy more

than by another motive; but it is indisputable that that motive had entered

more largely into his conduct than into that of any other monarch.

James IV. and Louis had been excommunicated, Maximilian had obstinately

countenanced a schismatic council and wished to arrogate to himself the

Pope's temporal power. Ferdinand's zeal for his house had eaten him

up and left little room for less selfish impulses; his anxiety for w-ar with

the Moor or the Turk was but a cloak; and the value of his demand for

a Reformation may be judged by his opinion that never was there more

need for the inquisition, and by his anger with Leo for refusing the inquisi-

tors the preferments he asked. From hypocrisy like Ferdinand's, Henry was,

in his early years, singularly free, and the devotion to the Holy See, which

he inherited, was of a more than conventional type. "He is very reli-

gious," wrote Giustinian, " and hears three masses daily when he hunts,

and sometimes five on other days. He hears the office every day in the

Queen's chamber, that is to say, vesper and compline." The best theo-

logians and doctors in his kingdom were regularly required to preach at
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his Court, when their tee for each sermon was equivalent to ten or

twelve pounds. lie was generous in his alms-giving, and his usual offering

on Sundays and saints' days was 6s. 8d., or in modern currency, nearly

four pounds ; often it was double that amount, and there were special

offerings besides, such as the twenty shillings he sent every year to the

shrine of St. Thomas at Canterbury. In January, 1511, the gentlemen

of the King's chapel were paid what would now be seventy-five pounds

for praying for the Queen's safe delivery, and similar sums were no doubt

paid on other occasions. In 1513, Catherine thought Henry's success was

all due to his zeal for religion, and a year or two later Erasmus wrote that

Henry's Court was an example to all Christendom for learning and piety.

Piety went hand in hand with a fdial respect for the head of the Church.

Not once in the ten years is there to be found any expression from Henry

of contempt for the Pope, Avhether he was Julius II. or Leo X. There

had been no occasion on which Pope and King had been brought into

conflict, and almost throughout they had acted in perfect harmony. It

was the siege of Julius by Louis that drew Henry from his peaceful

policy to intervene as the champion of the Papal See, and it was as the

executor of Papal censures that he made war on France. A Papal envoy

came to urge peace in 1514, and a Pope claimed first to have suggested

the marriage between Mary and Louis. The Milan expedition of 1516

was made under cover of a new Holy League concluded in the spring

of the previous year, and the peace of 1518 was made with the full

approval and blessings of Leo. Henry's devotion had been often acknow-

ledged in words, and twice by tangible tokens of gratitude, in the gift

of the golden rose in 1511, and of the sword and cap in 1513. But

did not his services merit some more signal mark of favour? If Fer-

dinand was "Catholic," and Louis "Most Christian," might not some

title be found for a genuine friend? And, as early as 1515, Henry was

pressing the Pope for "some title as protector of the Holy See." Various

names were suggested, "King Apostolic," "King Orthodox," and others;

and in January, 1516, we find the first mention of " Fidei Defensor."
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But tlie prize w;is to bo won by services more appropriate to the title

than even ten years' maintenance of the Pope's temporal interests. His

championship of the Holy See had been the most unselfish part of Henry's

policy since he came to the throne; but his whole conduct had been an

example, which others were slow to follow, and which Henry himself was

soon to neglect. If his intellect was not yet developed, his character was

not yet debased ; and when he added a defence of the spiritual, to his

defence of the temporal, rights of Rome, it was felt thai his virtues, no

less than his actions, made him a worthy " Fidei Delensor."
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CHAPTER THREE

KING A>D CARDINAL.

oTHiNG," said Giustinian of Wolsey in 1518, "pleases

him more than to be called the arbiter of Europe."

Continental statesmen were inclined to ridicule

and resent the Cardinal's claim to the title. But it

hardly exaggerates the part which the English

minister was enabled to play during the next few

years by the rivalry of Charles and Francis, and by

the apparently even balance of their powers. The position which England

held in the councils of Europe in 1519 was a marvellous advance upon

that which it had occupied in 1509. The first ten years of Henry's reign

had been a period of fluctuating, but continual, progress. The campaign

of 1513 had vindicated England's military prowess, and had made it pos-

sible for Wolsey, at the peace of the following year, to place his country

1
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on a level with tiie other nations of Europe. Francis's conquest of Milan,

and the haste with which Maximilian, Leo, and Charles sought to make

terms with the victor, caused a temporary isolation of England and

a consequent decline in her inlluence. But the arrangements made

between Charles and P^rancis contained, in themselves, as acute English

diplomatists saw, the seeds, of future disruption ; and, in 1518, Wolsey

was able, so to play off these mutual jealousies, as to reassert England's

position. He imposed a general peace, or rather a truce, which raised

Entfland even higher than the treaties of 1514 had done, and made her

appear as the conservator of the peace of Europe. England had almost

usurped the ))lace of the Pope as mediator between rival Christian princes.

These brilliant results were achieved with the aid of very moderate

military forces and an only respectable navy. They were due partly to the

lavish expenditure of Henry's treasures, partly to the extravagant faith of

other princes in the extent of England's wealth, but mainly to the genius

for diplomacy displayed by the great English Cardinal. Wolsey had now

reached the zenith of his power; and the growth of his sense of his own

importance is graphically described by the Venetian ambassador. When

Giustinian first arrived in England, Wolsey used to say, "His Majesty will

do so and so." Subsequently, by degrees, forgetting himself, he com-

menced saying, "We shall do so and so." In 1519 he had reached such a

pitch that he used to say, "I shall do so and so." Fox had been called

by Badoer "a second king," but Wolsey was now "the King himself."

"We have to deal," said Fox, "with the Cardinal, who is not cardinal,

but king; and no one in the realm dares attempt aught in opposition

to his interests." On another occasion Giustinian remarks: "This cardinal

is king, nor does His Majesty depart in the least from the opinion and

counsel of his lordship." Sir Thomas More, in describing the negotia-

tions for the peace of 1518, reports that only after Wolsey had con-

cluded a point did he tell the council, "so that even the King hardly

knows in what state matters are." A month or two later there was a

curious dispute between the Earl of Worcester and West, Bishop of Ely,
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who were sent to convey llie treaty of London to b^riincis. Worcester,

as a layman, was a partisan of the King, West ol the Cardinal. \\'or-

cester insisted thai tlieir detailed letters should be addressed to Henry,

and only a general one to Wolsey. West refnsetl ; the important letters,

he thought, should go to the Cardinal, the formal ones to the King
;

and, eventually, identical despatches were sent to both. In negotiations

with l*]ngland, Giustinian told his Government, "if it were necessary to

neglect either King or Cardinal, it would i)e belter to |)ass over the

King; he would therefore make the proposal to both, but to the Cardinal

first, lest he should resent the precedence conceded to the Kini^." The

popular charge against Wolsey, repeated by Shakespeare, of having written

Ei;;o et rex mens, though true in fact, is false in intention, because no

Latin scholar could j)ut the words in any other order; but the Cardinal's

mental attitude is faithfully represented in the meaning which the familiar

phrase was supposed to convey.

His arrogance does not rest merely on the testimony of enemies like

the historian, Polydore Vergil, or of chroniclers like Hall, who wrote at

a time when vilification of Wolsey pleased both King and people, but on

the despatches of diplomatists with whom he had to deal, and on the

reports of observers who narrowly watched his demeanour. " He is,"

wrote one, "the proudest prelate that ever breathed. " During the festi-

vities of the Emperor's visit to England, in 1520, W^olsey alone sat down

to dinner with the royal party, while peers, like the Dukes of Suffolk and

Buckingham, performed menial offices for the Cardinal, as well as for

Emperor, King, and Queen. When he celebrated mass at the Field of

Cloth of Gold, bishops invested him with his robes and ]nit sandals on

his feet, and "some of the chief noblemen in England" brouyht water

to wash his hands. A year later, at his meeting with Charles at Bruges,

he treated the Emperor as an equal. He did not dismount from his mule,

but merely doded his cap, and embraced as a brother the temporal head

of Christendom. When, after a dispute with the \ enetian ambassador, he

wished to be friendly, he allowed Giustinian, with royal condescension,
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and as a special mark of favour, to kiss his hand. He never granted

audience either to English peers or foreign ambassadors until the third

or fourth time of asking. In 1515 it was the custom of ambassadors to

dine with Wolsey before presentation at Court, but four years later they

were never served with viands until they had been removed from the

Cardinal's table. A Venetian, describing Wolsey's embassy to France in

1527, relates that his "attendants served cap in hand, and, when bringing

the dishes, knelt before him in the act of presenting them. Those who

waited on the Most Christian King, kept their caps on their heads, dis-

pensing with such exaggerated ceremonies."

Pretenders to royal honours seldom acquire the grace of genuine

royalty, and the Cardinal pursued with vindictive ferocity those who

offended his sensitive dignity. In 1515, Polydore Vergil said, in writing

to his friend, Cardinal Hadrian, that Wolsey was so tyrannical towards

all men that his influence could not last, and that all England abused

him. The letter was copied by Wolsey's secretary, Vergil was sent

to the Tower, and only released after many months at the repealed inter-

cession of Leo X. His correspondent, Cardinal Hadrian, was visited

with Wolsey's undying hatred. A pretext for his ruin was found in his

alleged complicity in a plot to poison the Pope; the charge was trivial,

and Leo forgave him. Not so Wolsey; as soon as the report reached

England, Hadrian was deprived of his bishopric of Bath and Wells, which

was granted to Wolsey. Venice had the temerity to intercede with Leo

on Hadrian's behalf ; Wolsey thereupon overwhelmed Giustinian with

'•rabid and insolent language;" ordered him not to put anything in his

despatches without his consent ; and revoked the privileges of Venetian

merchants in England. In these outbursts of fury, he paid little respect

to the sacrosanct character of ambassadors. He heard that the Papal

nuncio, Chieregati, was sending to France unfavourable reports of his

conduct. The nuncio " was sent for by Wolsey, who took him into a

private chamber, laid rude hands upon him, fiercely demanding what he

had written to the Kino' of France and what intercourse he had held with
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Giustinian and his son, adding that he should not quit the spot until he

had confessed everything, and, if fair means were not sufficient, he should

be put upon the rack." Nine years later, Wolsey nearly precipitated war

between England and the Emperor by a similar outburst against Charles's

ambassador, De Praet. He intercepted De Praet's correspondence, and

confined him to his house. It was a flagrant breach of international law.

Tampering with diplomatic correspondence was usually considered a suffi-

cient cause for war; on this occasion war did not suit Charles's purpose,

but it was no fault of Wolsey's that his fury at an alleged personal slight

did not provoke hostilities with the most powerful prince in Christendom.

Englishmen fared no better than others at ^^"olsey"s hands. He used

the coercive power of the State to revenge his private wrongs as well

as to secure the peace of the realm. In July, 1517, Sir Robert Sheffield,

who had been Speaker in two Parliaments, was sent to the Tower for

complaining of Wolsey, and to point the moral of Fox's assertion, that none

durst do ought in opposition to the Cardinal's interests. Again, the idea,

reflected by Shakespeare, that Wolsey was jealous of Pace, has been des-

cribed as absurd ; but it is difficult to draw any other inference from the

relations between them after 1521. While Wolsey was absent at Calais,

he accused Pace, without ground, of misrepresenting his letters to Henry,

and of obtaining Henry's favour on behalf of a canon of York ; he com-

plained that foreign powers were trusting to another influence than his

over the King; and, when he returned, he took care that Pace should

henceforth be employed, not as secretary to Henry, but on almost con-

tinuous missions to Italy. In 1523, when the Venetian ambassador was to

thank Henry for making a treaty with Venice, which Pace had concluded,

he was instructed not to praise him so highly, if the Cardinal were pre-

sent, as if the oration were made to Henry alone ; and, four years later,

Wolsev found an occasion for sending Pace to the Tower.

Wolsey's pride in himself, and his jealousy of others, were not more

conspicuous than his thirst after riches. His fees as chancellor were

reckoned by Giustinian at five thousand ducats a year. He made thrice
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that sum by New Year's^prescnts, "which he receives like the King."

His demand for the bishopric of Bath and Wells, coupled with the fact

that it was he wiio petitioned for Hadrian's deprivation, amazed even the

Court at Home, and, "to avoid murmurs," compliance was deferred for a

time. Hut these scruples were allowed no more than ecclesiastical law,

to stand in the way of Wolsey's preferment. One of the small reforms

decreed by the Lateran Council was that no bishoprics should be held in

commendain ; the ink was scarcely dry when Wolsey asked in com-

mcndain for the see of the recently conquered Tournay. Tournay was

restored to France in 1518, but the Cardinal took care that he should

not be the loser. A sine (jiin non of the peace was that Francis should

pay him an annual pension of twelve thousand livres as compensation for

the loss of a bishopric of which he had never obtained possession. He

drew other pensions for political services, from both Francis and Charles;

and, from the Duke of Milan, he obtained the promise of ten thousand

ducats a year before Pace set out to recover the duchy. It is scarcely a

matter for wonder that foreign diplomatists, and Englishmen, too, should

have accused Wolsey of spending the King's money for his own profit, and

have thought that the surest way of winning his favour was by means of

a bribe. When England, in 1521, siiled with Charles against Francis, the

Emperor bound himself to make good to Wolsey all -the sums he would

lose by a breach with France ; and from that year onwards Charles paid

— or owed— Wolsey eighteen thousand livres a year. It was nine times

the pensions considered sufficient for the Dukes of Norfolk and Suffolk ;

and even so it does not include the revenue Wolsey derived from two

Spanish bishoprics. These w^ere not bribes in the sense that they affected

Wolsey's policy; they were well enough known to ihe King; to spoil the

Egyptians was considered fair game, and Henry was generous enough not

to keep all the perquisites of peace or war for himself.

Two years after the agreement with Charles, Ruthal, Bishop of Durham,

died, and Wolsey exchanged Bath and Wells for the richer see formerly

held by his political ally and friend. But Winchester was richer even than
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Diirliain ; so wlicti Fox followcil Hullial lo llu' j^j-avc, in l.")2<S, W'olsey

rXL-liangcil llu* norlliein for llio soiillieni see, and l)egge(l lliat Durham

might go to his natural son, a youth of eighteen. All these were held

/// rommenddtn with the archbishopric oF York, hut they did not satisfy

Wolsey; and, in l.")2l, he oblaineil the grant of St. .\lhans, the greatest

ahhey in Kngland. His palaces outshone in splendour those of Henry

himself, and few monarchs have been able lo display such wealtli of

plate as loaded the Cardinal's table. Wolsey is supposed to have con-

ceived vast schemes of ecclesiastical reform, which time and opportunity

failed him to elTect. If he had ever seriously set about the work, the

first thing to be reformed would have been his own ecclesiastical

practice. He personified in himself most of the clerical abuses of his

age. Not merely an " un|)reaching prelate," he rarely said mass ; his

<ommendams and absenteeism were alike violations of canon law. Three

of the bishoprics he held he never visited at all ; York, which he had

obtained fifteen years before, he did not visit till the year of his death,

and then through no wish of his own. He was equally negligent of the

vow of chastity; he cohabited with the daughter of "one Lark," a relative

of the Lark wl\o is mentioned in the correspondence of the time as "omni-

potent " with the Cardinal, and as resident in his household. By her he

left two children, a son for whom he obtained a deanery and four archdea-

conries, and sought the bishopric of Durham ; and a daughter who became

a nun. The accusation brought against him by the Duke of Buckingham,

of procuring objects for Henry's sensual appetite is a scandal, to which no

credence woulil have been attached but for Wolsey's own moral laxilv, and

the fact that the governor of Charles V. performed a similar office.

Repellent as was Wolsey's character in many respects, he Avas yet

the greatest, as he was the last, of the ecclesiastical statesmen who

have governed l"]ngland. As a diplomatist, pure a'<d simple, he has never

been surpassed, and as an administrator he has had few equals. " He

is," says Giustinian, " very handsome, learned, extremely eloquent, of

vast ability and indefatigable. He alone transacts the same business as
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that which occupies all the magistracies, offices, and councils of Venice,

both civil and criminal ; and all State affairs are managed by him, let

their nature be what it may. He is thoughtful, and has the reputation of

being extremely just ; he favours the people exceedingly, and especially

the poor, hearing their suits and seeking to dispatch them instantly. He

also makes the lawyers plead gratis for all poor suitors. He is in very

great repute, seven times more so than if he were pope." His sympathy

with the poor was no idle sentiment, and his commission of 1517, and

decree against enclosures in the following year, were the only steps

taken in Henry's reign to mitigate that curse of the agricultural popu-

lation. The Evil May-Day riots of 1517 alone disturbed the peace of

Wolsey's internal administration ; and they were due merely to anti-

foreign prejudice, and to the idea that strangers within the gates mono-

polised the commerce of England and diverted its profits to their own

advantage. "Never," wrote Wolsey to a bishop at Rome in 1518, "was

the kingdom in greater harmony and repose than now ; such is the

effect of my administration of justice and equity." To Henry his strain

was less arrogant. " And for your realm," he says, " our Lord be

thanked, it was never in such peace nor tranquillity; for all this summer

1 have had neither of riot, felony, nor forcible entry, but that your

laws be in every place indifferently ministered without leaning of any

manner. Albeit, there hath lately been a fray betwixt Pygot, your Ser-

jeant, and Sir Andrew Windsor's servants for the seisin of a ward, whereto

they both pretend titles ; in the which one man was slain. 1 trust the

next term to learn them the law of the Star Chamber that they shall

ware how from henceforth they shall redress their matter w^ith their

hands. They be both learned in the temporal law, and 1 doubt not

good example shall ensue to see them learn the new law of the Star

Chamber, which, God willing, they shall have indifferently administered

to them, according to their deserts." Wolsey's " new law of the Star

Chamber," his stern enforcement of the statutes against livery and main-

tenance, and his spasmodic attempt to redress the evil of enclosures,
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probably contributed as much as his anogance and ostentation to the ill-

favour in which he stood with tlie nobility and landed gentry. From

the first tliorc were frc((uetit rumours of plots to depose him, and

his enemies abroad often talked of the universal haired which he inspired

in England. The classes which benefited by his justice complained bitterly

of the impositions required to support bis spirited foreign policy. Clerics

Avho regarded him as a bulwark against heresy on the one hand, and,

on the other, against the extreme view which Henry held from the first of

his authority over the Cliurch, were alienated by the despotism Wolsey

wielded by means of his legatine powers. Peers, spiritual no less than

temporal, regarded him as " the great tyrant." Parliaments he feared

and distrusted; he had urged the speedy dissolution of that of 1515;

only one sat during the fourteen years of his supremacy, and with that

the Cardinal quarrelled. He possessed no hold over the nation, but only

over the King, in whom alone he put his trust.

For the time, he seemed secure enough. No one could touch a hair

of his head so long as he was sheltered by Henry's power, and Henry

seemed to have given over his royal authority to Wolsey's hands with

a blind and undoubting confidence. "The King," said one, in 1515, "is

a vounfflintr, cares for nothing but ffirls and hunting, and wastes his

father's patrimony." "He gambled," reported Giustinian in 1519, "with

the French hostages, occasionally, it was said, to the amount of six or

eight thousand ducats a day." In the following summer, Henry rose daily

at four or five in the morning and hunted till nine or ten at night; "he

spares," said Pace, "no pains to convert the sport of hunting into a

martyrdom." " He devotes himself," wrote Chieregati, " to accomplish-

ments and amusements day and night, is intent on nothing else, and

leaves business to Wolsey, who rules everything." Wolsey, it was

remarked, made Henry go hither and thither, just as he liked ; the King
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signed State papers without knowing their contents. "Writing," admitted

Henry, "is to me somewhat tedious and painful." When Wolsey thought

it essential that autograph letters in Henry's hand should be sent to other

crowned heads, he composed the letters and sent them to Henry to copy

out. Could the most constitutional monarch have been more dutiful? But

constitutional monarchy was not then invented, and it is not surprising

that Giustinian, in 1519, found it impossible to say much for Henry as a

statesman. Agere cum rege, he said, est nihil ogere ; anything told to

the Kinr>- was either useless or was communicated to Wolsey. Bishop

West was sure that Henry would not take the pains to look at his and

Worcester's despatches; and there was a widespread impression abroad and

at home that the English King was a negligeable quantity in the domestic

and foreign affairs of his own kingdom.

For ten years Henry had reigned while first his council, and then

Wolsey, governed. Before another decade had passed, Henry was King

and Government in one ; and no one in the kingdom counted for much

but the King. He stepped at once into Wolsey's place, became his own

prime minister, and ruled with a vigour that was assuredly not less than

the Cardinal's. Such transformations are not the work of a moment,

and Henry's would have been impossible, had he in previous years been

so completely the slave of Vanity Fair, as most people thought. In

reality, there are indications that beneath the superficial gaiety of his life,

Henry was beginning to use his own judgment, form his own conclusions,

and take an interest in serious matters. He was only twenty-eight in

1519, and his character was following a normal course of development.

From the earliest years of his reign, Henry had at least two serious

preoccupations, the New Learning and his navy. We learn from Erasmus

that Henry's Court was an example to Christendom for learning and piety;

that the King sought to promote learning among the clergy; and on one

occasion defended "mental and ex tempore prayer " against those who

apparently thought laymen should, in their private devotions, confine

themselves to formularies prescribed by the clergy. In 1519, there
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were more men of learning at the English Court than at any university

;

it was more like a museum, says the great humanist, than a Court
;

and in the same year the King endeavoured to stop the outcry against

Greek, raised by the reactionary "Trojans" at Oxford. "You would

say," continues Erasmus, "that Henry was a universal genius. He has

never neglected his studies ; and whenever he has leisure from his poli-

tical occupations, he reads, or disputes— of which he is very fond —
with remarkable courtesy and unrufflcil temper. He is more of a com-

panion than a king. For these little trials of wit, he prepares himself by

reading schoolmen, Thomas, Scotus or Gabriel." His theological studies

Avere encouraged by Wolsey, possibly to divert the King's mind from an

unwelcome interference in politics, and it was at the Cardinal's instiga-

tion that Henry set to work on his famous book against Luther. He seems

to have begun it, or some similar treatise, which may afterwards have

been adapted to Luther's particular case, before the end of the year in

which the German reformer published his original theses, hi September,

1517, Erasmus heard that Henry had returned to his studies, and, in the

following June, Pace writes to Wolsey that, with respect to the com-

mendations given by the Cardinal to the King's book, though Henry

does not think it worthy such great praise as it has had from him and

from all other " great learned " men, yet he says he is very glad to

have "noted in your grace's letters that his reasons be called inevitable,

considering that your grace was sometime his adversary herein and of

contrary opinion." It is obvious that this "book," whatever it may have

been, was the fruit of Henry's own mind, and that he adopted a line of

argument not entirely relished by Wolsey. But, if it was the book against

Luther, it was laid aside and re-written before it was given to the world

in its final form. Nothing more is heard of it for three years.

In April, 1521, Pace explains to \\'olsey the delay in sending him

on some news-letters from Germany " which his grace had not

read till this day after his dinner ; and thus he commanded me to

write unto your grace, declaring he was otherwise occupied
;

i.e. in
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scribendo contra Luthernm, as I do conjecture." Nine days later, Pace

found the King reading a new book of Luther's, "which he dispraised;"

and he took the opportunity to show Henry Leo's bull against the Reformer.

"His grace showed himself well contented with the coming of the same;

howbeit, as touching the publication thereof, he said he would have it

well examined and diligently looked to afore it were published." Even

in the height of his fervour against heresy, Henry was in no mood to

abate one jot or one tittle of his royal authority in ecclesiastical matters.

His book was finished before May 21, 1521, when the King wrote to

Leo, saying that " ever since he knew Luther's heresy in Germany, he

had made it his study how to extirpate it. He had called the learned

of his kingdom to consider these errors and denounce them, and exhort

others to do the same. He had urged the Emperor and Electors, since

this pestilent fellow would not return to God, to extirpate him and his

heretical books. He thought it right still further to testify his zeal for

the faith by his writings, that all might see he Avas ready to defend

the Church, not only with his arms, but with the resources of his mind.

He dedicated therefore, to the Pope, the first offerings of his intellect

and his little erudition." The letter had been preceded, on May 12, by

a holocaust of Luther's books in St. Paul's churchyard. Wolsey sat in

state on a scaffold at St. Paul's Cross, with the Papal nuncio and

the archbishop of Canterbury at bis feet on the right, and the

Imperial ambassador and Tunstall, Bishop of London, at his feet on

the left
; and while the books were being devoured by the flames,

Fisher preached a sermon denouncing the errors contained therein. But

it was July before the fair copy of Henry's book was ready for pre-

sentation to Leo
;

possibly the interval was employed by learned men

in polishing Henry's style, but the substance of the work was undoubtedly

of Henry's authorship. Such is the direct testimony of Erasmus, and

there is no evidence to indicate the collaboration of others. Pace was

then the most intimate of Henry's counsellors, and Pace, by his own

confession, was not in the secret. Nor is the book so remarkable as to
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preclude the possibility of Henry's authorship. Its arguments are respect-

able and give evidence of an intelligent and fairly extensive acquaintance

with the writings of the Fathers and schoolmen; but they reveal no pro-

found depth of theological learning nor genius for abstract speculation.

It does not rank so high in the realm of theology, as do some of Henry's

compositions in that of music. In August it was sent to Leo, with verses

composed by Wolsey and copied out in the royal hand. In September,

the English ambassador at Rome presented Leo his copy, bound in cloth

of gold. The Pope read five leaves without interruption, and remarked

that "he would not have thought such a book should have come from

the King's grace, who hath been occupied, necessarily, in other feats,

seeing that other men which hath occupied themselves in study all their

lives cannot bring forth the like." On October 2, it was formally pre-

sented in a consistory of cardinals; and, on the illli, Leo promulgated his

bull conferring on Henry his coveted title, " Fidei Defensor."

Proud as he was of his scholastic achievement and its reward at the

hands of the Pope, Henry was doing more for the future of England by

his attention to naval affairs than by his pursuit of high-sounding titles.

His intuitive perception of England's coming needs in this respect is,

perhaps, the most striking illustration of his political foresight. He has

been described as the father of the British navy ; and, had he not laid

the foundations of England's naval power, his daughter's victory over

Spain and entrance on the path that led to empire would have been

impossible. Under Henry, the navy was first organized as a permanent

force ; he founded the royal dockyards at Woolwich and Deptfbrd, and

the corporation of Trinity House ; he encouraged the planting of timber

for shipbuilding, enacted laws facilitating inland navigation, doited the

coast with fortifications, and settled the constitution of the naval service

upon a plan from which it has ever since steadily developed. He owed

his inspiration to none of his councillors, least of all to ^^'olsey, Avho

had not the faintest glimmering of the importance of securing England's

naval supremacy, and who, during the war of 1522-23, preferred futile inva-
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sions on land to Henry's "secret designs" for destroying the navy of

France. The King's interest in ships and shipbuilding was strong, even

amid the alluring diversions of the first years of his reign. He watched

his fleet sail for Guienne in 1512, and for France in 1513 ;
he knew the

speed, the tonnage, and the armament of every ship in his navy
;
he

supervised the minutest details of their construction. In 1520, his

ambassador at Paris tells him that Francis is building a ship, " and

reasoneth in this mystery of shipman's craft as one which had under-

standing in the same. But, sir, he approachelh not your highness in

that science." A French envoy records how, in 1515, the whole English

Court went down to see the launch of the Princess Man/. Henry him-

self " acted as pilot and wore a sailor's coat and trousers, made of

cloth of gold, and a gold chain with the inscription, ' Dieu est mon

droit,' to which was suspended a whistle, which he blew nearly as

loud as a trumpet." The launch of a ship was then almost a religious

ceremony, and the place of the modern bottle of champagne was taken

by a mass, which was said by the Bishop of Durham. In 1518, Giusti-

nian tells how Henry went to Southampton to see the Venetian galleys,

and caused some new guns to be " fired again and again, marking their

range, as he is verj' curious about matters of this kind."

It was not long before Henry developed an active participation in

serious matters other than theological disputes and naval affairs. It is

not possible to trace its growth with any clearness because no record

remains of the verbal communications which were sufficient to indicate

his will during the constant attendance of Wolsey upon him. But, as

soon as monarch and minister were for some cause or another apart,

evidence of Henry's activity in political matters becomes more available.

Thus, in 1515, we find Wolsey sending the King, at his own request, the

Act of Apparel, just passed by Parliament, for Henry's " examination and

correction." He also desires Henry's determination about the visit of the

Queen of Scotland, that he may make the necessary arrangements. In 1518,

Henry made a prolonged stay at Abingdon, partljr from fear of the plague,
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and partly, as he tokl Pace, because at Abingdon people were not conti-

nually coming- to tell him of deaths, as they did daily in London. During

this absence from London, Henry insisted upon the attendance of sufficient

councillors to enable him to transact business ; he established a relay of

posts every seven hours between himself and Wolsey ; and we hear of his

reading " every word of all the letters" sent by his minister. Every week

Wolsey despatched an account of such state business as he had transacted;

and on one occasion, "considering the imporlance of W'olscy's letters," Henry

paid a secret and flying visit to London. In 1519, there was a sort of revo-

lution at court, obscure enough now, but then a subject of some comment

at home and abroad. Half a dozen of Henry's courtiers wei'e removed from

his person and sent into honourable exile, receiving posts at Calais, at

Guisnes, and elsewhere. Giustinian thought that Henry had been gambling

too much and wished to turn over a new leaf. There were also rumours

that these courtiers governed Henry after their own appetite, to the King's

dishonour ; and Henry, annoyed at the report and jealous as ever of royal

prestige, promptly cashiered them, and filled their places with more grave

and reverend seniors.

Two years later Wolsey was abroad at the conference of Calais, and

again Henry's hand in state affairs becomes a]:)parcnt. Pace, defending

himself from the Cardinal's complaints, tells him that he had done every-

thing "by the King's express commandment, who readeth all your letters

with great diligence." One of the letters Avhich angered Wolsey, was

the King's, for Pace "had devised it very different;" but the King would

not approve of it; "and commanded me to bring your said letters into

his privy chamber with pen and ink, and there he would declare unto

me what 1 should write. And when his grace had your said letters,

he read the same three times, and marked such places as it pleased him

to make answer unto, and commanded me to write and rehearse as liked

him, and not further to meddle with that answer; so that I herein nothing

did but obeyed the King's commandment, and especially at such time as

he would upon good grounds be obeyed, whosoever spahe to the contrary
.^^
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Wolsey might say in liis pride "I sliall do so and so," and foreign envoys

might think that tlie Cardinal made the King "go hither and thither, just

as he liked;" hut Wolsey knew perfectly well that when he thought fit,

Henry "would he obeyed, whosoever spake to the contrary." He might

delegate much of his authority, but men Avere under no misapprehension

that he could and would revoke it whenever he chose. For the time being,

King and Cardinal worked together in general harmony, but it was a part-

nership in which Henry could always have the last word, though Wolsey

did most of the work. As early as 1518 he had nominated Standish to

the bishopric of St. Asaph, disregarding Wolsey's candidate and the oppo-

sition of the clerical party at court, who detested Standish for his advocacy

of Henry's authority in ecclesiastical matters, and dreaded his promotion as

an evil omen tor the independence of the Church.

Even in the details of administration, the King was becoming increasingly

vigilant. In 1519 he drew up a "remembrance of such things" as he

required the Cardinal to "put in effectual execution." They were twenty-

one in number and ranged over every variety of subject. The household

was to be arranged; "views to be made and books kept;" the ordnance

seen to ; treasurers were to make monthly reports of their receipts and

payments, and send counterparts to the King; the surveyor of lands was

to make a yearly declaration; and Wolsey himself and the judges were to

make quarterly reports to Henry in person. There were five points "which

the King will debate with his council," the administration of justice,

reform of the exchequer, Ireland, employment of idle people, and main-

tenance of the frontiers . The general plan of Wolsey's negotiations at

Calais in 1521 was determined by King and Cardinal in consultation, and

every important detail in them and in the subsequent preparations for

war was submitted to Henry. Not infrequently they differed. Wolsey

wanted Sir William Sandys to command the English contingent; Henry

declared it would be inconsistent with his dignity to send a force out

of the realm under the command of anyone of lower rank than an earl.

Wolsey replied that Sandys would be cheaper than an earl , but the
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command was entrusted to the Earl of Surrey. Henry thought it unsafe,

considering the imminence of a breach with France, for English wine

ships to resort to Bordeaux; Wolsey thought otherwise, and they disputed

the point for a month. Honours were divided; the question was settled

for the time by twenty ships sailing while the dispute was in progress.

Apparently they returned in safety, but the seizure of English ships at

Bordeaux in the following March justified Henry's wisdom. Henry was

already an adept in statecraft, and there was at least an element of

truth in the praise Wolsey bestowed on his pupil. "No man," he wrote,

"can more groundly consider the politic governance of your said realm,

nor more assuredly look to the preservation thereof, than ye yourself."

And again "surely, if all your whole council had been assembled toge-

ther, they could not have more deeply perceived or spoken therein."

The Cardinal "could not express the joy and comfort with which he

noted the King's prudence;" but he can scarcely have viewed Henry's

growing interference without some secret misgivings. For he was deve-

lo])ing not only Wolsey's skill and lack of scruple in politics, but also a

choleric and impatient temper akin to the Cardinal's own. In 1514, Carroz

had complained of Henry's offensive behaviour, and had urged that it would

become impossible to control him, if the "young colt" were not bridled.

In the following year Henry treated a French envoy with scant civility,

and flatly contradicted him twice when giving the news of Marignano.

Giustinian also records how Henry went "pale with anger" at unpleasant

news. A few years later his successor describes Henry's "very great rage"

when detailing Francis's injuries; Charles made the same complaints against

the French king, "but not so angrily, in accordance with his gentler

nature." On another occasion Henry turned his back upon a diplomatist

and walked away in the middle of his speech, an incident, we are told,

on which much comment was made in Rome.

But these outbursts were as yet rare. Against them must be set

the graciousness with which Henry habitually treated his councillors, the

wide discretion he allowed them in the exercise of their duties, and the
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lolcration he extended to contrary oiiinions. He was never impatient of

advice even when it condicted with his own views. His long arguments with

Wolsey, and the freedom with which the Cardinal justified his recommenda-

tions, even after Henry had made up his mind to an opposite course, are a

sufficient proof of the fact. In 1517, angered by Maximilian's perfidy, Henry

wrote him some very " displeasant " letters. Tunstall thought they would

do harm, kept them back, and received no censure for his conduct. In 1523,

Wolsey advised first the siege of Boulogne and then its abandonment. " The

King," wrote More, "is by no means displeased that you have changed

your opinion, as his highness esteemeth nothing in counsel more perilous

than one to persevere in the maintenance of his advice because he hath

once given it. He therefore commendeth and most affectuously thankelh

your faithful diligence and high wisdom in advertising him of the reasons

which have moved you to change your opinion." No king knew better

than Henry how to get good work from his ministers, and his warning

against persevering in advice, merely because it has once been given, is a

political maxim for all time.

A lesson might also be learnt from a story of Henry and Colet told

by Erasmus on Colet's own authority. In 1513, war fever raged in

England. Colet's bishop summoned him 'into the King's court for assert-

ing, when England was preparing for war against France, that an unjust

peace was preferable to the most just war ; but the King threatened

his persecutor with vengeance. After Easter, when the exjiedition was

ready against France, Colet preached on Whit Sunday before the King

and the court, exhorting men rather to follow the example of Christ their

prince than that of Caesar and Alexander. The King was afraid that this

sermon would have an ill effect upon the soldiers and sent for the Dean.

Colet happened to be dining at the Franciscan monastery near Greenwich.

When the King heard of it, he entered the garden of the monastery,

and on Colet's appearance dismissed his attendants ; then discussed the

matter with him, desiring him to explain himself, lest his audience should

suppose that no war was justifiable. After the conversation was over he
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dismissed him before them all, drinking to Colct's health and saying "Let

every man have his own doctor, this is mine." The picture is pleasinfi-

evidence of Henry's superiority to some vulgar passions. Another instance

of freedom from popular prcjiidtcc, which he shared wilh his father, was

his encouragement of foreign scholars, diplomatists, and merchants; not a

few of the ablest of Tudor agents were of alien birth. He was therefore

intensely annoyed at the rabid fury against them that broke out in the

riots of Evil I\Iay-Day
;

yet he pardoned all the ringleaders but one.

Tolerance and clemency were no small part of his character in early

manhood; and together with his other mental and physical graces, his love

of learning and of the society of learned men, his magnificence and display,

his supremacy in all the sports that were then considered the peculiar

adornment of royalty, they contributed scarcely less than Wolsey's genius

for diplomacy and administration to England's renown. "In short," Avrote

Chieregati to the Pope in 1519, "the wealth and civilisation of the world

are here ; and those who call the English barbarians appear to me to

render themselves such. I here perceive very elegant manners, extreme

decorum, and very great politeness. And amongst other things there is

this most invincible king, whose accomplishments and qualities are so many

and excellent that I consider him to surpass all who ever wore a crown
;

and blessed and happy may this country call itself in having as its lord

so worthy and eminent a sovereign ; whose sway is more bland and gentle

than the greatest liberty under any other."

The wonderful success that had attended Wolsey's policy during his

seven years' tenure of power, and the influential position, to which he had

raised England in the councils of Christendom, might well have disturbed

the mental balance of a more modest and diffident man than the Cardinal;

and it is scarcely surprising that he fancied himself, and sought to become,

arbiter of the destinies of Europe. The condition of Continental politics
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made Iiis ambition seem less than extravagant. Power was almost mono-

polised by two young princes whose rivalry was keen, whose resources

were not altogether unevenly matched, and whose disputes were so many

and serious that war could only be averted by a pacific determination on

both sides which neither possessed. Francis had claims on Naples, and his

dependant, D'Albret, on Navarre. Charles had suzerain rights over Milan

and a title to Burgundy, of which his great-grandfather Charles the Bold

had been despoiled by Louis XI. Yet the Emperor had not the slightest

intention of compromising his possession of Naples or Navarre, and Francis

was quite as resolute to surrender neither Burgundy nor Milan. They

both became eager competitors for the friendship of England, which, if

its resources were inadequate to support the position of arbiter, was at

least a most useful makeweight. England's choice of policy was, however,

strictly limited. She could not make war upon Charles. It was not

merely that Charles had a staunch ally in his aunt Catherine of Aragon,

who is said by the Spanish ambassador to have "made such represen-

tations and shown such reasons against" the alliance with Francis "as

one would not have supposed she would have dared to do, or even to

imagine." It was not merely that in this matter Catherine was backed

by the whole council except Wolsey, and by the real inclinations of the

King. It was that the English people were firmly imperialist in sympathy.

The reason was obvious. Charles controlled the wool-market of the Nether-

lands, and among English exports wool was first and the rest nowhere.

War with Charles meant the ruin of England's export trade, the starvation

or impoverishment of thousands of Englishmen; and when war was declared

against Charles eight years later, it more nearly cost Henry his throne than

all the fulminations of the Pope or religious discontents, and after three

months it was brought to a summary end. England remained at peace

with Spain so long as Spain controlled its market for wool ; when that

market passed into the hands of the revolted Netherlands, the same motive

dictated an alliance with the Dutch and a war with Philip. War with

Charles in 1521 was out of the question; and for the next two years
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Wolsey and Henry were endeavouring to make Francis and the Emperor

bid against each otlier, in order that England might ohtain liie maximum

of concession IVoui Charles when it should declare in his favour, as all

along was intended.

By the treaty of London, Henry was bound to render assistance against

whichever should be the aggressor. But that treaty had been concluded

between England and France in the first instance; Henry's only daughter

was betrothed to the Dauphin ; and Francis was anxious to cement his

alliance with Henry by a personal interview. It was Henry's policy to play

the friend for the time; and, as a proof of his desire for the meeting with

Francis, he announced, in .\ugust, 1.519, his resolve to wear his beard until the

meeting took place. He reckoned without his wife. On November 8, Louise

of Savoy, the queen-mother of France, taxed Boleyn, the English ambas-

sador, with a report that Henry had put off his beard. "I said," writes

Boleyn, "that, as I suppose, it hath been by the Queen's desire; for I

told my lady that I have hereafore time known when the King's grace

hath worn long his beard, that the Queen hath daily made him great

instance, and desired him to put it off for her sake." Henry's inconstancy

in the matter of his beard not only caused diplomatic inconvenience, but,

it may be parenthetically remarked, adds to the difficulty of dating his

portraits. Francis, however, considered the Queen's interference a sufficient

excuse, or was not inclined to stick at such trifles; and on January 10,

1520, he nominated Wolsey his proctor to make arrangements for the

interview. As Wolsey was also agent for Henry, the French king saw

no further cause for delay.

The delay came from England ; the meeting with Francis would be a

one-sided pronouncement without some favour to Charles to counterbalance

its import. Some time before, Henry had sent Charles a pressing invitation

to visit England on his return from Spain to the Netherlands; the Emperor,

suspicious of the meeting between Henry and Francis, was only too anxious

to come and forestall it. The experienced Margaret of Savoy admitted that

Henry's friendship was essential to Charles; but Spaniards were not to be
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luirried, antl it would be May before the Emperor's convoy was ready. So

Henry endeavoured to postpone his engagement with Francis. The French

king replied that by the end of May his queen would be in the eighth month

of her pregnancy, and that if the meeting were further prorogued she

must perforce be absent. Henry was nothing, if not gallant, at least on the

surface. Francis's argument clinched the matter. The interview, ungraced

by the presence of France's queen, would, said Henry, be robbed of most

of its charm ; and he gave Charles to understand that, unless he reached

England by the middle of May, his visit would have to be cancelled.

This intimation produced an unwonted despatch in the Emperor's move-

ments; but fate was against him, and contrary winds rendered his arrival

in time a matter of doubt till the last possible moment. Henry must

cross to Calais on the 31st of May, whether Charles came or not ; and it

was the 26th before the Emperor's ships appeared off the cliffs of Dover.

Wolsey put out in a small boat to meet him, and conducted Charles to

the Castle where he lodged. During the night Henry arrived. Early next

day, which was Whit-Sunday, the two sovereigns proceeded to Canter-

bury, where the Queen and court had come on the way to France to spend

their Pentecost. Five days the Emperor remained with his aunt, whom

he now saw for the first time ; but the days were devoted to business rather

than to elaborate ceremonial and show, for which there had been little

time to prepare.

On the last day of May, Charles took ship at Sandwich for Flanders.

Henry embarked at Dover for France. The painting at Hampton Court

depicting the scene has, like almost every other picture of Henry's reign,

been ascribed to Holbein ; but six years were to pass before the great

artist visited England. The Ring himself was apparently on board the four-

masted Henry Grace a Dieii, commonly called the Great Harry, the finest

ship afloat ; though the vessel originally fitted out for his passage was

the Katherine Pleasaiince. At eleven o'clock he landed at Calais. On

Monday, the fourth of June, Henry and all his court proceeded to Guisncs.

There a temjiorary palace of art had been erected, the splendour of which











KING AND CARDINAL. 103

is inadequately set forth in pages upon pages of contemporary descriptions.

One Italian likened it to the palaces described in Boiardo's "Orlando Inna-

niorato" and Ariosto's "Orlando Furioso;" another declared that it could

not have been better designed by Leonardo da Vinci himself. Everything

was in harmony with this architectural pomp. Wolsey was accompanied,

it was said in Paris, by two hundred gentlemen clad in crimson velvet,

and had a body-guard of two hundred archers. He was himself clothed

in crimson satin from head to foot, his mule was covered with crimson

velvet, and her trappings were all of gold. Henry, "the most goodliest

prince that ever reigned over the realm of England," appeared even to

Frenchmen as a very handsome prince, " honnctc , hault ct droit," in

manner gentle and gracious, rather fat, and—in spile of his Queen—with

a red beard, large enough and very becoming. Another eye-witness adds

the curious remark that, while Francis was the taller of the two, Henry

had the handsomer and more feminine facel On the 7th of June the two

kings started simultaneously from Guisncs and Ardres for their personal

meeting in the valley mid-way between the two towns, already known

as the Val Dore. The obscure but familiar phrase, Field of the Cloth of

Gold, is a mistranslation of the French Camp du Drap d'Or. As they

came in sight, a temporary suspicion of French designs seized the English,

but it was overcome. Henry and Francis rode forward alone, embraced

each other first on horseback and then again on foot, and made show of

being the closest friends in Christendom. On Sunday the 10th, Henry

dined with the French Queen, and Francis with Catherine of Aragon.

The following week was devoted to tourneys, which the two Kings opened

by holding the field against all comers. Contemporary accounts are silent

on the wrestling match between the two kings. On the i7th, Francis, as

a final effort to conquer Henrys friendship, paid a surprise visit to him

at breakfast with only four attendants. The jousts were concluded with a

solemn mass said by Wolsey in a chapel built on the field. The Cardinal

of Bourbon presented the Gospel to Francis to kiss ; he refused, offering

it to Henry who wqs too polite to accept the honour. The same respect
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for each other's dignity was observed with the PaJ-, and the two Queens

behaved with a similarly courteous punctilio. After a friendly dispute as

to who should kiss the Pax first, they kissed each other instead. On

the 24th, Henry and Francis met to interchange gifts, to make their final

professions of friendship, and to bid each other adieu. Francis set out

for Abbeville, and Henry returned to Calais.

The Field of Cloth of Gold was the last and most gorgeous display

of the departing spirit of chivalry ; it was also perhaps the most portentous

deception on record. "These sovereigns," wrote a Venetian, "are not at

peace. They adapt themselves to circumstances, but they hate each other

very cordially." Beneath the profusion of friendly pretences lay rooted

suspicions and even deliberate hostile intentions. Before Henry left England

the rumour of ships fitting out in French ports had stopped preparations

for the interview; and they were not resumed till a promise under the

broad seal of France was given that no French ship should sail before

Henry's return. On the eve of the meeting, Henry is said to have dis-

covered that three or four thousand French troops were concealed in the

neighbouring country ; he insisted on their removal, and Francis's un-

guarded visit to Henry was probably designed to disarm the English

distrust. No sooner was Henry's back turned than the French began the

fortification of Ardres, while Henry on his part went to Calais to negotiate

a less showy but genuine friendshij) with Charles. No such magnificence

adorned their meeting as had been displayed at the Field of Cloth of

Gold, but its solid results were far more lasting. On July 10, Henry rode

to Gravelines where the Emperor was waiting. On the 11th they returned

together to Calais, where during a three days' visit the negotiations begun

at Canterbury were completed. The ostensible purport of the treaty signed

on the 14th was to bind Henry to proceed no further in the marriage

between the Princess Mary and the Dauphin, and Charles no further in

that between himself and Francis's daughter, Charlotte. Rut more topics

were discussed than appeared on the surface; and among them Avas a

proposal to marry Mary to the Emperor himself. The design proves that
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Henry and Wolsey had already made up their minds lo side with Charles,

whenever his disputes with Francis should develop into open hostilities.

That consunimation could not he far off. (Miarles had scarcely turned

his back upon Sjjain when murmurs of disalTection were heard through the

length and breadth of the land ; and while he was discussing with Henry

at Calais the prospects of a war with France, his commons in Spain broke

out into open revolt. The rising had attained such dimensions by February,

1521, that Henry thought Charles was likely to lose his Spanish dominions.

The temptation was too great for France to resist; and in the early spring

of 1521, French forces overran Navarre, and restored to his kingdom the

exile D'Albret. Francis had many plausible excuses, and sought to prove

that he was not really the aggressor. There had been confused fighting

between the imperialist Nassau and Francis's allies, the Duke of Gueldres

and Robert de la Marck, which the imperialists may have begun. But

Francis revealed his true motive, when he told Fitzwilliam that he had many

grievances against Charles and could not afford to neglect this opportunity

for takinc; his revenge.

War between Emperor and King soon spread from Navarre to the

borders of Flanders and to the plains of Northern Italy. Both sovereigns

claimed the assistance of England in virtue of the treaty of London. But

Henry was not prepared for war at least till the following year ; and he

proposed that Wolsey should go to Calais to mediate between the two

parties and decide which had been the aggressor. Charles, either because

he was sure of his case or of Wolsey's support, readily agreed; but P'rancis

was more reluctant, and only the knowledge that, if he refused, Henry

would at once side with Charles, induced him to consent to the conference.

So on Auffust 2, 1521, the Cardinal again crossed the Channel. His first

interview was with the imperial envoys. They announced that Charles had

given them no power to treat for a truce. Wolsey refused to proceed

without this authority; and he obtained the consent of the French chancellor,
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Du Prat, to his proposal to visit the Emperor at Bruges, and secure the

requisite powers. lie was absent more than a fortnight, and not long after

his return fell ill. This served to pass time in September, and the extra-

vagant demands of both parties still further prolonged the proceedings.

Wolsey was constrained to tell them the story of a courtier who asked his

King for the grant of a forest ; when his relatives denounced his presump-

tion, he replied that he only wanted in reality eight or nine trees. The

French and imperial chancellors not merely demanded their respective

forests, but made the reduction of each single tree a matter of lengthy

dispute; and as soon as a fresh success in the varying fortune of war was

reported, they returned to their early pretensions. Wolsey was playing his

game with consummate skill; delay was his only desire; his illness had

been diplomatic; his objects were to postpone for a few months the breach

and to secure the pensions from France due at the end of October.

The conference at Calais was in fact a monument of perfidy worthy of

Ferdinand the Catholic, who had taught Henry his first lessons in the

arts of diplomacy. The plan was Wolsey's, but Henry had expressed

full approval. As early as July the King was full of his secret design

for destroying the navy of France, though he did not propose to proceed

with the enterprise till Wolsey had completed the arrangements witli

Charles. The subterfuge about Charles refusing his powers and the Car-

dinal's visit to Bruges had been arranged between Henry, Wolsey, and

Charles before Wolsey left England. Its object, so far from being to

facilitate an agreement, was to conclude an offensive and defensive alliance

against one of the two parties between whom Wolsey was pretending to

mediate. "Henry agrees," wrote Charles's ambassador on 6 July, "with

Wolsey's plan that he should be sent to Calais under colour of hearing

the grievances of both parties : and when he cannot arrange them, he

should withdraw to the Emperor to treat of the matters aforesaid." The

treaty was concluded at Bruges before he returned to Calais; the Emperor

promised Wolsey the Papacy; the details of a joint invasion were settled,

Charles was to marry Mary ; and the Pope was to dispense the two
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from the disability of their kinship, and from engagements with others

which both had contracted. The Cardinal might be profuse in his pro-

testations of friendship for France, of devotion to peace, and of his deter-

mination to ilo justice to the ])arlics before him. But all his [)aiiilcd

words could not long conceal the fact that behind the mask of the

judge were hidden the features of a conspirator, whose aim was not

justice, but gain for himself and his master. It was an unpleasant time

for Fitzwilliam, the English ambassador at the French court. The King's

sister, Magucrite de Valois, taxed Fitzwilliam with Wolsey's proceedings,

hinting that deceit was being practised on Francis. The ambassador grew

hot, vowed Henry was not a dissembler, and that he would prove it on

any gentleman who dared to maintain that he was. But he knew nothing

of Wolsey's intrigues ; nor was the Cardinal, to whom Fitzwilliam denounced

the insinuation, likely to blush, though he knew it was just.

Wolsey returned from Calais at the end of November, having failed

to establish the truce to which the negotiations had latterly been in

appearance directed. But the French half-yearly pensions were paid, and

England had the winter in which to prepare for war. No attempt had

been made to examine impartially the mutual charges of aggression urged

by the litigants, though a determination of that point could alone justify

England's intervention. The dispute was complicated enough. If, as

Charles contended, the treaty of London guaranteed the status quo, Francis,

by invading Navarre, was undoubtedly the offender. But the French King

pleaded the treaty of Noyon, by which Charles had bound himself to do

justice to the exiled King of Navarre, to marry the French King's daughter,

and to pay tribute for Naples. That treaty was not abrogated by the one

concluded in London, yet Charles had fulfdled none of his promises.

Moreover, the Emperor himself had, long before the invasion of Navarre,

been planning a war with France, and negotiating with Leo to expel the

French from Milan, and to destroy the predominant French faction in

Genoa. His ministers were making little secret of Charles's warlike inten-

tions, when the Spanish revolt placed irresistible temptation in Francis's
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way, and provoked that attack on Navarre, Avhich enabled Charles to plead,

with some colour, that he was not the aggressor. This was the ground

alleged by Henry for siding with Charles, but it was not his real reason

for going to war. Nearly a year before Navarre was invaded, he had

discussed the rupture of Mary's engagement with the Dauphin and the

transference of her hand to the Emperor.

The real motives of England's policy do not appear on the surface.

"The aim of the King of England," said Clement VII. in 1524, "is as

incomprehensible as the causes by which he is moved are futile. lie may,

perhaps, wish to revenge himself for the slights he has received from the

King of France and from the Scots, or to punish the King of France for

his disparaging language ; or, seduced by the flattery of the Emperor, he

may have nothing else in view than to help the Emperor; or he may,

perhaps, really wish to preserve peace in Italy, and therefore declares himself

an enemy of any one who disturbs it. It is even not impossible that the

King of England expects to be rewarded by the Emperor after the victory,

and hopes, perhaps, to get Normandy." Clement three years before, when

Cardinal de Medici, had admitted that he knew little of English politics;

and his ignorance may explain his inability to give a more satisfactory

reason for Henry's conduct than these tentative and far-fetched sugges-

tions. But after the publication of Henry's State papers, it is not easy

to arrive at any more definite conclusion. The only motive Wolsey

alleges, besides the ex post facto excuses of Francis's conduct, is the

recovery of Henry's rights to the crown of France ; and if this were the

real object, it reduces both King and Cardinal to the level of political char-

latans. To conquer France Avas a madcap scheme, when Henry himself was

admitting the impossibility of raising 30,000 foot or 10,000 horse, without

hired contingents from Charles's domains; when, according to Giustinian,

it would have been hard to levy a hundred men-at-arms or a thousand light

cavalry in the whole island; when the only respectable military force was the

archers, already an obsolete arm. Invading hosts could never be victualled

for more than three months, or stand a winter campaign; English troops
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were ploughmen by profession and soldiers only by chance; Henry VII.'s

treasure was exhausted, and efforts to raise money for fitful and futile

inroads nearly produced a revolt. Henry VIII. himself was writing that to

provide for these inroads would prevent him keeping an army in Ireland;

and Wolsey Avas declaring that for the same reason English interests in

Scotland must take care of themselves, that border warfare must be con-

fined to the strictest defensive, and that a "cheap" deputy must be found for

Ireland, who would rule it, like Kildare, without English aid,—that is, suffer

it to welter in its own anarchy. It is usual to lay the folly of the pre-

tence to the crown ol France at Henry's door. But it is a curious fact

that when Wolsey was gone, and Henry was his own prime minister, this

spirited foreign policy took a very subordinate place, and Henry turned his

attention to the cultivation of his own garden instead of seeking to annex

his neighbour's. It is possible that he was better employed in wasting

his people's blood and treasure in the futile devastation of France, than

in placing his heel on the Church and sending Fisher and More to the

scaffold ; but his attempts to reduce Ireland to order, and to unite England

and Scotland, violent though his methods may have been, were at least

more sane than the mad quest for the crown of France, or even for the

possession of Normandy.

Yet if these were not Wolsey 's aims, what were his motives ? There

was no national desire for war : on the contrary. Pace told Wolsey that

the rumour, that he was gone to Calais to establish a lasting peace between

Charles and Francis, had greatly increased the Cardinal's popularity. The

essential thing for England was the maintenance of a fairly even balance

between Francis and Charles ; and if Wolsey thought that would best be

secured by throwing the whole of England's weight in the Emperor's scale,

it is a scarcely less damning indictment than if he really expected to

conquer France. He could not foresee, it may be said, the French

debacle. If so, it was from no lack of omens. Even supposing he was

ignorant, or unable to estimate the effects, of the moral corruption of

Francis, the peculations of his mother, the hatred of the war, universal
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among the French lower classes, there were definite warnings from more

careful observers. As early as 1517 there were bitter complaints in

France of the gabelle and other taxes, and a Cordelier denounced the

French King as worse than Nero. In 1519, an anonymous Frenchman

wrote that Francis had destroyed his own people, emptied his kingdom

of money, and that the Emperor or some other would soon have a cheap

bargain of the kingdom, for he was more unsteady on his throne than

people thought. Even the treason of Bourbon, which contributed so much

to the French King's fall, was rumoured three years before it occurred,

and in 1520 he was known to be "playing the malcontent." At the Field

of Cloth of Gold, Henry is reported to have told Francis that, had he

a subject like Bourbon, he would not long leave his head on his shoulders.

All these details Avere reported to the English government and placed

among English archives ; and, indeed, at the English Court, the general

anticipation, justified by the event, was that Charles would carry the day.

No possible advantage could accrue to England from such a destruction

of the balance of power ; her position as mediator was only tenable so

long as neither Francis nor Charles had complete mastery over the other.

^^^u on the Emj^eror was, no doubt, out of the question, but that was

no reason for war on France. Prudence counselled England to make

herself strong, to develop her resources, and to hold her strength in

reserve, while the two rivals weakened each other by war. She would

then be in a far better position to make her voice heard in the settle-

ment, and would probably have been able to extract from it all the benefits

she could with reason or justice demand. So obvious was the advantage

of this policy that for some time acute French statesmen refused to credit

Wolsey with any other. They said, reported an English envoy to the

Cardinal, "that your grace would make your profit with them and the

Emperor both, and proceed between them so that they might continue

in war, and that the one destroy the other, and the King's highness may

remain and be their arbiter and superior." ]f it is urged that Henry

was bent on the war, and that Wolsey must satisfy the King or forfeit his
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power, even the latter would have been the better alternative. His fall

would have been less complete and more honourable than it actually was.

Wolsey's failure to follow this course suggests that, by involving Henry

in dazzling schemes of a foreign conquest, he was seeking to divert his

attention from urgent matters at home ; that he had seen a vision of

impending ruin; and that his actions were the frantic efforts of a man to turn

a steed, over which he has imperfect control, from the gulf he sees yawning

ahead. The only other explanation is that ^^'olsey sacrificed England's

interests in the hope of securing from Charles the gift of the Papal tiara.

However that may be, it was not for Clement VII. to deride England's

conduct. The keen-sighted Pace had remarked in 1521 that, in the event

of Charles's victory, the Pope would have to look to his affairs in time.

The Emperor's triumph was, indeed, as fatal to the Pajiacy as it was to

Wolsey. Yet Clement VH., on whom the full force of the blow was to

fall, had, as Cardinal de Medici, been one of the chief promoters of the

war. In August, 1521, the Venetian, Contarini, reports Charles as saying

that Leo rejected both the peace and the truce speciously urged by Wolsey,

anil adds, on his own account, that he believes it the truth. In 1522, Francis

asserted that Cardinal de Medici ' was the cause of all this war." Three

years later, Charles declared that he had been mainly induced to enter on

the war by the persuasions of Leo, over whom his cousin, the Cardinal,

then wielded supreme inlluence. So complete was his sway over Leo,

that, on Leo's death, a cardinal in the conclave remarked that they wanted

a new Pope, not one who had already been Pope for years; and the gibe

cost Medici the papal election. Medici both, Leo and the Cardinal

regarded the papacy mainly as a means for family aggrandisement. In

1518, Leo had fulminated against Francis Maria della Rovere, Duke of

Urbino, as "the son of iniquity and child of perdition," because he desired

to bestow the duchy on his nephew Lorenzo. In the family interest he was
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withholding Modena and Reggio from Alfonso d'Este, and casting envious

eyes on Ferrara. In March, 1521, the French marched to seize some Milanese

exiles, who were harboured at Reggio. Leo took the opportunity to form an

alliance with Charles for the expulsion of Francis from Italy. It was signed

at Worms on the 8th of May, the day on which Luther was outlawed; and a

war broke out in Italy, the effects of which were little foreseen by its prin-

cipal authors. A Aeritable Nemesis attended this policj' conceived in

perfidy and greed. The battle of Pavia made Charles more nearly dictator

of Europe than any ruler has since been, except Tsapoleon Bonaparte. It

led to the sack of Rome and the imprisonment of Clement VII. by Charles's

troops. The dependence of the Pope on the Emperor made it impossible

for Clement to grant Henry's petition for divorce, and his failure to obtain

the divorce precipitated Wolsey's fall.

Leo, meanwhile, had gone to his account on the night of December 1-2,

1.521, singing " Nunc dimitlis " for the expulsion of the French from

Milan; and amid the clangour of war the cardinals met to choose his

successor. Their spirit belied their holy profession. ' All here," wrote

Manuel, Charles's representative, "is founded on avarice and lies;" and

again "there cannot be so much hatred and so many devils in hell as

among these cardinals." Feeling between the French and Imperial factions

ran high, and the only question was whether an adherent of Fiancis or

Charles would secure election. Francis had promised Wolsey fourteen

French votes; but after the conference of Calais, he would have been for-

irivinir indeed, had he wielded his influence on behalf of the English car-

dinal. Wolsey built more upon the promise of Charles at Bruges; but, if

he really hoped lor Charles's assistance, his sagacitj' was greatly to seek.

The Emperor at no time made any effort on Wolsey's behalf; he did him

the justice to think that, were Wolsey elected, he would be devoted more

to English than to imperial interests ; and he preferred a Pope who

would be undividedly imperialist at heart. Pace was sent to join Clerk at

Rome in urging Wo]se)''B suit, and they did their best; but English influence

at the court of Rome was infinitesimal. In spite of Campeggio's flattering
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assurance that Wolsey's name appeared in every scrutinv. and that some-

times he had eight or nine votes, and Clerk's statement that he had nine at

one time, twelve at another, and nineteen at a third, AVolsey's name only

appears in one of the eleven scrutinies, and then he received but seven out

of eighty-one votes. The election was long and keenly contested. The con-

clave commenced on the 28th of December, and it was not till the 9th of

January, 1522, that the cardinals, conscious of each other's defects, agreed to

elect an absentee, about whom they knew little. Their choice fell on Adrian,

Cardinal of Tortosa; and it is significant of the extent of Charles's inlhicnce,

that the new Pope had been his tutor, and was proposed as a candidate

by the imperial ambassador on the day that the conclave opened.

Neither the expulsion of the French from Milan, nor the election of

Charles's tutor as Pope, opened Wolsey's eyes to the danger of further

increasing the Emperor's power. He seems rather to have thrown himself

into the not very chivalrous design of completing the ruin of the weaker

side, and picking up what he could from the spoils. During the winter

of 1.52 1-2 he was busily preparing for war, while endeavouring to delay

the actual breach till his plans were complete. Francis, convinced of

England's hostile intentions, let Albany loose upon Scotland and refused

to pav the pensions to Henry and Wolsev. They made these grievances

the excuse for a war on which thev had long been determined. In March,

Henry announced that he had taken upon himself the protection of the

Netherlands during Charles's impending visit to Spain. Francis asserted

that this was a plain declaration of war, and seized the English wine-ships

at Bordeaux. But he was determined not to be formallv the aarffressor, and,

in Mav, Clarencieux herald proceeded to France to bid him defiance. In the

following month Charles passed through England on his way to the south,

and fresh treaties were signed for the invasion of France, for the marriag-e of

Mary, and for the extirpation of heresy. At Windsor, Wolsev constituted his

legatine court to bind the contracting parties bv oaths enforced by eccle-

siastical censures. He arrogated to himself a function usually reserved for

the Pope, and undertook to arbitrate between Charles and Henry, if disputes
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arose about the observance of their engagements. But he obviously found

difficulty in raising either money or men ; and one of the provisions of

the treaty of Windsor was that a dissembled peace should be made with

France, merely to give England time for more preparations for war.

Nothing came of this last nefarious suggestion. In July, Surrey captured

and burnt Morlaix ; but, as he wrote from on board the Mainj Rose,

Fitzwilliam's ships were without flesh or fish, and Surrey himself had

only beer for twelve days. Want of victuals prevented further naval

successes, and, in September, Surrey was sent into Artois, where the same

lack of organisation was equally fatal. It did not, however, prevent him

from burning farms and towns, wherever he went; and his conduct evoked

from the French commander a just rebuke of his "foul warfare." Henry

himself was responsible ; for Wolsey wrote on his behalf urging the

destruction of Dourlens and the adjacent towns. If Henry really sought

to make these territories his own, it was an odd method of winning

the affections and developing the wealth of the subjects he hoped to

acquire. Nothing was really accomplished except devastation in France.

Even this useless warfare exhausted English energies, and left the Borders

defenceless against one of the largest armies ever collected in Scotland.

Wolsey and Henry were only saved, from what might have been a most

serious invasion, by Dacre's dexterity and Albany's cowardice. Dacre, the

warden of the marches, signed a truce without waiting for instructions,

and before it expired the Scots army disbanded. Henry and Wolsey might

reprimand Dacre for acting on his own responsibility, but they knew well

enough that Dacre had done them magnificent service.

The results of the war from the English point of view had as yet

been contemptible, but great things were hojied for the following year.

Bourbon, Constable of France, and the most powerful peer in the kingdom,

intent on the betrayal of Francis, was negotiating with Henry and Charles

the price of his treason. The commons in France, worn to misery by the

taxes of Francis and the ravages of his enemies, were eager for any-

thing that might promise some alleviation of their lot. They would even,
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it appears, welcome a change of dynasty; everywhere, Henry was told,

they cried "Vive le roi d'Angleterre !" Never, said Wolsey, would there

be a better opporlunity for recovering the Ring's right to the French

croAvn ; and Henry exclaimed that he trusted lo treat Francis as his

fatluM' did Richard III. "I pray God," wrote Sir Thomas More to Wolsey,

'• if it be good for his grace and for this realm, that then it may prove

so, and else in the stead thereof, I pray God send his grace an honour-

able and profitable peace." He could scarcely go further in hinting his

preference for peace to the fantastic design which now occupied the minds

of his masters. Probably his opinion of the war was not far from that

of old Bishop Fox, who declared : "I have determined, and, betwixt

God and me, utterly renounced the meddling with worldly matters, spe-

cially concerning war or anything to it appertaining (whereof, for the

many intolerable enormities that I have seen ensue by the said war in

time past, I have no little remorse in my conscience), thinking that if

1 did continual penance for it all the days of my life, though I should

live twenty years longer than I may do, I could not yet make sufficient

recompense therefor. And now, my good lord, to be called to fortifi-

cations of towns and places of war, or to any matter concerning the war,

being of the age of seventy years and above, and looking daily to die, the

which if I did, being in any such meddling of the war, I think I should

die in despair." Protests like this and hints like More's were little likely

to move the militant Cardinal, who hoped to see the final ruin of France

in 1523. Bourbon was to raise the standard of revolt, Charles was to

invade from Spain, and Suffolk from Calais. In Italy, French influence

seemed irretrievably ruined. The Genoese revolution, planned before the

war, was effected; and the persuasions of Pace and the threats of Charles

at last detached Venice from the alliance of France.

The usual delays postponed Suffolk's invasion till late in the year.

They were increased by the emptiness of Henry's treasury. His father's

hoard had melted away, and it was absolutely necessary to obtain lavish

supplies from Parliament. But Parliament proved ominously intractable.
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Thomas Cromwell, now rising to notice, in a temperate speech, urged the

folly of indulging in impracticable schemes of foreign conquest, while

Scotland remained a thorn in England's side. It Avas three months from

the meeting of Parliament before the subsidies were granted, and nearly the

end of August before Suffolk crossed to Calais with an army, "the largest

which has passed out of this realm for a hundred years." Henry and Suffolk

wanted it to besiege Boulogne, which might have been some tangible result

in English hands. But the King was persuaded by Wolsey and his imperial

allies to forego this scheme, and to order Suffolk to march into the heart of

France. Suffolk was not a great general, but he conducted the invasion

with no little skill, and desired to conduct it with unwonted humanity.

He wished to win the French by abstaining from pillage and proclaiming

liberty, but Henry thought only the hope of plunder would keep the army

together. Waiting for the imperial contingent under de Buren, Suffolk did

not leave Calais till September i9. He advanced by Bray, Roye, and Mont-

didier, capturing all the towns that offered resistance. Early in November

he reached the Oise at a point less than forty miles from the French capital.

But Bourbon's treason had been discovered ; instead of joining Suffolk

with a large force, he was a fugitive from his country. Charles contented

himself with taking Fuentarabia, and made no effort at invasion. The

Imperial contingent with Suffolk's army went home; winter set in with

unexampled severity, and Vendome advanced. The English were com-

pelled to retire; their retreat was effected without loss, and by the middle

of December the army was back at Calais. Suffolk is represented as being

in disgrace for this retreat, and Wolsey as saving him from the effects of

his failure. But even Wolsey can hardly have thought that an army of

twenty-five thousand men could maintain itself in the heart of France,

throughout the winter, without support and with unguarded communications.

The Duke's had been the most successful invasion of France since the

days of Henry V. from a military point of view. That its results were

negative is due to the policy by which it was directed.

Meanwhile there was another papal election. Adrian, one of the most
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honest and unpopular of Popes, died on September 14, 1523, and by order

of the cardinals there was inscribed on his tomb : Hie facet Adrianiis

Se.xtus cui nihil in vita infelicius contigit qiiain (juod Jmperaret. With

equal malice and keener wit the Romans erected to his physician a statue

with the title Liberatori Patriie. Wolsey was again a candidate. He told

Henry he would rather continue in his service than be ten Popes. That

did not prevent him instructing Pace and Cleric to further his claims.

They were to represent to the cardinals Wolsey's "great experience in

the causes of Christendom, his favour with the Emperor, the King, and

other princes, his anxiety for Christendom, his liberality, the great pro-

motions to be vacated by his election, his frank, pleasant and courteous

inclinations, his freedom from all ties of family or party, and the hopes

of a great expedition against the infidel." Charles was, as usual, profuse

in his promise of aid. He actually wrote a letter in Wolsey's favour;

but he took the precaution to detain the bearer in Spain till the election

was over. He had already instructed his minister at Rome to procure

the election of Cardinal de Medici. That ambassador mocked at Wolsey's

hopes; "as if God," he wrote, "would perform a miracle every day."

The Holy Spirit, by which the cardinals always professed to be moved,

was not likely to inspire the election of another absentee after their

experience of Adrian. Wolsey had not the remotest chance, and his name

does not occur in a single scrutiny. After the longest conclave on record,

the imperial influence prevailed; on November 18, de Medici was proclaimed

Pope, and he chose as his title Clement VII.

Suffolk's invasion was the last of England's active participation in the

war. Exhausted by her efforts, discontented with the Emperor's failure

to render assistance in the joint enterprise, or perceiving at last that

she had little to gain, and much to lose, from the overgrown power of

Charles, England, in 1524, abstained from action, and even began to

make overtures to Francis. Wolsey repaid Charles's inactivity of the

previous year by standing idly by, while the imperial forces with Bourbon's

contingent invaded Provence and laid siege to Marseilles. But Francis
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still held command of the sea ; the spirit of his people rose with the

danger ; iMarseilles made a stubborn and successful defence ; and, by

October, the invading army was headlong in retreat towards Italy. Had

Francis been content with defending his kingdom, all might have been

well ; but ambition lured him on to destruction. He thought he had

passed the worst of the trouble, and that the prize of Milan might yet

be his. So, before the imperialists were well out of France, he crossed

the Alps and sat down to besiege Pavia. It was brilliantly defended

by Antonio de Leyva. In November, Francis's ruin was thought to be

certain ; astrologers predicted his death or imprisonment. Slowly and

surely Pescara, the most consummate general of his age, was pressing

north with imperial troops to succour Pavia. Francis would not raise the

siege. On February 24, 1525, he was attacked in front by Pescara and in

the rear by de Le3'va. "The victory is complete," wrote the abbot of Najera

to Charles from the field of battle, "the King of France is made pri-

soner. . . . The whole Fi'ench army is annihilated. . . . To-day is feast of the

Apostle St. Mathias, on which, five and twenty years ago, your Majesty is

said to have been born. Five and twenty thousand times thanks and praise

to God for his mercy ! Your Majesty is, from this day, in a position to

prescribe laws to Christians and Turks, according to your pleasure."

Such was the result of Wolsey's policy since 1521, Francis a prisoner,

Charles a dictator, and Henry vainly hoping that he might be allowed

some share in the victor's spoils. But what claim had he? By the

most extraordinary misfortune, or fatuity, England had not merely helped

Charles to a threatening supremacy, but had retired from the struggle

just in time to deprive herself of all claim to benefit by her mistaken

policy. She had looked on while Bourbon invaded France, fearing to

aid lest Charles would reap all the fruits of success. She had sent no

force across the channel to threaten Francis's rear. Not a single French

soldier had been diverted from attacking Charles in Italy through England's

interference. A hundred thousand crowns had been promised the impe-

rial troops, but the money was not paid; and secret negotiations had
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been going on with France. In spite of all, Charles had won, and he

was naturally not disposed to divide the spoils. England's policy since

1521 had been disastrous to herself, to Wolscy, to • the Papacy, and

even to Christendom. For the falling out of Christian princes seemed

to the Turk to afford an excellent opportunity for the faithful to come by

his own. After an heroic defence by the knights of St. John, Rhodes,

the bulwark of Christendom, had surrendered to Selim. Belgrade, the

strongest citadel in Eastern Europe followed. In August, ir)2(), the King

and the flower of Hungarian nobility perished at the battle of Mohacz
;

and the internecine strife of Christians seemed doomed to be sated only

by their common subjugation to the Turk.

Henry and Wolsey began to pay the price of their policy at home as

well as abroad. War was no less costly for being ineffective, and it

necessitated demands on the purses of Englishmen, to which they had

long been unused. In the autumn of 1522, Wolsey was compelled to

have recourse to a loan from both spiritualty and temporally. It seems

to have met with a response which, compared with later receptions, may

be described as almost cheerful. But the loan did not go far, and

before another six months had elapsed, it was found necessary to summon

Parliament to make further provision. The Speaker was Sir Thomas

More, who did all he could to secure a favourable reception of Wolsey's

demands. An unwonted spirit of indepentlence animated the members

;

the debates were long and stormy; and the Cardinal felt called upon to

go down to the House of Commons, and hector it in such fashion that

even More was compelled to plead its privileges. Eventually, the money

was reluctantly granted; but it too was soon swallowed up, and in 1525

Wolsey devised fresh expedients. He was afraid to summon Parliament

again, so he proposed what he called an Amicable Grant. It was neces-

sarjr, he saici, for Henry to invade France in person ; if hg went, he
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must go as a prince ; and he could not go as a prince without lavish

supplies. So he required what was practically a graduated income-tax.

The Londoners resisted till they were told that resistance might cost

them their heads. In Suffolk and elsewhere, open insurrection broke out.

It was then proposed to withdraw the fixed ratio, and allow each individual

to pay what he chose as a benevolence. A common councillor of London

promptly retorted that benevolences were illegal by statute of Richard III.

Wolsey cared little for the constitution, and was astonished that anyone

should quote the laws of a wicked usurper; but the common councillor

was a sound constitutionalist, if Wolsey was not. "An it please your

grace," he replied, "although Ring Richard did evil, yet in his time were

many good acts made, not by him only, but by the consent of the body

of the whole realm, which is Parliament." There was no answer; the

demand was withdrawn. Never had Henry suffered such a rebuff, and he

never suffered the like again. Nor was this all : the whole of London,

Wolsey is reported to have said, were traitors to Henry. Informations

of "treasonable words"— that ominous phrase— became frequent. Here,

indeed, was a contrast to the exuberant loyalty of the early years of Henry's

reign. The change may not have been entirely due to Wolsey, but he had

been minister, with a power which few have equalled, during the whole

period in which it was effected, and Henry may well have begun to think

that it was time for his removal.

Whether Wolsey was now anxious to repair his blunder by siding

with Francis against Charles, or to snatch some profit from the Emperor's

victory by completing the ruin of France, the refusal of Englishmen to

find more money for the war left him no option but peace. In April,

1525, Tunstall and Sir Richard Wingfield were sent to Spain with pro-

posals for the exclusion of Francis and his children from the French

throne and the dismemberment of his kingdom. It is doubtful if Wolsey

himself desired the fulfilment of so preposterous and iniquitous a scheme.

It is certain that Charles was in no mood to abet it. He had no

Avish to extract profit for England out of the abasement of Francis, to
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see Henry King of France, or lord of any French provinces. He had no

intention of even performing his part of the treaty of Windsor. He

had pledged himself to marry the Princess Mary, and -the splendour of

that match may have contributed to Henry's desire for an alliance with

Charles. But another matrimonial project offered the Emperor more sub-

stantial advantages. Ever since 1517, his Spanish subjects had been

pressing him to marry the daughter of Emmanuel, King of Portugal.

The Portuguese royal family had claims to the throne of Castile which

would be quieted by Charles's marriage with a Portuguese princess. Her

dowry of a million crowns was, also, an argument not to be lightly dis-

regarded in Charles's financial embarrassments ; and in March, 1526, the

Emperor's wedding with Isabella of Portugal was solemnised. Wolsey,

on his part, was secretly negotiating with Louise of Savoy, the regent

of France during the King's imprisonment in Spain. In August, 1525, a

treaty of amity was signed, by which England gave up all its claims to

French territory in return for the promise of large sums of money to

Henry and his minister. The impracticability of enforcing Henry's preten-

sions to the French crown or to French provinces, which had been urged

as excuses for squandering English blood and treasure, was admitted,

even when the French King was in prison and his kingdom defenceless.

But what good could the treaty do Henry or Francis ? Charles had

complete control over his captive, and could dictate his own terms. Neither

the English nor the French King was in a position to continue the

war ; and the English alliance with France could abate no iota of

the concessions which Charles extorted from Francis early in 1526 by

the treaty of Madrid. Francis surrendered Burgundy; gave up his claims

to Milan, Genoa and Naples; abandoned his allies, the King of Navarre,

the Duke of Guelders, and Robert e la Marck; engaged to marry Charles's

sister Eleanor, the dowager Queen of Portugal; and handed over his two

sons to the Emperor as hostages for the fulfdment of the treaty. But

he had no intention of keeping his promises. No sooner was he free

than he protested that the treaty had been extracted by force, and that
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his oath to keep it was not binding. The Estates of France readily

refused their assent, and the Pope was, as usual, willing, for political

reasons, to absolve Francis from his oath. For the time being, consi-

deration for the safety of his sons and the hope of obtaining their release,

prevented him from openly breaking with Charles, or listening to the pro-

posals for a marriage with the Princess Mary, held out as a bait by Wolsey.

The Cardinal's object was merely to injure the Emperor as much as he

could without involving England in war ; and by negotiations for Mary's

marriasre, first with Francis, and then with his second son, the Duke of

Orleans, he was endeavouring to draw England and France into a closer

alliance. For similar reasons he was extending his patronage to the Holy

League, formed by Clement VII. between the princes of Italy to liberate

that distressful country from the grip of the Spanish forces.

The policy of Clement, of Venice, and of other Italian states, had been

characterised by as much blindness as that of England. Almost without

exception they had united, in 1523, to expel the French from Italy.

The result was to destroy the balance of power south of the Alps, and to

deliver themselves over to a bondage more galling than that from which

they sought to escape. Clement himself had been elected Pope by

imperial influence, and the Duke of Sessa, Charles's representative in

Rome, described him as entirely the Emperor's creature. He was, wrote

Sessa, "very reserved, irresolute, and decides few things himself. He

loves money and prefers persons who know where to find it to any other

kind of men. He likes to give himself the appearance of being independent,

but the result shows that he is generally governed by others." Clement,

however, after his election, tried to assume an attitude more becoming

the head of Christendom than slavish dependence on Charles. His love

for the Emperor, he told Charles, had not diminished, but his hatred for

others had disappeared ; and throughout 1524 he was seeking to promote

concord between Christian princes. His methods were unfortunate ; the

failure of the imperial invasion of Provence, and Francis's passage of the

Alps, convinced the Pope that Charles's star was waning, and that of France
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was in the ascendant. So, on January 19, 1525, a Holy League between

Clement and Francis was publicly proclaimed at Rome, and joined by most

of the Italian states. It was almost the eve of Pavia. '

Charles received the news of that victory with aslonisliing liumility.

But he was not likely to forget that at the critical moment he had

been deserted by most of his Italian allies; and it Avas with fear and

trembling that the Venetian ambassador besought him to use his victory

with moderation. Their conduct could hardly lead them to expect much

from the Emperor's clemency. Distrust of his intentions induced the

Holy League to carry on desultory war with the imperial troops ; but

mutual jealousies, the absence of effective aid from England or France,

and vacillation caused by the feeling that after all it might be safer to

accept the best terms they could obtain, prevented the war from being-

waged with any effect. In September, 1526, Hugo de Moncada, the imperial

commander, concerted with Clement's bitter foes, the Colonnas, a means

of overawing the Pope. A truce was concluded, wrote Moncada, " that

the Pope, having laid down his arms, may be taken unawares." On the

19th he marched on Rome. Clement, taken unawares, fled to the castle of

St. Angelo; his palace was sacked, St. Peter's rifled, and the host profaned.

"Never," says Casale, "was so much cruelty and sacrilege."

It was soon thrown into the shade by an outrage at which the whole

world stood aghast. Charles's object was merely to render the Pope his

obedient slave; "neither God nor man," said Moncada, " can resist with

impunity the Emperor's victorious arms." But he had little control over

his own irresistible forces. With no enemy to check them, with no pay

to content them, the imperial troops were ravaging, pillaging, sacking

cities and churches throughout Northern Italy without let or hindrance.

At length a sudden frenzy seized them to march upon Rome. Moncada had

shown them the way, and on May 6, 1527, the Holy City was taken by storm.

Bourbon was killed at the first assault; and the richest city in Christendom

was given over to a motley, leaderless, horde of German, Spanish, and Italian

soldiery. The Pope again fled to the castle of St. Angelo; and for weeks
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term it the just judgment of God, heretics and schismatics, preparing to

burst the bonds of Rome and "deny obedience to the said See," saw

in it the fulfilment of the woes pronounced by St. John the Divine on

the Rome of Nero, and by Daniel the Prophet on Belshazzar's Babylon.

Babylon the great was fallen, and become the habitation of devils, and

the hold of every foul spirit ; her ruler was weighed in the balances

and found wanting; his kingdom was divided and given to kings and

peoples who came, like the Medes and the Persians, from the hardier

realms of the North.





CHAPTER FOUR,

THE DIVORCE OF CATHERINE OF A R AGON,

ATRiMONiAL cliscoicls liavc, Fiom the days of Helen of

Troy, been the fruitful source of public calamities,

and one of the most decisive events in English

history, the breach with the Church of Rome, found

its occasion in the Divorce of Catherine of Aragon.

Its origin has been traced to various circumstances.

On one hand, it is attributed to Henry's passion for

Anne Boleyn, on the other, to doubts of the validity of Henry's mar-

riage, raised by the bishop of Tarbes, while negotiating a matrimonial

alliance between the Princess Mary and Francis I. These are the two

most popular theories, and both are demonstrably false. Doubts of the

legality of Henry's marriage had existed long before the bishop of Tarbes

paid his visit to England, and even before Anne Boleyn was born. They

were urged, not only on the eve of the completion of the marriage, but
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when it was fust suggested. In 1503, when Henry VII. applied to Julius II.

for a dispensation to enable his second son to marry his brother's widow,

the Pope replied that "the dispensation was a great matter; nor did he

well know, prima facie, if it were competent for the Pope to dispense

in such a case." lie granted the dispensation, but the doubts were not

entirely removed. Catherine's confessor instilled them into her mind, and

was recalled by Ferdinand on that account. The Spanish king him sell

felt it necessary to dispel certain "scruples of conscience" Henry might

entertain as to the "sin" of marrying his brother's widow. Warham and

Fox debated the matter, and ^^'arham apparently opposed the marriage.

A general council had pronounced against the Pope's dispensing power

;

and, though the Popes had, in effect, established their superiority over

general councils, those, who still maintained the contrary view, can hardly

have failed to doubt the legality of Henry's marriage.

So good a papalist as the young King, however, would hardly allow

theoretical doubts of the general powers of the Pope to outweigh the

practical advantages of a marriage in his own particular case; and it is

safe to assume that his confidence in its validity would have remained

unshaken, but for extraneous circumstances of a definite and urgent nature.

On the 31st of January, 1510, seven months after his marriage with Catherine,

she gave birth to her first child; it was a daughter, and was still-born. On

the 27th of May following, she told her father that the event was considered

in England to be of evil omen, but that Henry took it cheerfully, and she

thanked God for having given her such a husband. "The King," wrote

Catherine's confessor, "adores her, and her highness him." Less than eight

months later, on the 1st of January, 1511, she was delivered of her first-

born son. A tourney was held to celebrate the joyous event, and the

heralds received a handsome largess at the christening. The child was

named Henry, styled Prince of Wales, and given a serjeant-at-arms on

the 14th, and a clerk of the signet on the 19th, of February. Three days

later he was dead ; he was buried at the cost of some ten thousand pounds

in Westminster Abbey. The rejoicings were turned to grief, which.
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aggravated by successive disappointments, bore with cumulative force on

the mind of the King and his people. In September, 1513, the Venetian

ambassador announced the birth of another son, who was either still-born,

or died immedialely afterwards. In June, 1514, there is again a reference

to the christening of the "King's new son," but he, too, was no sooner

christened than dead.

Domestic griefs were now embittered by political resentments. Ferdi-

nand valued his daughter mainly as a political emissary ; he had formally

accredited her as his ambassador at Henry's court, and she naturally used

her influence to maintain the political union between her father and her

husband. The arrangement had serious drawbacks; when relations between

sovereigns grew strained, their ambassadors could be recalled, but Cathe-

rine had to stay. In 1514, Henry was boiling over with indignation at his

double betrayal by the Catholic king; and it is not surprising that he

vented some of his rage on the wife who was Ferdinand's representative,

lie reproached her, writes Peter Martyr from Ferdinand's court, with her

father's ill-faith, and taunted her with his own conquests. To this brutality

Martyr attributes the premature birth of Catherine's fourth son towards the

end of 1514. Henry, in fact, was preparing to cast off, not merely the Spanish

alliance, but his Spanish wife. He was negotiating for a joint attack on

Castile with Louis Xll. and threatening the divorce of Catherine. "It is

said," writes a Venetian from Rome in August, 1514, "that the King of

England means to repudiate his present wife, the daughter of the King of

Spain and his brother's widow, because he is unable to have children

by her, and intends to marry a daughter of the French duke of Bourbon

He intends to annul his own marriage, and will obtain what he wants

from the Pope as France did from Pope Julius II."

But the death of Louis XII. (January, 1515) and the consequent loosening

of the Anglo-French alliance made Henry and Ferdinand again political

allies; while, as the year wore on, Catherine was known to be once more

pregnant, and Henry's hopes of issue revived. This time they were not

disappointed ; the Princess Mary was born on the 18th of February, 1516.
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Ferdinand had died on the 23rd of January, but the news was kept fVoni

Catherine, lest it might add to the risks of her confinement. The young

princess seemed likely to live, and Henry was delighted. When Giustinian,

amid his congratulations, said he would have been better pleased had it

been a son, the Ring replied : "We are both young; if it was a daughter

this time, by the grace of God the sons will follow." All thoughts of a

divorce passed away for the time, but the desired sons did not arrive. In

August, 1517, Catherine was reported to be again expecting issue, but

nothing more is heard of the matter, and it is probable that about this

time the Queen had various miscarriages. In July, 1518, Henry wrote to

Wolsey from Woodstock that Catherine was once more pregnant, and that

he could not move the court to London, as it was one of the Queen's

"dangerous times." His precautions were unavailing, and, on the 10th of

November, his child arrived still-born. Giustinian notes the great vexation

Avith which the people heard the news , and expresses the opinion that,

had it occurred a month or two earlier, the Princess Mary would not have

been betrothed to the French dauphin, "as the one fear of England was

lest it should pass into subjection to France through that marriage."

The child was the last born of- Catherine. For some years Henry

went on hoping against every probability that he might still have male

issue by his Queen. But physicians summoned from Spain were no

more successful than their English colleagues. By 1525 the last ray of

hope had flickered out. Catherine was then forty years old, beyond the

time of life at which women of southern climates cease to bear children
;

and Henry at the age of thirty-four, in the full vigour of youthful man-

hood, seemed doomed by the irony of fate and by his union with

Catherine to leave a disputed inheritance, when, more than at any other

time, England's interests demanded a secure and peaceful succession.

Never before had there been such mortality among the children of an

English king ; never before had an English king married his brother's

widow. So striking a coincidence could be only explained by the rela-

tion of cause and effect. Men who saw the judgment of God in the
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sack of Rome, and divine retribution for the execution of Warwick in the

death of two sons of Henry VII., might surely discern in the fatality,

that attended the children of Henry VIII., a fulfilment of the doom of

childlessness pronounced in the Book of the Law against him who should

marrv his brother's wife. •God," wrote the French ambassador in 1528,

'•'•has long ago himself passed sentence on it;" and there is no reason

to doubt Henrj-'s assertion, that he had come to regard the death of

his children as a dirine judgment, and that he was impelled to question

his marriage by the dictates of conscience. The ''scruples of conscience,"

which Henry VII. had urged as an excuse for delaying the marriage, were

merely a cloak for political reasons ; but scruples of conscience are dan-

gerous playthings, and the pretence of Henry VII. became, through the

death of his children, a terrible reality to Henry VIII.

Conscience, however, often moves men in directions indicated by other

than conscientious motives, and, of the other motives which influenced

Henry's mind, some were respectable and some the reverse. The most

legitimate was his desire to provide for the succession to the throne. It

was obvious to him and his council, that, if he died with no children but

Mary, England ran the risk of being plunged into an anarchy worse than

that of the civil wars. 'By English law," wrote Falier, the Venetian

ambassador, in 1531, -females are excluded from the throne;" that was

not true, but it was undoubtedly a wide-spread impression, based upon the

past history of England. >'o Queen-Regnant had sat on the English

throne but one, and that one precedent provided the most effective argu-

ment for avoiding a repetition of the experiment. Matilda had the same

claim to the throne as Mary, and Matilda's attempt to enforce it involved

England in nineteen years of anarchy and civil war. Stephen stood to

Matilda in precisely the same relation as James V. of Scotland stood to

the Princess Mary; and in 1532, as soon as he came of age. James was

urged to style himself "Prince of England" and Duke of York, in manifest

derogation of Mary's title. At that time Charles V. was discussing altern-

ative plans for deposing Henry VIII. One was to set up James V.,
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the other to marry Mary to some great English nohle and proclaim them

King and Queen; Mary by herself was thought to have no chance of success.

John of Gaunt had maintained in Parliament that the succession descended

only through males; the Lancastrian case was that Henry IV., the son of

Edward III.'s fourth son, had a better title to the throne than Philippa,

the daughter of the third ; an Act limiting the succession to the male line

was passed in 1406; and Henry YII. himself only reigned through a tacit

denial of the right of women to sit on the English throne.

The objection to female sovereigns was grounded not so much on male

disbelief in their personal qualifications, as upon the inevitable consequence

of matrimonial and dynastic problems. If the Princess Mary succeeded,

was she to marry? If not, her death would leave the kingdom no better

provided with heirs than before; and in her weak state of health, her

death seemed no distant prospect. If, on the other hand, she married,

her husband must be either a subject or a foreign prince. To marry

a subject would at once create discords like those from which the Wars

of the Roses had sprung; to marry a foreign prince, was to threaten

Englishmen, then more jealous than ever of foreign influence, with the

fear of foreign domination. They had before their eyes numerous instances

in which matrimonial alliances had involved the union of states so hetero-

geneous as Spain and the Netherlands ; and they had no mind to see England

absorbed in some continental empire. In the matrimonial schemes arranged

for the princess, it was generally stipulated that she should, in default of

male heirs, succeed to the throne of England ; her succession was obviously

a matter of doubt, and it is quite certain that her marriage in France or

in Spain would have proved a bar in the way of her succession to the

English throne, or at least have given rise to conflicting claims.

These rival pretensions began to be heard as soon as it became evident

that Henry VIII. would have no male heirs by Catherine of Aragon. In I5I9,

a year after the birth of the Queen's last child, Giustinian reported to

the Venetian signiory on the various nobles who had hopes of the crown.

The Duke of Norfolk had expectations in right of his wife, a daughter of
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Edward IV., and the Duke of SufTolk in right of his Duchess, the sister

of Henry VIII. But the Duke of Buckingham was the most formidable :

"It was thought that, were the King to die without male heirs, that

duke might easily obtain the crown." His claims had been canvassed

in 1503, when the issue of Henry VII. seemed likely to fail, and now

that the issue of Henry VIII. was in even worse plight, Buckingham's

claims to the crown became again a matter of comment. His hopes of

the crown cost him his head; he had always been discontented with Tudor

rule, especially under Wolsey ; he allowed himself to be encouraged with

hopes of succeeding the King, and possibly spoke of asserting his claim

in case of Henry's death. This was to touch Henry on his tenderest

spot, and, in 1521, the duke was tried by his peers, found guilty of high

treason, and sent to the block. In this, as in all the great trials of Henry's

reign, and indeed in most state trials of all ages, considerations of justice

were surbordinated to the real or supposed dictates of political expediency.

Buckinerham was executed, not because he was a criminal, but because

he was, or might become , dangerous ; his crime was not treason, but

descent from Edward III. Henry VIII., like Henry VII., showed his grasp

of the truth that nothing makes a government so secure as the absence of

all alternatives.

Buckingham's execution is one of the symptoms that, as early as 1521,

the failure of his issue had made Henry nervous and susceptible about

the succession. Even in 1519, when Charles V.'s minister, Chifevres, was

proposing to marry his niece to the Earl of Devonshire, a grandson of

Edward IV., Henry was suspicious, and Wolsey inquired whether Chievres

was "looking to any chance of the Earl's succession to the throne of

England." If further proof were needed that Henry's anxiety about the

succession was not, as has been represented, a mere afterthought intended

to justify his divorce from Catherine, it might be found in the extraor-

dinary measures taken with regard to his one and only illegitimate son.

The boy was born in 1519. His mother was Elizabeth Blount, sister of

Erasmus's friend, Lord Mountjoy; and she is noticed as taking part in the
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court revels during the early years of Henry's reign. Outwardly, at any

rate, Henry's court was long a model of decorum; there was no parade of

vice as in the days of Charles II., and the existence of this royal bastard

was so effectually concealed that no reference to him occurs in the cor-

respondence of the time until 1.525, when it was thought expedient to

give him a position of public importance. The necessity of providing

some male successor to Henry was considered so urgent that, two years

before the divorce is said to have occurred to him, he and his council

were meditating a scheme for entailing the succession on the King's illegi-

timate son. In 1525, the child was created Duke of Richmond and Somerset.

These titles were significant; Earl of Richmond had been Henry VII. 's

title before he came to the throne ; Duke of Somerset had been that of

his grandfather and of his youngest son. Shortly afterwards the boy was

made Lord Iliffh Admiral of England, Lord Warden of the Marches, and

Lord Lieutenant of Ireland, the two latter being offices which Henry VIII.

himself had held in his early youth. In January, 1527, the Spanish ambas-

sador reported that there was a scheme on foot to make the duke king of

Ireland ; it was obviously a design to prepare the way for his succession

to the kingdom of England. The English envoys in Spain were directed

to tell the Emperor that Henry proposed to demand some noble princess

of near blood to the Emperor as a wife for the Duke of Richmond. The

Duke, they were to say, "is near of the King's blood and of excellent

qualities, and is already furnished to keep the state of a great prince, and

yet may be easily, by the King's means, exalted to higher things." The

lady suggested was Charles's niece, a daughter of the Queen of Portugal;

she was already promised to the Dauphin of France, but the envoys remarked

that, if that match were broken off, she might find "another dauphin" in

the Duke of Richmond. Another plan for settling the succession was that

the Duke should, by Papal dispensation, marry his half-sister Mary! Cardinal

Campeggio saw no moral objection to this. "At first I myself," he writes

on his arrival in England in October 1528, "had thought of this as a means

of establishing the succession." The Pope was equally willing to facilitate
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the scheme, on condition that Henry abandoned his divorce from Catherine.

Possibly Henry saw more objections than Pope or Cardinal to a marriage

between brother and sister. At all events Mary Avas soon betrothed to the

French prince, and the Emperor recorded his impression that the French

marriage was designed to remove the Princess from the Duke of Richmond's

path to the throne.

The conception of this violent expedient is mainly of interest as illus-

trating the supreme importance attached to the question of providing for a

male successor to Henry. He wanted an heir to the throne, and he wanted

a fresh wife for that reason. A mistress would not satisfy him, because his

children by a mistress would hardly succeed without dispute to the throne,

not because he laboured under any moral scruples on the point. He had

already had two mistresses, Elizabeth Blount, the mother of the Duke of

Richmond, and Anne's sisler, Mary Boleyn. Possibly, even probably,

there were other lapses from conjugal fidelity, for, in 1533, the Duke of

Norfolk told Chapuys that Henry was always inclined to amours ; but none

are capable of definite proof. He is said to have had ten mistresses

in 1528, but the statetnent is based on a misrepresentation of the document

brought forward as proof. It is a list of New Year's presents, which

runs "To thirty-three noble ladies" such and such gifts, then "to ten

mistresses" other gifts; it is doubtful if the word then bore its modern

sinister signification; in this particular instance it merely means " gentle-

w'omen," and differentiates them from the noble ladies. Henry's morals,

indeed, compare not unfavourably with those of other sovereigns. His

standard was neither higher nor lower than that of Charles V., who was

at this time negotiating a marriage between his natural daughter and the

Pope's nephew; it was not lower than those of James H., of William HI.,

or of the first two Georges ; it was infinitely higher than the standard of

Francis I., of Charles II. or even of Louis XIV.

The gross immorality so freely imputed to Henry seems to have as little

foundation as the theory that his sole object in seeking the divorce from

Catherine and separation from Rome was the gratification of his passion for
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Anne Boleyn. If that had been the case, there would be no adequate

explanation of the persistence with which he pursued the divorce. He was

"studying the matter so diligently," Campeggio says, "that I believe in

this case he knows more than a great theologian and jurist;" he was so

convinced of the justice of his cause "that an angel descending from Heaven

would be unable to persuade him otherwise." He sent embassy after

embassy to Rome; he risked the enmity of Catholic Europe; he defied the

authority of the vicar of Christ ; and lavished vast sums to obtain verdicts

in his favour from most of the universities in Christendom. It is not

credible that all this energy was expended merely to satisfy a sensual passion,

which could be satisfied without a murmur from Pope or Emperor, if he

was content with Anne Boleyn as a mistress, and which, moreover, had

been already satisfied Avhen Anne yielded to his desires in 1529, four

years before the divorce was obtained. So, too, the actual sentence of

divorce in 1533 was precipitated not by Henry's passion for Anne, but by

the desire that her child should be legitimate. She was pregnant before

Henry was married to her or divorced from Catherine. But, though the

representation of Henry's passion for Anne Boleyn as the sole fons et origo

of the divorce is far from convincing, that passion introduced various com-

plications into the question ; it was not merely an additional incentive to

Henry's desires; it also brought Wolsey and Henry into conflict; and the

unpopularity of the divorce was increased by the feeling that Henry was

losing caste by seeking to marry a lady of the rank and character of

Anne Boleyn.

The Boleyns were wealthy merchants of London, of which one of them

had been Lord-Mayor, but Anne's mother was of noble blood, being daughter

and co-heir of the Earl of Ormonde, and it is a curious fact that all of

Henry's wives could trace their descent from Edward I. Anne's age is uncer-

tain, but she is generally believed to have been born in 1507. Attempts
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have been made to date her influence over the King by the royal favours

bestowed on her father, Sir Thomas, afterwards Viscount Rochford and

Earl of Wiltshire, but, as these favours flowed in a fairly regular stream

from the beginning of the reign, as Sir Thomas's services were at least

a colourable excuse for them, and as his other daughter Mary was Henry's

mistress before he fell in love with Anne, these grants are not a very

substantial ground upon which to build. Of Anne herself little is known

except that, about 1519, she was sent as maid of honour to the French

Queen, Claude; five years before, her sister Mary had accompanied Mary

Tudor in a similar capacity on her marriage with Louis XII. In 1522,

when war with France was on the eve of breaking out, Anne was recalled

to the English court, where she took part in revels and love -intrigues.

Sir Thomas Wyatt, the poet, although a married man, sued for her favours;

Henry, Lord Percy made her more honest proposals, but was compelled

to desist by the King himself, who had arranged for her marriage with

Piers Butler, son of the Earl of Ormond, as a means to end the feud

between the Butler and the Boleyn families.

None of these projects advanced any further, possibly because they

conflicted with the relations developing between Anne and the King himself.

As Wyatt complained in a sonnet,

" There is written her fair neck round about

Noli me tangere; for Caesar's I am
And -wild for to hold, though I seem tame.''

But, for any definite documentary evidence to the contrary, it might be

urged that Henry's passion for Anne was subsequent to the commencement

of his proceedings for a divorce from Catherine. Those proceedings began

at least as early as March, 1527, while the first allusion to the connection

between the King and Anne Boleyn occurs in the instructions to Dr. William

Knight, sent in the following autumn to procure a dispensation for her

marriage with Henry. The King's famous love-letters, the earliest of which

are placed by Dr. Brewer in July, 1527, are without date and with but slight
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internal indications of the time at Avliicli they Avcre written ; they may

be earlier than 1527, they may be as late as the following winter. It is

unlikely that Henry would have sought for the Pope's dispensation to

marry Anne until he was assured of her consent, of which in some of

the letters he appears to be doubtful ; on the other hand, it is diffi-

cult to see how a lady of the court could refuse an offer of marriage

made by her sovereign. Her reluctance was to fill a less honourable posi-

tion, into which Henry was not so wicked as to think of forcing her.

"I trust," he writes in one of his letters, "your absence is not wilful

on your part; for if so, I can but lament my ill-fortune, and by degrees

abate my great folly." His love for Anne Boleyn was certainly his "great

folly," the one overmastering passion of his life. There is, however, nothing

very extraordinary in the letters themselves ; in one he says he has for

more than a year been " wounded with the dart of love," and is uncer-

tain whether Anne returns his affection. In others he bewails her briefest

absence as though it were an eternity ; desires her father to hasten his

return to court; is torn Avith anxiet}' lest Anne should take the plague,

comforts her with the assurance that few women have had it, and sends

her a hart killed by his own hand, making the inevitable play on the word.

Later on, he alludes to the progress of the divorce case ; excuses the

shortness of a letter on the ground that he has spent four hours over the

book he was writing in his own defence and has a pain in his head.

The series ends with an announcement that he has been fitting up apart-

ments for her, and with congratulations to himself and to her that the

"well-wishing" Legate, Campeggio, who has been sent from Rome to try

the case, has told him he was not so "imperial" in his sympathies as had

been alleged.

The secret of her fascination over Henry was a puzzle to observers.

"Madame Anne," wrote a Venetian, "is not one of the handsomest women

in the world. She is of middling stature, swarthy complexion, long neck,

wide mouth, bosom not much raised, and in fact has nothing but the King's

great appetite, and her eyes, which are black and beautiful." She had
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probably leariil in France the art ol using her beaiililiil eyes to the best

advantage; her hair, which was long and black, she wore loose, and on her

way to her coronation Cranmcr describes her as "sitting in her hair." Pos-

sibly this was one ol' the French customs, which somewhat scandalized the

staidcr ladies oF the English court. She is said to have had a slight defect

on one of her nails, which she endeavoured to conceal behind her other

fingers. Of her mental accomplishments there is not much evidence; she

naturally spoke French, though she wrote it in an orthography that was

quite her own; and, no doubt, her letters to Henry, like his to her, were

written in French. Her devotion to the Gospel is the one great virtue with

which Foxe and other Elizabethans strove to invest the mother of the Good

Queen Bess. But it had no nobler foundation than the facts that Anne's

position drove her into hostility to the Roman jurisdiction, and that her

family shared the envy of church goods, common to the nobility and the

gentry of the time. Her place in English history is due solely to the cir-

cumstance that she appealed to the less refined part of Henry's nature

;

she was pre-eminent neither in beauty nor in intellect, and her virtue was

not of a character to command or deserve the respect of her own or sub-

sequent ages.

It is otherwise with her rival, Queen Catherine, the third of the prin-

cipal characters involved in the Divorce. If Henry's motives were not so

entirely bad as they have often been represented, neither they nor Anne

Boleyn's can stand a moment's comparison with the unsullied purity of

Catherine's life or the lofty courage, with which she defended the cause

she believed to be right. There is no more pathetic figure in English

history, not one condemned to a crueller fate. No breath of scandal

touched her fair name, or impugned her devotion to Henry. If she had

the misfortune to be identified with a particular policy, the alliance with

the House of Burgundy, the fault was not hers ; she had been married

to Henry in consideration of the advantages which that alliance was sup-

posed to confer ; and, if she used her influence to further Spanish interest,

it was a natural feeling as near akin to virtue as to vice, and Carroz at
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least complained, in 1514, that she had completely identified herself with

her husband and her husband's subjects. If her miscarriages and the death

of her children were a grief to Henry, the pain and the sorrow were hers

in far greater measure; if they had made her "an ugly old woman," as

Francis brutally described her in 1519, the fact must have been far more

bitter to her than it was unpleasant to Henry. There may have been some

hardship to Henry in the circumstance that, for political motives, he had

been induced by his council to maiTy a wife who was six years his

senior; but to Catherine herself a divorce was the height of injustice. The

question was in fact one of justice against a real or supposed political

necessity, and in such cases justice commonly goes to the wall. In politics,

men seek to colour with justice, actions based upon considerations of

expediency. They first convince themselves, and then they endeavour with

less success to persuade mankind.

So Henry VIII. convinced himself that the dispensation granted by

Julius II. was null and void, that he had never been married to Catherine,

and that to continue to live with his brother's wife was sin. "The King,"

he instructed his ambassador to tell Charles V. in 1533, " taketh himself

to be in the right, not because so many say it, but because he, being

learned, knoweth the matter to be right The justice of our cause is so

rooted in our breast that nothing can remove it, and even the canons say

that a man should rather endure all the censures of the Church than offend

his conscience." No man was less tolerant of heresy than Henry, but no

man set greater store on his own private judgment. God and his conscience,

he told Chapuys, in 1533, were on very good terms. On another occasion

he wrote to Charles Ubi Spiritus Domini, ibi Uhertas, with the obvious

implication that he possessed the spirit of the Lord, and therefore he

might do as he liked. To him, as to St. Paul, all things were lawful; and

Henry's appeals to the Pope, to learned divines, to universities at home

and abroad, were not for his own satisfaction, but were merely concessions

to the profane herd, unskilled in royal learning and unblessed with a

kingly conscience. Against that conviction, so firmly rooted in the royal
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breast, appeals to pity were vain; and attempts to shake it were fraught

with peril. It was his conscience that made Henry so dangerous. Men

are tolerant of dillerences about things indifferent, but conscience makes

bigots of us all ; theological hatreds are proverbially bitter, and religious

wars are cruel. Conscience made Sir Thomas More persecute, and glory

in the persecution of heretics, and conscience earned Mary her epithet

"Bloody." They were moved by conscientious belief in the Catholic faith,

Henry by conscientious belief in himself; and conscientious scruples are

none the less exigent for being reached by crooked paths.

In February, 1527, in pursuance of the alliance with France, which

Wolsey, recognising too late the fatal effects of the union with Charles,

was seeking to make the basis of English policy, a French embassy arrived

in England to conclude a marriage between Francis I. and the Princess

Mary. At its head was Gabriel de Grammont, bishop of Tarbes ; and in

the course of his negotiations he is alleged to have first suggested those

doubts of the validity of Henry's marriage, which ended in the divorce.

The allegation was made by Wolsey three months later, and from that

time down to our own day, it has done duty with Henry's apologists

as a sufficient vindication of his conduct. It is now denounced as an

impudent fiction, mainly on the ground that no hint of these doubts occurs

in the extant records of the negotiations. But unfortunately we have

only one or two letters from the bishop to his government relating to

his diplomatic mission. There exists, indeed, a detailed narrative, drawn up

some time afterwards by Claude Dodieu, a French lawyer; but the silence,

on so confidential a matter, of a third party who was not present when

the doubts were presumably suggested, proves little or nothing. Du Bellay,

in 1528, reported to the French government Henry's public assertion that

Tarbes had mentioned these doubts ; the statement was not repudiated,

and Tarbes himself was frequently employed in efforts to win from the Pope
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an assent to Henry's divorce. It is rather a strong assumption to suppose

that Henry and Wolsey were deliberatelj' lying. There is nothing impossible

in the supposition that some such doubts were expressed. In return for

Mary's hand, Henry was endeavouring to obtain various advantages from

Francis in the way of pensions, tribute, and territory. Tarbes represented

that the French king was so good a match for the English princess, that

there was little need for further concession ; to which Henrj^ replied that

Francis was no doubt an excellent match for his daughter, but was he

free to marrv ? His precontract with Charles V.'s sisler, Eleanor, was a

complication which seriously diminished the value of Francis's offer; and

the Papal dispensation, which he hoped to obtain, might not be forthcoming

or valid. As a counter to this stroke, Tarbes may well have hinted that the

Princess Mary was not such a prize as Henry made out. Was the dispensa-

tion for Henry's own marriage beyond cavil ? Was Marys legitimacy beyond

question ? Was her succession to the English throne, a prospect Henry

dangled before the Frenchman's eyes, so secure.' These questions were

not very new, even at the time of Tarbes's mission. The divorce had

been talked about in 1514, and now, in 1527, the position of importance

given to the Duke of Richmond was a matter of public comment, and

inevitably suggested doubts of Marys succession. There is no documentary

evidence that this argument was ever employed , beyond the fact that,

within three months of Tarbes's mission, both Henry and Wolsey asserted

that the bishop had suggested doubts of the validity of Henry's marriage.

Henry, however, does not sav that Tarbes first suggested the doubts, nor

does Wolsey. The Cardinal declares that the Bishop objected to the mar-

riage with the Princess Mary on the ground of these doubts ; and some

time later, when Henry explained his j^osition to the Lord-Mayor and

aldermen of London, he said, according to Du Bellay, that the scruple of

conscience, which he had long entertained, had terribly increased upon him

since Tarbes had spoken of it.

However that may be, before the Bishop's negotiations were completed,

the first steps had been taken towards the divorce, or, as Wolsey and Henry



THK D/VOnCR OF CATirRniNK OF AI«AO0\, 143

pretenrlefl, towards Hatisfying the King's scnjplf;s as to the validity of Jiis

marriage. Early in April, l')27, Dr. f{if:}iard Wolman was sent down to

Winchester to examine old bishop Fox on the suhjeet. The greatest

secrecy was observed and none of the l^ishop's councillors were allowed

to be present. Other evidence was doubtless collected from various sources,

and, on May 17, a week after Tarbes's departure, Wolsey summoned ffenry

to appear before him to explain his conduct in living with his brother's

widow. Wolman was appointcfl promoter of the suit; Henry put in a

justification, and, on May 31, Wolman replierl. With that the proceedings

terminated. In instituting them Ffenry was following a precedent set by

his brother-in-law, the iJuke of Suffolk. Fn very early days that nobleman

had contracted to marry a certain Ann fJrowne, but for some reason the

match was broken off, and he sought the hanfl of one Margaret Mortimer,

to whom he was related in the second and third degrees of consan-

guinity; he obtained a dispensation, completed the marriage, and cohabited

with Margaret .Mortimer. FJut, like FFenry VFIF., his conscience or other

considerations moved him to regard his marriage as sin, and the dispen-

sation as invalid. Fie caused a declaration to that effect to be made by

"the official of the archdeacon of F^ondon, to whom the cognisance of

such causes of old belongs," married Ann Browne, and, after her death,

Henry's sister Mary. A marriage, the validity of which depended, like

Henry's, upon a papal dispensation, and which, like FFenry's, had been

consummated, was declared null and void on exactly the same grounds as

those upon which Henry himself sought a divorce, namely the invalidity

of the previous dispensation. On .May 12, 1528, Clement VIF. issued a bull

confirming Suffolk's divorce and pronouncing ecclesiastical censures on all

who called in question the duke's subsequent marriages. That is precisely

the course Henry wished to be followed. Wolsey was to declare the

marriage invalid on the ground of the insufficiency of the papal dispen-

sation; Henry might then marry whom he pleased; the Pope was to confirm

the sentence, and censure all who should dispute the second marriage or

the legitimacy of its possible issue.
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Another precedent was also forced on Henry's mind. On March H,

1527, two months before Wolsey opened his court, a divorce was granted

at Rome to Henry's sister Margaret, Queen of Scotland. Her pretexts were

infinitely more flimsy than Henry's own. She alleged a precontract on

the part of her husband, Angus, which was never proved. She professed

to believe that James IV. had survived Flodden three years, and was

alive when she married Angus. Angus had been unfaithful, but that was

no ground for divorce by canon law ; and she herself was living in shame-

less adultery with Henry Stewart, who had also procured a divorce to

be free to marry his Queen. No objection was found at Rome to either

of these divorces ; but neither Angus nor Margaret Mortimer had an

Emperor for a nephew ; no imperial armies would march on Rome to

vindicate the validity of their marriages, and Clement could issue his

bulls without any fear that their justice would be challenged by the

arms of powerful princes. Not so with Henry; while the secret pro-

ceedings before Wolsey were in progress, the world was shocked by the

sack of Rome, and Clement was a prisoner in the hands of the Emperor's

troops. There was no hope that a Pope in such a plight would confirm

a sentence to the detriment of his master's aunt. "If the Pope,' wrote

Wolsey to Henry on receipt of the news, "be slain or taken, it will

hinder the King's affairs not a little, which have hitherto been going on

so well." A little later he declared that, if Catherine repudiated his

authority, it would be necessary to have the assent of the Pope or of the

cardinals to the divorce. To obtain the former the Pope must be libe-

rated ; to secure the latter the cardinals must be assembled in France.

To effect the Pope's liberation, or rather to call an assembly of car-

dinals in France during Clement's captivity, was the real object of the

mission to France, on which Wolsey started in July. Such a body, acting

under Wolsey's presidency and in the territories of the French king, was

as likely to favour an attack upon the Emperor's aunt, as the Pope in

the hands of Charles's armies was certain to oppose it. Wolsey went

in unparalleled splendour, not as Henry's ambassador but as his lieu-
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tenant; and projects for his own advancement were, as usual, part of the

programme. Ijoiiise of Savoy, the queen-molhcr of France, suggested to

him that all Christian princes should repudiate the Pope's authority so

long as he remained in captivity, and the Cardinal replied that, had the

overture not heen made hy her, it would have heen started by himself

and by Henry. It was rumoured in Spain that Wolsey "had gone into

France to separate the Church of England and of France from the Roman,

not merely during the captivity of the Pope and to effect his liberation,

but for a perpetual division ," and that Francis was offering Wolsey the

patriarchate of the two schismatic churches. To win over the Cardinal

to the interest of Spain, it was even suggested that Charles should depose

Clement and offer the papacy to Wolsey. The project of a schism was

not found feasible; the cardinals at Rome were too numerous, and Wolsey

only succeeded in gaining four, three French and one Italian, to join

him in signing a protest repudiating Clement's authority, so long as he

remained in the Emperor's power. It was necessary to fall back after

all on the Pope for assent to Henry's divorce, and the news that Charles

had already got wind of the proceedings against Catherine, made it advisable

that no time should be lost. The Emperor, indeed, had long been aware

of Henry's intentions ; every care had been taken to prevent communication

between Catherine and her nephew, and a plot had been laid to kidnap a

messenger she was sending in August to convey her appeal for protection.

All was in vain, for the very day after Wolsey's court had opened in May,

Mendoza wrote to Charles that Wolsey "as the finishing stroke to all his

iniquities, had been scheming to bring about the Queen's divorce;" and

on the 29th of July, some days before Wolsey had any suspicion that a

hint was abroad, Charles informed Mendoza that he had despatched Cardinal

Quignon to Rome, to act on the Queen's behalf and to persuade Clement

to revoke Wolsey's legatine powers.

In ignorance of all this, Wolsey urged Henry to send Ghinucci, the

bishop of Worcester, and others to Rome with certain demands, among

which was a request for Clement's assent to the abortive proposal for a



146 HENRY VIII.

council in France. But now a divergence became apparent between the

policy of Wolsey and that of his king. Both were working for a divorce,

but Wolsey wanted Henry to marry as his second wife, Renee, the daughter

of Louis XII., and thus bind more closely the two kings, upon whose

union the Cardinal's personal and political schemes were now exclusively

based. Henry, however, had determined that his second wife was to be

Anne Boleyn, and of this determination Wolsey was as yet uninformed.

The Cardinal had good reason to dread that lady's ascendency over Henry's

mind ; for she was the hope and the tool of the anti-clerical party, which

had hitherto been kept in check by Wolsey's supremacy. The Duke of

Norfolk was her uncle, and he was hostile to Wolsey for both private and

public reasons; her father, Viscount Rochford, her cousins, Sir William

Fitzwilliam and Sir Francis Brian, and many more distant connections, were

anxious at the first opportunity to lead an attack on the Church and

Cardinal. Before the divorce case began, Wolsey's position had grown

precarious ; taxes at home and failure abroad had turned the loyalty of

the people to sullen discontent, and Wolsey was mainly resj^onsible.

" Disaffection to the Ring," wrote Mendoza in March, 1527, " and

hatred of the Legate are visible everywhere. . . . The King would soon

be obliged to change his councillors, were only a leader to present him-

self and head the malcontents ;
" and in May he reported a general rumour

to the effect that Henry intended to relieve the Legate of his share in

the administration. The Cardinal had incurred the dislike of nearly every

section of the community; the King was his sole support and the King

was beginning to waver. In May, there were high words between Wolsey

and Norfolk in Henry's presence; in July, King and Cardinal were quarrelling

over ecclesiastical patronage at Calais, and, long before the failure of the

divorce suit, there were other indications that Henry and his minister had

ceased to work together in harmony.

It is, indeed, quite a mistake to represent Wolsey's failure to obtain a

sentence in Henry's favour as the sole or main cause of his fall. Had he

succeeded, he might have deferred for a time his otherwise unavoidable
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ruin, but it was his last and only chance. lie was driven to playing a

desperate game, in which the dice were loaded against him. If his plan

failed, he told Clement over and over again, it would mean for him irre-

trievable ruin, and in his fall he would drag down the Church. If it

succeeded, he would be hardly more secure, for success meant the predo-

minance of Anne Boleyn and of her anti-ecclesiastical kin. Under the

circumstances, it is impossible to attach much weight to the opinion of the

French and Spanish ambassadors, and of Charles V. himself, that Wolsey

suggested the divorce as the means of breaking for ever the alliance

between England and the House of Burgundy, and substituting for it a

union with France. The divorce fitted in so well with Wolsey's French

policy, that the suspicion was natural ; but there is more inherent pro-

bability in the impression recorded by the same observers that Wolsey was

secretly opposing the divorce from fear of the ascendency of Anne Boleyn.

That suspicion had been brought to Henry's mind as early as June, 1527.

It was probably due to the facts, that Wolsey was not blinded by passion,

as Henry was, to the difficulties in the way, and that it was he who

persuaded Henry to have recourse to the Pope in the first instance, when

the King desired to follow Suffolk's precedent, obtain a sentence in England,

marry again, and trust to the Pope to confirm his proceedings.

Henry's suspicions, and his knowledge that Wolsey would be hostile

to his marriage with Anne Boleyn, induced him to act for the time inde-

pendently of the Cardinal ; and, while Wolsey was in France hinting at a

marriage between Henry and Renee, the King himself was secretly endea-

vouring to remove the obstacles to his union with Anne Boleyn. Instead of

adopting Wolsey's suggestion that Ghinucci should be sent to Rome as an

Italian versed in the ways of the Papal Curia, he despatched his secretary.

Dr. William Knight, with two extraordinary commissions, which he thought

would not be revealed "for any craft the Cardinal or any other can

find." One was to obtain from the Pope a dispensation to marry a second

wife, without being divorced from Catherine, the issue from both marriages

to be legitimate. This "licence to commit bigamy" has naturally been
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the subject of much righteous indignation. But marriage-laws were lax in

those days, when Popes could play fast and loose with them for political

purposes; and, besides the "great reasons and precedents, especially in

the old Testament" which Henry quoted, he might have produced a pre-

cedent more pertinent, more recent, and better calculated to appeal to

Clement VII. In 1521, Charles V.'s Spanish council drew up a memorial

on the subject of his marriage, in which they pointed out that his ancestor,

Henry IV. of Castile, had, in 1437, married Dona Blanca, by whom he had

no children; and that the Pope thereupon granted him a dispensation to

marry a second wife on condition that, if within a fixed time he had no

issue by her, he should return to his first. A licence for bigamy, modelled

after this precedent, would have suited Henry admirably, but apparently

he was unaware of this useful example, and was induced to countermand

Kniffht's commission, before it had been communicated to Clement. The

demand would not, however, have shocked the Pope so much as his modern

defenders, for on September 18, 1530, Casale writes to Henry : "A few days

since the Pope secretly proposed to me that your Majesty might be allowed

two wives. I told him I could not undertake to make any such proposi-

tion, because I did not know whether it Avould satisfy your Majesty's

conscience. I made this answer because I know that the Imperialists have

this in view, and are urging it; but why, I know not." Ghinucci was

equally cautious, and thought the Pope's suggestion was only a ruse
;

whether a ruse or not, it is a curious illustration of the moral influence

Popes were then likely to exert on their flock.

The second commission, with which Knight was entrusted, was hardly

less strange than the first. By his illicit relations with Mary Boleyn, Henry

had already contracted affinity in the first degree with her sister Anne, in

fact precisely the same affinity (except that it was illicit) as that which

Catherine was alleged to have contracted with him before their marriage.

The inconsistency of Henry's conduct, in seeking to remove by the same

method from his second marriage the disability which was held to inva-

lidate his first, helps us to define the precise position which Henry took
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up, and the nature of his peculiar conscience. Obviously he did not at

this stage deny the Pope's dispensing power ; for he was invoking its

aid to enable him to marry Anne Boleyn. He asserted, and he denied,

no principle whatever, though it must be remembered that his own dis-

pensation was an almost, if not quite, unprecedented stretch of papal

power. It was quite a different thing to dispense with the "divine" law

against marrying the brother's wife, and to dispense with merely canonical

obstacles ; and in this light the breach between England and Rome might

be represented as caused by a novel extension of papal claims. Henry,

however, was a casuist concerned exclusively with his own case. He

maintained merely that the particular dispensation, granted for his marriage

with Catherine, was null and void. As a concession to others, he con-

descended to give a number of reasons, none of them affecting any principle,

but only the legal technicalities of the case ; the causes for which the

dispensation was granted, such as his own desire, and the political necessity

for the marriage were fictitious; he had himself protested against the mar-

riage, and so forth. For himself, his own conviction was ample sanc-

tion; he knew he was living in sin with Catherine because his children had

all died but one , and that was a manifest token of the wrath of Providence.

The capacity for convincing himself of his own righteousness is the most

effective weapon in the egotist's armoury, and Henry's egotism touched

the sublime. His conscience was clear, whatever other people might think

of the maze of apparent inconsistencies in which he was involved. In 1528,

he was in some fear of death from the plague ; fear of death is fatal to the

peace of a guilty conscience, and it might well have made Henry pause in

his pursuit after the divorce and Anne Boleyn. But Henry never wavered;

he went on in serene assurance, writing his love letters to Anne, as a con-

scientiously unmarried man might do, making his will, " confessing every

day and receiving his Maker at every feast," paying great attention to

the morals of monasteries, and to charges of malversation against \^"o!sey,

and severely lecturing his sister Margaret on the sinfulness of her life.

He hopes she will turn "to God's word, the vively doctrine of Jesu Christ,
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the only ground of salvation— I. Cor. 3, etc.;" he reminds her of "the

divine ordinance of inseparable matrimony first instituted in Paradise," and

urges her to avoid "the inevitable damnation threatened against advoutrers."

Henry's conscience was convenient and skilful. He believed in the "ordi-

nance of inseparable matrimony," so, when he wished to divorce a wife,

his conscience warned him that he had never really been married to her.

Hence his nullity suits with Catherine of Aragon, with Anne Boleyn, and

with Anne of Cleves. Moreover, if he had never been married to Cathe-

rine, his relations with Mary Boleyn and Elizabeth Blount were obviously

not adultery, and he was free to denounce that sin in Margaret with a

clear conscience.

Dr. Knight had comparatively little difficulty in obtaining the dispen-

sation for Henry's marriage with Anne Boleyn ; but it was only to be

effective after sentence had been given decreeing the nullity of his mar-

riage with Catherine of Aragon ; and, as ^^"olsey saw, that was the real

crux of the question. Knight had scarcely turned his steps homeward,

when he was met by a courier with fresh instructions from ^^'olsey to

obtain a further concession from Clement ; the Pope was to emi^ower the

Cardinal himself, or some other safe person, to examine the original dis-

pensation, and, if it were found invalid, to annul Henry's marriage with

Catherine. So Knight returned to the papal court; and then began that

struggle between English and Spanish influence at Rome, which ended in

the victory of Charles V. and the repudiation by England of the Roman

jurisdiction. Never did two parties enter upon a contest with a clearer

perception of the issues involved, or carry it on with their eyes more open

to the magnitude of the results. Wolsey himself, Gardiner, Foxe, Casale, and

every English envoy employed in the case, warned and threatened Clement

that, if he refused Henry's demands, he would involve Wolsey and the Church

in England in a common ruin. "I cannot reflect upon it," wrote Wolsey,
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"and close my eyes, for I see ruin, infamy, and subversion of the whole

dignity and estimation of the See Apostolic, if this course is persisted in.

You see in what dangerous times W'C are. If the Pope will consider the

gravity of this cause, and how much the safety of the nation depends upon

it, he will see that the course he now pursues will drive the King to adopt

remedies which are injurious to the Po2:)e, and are frequently instilled into

the Ring's mind." On one occasion, Clement confessed that, though the

Pope was supposed to carry the papal laws locked up in his breast. Pro-

vidence had not vouchsafed him the key, wherewith to unlock them; and

Gardiner roughly asked in retort whether in that case the pajjal laws should

not be committed to the flames. He told how the Lutherans were instigating

Henry to do away with the temporal possessions of the Church. Clement

could only bewail his misfortune, and protest that, if heresies and schisms

arose, it was not his fault. He could not afford to offend the all-powerful

Emperor ; the sack of Rome and Charles's intimation conveyed in plain and

set terms that it was the judgment of God had cowed Clement for the

rest of his life, and made him resolve never again to incur the Emperor's

enmity.

From the point of view of justice, the Pope had an excellent case

;

even the Lutherans, who denied his dispensing power, denounced the

divorce. Quod non fieri debt/it, was their just and commonsense point,

factum inlet. But the Pope's case had been hopelessly weakened by the

evil practice of his predecessors and of himself. Alexander YL had divorced

Louis XII. from his Queen for no other reasons than that Louis XII. wanted

to unite Brittany with France by marrying its duchess, and that Alexander,

the Borgia Pope, required Louis' assistance in promoting the interests of

the iniquitous Borgia family. The injustice to Catherine was no greater

than that to Louis' Queen. Henry's sister Margaret, and both the husbands

of his other sister, Mary, had procured divorces from Popes, and why not

Henry himself? Clement was ready enough to grant Margaret's divorce;

he was willing to give a dispensation for a marriage between the Princess

Mary and her half-brother, the Duke of Richmond ; the more insuperable
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the obstacle, the more its removal enhanced his power. It was all very well

to dispense with canons and divine laws, but to annul Papal dispensations

—

was that not to cheapen his own wares? Why, wrote Henry to Clement,

could he not dispense with human laws, if he was able to dispense with

divine? Obviously because divine authority could take care of itself, but

papal prerogatives needed a careful shepherd. Even this principle, such as

it was, was not consistently followed, for he had annulled a dispensation

in Suffolk's case. Clement's real anxiety was to avoid responsibility. At

one time he urged Henry to settle the matter himself, as Suffolk had

done, obtain a sentence from the courts in England, and marry his second

wife. The case could then only come before him as a suit against the

validity of the second marriage, and the accomplished fact was always a

powerful argument. Moreover, all this would take time, and delay was as

dear to Clement as irresponsibility. But Henry was determined to have

such a sentence as would preclude all doubts of the legitimacy of his

children by the second marriage, and was as anxious to shift the respon-

sibility to Clement's shoulders as the Pope was to avoid it. Clement next

urged Catherine to go into a nunnery, for that would only entail injus-

tice on herself, and would involve the Church and its head in no temporal

perils. When Catherine refused, he wished her in the grave, and lamented

that he seemed doomed through her to lose the spiritualties of his Church,

as he had lost its temporalties through her nephew, Charles V.

It was thus with the utmost reluctance that he granted the commission

brought by Knight. It was a draft, drawn up by Wolsey, apparently

declaring the law on the matter and empowering Wolsey, if the facts were

found to be such as were alleged, to pronounce the nullity of Catherine's

marriage. Wolsey desired that it should be granted in the form in which

he had drawn it up. But the Pope's advisers declared that such a com-

mission would disgrace Henry, Wolsey, and Clement himself. The draft

was therefore amended so as to be unobjectionable, or, in other words,

useless for practical purposes; and, with this commission, Knight returned

to England, rejoicing in the confidence of complete success. But, as soon
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as Wolsey had seen it, he pronounced the commission "as good as none at

all." The discovery did not improve his or Henry's opinion of the Pope's

good faith; but, dissembling their resentment, they desj)alched, in February,

1528, Stephen Gardiner and Edward Foxc to obtain fresh and more elfcctivc

powers. Eventually, on June 8, a commission was issued to ^^'olsey and

Campcggio to try the case and pronounce sentence ; even if one was

unwilling, the oilier might act by himself; and all appeals from their juris-

diction were forbidden. The Pope also gave a written promise that he

would not revoke, or do anything to invalidate, the commission, but would

confirm the Cardinals' decision. If, Clement had said in the previous

December, Lautrec, the French commander in Italy, came nearer Rome,

he might excuse himself to the Emperor as having acted under pressure,

lie would send the commission as soon as Lautrec arrived. Lautrec had

now arrived; he had marched down through Italy; he had captured Melfi;

the Spanish commander, Moncada, had been killed; Naples was thought to

be on the eve of surrender. The Spanish dominion in Italy was waning,

the Emperor's thunderbolts were less terrifying, and the justice of the cause

of his aunt less apparent.

On July 25, Campeggio embarked at Cornelo, and proceeded by

slow stages through France towards England. Henry congratulated him-

self that his hopes were on the verge of fulfilment. But, unfortunately

for him, the basis, on which they were built, was as unstable as water.

The decision of his case still depended upon Clement, and Clement

wavered with every fluctuation in the success or the failure of the Spanish

arms in Italy. Campeggio had scarcely set out, when Doria, the famous

Genoese admiral, deserted Francis for Charles; on the I7lli of August, Lautrec

died before Naples; and, on September 10, an English agent sent Wolsey

news of a French disaster, which he thought more serious than the

battle of Pavia or the sack of Rome. On the following day, Sanga, the
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Pope's secretary, wrote to Campeggio that, " as the Emperor is vic-

torious, the Pope must not give him any pretext for a fresh rupture, lest

the Church should be utterly annihilated... Proceed on your journey to

Eno-land, and there do your utmost to restore mutual affection between

the Kin<T and Queen. You are not to pronounce any opinion without a

new and express commission hence." Sanga repeated the injunction a

few days later. " Every day," he wrote, " stronger reasons are dis-

covered ; " to satisfy Henry "involves the certain ruin of the Apostolic

See and the Church, owing to recent events... If so great an injury be

done to the Emperor... the Church cannot escape utter ruin, as it is

entirely in the power of the Emperor's servants. Y^ou will not, there-

fore, be surprised at my repeating that you are not to proceed to

sentence, under any pretext, without express commission; but to protract

the matter as long as possible." Clement himself wrote to Charles that

nothing would be done to Catherine's detriment, that Campeggio had

gone merely to urge Henry to do his duty, and that the whole case

would eventually be referred to Rome. Such were the secret instructions

with which Campeggio arrived in England in October. He readily promised

not to proceed to sentence, but protested against the interpretation which

he put upon the Pope's command, namely, that he was not to begin the

trial. The English, he said, "would think that I had come to hoodwink

them, and might resent it. Y'ou know how much that would involve."

He did not seem to realise that the refusal to pass sentence was equally

hoodwinking the English, and that the trial would only defer the

moment of their penetrating the deception ; a trial was of no use with-

out sentence.

In accordance with his instructions, Campeggio first sought to dissuade

Henry from persisting in his suit for the divorce. Finding the King

immovable, he endeavoured to induce Catherine to go into a nunnery, as

the divorced wife of Louis XII. had done. He represented to her that

she had nothing to lose by such a step ; she could never regain Henry's

affections or obtain restitution of her conjugal rights. Her consent might
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have deferred the separation of the English Church from Rome; it would

certainly have relieved the supreme Pontiff from a humiliating and intol-

erable position. But these considerations of expediency weighed nothing

Avilh Catherine. She was as immovable as Henry, and deaf to all Cam-

peggio's solicitations. Her conscience was, perhaps, of a rigid, Spanish

type, but it was as clear as Henry's and a great deal more comprehen-

sible. She was convinced that her marriage was valid ; to admit a doubt

of it would imply that she had been living in sin and imperil her immortal

soul. Henry did not in the least mind admitting that he had lived for

twenty years with a woman Avho was not his wife; the sin, to his mind,

Avas continuing to live with her, after he had become convinced that she

was really not his wife. Catherine appears, however, to have been willing

to take the monastic vows, if Henry would do the same. Henry was equally

willing, if Clement would immediately dispense with the vows in his case,

but not in Catherine's. There were objections to this course, and doubts

of Clement's power to authorise Henry's re-marriage, even if Catherine did

go into a nunnery.

Meanwhile, Campeggio found help from an unexpected quarter in his

efforts to waste the time. Quite unknown to Henry, Wolsey, or Clement,

there existed in Spain a brief of Julius 11. confirming the original bull

of dispensation which he had granted for the marriage of Henry and

Catherine, and supplying any defects that might be found in it. Indeed,

so conveniently did the brief meet the criticisms urged against the bull,

that Henry and Wolsey at once pronounced it an obvious forgery, con-

cocted after the doubts about the bull had been raised. No copy of

the brief could be found in the English archives, nor could any trace

be discovered of its having been registered at Rome ; while Ghinucci

and Lee, who examined the original in Spain, professed to see in it

such flagrant inaccuracies as to de]:)rive it of all claim to be genuine.

Still, if it were genuine, it shattered the whole of Henry's case. That had

been built up, not on the denial of the Pope's power to dispense, but

on the technical defects of a particular dispensation. Now it appeared
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that the validity of the marriage did not depend upon this dispensation

at all. Nor did it depend upon the brief, for Catherine was prepared

to deny on oath that the marriage with Arthur had been anything more

than a form ; in that case the affinity with Henry had not been con-

tracted, and there was no need of either dispensation or brief. This

assertion seems to have shaken Henry; certainly he began to shift his

position, and, early in 1529, he was wishing for some noted divine, friar or

other, who would maintain that the Pope could not dispense at all.

This was his first doubt as to the plenitude of papal power; his marriage

with Catherine must be invalid, because his conscience told him so; if

it was not invalid through defects in the dispensation, it must be invalid

because the Pope could not dispense. Wolsey met the objection with

a legal point, perfectly good in itself, but trivial. There were two canonical

disabilities which the dispensation must meet for Henry's marriage to be

valid; first, the consummation of Catherine's marriage with Arthur; secondly,

the marriage, even though it was not consummated, Avas yet celebrated

in facie ecclesiae, and generally reputed complete. There was thus an

impedimentuin puhlicae hoiiestalis to the marriage of Henry and Catherine,

and this impediment was not mentioned in, and therefore not removed by,

the dispensation.

But all this legal argument might be invalidated by the brief. It was

useless to proceed with the trial, until the promoters of the suit knew

what the brief contained. According to Mendoza, Catherine's "whole

right" depended upon the brief, a statement indicating a general suspicion

that the bull was really insufficient. So the winter of 1528-29 and the

following spring were spent in efforts to get hold of the original brief,

or to induce Clement to declare it a forgery. The Queen was made to write

to Charles that it was absolutely essential to her case that the brief

should be produced before the legatine Court in England. The Emperor

was not likely to be caught by so transparent an artifice. Moreover, the

emissary, sent with Catherine's letter, wrote, as soon as he got to France,

warning Charles that his aunt's letter was written under compulsion and
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expressed the reverse of her real desires. In the spring of 1529, several

English envoys, ending wilh Gardiner, were sent to Rome to obtain a

papal declaration of the falsity of the brief. Clement, however, naturally

refused to declare the brief a forgery, without hearing the arguments

on the olher side, and more important developments soon supervened.

Gardiner wrote from Rome, early in May, that there was imminent danger

of the Pope revoking the case, and the news determined Henry and

Wolsey to relinquish their suit about the brief, and push on the pro-

ceedings of the legatinc Court, so as to get some decision before the

case was called to Rome. Once the legates had pronounced in favour

of the divorce, Clement was informed, the English cared little what further

fortunes befell it elsewhere.

So, on the 31st of May, 1529, in the great hall of the Black Friars, in

London, the famous Court was formally opened, and the King and Queen

were cited to appear before it on the 18th of June. Henry was then repre-

sented by two proxies, but Catherine came in person to protest against the

competence of the tribunal. Three days later, both the King and the Queen

attended in person to hear the Court's decision on this point. Catherine

threw herself on her knees before Henry ; she begged him to consider

her honour, her daughter's, and his. Twice Henry raised her up ; he

protested that he desired nothing so much as that their marriage should

be found valid, in spite of the ' perpetual scruple " he had felt about

it, and declared that only his love for her had kept him silent so long;

her request for the removal of the cause to Rome was unreasonable,

considering the Emperor's power there. Again protesting against the

jurisdiction of the Court and appealing to Rome, Catherine withdrew.

Touched by her appeal, Henry burst out in her praise. " She is, my

Lords," he said, " as true, as obedient, and as conformable a w^fe, as

1 could, in my phantasy, wish or desire. She hath all the virtuous

qualities that ought to be in a woman of her dignity, or in any other

of baser estate." But these qualities had nothing to do with the piti-

less forms of law. The legates over-ruled her protest, refused her appeal,
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and summoned her back. She took no notice, and was declared con-

tumacious.

The proceedings then went on without her; Fisher, Bishop of Rochester,

made a courageous defence of the validity of the marriage, to which

Henry drew up a hitter reply in the form of a speech addressed

to the legates. The speed with which the procedure was hurried on

was little to Campeggio's taste. He had not prejudged the case ;
he

was still in doubt as to which way the sentence would go ;
and he

entered a dignified protest against the orders he received from Rome to

give sentence, if it came to that point, against Henry. He would pro-

nounce what judgment seemed to him just, but he shrank from the

ordeal, and he did his best to follow out Clement's injunctions to procras-

tinate. In this he succeeded completely. It seemed that judgment could

no longer be deferred ; it was to be delivered on the 23rd of July. On

that day the King himself, and the chief men of his Court, were present;

his proctor demanded sentence. Campeggio stood up, and instead of giving

sentence, adjourned the Court till October. " By the mass !
" burst out

Suffolk, giving the table a great blow with his hand, " now I see that the

old-said saw is true, that there was never a legate nor cardinal that did good

in England." The Court never met again; and except during the transient

reaction, under Mary, it was the last legatine Court ever held in England.

Long before the vacation was ended, news reached Henry that the

case had been called to Rome; the revocation was, indeed, decreed a

week before Campeggio adjourned his Court. Charles's star, once more in

the ascendant, had cast its baleful influence over Henry's fortunes. The

close alliance between England and France had led to a joint declaration of

war on the Emperor in January, 1528, into which the English ambassadors

in Spain had been inveigled by their French colleagues, against Henry's

wishes. It was received with a storm of opposition in England, and Wolsey

had some difficulty in justifying himself to the King. "You may be sure,"

wrote Du Bellay, " that he is playing a terrible game, for I believe he

is the only Englishman who washes a war with Flanders." If that was
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his wish, he was doomed to disappointment. Popular haired of the war

was too strong ; a project was mooted by the clothiers in Kent for

seizing the Cardinal and turning him adrift in a boat, with holes bored

in it. The clothiers in Wiltshire were reported to be rising; in Norfolk

employers dismissed their workmen. War with Flanders meant ruin to

the most prosperous industry in both countries, and the attempt to divert

the Flanders trade to Calais had failed. So Henry and Charles were

soon discussing peace ; no hostilities took place ; an agreement, that

trade should go on as usual with Flanders, was followed by a truce in

June, and the truce by the peace of Cambrai in the following year.

That peace affords the measure of England's decline since 1521. Wolsey

was carefully excluded from all share in the negotiations. England was,

indeed, admitted as a participator, but only after Louise and Margaret

of Savoy had practically settled the terms, and after Du Bellay had told

Francis that, if England were not admitted, it would mean Wolsey's

immediate ruin.

By the treaty of Cambrai Francis abandoned Italy to Charles. His

affairs beyond the Alps had been going from bad to worse since the

death of Lautrec. That was not the only circumstance which made

Clement imperialist. Venice, the ally of England and France, seized

Ravenna and Cervia, two papal towns. "The conduct of the Venetians,"

wrote John Casale from Home, "moves the Pope more than anything else,

and he would use the assistance of anyone, except the Devil, to avenge

their injury." "The King and the Cardinal," repeated Sanga to Cam-

peggio, " must not expect him to execute his intentions, until they have

used their utmost efforts to compel the Venetians to restore the Pope's

territories." Henry did his best, but he was not sincerely helped by

Francis ; his efforts proved vain, and Clement thought he could get more

effective assistance from Charles. "Everyone is persuaded," said one of

the Emperor's agents in Italy on January 10, 1529, " that the Pope is

now sincerely attached to his Imperial Majesty." "I suspect," wrote Du

Bellay from London, in the same month, "that the Pope has commanded
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Campeggio to meddle • no further, seeing things are taking quite a dif-

ferent turn from what he had been assured, and that the Emperor's

affairs in Naples are in such a state that Clement dare not displease him."

The Pope had already informed Charles that his aunt's petition for the

revocation of the suit would be granted. The Italian League was prac-

tically dissolved. "I have quite made up my mind," said Clement to the

Archbishop of Capua on June 7, "to become an Imperialist, and to

live and die as such... I am only waiting for the return of my Nuncio."

That Nuncio had gone to Barcelona to negotiate an alliance between

the Pope and the Emperor; and the success of his mission completed

Clement's conversion. The revocation was only delayed, thought Charles's

representative at Rome, to secure better terms for the Pope. On June 21,

the French commander, St. Pol, was utterly defeated at Landriano ; "not

a vestige of the army is left," reported Casale. A few days later, the

treaty between Clement and Charles was signed. Clement's nephew was

to marry the Emperor's natural daughter; the Medici tyranny was to be

re-established in Florence; Ravenna, Cervia, and other towns were to be

restored to the Pope; His Holiness was to crown Charles with the Impe-

rial crown, and to absolve from ecclesiastical censures all those who Avere

present at, or consented to, the sack of Rome. It was, in effect, a family

compact ; and pari of it was the quashing of the legates' proceedings

against the Emperor's aunt, with whom the Pope Avas now to be allied by

family ties. "We found out secretly," write the English envoys at Rome,

on the 16th of July, "that the Pope signed the revocation yesterday morn-

ing, as it would have been dishonourable to have signed it after the

publication of the new treaty with the Emj^eror, which will be published

here on Sunday." Clement knew that his motives would not bear scrutiny',

and he tried to avoid public odium by a characteristic subterfuge.

Catherine could hope for no justice in England, Henry could expect no

justice at Rome. Political expediency would dictate a verdict in Henry's

favour in England; political expediency would dictate a verdict for Catherine

at Rome. Henry's ambassadors were instructed to appeal from Clement to
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the "true \'icar of Christ," but where was the true Vicar of Christ to be

found on earth? There was no higher tribunal. It was intolerable that

English suits shoulil be decided by the chances and changes of French or

Habsburg inOuence in Italy, by the hopes and the fears of an Italian prince

for the safety of his temporal power. The natural and inevitable result

was the separation of England from Rome.

The loss of their spiritual jurisdiction in England was part of the

price paid by the Popes i'or their temporal [)Ossessions in Italy. The

Papal domains were either too great or too small. If the Pope was to

relv on his temporal power, it should have been extensive enough to

protect him from the dictation and resentment of secular princes ; and

from this point of view there was no little justification for the aims of

Julius II. Had he succeeded in driving the barbarians across the Alps

or into the sea, he and his successors might in safety have judged the

world, and the breach with Henry might never have taken place. If the

Pope was to rely on his spiritual weapons, there was no need of tem-

poral states at all. In their existing extent and position, they were

simply the heel of Achilles, the vulnerable spot, through which secular

foes might wound the Vicar of Christ. France threatened him from the

north and Spain from the south ; he was ever between the upper and the

nether mill-stone. Italy was the cockpit of Europe in the sixteenth century,

and the eyes of the Popes were perpetually bent on the worldly fray,

seeking to save or extend, their dominions. Through the Pope's temporal

power, France and Spain exerted their pressure. He could only defend

himself by playing off one against the other, and in this game his spiritual

powers were his only effective pieces. More and more the spiritual authority,

with which he was intrusted, was made to serve political ends. Temporal

princes Avere branded as "sons of iniquity and children of perdition," not

because their beliefs or their morals were worse than other men's, but
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because they stood in the way of the family ambitions of various popes.

Their frequent use and abuse brought ecclesiastical censures into public con-

tempt, and princes soon ceased to be frightened with false fires. James IV.,

when excommunicated, said he would appeal to Prester John, and that he

would side with any council against the Pope, even if it contained only three

bishops. The Vicar of Christ was lost in the petty Italian prince. Corruptio

uplimi pessima. The lower dragged the higher nature down. If the Papal

Court was distinguished from the Courts of other Italian sovereigns, it was

not by exceptional purity. "In this Court as in others," wrote Silvester de

Giglis from Rome, " nothing can be effected without gifts." The election

of Leo X. was said lo be free from bribery ; a cardinal himself was

amazed, and described the event as Phoenix et rara avis. If poison was

not a frequent weapon at Rome, popes and cardinals at least believed it

to be. Alexander VI. was said to have been poisoned ; one cardinal was

accused of poisoning his fellow-cardinal, Bainbridge ; and others were

charged with an attempt on the life of Leo X. In 1517, Pace described

the state of affairs at Rome as plane monstra, omni dedecore et infamia

plena; oinnis fides, omnis honestas, una cum religione, a mundo abvolasse

videntur. Ten years later, the Emperor himself declared that the sack of

Rome was the just judgment of God, and one of his ambassadors said that

the Pope ought to be deprived of his temporal states, as they had been

at the bottom of all the dissensions. Clement himself claimed to have

been the originator of that war which brought upon him so terrible and

so just a punishment.

Another result of the merging of the Pope in the Italian prince was

the practical exclusion of the English and other northern nations from

the supreme council of Christendom. There was no apparent reason

why an Englishman should not be the head of the Christian Church just

as well as an Italian ; but there was some incongruity in the idea of an

Englishman ruling over Italian States, and no Englishman had attained

the Papacy for nearly four centuries. The double failure of Wolsey made

it clear that the door of the Papacy was sealed to Englishmen, whatever
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their claims might be. The roll of Cardinals tells a similar tale; the Roman

curia graciously conceded that there should generally be one English cardinal

in the sacred college, but one in a body of forty or fifty was thought as much

as England could fairly demand. It is not so very surprising that England

repudiated the authority of a tribunal in which its influence was measured

on such a contemptible scale. The other nations of Europe thought much

the same, and it is only necessary to add up the number of cardinals belong-

ing to each nationality, to arrive at a fairly accurate indication of the peoples

who rejected Papal pretensions. The nations most inadequately repre-

sented in the college of cardinals broke away from Rome ; those which

remained faithful were the nations which controlled in the present, or

might hope to control in the future, the supreme ecclesiastical power.

Spain and France had little temptation to abolish an authority which they

themselves wielded in turn ; for if the Pope was a Spaniard to-day, he

might well be a Frenchman to-morrow. There was no absurdity in

Frenchmen or Spaniards ruling over the Papal States ; for France and

Spain already held under their sway more Italian territory than Italian

natives themselves. It was the subjection of the Pope to French and

Spanish domination that prejudiced his claims in English eyes. His

authority was tolerable so long as the old ideal of the unity of Chris-

tendom under a single monarch retained its force, or even so long as

the Pope was Italian pure and simple. But when Italy was either Spanish

or French, and the Pope the chaplain of one or the other monarch, the

growing spirit of nationality could bear it no longer; it responded at once

to Henry's appeals against the claims of a foreign jurisdiction.

It was a mere accident that the breach with Rome grew out of Spanish

control of the Pope. The separation was nearly effected more than a

century earlier, as a result of the Pope's Babylonish captivity in France

;

and the wonder is, not that the breach took place when it did, but that

it was deferred for so long. At the beginning of the fifteenth century

all the elements were present but one for the ecclesiastical revolution

which was reserved for Henry VIII. to effect. The Papacy had been
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discredited in English eyes by subservience to France, just as it had

in 1529, by subservience to Charles. Lollardy was more powerful in

England in the reign oF Henry IV., than heresy was in the middle

of that of Henry VIII. There was as strong a demand for the

secularization of Church property on the part of the lay peers and

gentry; and Wycliffe himself had anticipated the cardinal point of the

later movement by appealing to the State to reform the Church. But great

revolutions depend on a number of causes working together, and often

fail for the lack of one. The element lacking in the reign of Henry IV.

was the king himself. The Lancastrians were orthodox from conviction

and from the necessities of their position; they needed the support of the

Church to bolster up a weak title to the crown. The civil wars fol-

lowed ; and Henry VII. was too much absorbed in securing his throne

to pursue any quarrels with Rome. But when his son began to rule as

well as to reign, it was inevitable that not merely questions of Church

property and of the relations with the Papacy should come up for revision,

but also those issues between Church and State, which had remained in

abeyance during the fifteenth century. The divorce was the spark which

ignited the flame, but the combustible materials had been long existent. If

the divorce had been all, there would have been no Reformation in England.

After the death of Anne Boleyn, Henry might have done some trifling-

penance at his subjects' expense, made the Pope a present, or waged

war on one of Clement's orthodox foes, and that would have been the end.

Much had happened since the days of Hildebrand, and Popes Avere no

longer able to exact heroic repentance. The divorce, in fact, was the

occasion, and not the cause, of the Reformation.

That movement, so far as Henry VIII. was concerned, was not in

essence doctrinal; neither was it primarily a schism between the English

and Roman communions. It was rather an episode in the eternal dis-
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pule between Church and Slate. Throughout the quarrel, Henry and

Elizabeth maintained that they were merely re-asserting their ancient

royal prerogative over tlie Church, whicli the Pope of Rome had usurped.

English revolutions have always been based on specious conservative

pleas, and the only method of inducing Englishmen to change has been

by persuasions that the change is not a change at all, or is a change to

an older and better order. The Parliaments of the seventeenth century

regarded the Stuart pretensions, as Henry and Elizabeth did those of the

Pope, in the light of usurpations upon their own imprescriptible rights;

and more recently, movements to make the Church Catholic have been

based on the ground that it has never been anything else. The Tudor

contention that the State was always supreme over the Church, has been

transformed into a theory that the Church was always at least semi-inde-

pendent of Rome. But it is not so clear that the Church has always

been anti-papal, as that the English laity have always been anti-clerical.

The English people were certainly very anti-sacerdotal from the very

beginning of Henry Vlll.'s reign. In 1512, James IV. complained to

Henry that Englishmen seized Scots merchants, ill-treated them, and abused

them as "the Pope's men." At the end of the same year, Parlia-

ment deprived of their benefit of clergy all clerks under the rank of

sub-deacon, who committed murder or felony. This measure at once pro-

voked a cry of " the Church in danger." The abbot of Winchcombe

preached that the act was contrary to the law of God and to the liberties

of the Church, and that the lords, who consented thereto, had incurred

a liability to spiritual censures. Standish, warden of the Mendicant

Friars of London, defended the action of Parliament, while the temporal

peers requested the bishops to make the abbot of Winchcombe recant.

They refused, and, at the Convocation of 1515, Standish was summoned

before it to explain his conduct. He appealed to the King ; the judges

pronounced that all who had taken part in the proceedings against

Standish, had incurred the penalties of praemunire. They also declared

that the King could hold a Parliament without the spiritual lords, who
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only sat in virtue of their temporalties. This opinion seems to have

nothing to do with the dispute, but it is remarkable that, in one list of the

peers attending the Parliament of 1515, there is not a single abbot, ^^'ith

regard to the abbot of Winchcombe and Friar Standish, the prelates

claimed the same liberty of speech for Convocation, as was enjoyed by

Parliament; so that they could, without offence, have maintained certain

acts of Parliament to be against the laws of the Church. Wolsey inter-

ceded on thejr behalf, and begged that the matter might be left to the

Pope's decision, while Henry contented himself with a declaration that he

would maintain intact his royal jurisdiction. This was not all that passed

durino- that session of Parliament and Convocation. At the end of his

summary of the proceedings, Dr. John Taylor, who was both clerk of

Parliament and prolocutor of Convocation, remarks : "In this Parliament

and Convocation the most dangerous quarrels broke out between the

clergy and the secular power, respecting the Church's liberties ;

" and

there exists a remarkable petition presented to this Parliament against

clerical exactions ; it complained that the clergy refused burial until after

the gift of the deceased's best jewel, best garment or the like, and

demanded that every curate should administer the sacrament when required

to do so. It was no wonder that Wolsey advised " the more speedy

dissolution," of this Parliament, and that, except in 1523, when financial

straits compelled him, he did not call another while he remained in power.

His fall was the sign for the revival of Parliament, and it immediately took

up the work where it was left in 1515.

These significant proceedings did not stand alone. In 1515, the Bishop

of London's chancellor was indicted for the murder of a citizen, who had

been found dead in the bishop's prison. The bishop interceded with

Wolsey to prevent the trial ; any London jury would, he said, convict

any clerk, " be he innocent as Abel; they be so maliciously set in

favorem haereticae pravitatis." The heresy was no matter of belief, but

hatred of clerical immunities. In this matter Henry and his lay subjects

were at one. Standish, whom Taylor describes as the promoter and instig-
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ator of all these evils, was a favourite preacher at Henry's Court. The

King, said Pace, had "often praised his doctrine." What was his doctrine?

It was no advocacy of Henry's loved " new learning," for Standish denounced

the Greek Testament of Erasmus, and is held up to ridicule by the great

Dutch humanist ; Standish, too, was afterwards a stout defender of the

Pope's dispensing power, and followed Fisher in his protest against the

divorce before the legatine Court. The doctrine, which pleased the King

so much, was Standish's denial of clerical immunity from State control, and

his assertion of royal prerogatives over the Church. In l.)18, the bishopric

of St. Asaph's fell vacant. Wolsey, who was then at the height of his

power, recommended Bolton, prior of St. Bartholomew's, a learned man
;

but Henry was resolved to reward his favourite divine, and Standish

obtained the see. Pace, a good churchman, expressed himself to Wolsey

as "mortified " at the result, but said it was inevitable, as besides the

King's good graces, Standish enjoyed " the favour of all the courtiers

for the singular assistance he has rendered towards subverting the Church

of England." Eleven more years were to roll before the Church was

subverted. They were years of Wolsey's supremacy ;
it was he, and he

alone, who stood between the Church and destruction. It was owing,

wrote Campeggio, in 1528, to Wolsey's vigilance and solicitude that the

Holy See retained its rank and dignity. His ruin would drag down the

Church, and the fact was known to Anne Boleyn and her faction, to

Campeggio and Clement VII., as well as to Henry VIII. "These Lords

intend," wrote Du Bellay, on the eve of Wolsey's fall, "after he is dead

or ruined, to impeach the state of the Church, and take all its goods;

which it is hardly needful for me to write in cipher, for they proclaim

it openly. I expect they will do fine miracles." A few days later he

says, " I expect the priests will never have the great seal again ; and

that in this Parliament they will have terrible alarms. I think Dr. Stephen

(Gardiner) will have a good deal to do with the management of affairs,

especially if he will abandon his order. "" In his last interview with Henry,

Campeggio " alluded to this Parliament, which is about to be holden,
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and I earnestly pressed upon him the liberty of the Church. He certainly

seemed to me A'ery well disposed to exert his power to the utmost."

"Down with the Church" was going to be the Parliament cry. Whether

Henry would really " exert his power" to maintain her liberties, remained

to be seen, but there never was a flimsier theory than that the divorce

of Catherine was the sole cause of the break with Rome. The centri-

fugal forces were quite independent of the divorce ; its historical import-

ance lies in the fact that it alienated from Rome the only power in

England that might have kept them in check. So long as Wolsey and

the clerical statesmen, with whom he surrounded the King, remained

supreme, the Church was comparatively safe. But Wolsey depended

entirely on Henry's support ; when that was withdrawn, Church and Car-

dinal fell tocether.

Wolsey's ruin was, however, due to more causes than his failure to

get a divorce for the King. It was at bottom the result of the natural

development of Henry's character. Egotism was from the first his most

prominent trait ; it was inevitably fostered by the extravagant adulation paid

to Tudor sovereigns, and was further encouraged by his realization, first

of his own mental powers, and then of the extent to which he could

force his will upon others. He could never brook a rival in whatever

sphere he wished to excel. In the days of his youth, he was absorbed

in physical sports, in gorgeous pageantry and ceremonial ; he was content

with such exhibitions, as prancing before the ladies between every course

in a tourney, or acting as pilot on board ship, blowing a whistle as loud

as a trumpet, and arrayed in trousers of cloth of gold. Gradually, as

time wore on, the athletic mania wore off, and pursuits, such as archi-

tecture, took the place of physical sports. A generation later, a writer

describes Henry as "the only Phoenix of his time for fine and curious

masonry." From his own original designs York House was transformed
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into Whitehall Palace, Nonsuch Palace was built, and extensive alterations

were made at Greenwich and Hampton Court. But architecture was only

a trifle; Henry's uncontrollable activity also broke out in political spheres,

and the eruption was fatal to Wolsey's predominance. He was still, however,

in the full vigour of manhood ; he had not yet reached his fortieth year, and

his physical graces were the marvel of those who saw him for the first time.

Falier, the new Venetian ambassador, who arrived in England in 1529, is as

rapturous over the King's personal attractions, as Giustinian or Pasquali«'0

had been. ''In this Eighth Henry," he writes, "God has combined such

corporeal and intellectual beauty as not merely to surprise but astound all

men... His face is angelic (nine years before a Frenchman had called it

"feminine"), rather than handsome; his head imperial and bold; and he wears

a beard, contrary to the English custom. Who would not be amazed, when

contemplating such singular beauty of person, coupled with such bold

address, adapting itself with the greatest ease to every manly exercise?"

But Henry's physique was no longer proof against every ailment; frequent

mention is made about this time of headaches which incapacitated him

from business, and it was not long before there appeared on his leg the

fistula which racked him with pain till the end of his life, and eventually

caused his death. But the divorce and the insuperable obstacles, which he

discovered in attaining the end he thought easy at first, did more to harden

Henry's temper than any bodily ills. He became a really serious man,

and developed that extraordinary power of self-control which stood him

in good stead in his later years. Naturally a man of violent passions, he

could never have steered clear of the dangers that beset him, without

unusual capacity for curbing his temper, concealing his intentions, and

keeping his own counsel. Ministers might flatter themselves that they

could read his mind and calculate his actions, but it is quite certain that

henceforth no minister read so clearly his master's mind, as the master

did his minister's. " Three may keep counsel," said the King in 1530,

" if two be away ; and if I thought that my cap knew my counsel, 1

would cast it into the fire and burn il." " Never," comments a modern
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writer, "had the King spoken a truer word, or described himself more

accurately. Few would have thought that, under so careless and splendid

an exterior— the very ideal of bluff, open-hearted good-humour and frank-

ness,— there lay a watchful and secret eye, that marked what was going

on, without appearing to mark it; kept its own counsel until it was time to

strike, and then struck, as suddenly and remorselessly as a beast of prey.

It was strange to witness so much subtlety, combined with so much

strength."

But, in spite of his remorseless blows and arbitrary temper, Henry

was too shrewd and too great a man to despise the counsel of others,

or think any worse of an adviser because his advice differed from his

own. He loved to meet argument with argument, even when he might

command. To the end of his days, he valued a councillor who would

honestly maintain the opposite of what the King desired. These councillors

to whom he gave his confidence were never minions or servile flatterers.

Henry had his Court favourites with whom he hunted and shot and diced;

with whom he played— always for money— tennis, primero, and bowls,

and the more mysterious games of Pope July, Imperial, and Shovelboard

;

and to whom he threw many an acre of choice monastic land. But they

never influenced his policy. No man was ever advanced to political power

in Henry's reign, merely because he pandered to the King's vanity or to

his vices. No one was a better judge of conduct in the case of others, or

a sterner champion of moral probity, when it did not conflict with his

own desires or conscience. In 1528, Anne Boleyn and her friends were

anxious to make a relative abbess of Wilton. But she had been noto-

riously unchaste. "Wherefore," wrote Henry to Anne herself, "I would

not, for all the gold in the world, cloak your conscience nor mine to

make her ruler of a house which is of so ungodly demeanour ; nor I

trust you would not that neither for brother nor sister 1 should so dis-

tain mine honour or conscience." He objected, on similar grounds, to

the prioress whom Wolsey wished to nominate ; the Cardinal neglected

Henrys wishes, and thereby called down upon himself a rebuke remark-
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able for dignity and delicacy. "The great affection and love I bear you,"

wrote the King, " causeth me, using the doctrine of my Master, sayino-

Qucin diligo, castigo, thus plainly, as ensueth, to break to you my mind...

Methink it is not the right train of a trusty loving friend and servant,

when the matter is put by the master's consent into his arbitre and

judgment (specially in a matter wherein his master hath both royalty

and interest), to elect and choose a person which was by him defended

(forbidden). And yet another thing, which much displeaseth me more,—
that is, to cloak your offence made by ignorance of my pleasure, saying

that you expressly knew not my determinate mind in that behalf." Then,

after showing how empty were Wolsey's excuses, he continues :
" Ah !

my Lord, it is a double offence, both to do ill and colour it too ; but

with men that have wit it cannot be accepted so. Wherefore, good my
Lord, use no more that way with me, for there is no man living that

more hateth it." He then proceeds to warn the Cardinal against sinister

reports with regard to his methods of raising money for his college at

Oxford. "They say the college is a cloak for all mischief. I perceive

by your letter that you have received money of the exempts for having

their old visitors. If your legacy (legatine authority) is a cloak apud

homines, it is not apud Deiini. I doubt not, therefore, you will desist."

Wolsey had used his legatine authority to extort money from monasteries

as the price of their immunity from his visitatorial powers. The monas-

teries, too, had strenuously opposed the late Amicable Grant to the

King; by Wolsey's means they had been released from that obligation; and

Henry strongly suspected that they had purchased their exemption from

relieving his necessities by lavish contributions to the Cardinal's colleges.

" I pray you, my Lord," he concludes, "think not that it is upon any

displeasure that I write this unto you. For surely it is for my discharge

afore God, being in the room that I am in ; and secondly for the great

zeal I bear unto you." Henry possessed in the highest degree not a

few of the best of kingly attributes. His words are not the words of a

hypocrite without conscience, devoid of the fear of God and man. For
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all the stranoe and violent thino-s that he did, he obtained the sanction

of his conscience, but his imperious egotism made conscience his humble

slave, and blinded to his own sins a judgment, so keen to detect and

chastise the failings of others.

These incidents, of more than a year before the Cardinal's fall, illustrate

the change in the respective positions of monarch and minister. There

was no doubt now which was the master; there was no king but one. Henry

was already taking, as Du Bellay said, " the management of everything."

Wolsey himself knew that he had lost the King's confidence. He began to

talk of retirement. He told Du Bellay, in or before August, 1528, that when

he had established a firm amity between France and England, extinguished

the hatred betw-een the two nations, reformed the laws and customs of

England, and settled the succession, he would retire and serve God to the

end of his days. The Frenchman thought this was merely to represent as

voluntary a loss of power, which he saw would soon be inevitable ; but

the conversation is a striking illustration of the difference between Henry

and Wolsey, and helps to explain why Wolsey accomplished so little that

lasted, while Henry accomplished so much. The Cardinal seems to have

been entirely devoid of that keen perception of the distinction between

what was, and what was not, practicable, which was Henry's saving cha-

racteristic. In the evening of his days, after sixteen years of almost

unlimited power, he was speaking of plans, which might have taxed

the energies of a life-time, as preliminaries to a speedy withdrawal from

the cares of State. He had enjoyed an unequalled opportunity of effect-

ing these reforms, but what were the results of his administration? The

real greatness and splendour of Henry's reign are said to have departed

with Wolsey's fall. The gilt and the tinsel were indeed stripped off,

but the permanent results of Henry's reign were due to its later course.

Had he died when Wolsey fell, what would have been his place in

history ? A brilliant figure, no doubt, who might have been thought

capable of much, had he not failed to achieve anything. He had made

wars from which England derived no visible profit ; not an acre of
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territory had been acquired; the wealth, amassed by Henry VII., had

been squandered, and Henry VI 11., in 1529, was reduced to searching

for gold mines in England. The loss of his subjects' blood and treasure

had been followed by a loss of their affections. The exuberant loyalty

of 1509 had been turned into the wintry discontent of 1527. England

had been raised to a high place in the councils of Europe by 1521, i)ut

her fall was quite as rapid, and in 1525 she counted for less than she had

done in 1513. At home the results were equally barren; the English hold

on Ireland was said, in 1529, to be weaker than it had been since the

conquest ; and the English statute-book between 1509 and 1529 may be

searched in vain for an act of importance, while the statute-book between

1529 and 1547 contains a list of acts which have never been equalled for

their supreme importance in the subsequent history of England.

Wolsey's policy was, indeed, an anachronism; with a pre-eminent genius

for diplomacy, he thought he could make England, by diplomacy alone,

arbiter of Europe. Its position in 1521 was artificial; it had not the means

to support a grandeur which was only built on the wealth left by Henry VII.

and on Wolsey's skill. England owed her advance in repute to the fact

that Wolsey made her the paymaster of Europe. " The reputation of

England for wealth," said an English diplomatist in 1522, "is a great

cause of the esteem in which it is held. ' But, by 1523, that wealth had

failed; Parliament refused to levy more taxes, and Wolsey's pretensions

collapsed like a pack of cards. He played no part in the peace of Cambrai,

which settled for the time the conditions of Europe. When rumours of

the clandestine negotiations between France and Spain reached England,

Wolsey staked his head to the King that they were pure invention. He

could not believe that peace was possible, unless it were made by him.

But the rumours were true, and Henry exacted the penalty. The positive

results of the Cardinal's policy were nil ; the chief negative result was

that he had staved off for many years the ruin of the Church, but he only

did it by plunging England in the maelstrom of foreign intrigue and of

futile wars.
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The end was not long delayed. " I see clearly," writes Du Bellay on

October 4, 1529, " that by this Parliament Wolsey will completely lose

his influence." Henry anticipated the temper of Parliament. A bill of

indictment was preferred against him in the Court of King's Bench, and

on the 22nd of October he acknowledged his liability to the penalties of

praemunire . The Great Seal was taken from him by the Dukes of Norfolk

and Suffolk. In November, the House of Lords passed a bill of attainder

against him, but the Commons were persuaded by Cromwell, acting with

Henry's connivance, to throw it out. " The King," wrote Chapuys, "is

thought to bear the Cardinal no ill-will." Wolsey was allowed to retain

the archbishopric of York, a sum in money and goods equivalent to at

least £70,000, and a pension of 1,000 marks from the see of Winchester.

In the following spring he set out to spend his last days in his northern

see ; six months he devoted to his archiepiscopal duties, confirming thou-

sands of children, arranging disputes among neighbours, and winning

such hold on the hearts of the people, as he had never known in the

days of his pride. Crowds in London had flocked to gloat over the

sight of the broken man; now crowds in Yorkshire came to implore his

blessing. He prepared for his installation at York, on November 7, 1530;

on the 4th, he was arrested for treason. His Italian physician, Agostini,

had betrayed him ; he was accused of having asked Francis I. to inter-

cede with Henry on his behalf, which was true ; and he seems also to

have sought the mediation of Charles V. But Agostini further declared

that Wolsey had written to Clement, urging him to excommunicate Henry

and raise an insurrection, by which the Cardinal might recover his power.

This was sheer invention. By Pontefract, Doncaster, Nottingham, with

feeble steps and slow, the once-proud prelate, broken in spirit and shattered

in health, returned to meet his doom. His goal was to be the cell in the

Tower, that had served for the Duke of Buckingham. But a kindlier fate

than a traitor's death was in store. " I am come," he said to the

monks of Leicester Abbey, " I am come to leave my bones among you."

He died there at eight o'clock on St. Andrew's morning, and there, on
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the following day, he was simply and quietly buried. " If," he exclaimed

in his last hour, " I had served God as diligently as I have done the

Ring, He would not have given me over in my grey hairs." That cry,

wrung from Wolsey, echoed throughout the Tudor times. Men paid le

nouveau Messie a devotion they owed to the old ; they rendered unto

Cnssar the things that were God's. They reaped their reward in riches and

pomp and power, hut they won no peace of mind. The favour of princes

is fickle, and "the wrath of the King is death." So thought Wolsey and

Warham and Norfolk. "Is that all?" said More, with prophetic soul,

to Norfolk, "then in good faith between your grace and me is but this,

that I shall die to-day and you shall die to-morrow."





CHAPTER FIVE.

SUPREME HE.VD OF THE CHURCH.

N the closing days of July, 1529, a courier came posting

from Rome with despatches, announcing the alliance

of Clement and Charles, and the revocation to the

Papal court of the suit between Henry VIII. and the

Emperor's aunt. Henry replied with no idle threats

or empty reproaches, but his retort was none the

less effective. On the 9lh of August, writs were

issued from Chancery summoning that Parliament which met on the 3rd of

November and did not separate till the last link in the chain which bound

England to Rome was sundered, and the country was fairly launched on that

sixty years' struggle which the defeat of the Spanish Armada concluded.

The step might well seem a desperate hazard. The last Parliament had

broken up in discontent; it had been followed by open revolt in various

shires; while from others there had since then come demands for the repay-

ment of the loan, which Henry was in no position to grant. Francis and

Charles, on whose mutual enmity England's safety largely depended, had

made their peace at Cambrai ; and the Emperor was free to foment disaf-
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fection in Ireland and to instigate Scotland to war. His chancellor was

boasting that the imperialists coidd, if they would, drive Henry from his

kingdom within three months, and he based his hopes on revolt among

Henry's own subjects. The Divorce had been from the beginning, and

remained to the end, a stumbling-block to the people. Catherine received

ovations wherever she went, while the utmost efforts of the King could

scarcely protect Anne Boleyn from popular insult. The people were moved,

not only by a creditable feeling that Henry's first wife was an injured

woman, but by the fear lest a breach with Charles should destroy their

trade in wool, on which, said the imperial ambassador, half the realm

depended for sustenance.

To summon a Parliament at such a conjuncture seemed to be courting

certain ruin. In reality, it was the first and most striking instance of the

audacity and insight which were to enable Henry to guide the whirlwind

and direct the storm of the last eighteen years of his reign. Clement

had put in his hands the weapon with which he secured his divorce and

broke the bonds of Rome. " If," wrote Wolsey a day or two before the

news of the revocation arrived, " the King be cited to appear at Rome

in person or by proxy, and his prerogative be interfered with, none of

his subjects will tolerate it. If he appears in Italy, it will be at the head

of a formidable army." A sympathiser with Catherine expressed his resent-

ment at his King being summoned to plead as a party in his own realm

before the legatine court ; and it has even been suggested that those

proceedings were designed to irritate popular feeling against the Roman

jurisdiction. Far more offensive was it to national prejudice, that England's

king should be cited to appear before a court in a distant land, dominated

by the arms of a foreign prince. Nothing did more to alienate men's

minds from the Papacy. Henry would never have been able to obtain

his divorce on its merits, as they appeared to his people. But now the

divorce became closely interwoven with another and a wider question,

the Papal jurisdiction in England ; and on that question Henry carried

Avith him the good wishes of the vast bulk of the laily. By summoning
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Parliament, he opened the floodgates oC anti- papal and anti-sacerdotal

feelings which \\'olsey had long kept sliiit; and the unpopular divorce

became merely a cross-currctit in the main stream which flowed in Henry's

favour.

It was thus with some confidence that Henry appealed from the Pope

to his people. He could do so all the more surely, if, as is alleged,

there was no freedom of election, and if the House of Commons was packed

with royal nominees. But these assertions may be dismissed as gross

exaggerations. The election of county members was marked by unmis-

takeable signs of genuine popular liberty. There was often a riot, and

sometimes a secret canvass among freeholders to promote or defeat a par-

ticular candidate. In 1547, the Council ventured to recommend a minister to

the freeholders of Kent. The electors objected ; the Council reprimanded

the sheriff for representing its recommendation as a command; it protested

that it never dreamt of depriving the shire of its "liberty of election,"

but "would lake it thankfully," if the electors would give their voices to

the ministerial candidate. The electors were not to be soothed by soft

words, and that government candidate had to find another seat. In the

boroughs there was every variety of franchise. In some it was almost

democratic ; in others elections were in the hands of one or two voters.

The general tendency for more than a century had been towards close

corporations, and consequently towards restricting the basis of popular

representation. The narrower that basis became, the greater the facilities

it afforded for external influence. In many boroughs elections were largely

determined by recommendations from neighbouring magnates, territorial or

official. At Gatton the lords of the manor nominated the members for

Parliament, "because there were no burgesses there; ' and the Bishop of

Winchester was wont to select representatives lor more than one borough

within the bounds of his diocese.

But these nominations were not royal, and there is no reason to suppose

that the nominees were any more likely to be subservient to the crown

than freely-elected members. Their views depended on those of their
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patrons, who might be opposed to the Court; and, in 1539, Cromwell's

agents were considering the advisability of setting up crown candidates

against those of Gardiner, Bishop of Winchester. The curious letter to

Cromwell in 1529, upon which is based the theory that the House of Com-

mons consisted of royal nominees, is singularly inconclusive. Cromwell

sought Henry's permission to serve in Parliament for two reasons ; firstly,

he was still a servant of the obnoxious and fallen Cardinal ; secondly, he

was seeking to transfer himself to Henry's service, and thought he might

be useful to the King in the House of Commons. If Henry accepted

his offer, Cromwell was to be nominated for Oxford ; if he were not elected

there, he was to be put up for one of the boroughs in the diocese of

Winchester, then vacant through Wolsey's resignation. Even with the King's

assent, his election at Oxford was not regarded as certain ; and, as a matter

of fact, Cromwell sat neither for Oxford, nor for any constituency in the

diocese of Winchester, but for the borough of Taunton. Crown influence

could only make itself effectively felt in the limited number of royal

boroughs ; and the attempts to increase that influence by the creation of

constituencies susceptible to royal influence were all subsequent in date

to 1529. The returns of members of Parliament are not extant from 1477

to 1529, but a comparison of the respective number of constituencies in

those two years reveals only six in 1529 which had not sent members to

a previous Parliament ; and almost if not all of these six owed their repre-

sentation to their increasing population and importance, and not to any

desire to pack the House of Commons. Indeed, as a method of enforcing

the royal will upon Parliament, the creation of half a dozen boroughs

was both futile and unnecessary. So small a number of votes was useless,

except in the case of a close division of well-drilled parties, of which there

is no trace in the Parliaments of Henry Vlll. The House of Commons

acted as a whole, and not in two sections. The "sense of the House"

was more apparent in its decisions then than it is to-day. Actual divisions

were rare; either a proposal commended itself to the House, or it did not;

and in both cases the question was usually determined without a vote.
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The creation of boroughs was also unnecessary. Parliaments packed

themselves quite well enough to suit Henry's purpose, without any inter-

ference on his pari. The limiting of the county franchise to forty-shillinf

(/. e. thirty pounds in modern currency) freeholders, and the dying away

of democratic feeling in the towns, left parliamentary representation mainly

in the hands of the landed gentry and of the prosperous commercial

classes ; and from them the Tudors derived their most effective support.

There was discontent in abundance during Tudor times, but it was social

and economic, and not at all political. It was directed against the inclosers

of common lands ; against the agricultural capitalists, who bought up farms,

evicted the tenants, and converted their holdings to pasture ; against the

large traders in towns who monopolised commerce at the expense of their

poorer competitors. It was concerned, not with the one tyrant on the throne,

but with the thousand petty tyrants of the villages and towns, against whom

the poorer commons looked to their Ring for protection. Of this discontent

Parliament could not be the focus, for members of Parliament were them-

selves the offenders. "It is hard," wrote a contemporary radical, "to have

these ills redressed by Parliament, because it pricketh them chiefly which be

chosen to be burgesses. . . . ^^'ould to God they would leave their old

accustomed choosing of burgesses! For whom do they choose but such as be

rich or bear some office in the country, many times such as be boasters and

braggers ? Such have they ever hitherto chosen ; be he never so very a fool,

drunkard, extortioner, adulterer, never so covetous and crafty a person, yet,

if he be rich, bear any office, if he be a jolly cracker and bragger in the

country, he must be a burgess of Parliament. Alas, how can any such study,

or give any godly counsel for the commonwealth?" This passage gives no

support to the theory that members of Parliament were nothing but royal

nominees. If the constituencies themselves were bent on electing "such

as bare office in the country, ' there was no call for the Ring's interven-

tion ; and the rich merchants and others, of whom complaint is made, were

almost as much to the royal taste as were the officials themselves.

For the time being, in fact, the interests of the Ring and of the lay
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middle classes coincided, both in secular and ecclesiastical affairs. Com-

mercial classes are generally averse from war, at least from war waged

within their own borders, from which they can extract no profit. They had

every inducement to support Henry's government against the only alter-

native, anarchy. In ecclesiastical politics they, as well as the King, had

their grievances against the Church. Both thought the clergy loo rich,

and that ecclesiastical revenues could be put to better uses in secular

hands. Communitv of interests produced harmony of action ; and a century

and a half was to pass before Parliament again met so often, or sat so

long, as it did during the latter half of Henry's reign. In his early years

Parliament had been opened with addresses from the Lord Chancellor on

the necessity of frequent Parliaments. Then the ecclesiastical despotism

of ^^'olsev supervened : but. from ^^'olsey's fall till Henry's death, there

was seldom a j-ear without a Parliamentary session. Tyrants have often

gone about to break Parliaments, and in the end Parliaments have generally

broken them. Henry was not of the number ; he never went about to

bi'eak Parliament. He found it far too useful, and he used it. He would

have been as reluctant to break Parliament as Ulysses the bow which he

alone could bend.

No monarch was ever a more zealous champion of Parliamentary pri-

vileges, nor a more scrupulous observer of Parliamentary forms. " \\'e,"

he declared to the Commons in 1543. ''at no time stand so highly in our

estate royal as in the time of Parliament, wherein we as head and you as

members arc conjoined and knit together in one body politic, so as what-

soever offence or injury during that time is offered to the meanest member

of the House, is to be judged as done against our person and the whole court

of Parliament." He was careful to observe himself the deference to Par-

liamentary privilege which he exacted from others. In i.")!,'), Convocation

had enviously petitioned for the same liberty of speech as was enjoyed in

Parliament, where members might even attack the law of the land and not

be called in question therefor. Wolsey had raised a storm in 1523 by trying

to browbeat the House of Commons. Henry never erred in that respect. In
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1.V52, a member moved tlial Henry should lake back Catherine to wife.

Nothing conld have touched the King on a tenderer spot. Charles I., for a

less oITence, would have gone to the House to arrest the offender. All

Henry did was to argue the point of his marriage with the Speaker and a

deputation from the Commons; no proceedings whatever were taken against

the member himself. There is, in fact, nothing to show that Henry VIII.

intimidated his Commons at any time, or that he packed the Parliament

of 1529. Interference in elections was a later expedient devised by Thomas

Cromwell. The method was apparently tried iliiring the bye-elections of

l.)31, but it was not till 1539 that it was fully developed. Cromwell then

endeavoured to secure a majority in favour of himself and his own parti-

cular policy against the reactionary party in the council. His schemes had

created a division among the laity, and rendered necessary recourse to

political methods of which there was no need, so long as the laity remained

united against the Church. Nor is it without significance that its adoption

was shortly followed by Cromwell's fall. Henry did not approve of ministers

who sought to make a party for themselves.

But, while Parliament was neither packed nor leirorised to any great

extent, the harmony, which prevailed between it and the King, has naturally

led to the charge of servility. Insomuch as it was servile at all, Parlia-

ment faithfully represented its constituents ; but the mere coincidence

between the wishes of Henry and those of Parliament is no proof of servilitv.

That accusation can only be substantiated by showing that Parliament did,

not what it wanted, but what it did not want, out of deference to Henry.

And that has never been proved. It has never been shown that the nation

resented the statutes giving Henry's proclamations the force of laws,

enabling him to settle the succession by will, or any of the other acts

usually adduced to prove the subservience of Parliament. When Henry

was dead. Protector Somerset secured the repeal of most of these laws,

but he lost his head for his pains. There is, indeed, no escape from the

conclusion that the English people then wanted a dictatorship, and that

Parliament was acting deliberately and voluntarily Avhen it made Henry
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dictator. It made him dictator because it felt that he would do what it

wanted, and better with, than without, extraordinary powers. The fact

that Parliament rejected some of Henry's measures is strong presumption

that it could have rejected more, had it been so minded. No projects were

more dear to Henry's heart than the statutes of \\'ills and of Uses, yet both

were rejected twice in the Parliament of 1529-36.

The general harmony between Ring and Parliament was based on a

fundamental similarity of interests; the harmony in detail was worked out,

not by the forcible exertion of Henry's will, but by his careful and skilful

manipulation of both Houses. No one was ever a greater adept in the

management of the House of Commons, which is easy to humour but hard to

drive. Parliaments are jealous bodies, but they are generally pleased with

attentions; and Henry VIII. was very assiduous in the attentions he paid to

his lay Lords and Commons. From 1529, he suffered no intermediary to come

between Parliament and himself. Cromwell was more and more employed

by the King, but only in subordinate matters, and when important questions

w^ere at issue, Henry managed the business himself. He constantly visited both

Houses and remained within their precincts for hours at a time, Avalching every

move in the game, and taking note of every symptom of parliamentary

feeling. He sent no royal commands to his faithful commons; in this respect

he was less arbitrary than his daughter, Queen Elizabeth. He submitted

points for their consideration, argued with them, and frankly gave his rea-

sons. It was always done, of course, with a magnificent air of royal

condescension, but Avith such grace as to carry the conviction that he was

I'eally pleased to condescend and to take counsel with his subjects, and that

he did so because he trusted his Parliament, and expected his Parliament

to place an equal confidence in him. Henry VIll acted more as the leader of

both Houses than as a King; and, like modern Parliamentary leaders, he

demanded the bulk of their time for measures which he himself proposed.

The fact that the legislation of Henry's reign was initiated almost

entirely by government, is not, however, a conclusive proof of the servility

of Parliament. For, though it may have been the theory that Parliament
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existed to pass laws oF its own conception, such has never been the practice,

except when there has been chronic opposition between the executive and

the iegishiture. Parliament has generally been the instrument of govern-

ment, a condition essential to strong and successful administration; and

it is still summoned mainly to discuss such measures as the executive

thinks fit to lay before it. Certainly the proportion of government bills to

other measures passed in Henry's reign was less than it is to-day. A private

member's bill then stood more chance of becoming law, and a government

bill ran greater risks of being rejected. That, of course, is not the whole

truth. One of the reasons why Henry's House of Commons felt at liberty

to reject bills proposed by the Ring, was that such rejection did not

involve the fall of a government which on other grounds the House wished

to support. It did not even entail a dissolution. Not that general

elections possessed any terrors for sixteenth-century Parliaments. A seat

in the House of Commons was not considered a very great prize. The

classes, from which its members were drawn, were much more bent on

the pursuit of their own private fortunes than on participation in public

affairs. Their membership was not seldom a burden, and the long sessions of

the Reformation Parliament constituted an especial grievance. One member

complained that those sessions cost him equivalent to about five hundred

pounds over and above the wages paid him by his constituents . Leave

to go home was often requested, and the Imperial ambassador records

that Henry, Avith characteristic craft, granted such licences to hostile mem-

bers, but refused them to his own supporters. That was a perfectly

legitimate parliamentary stratagem. It was not Henry's fault if members

preferred their private concerns to the interests of Catherine of Aragon or

to the liberties of the Catholic Church.

Henry's greatest advantage lay, however, in a circumstance which con-

stitutes the chief real difference between the Parliaments of the sixteenth

century and those of to-day. His members of Parliament were repre-

sentatives rather than delegates. They were elected as fit and proj^er

persons to decide upon such questions as should be submitted to them
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in the Parliament House, and not merely as fit and proper persons to

reo-ister decisions already reached by their constituents. Although they

were in the habit of rendering to their constituents an account of their

proceedings at the close of each session, and although the fact, that they

depended upon their constituencies for their wages, prevented their acting

in opposition to their constituents' wishes, they received no precise instruc-

tions. They went to Parliament unfettered by definite pledges. They were

thus more susceptible, not only to pressure, but also to argument ; and

it is possible that in those days votes were sometimes affected by speeches.

The action of members was determined, not by previous engagements or

party discipline, but by their view of the merits and necessities of the

case before them. Into that view extraneous circumstances, such as fear

of the King, might to a certain extent intrude ; but such evidence as is

available points decisively to the conclusion that co-operation between the

King and Parliament was secured, partly by Parliament doing what Henry

wanted, and partly by Henry doing what Parliament wanted. Parliament

did not always do as the King desired, nor did the King's actions always

commend themselves to Parliament. Most of the measures of the Refor-

mation Parliament were matters of give and take. It was due to Henry's

skill and to the circumstances of the time that the King's taking was

always to his own profit, and his giving at the expense of the clergy.

He secured the support of the Commons for his own particular ends by

promising the redress of their grievances against the bishops and priests.

It is said that he instituted the famous petitions urged against the clergy in

1532, and it is hinted that the abuses, of which those petitions complained,

had no real existence. No doubt Henry encouraged the Commons' com-

plaints ; he had every reason to do so, but he did not invent the abuses. If

the Commons did not feel the grievances, the King's promise to redress them

would be no inducement to Parliament to comply with the royal demands.

The hostility of the laity to the clergy, arising out of these grievances,

was in fact the lever with which Henry overthrew the papal authority,

and the basis upon which he built his own supremacy over the Church.
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This anti-ecclesiastical bias on the part of the laity was the dominant

factor in the Reformation under Henry VIII. But the word in its modern

sense is scarcely applicable to the ecclesiastical policy of that King. Its

common acceptation implies a purification of doctrine ; but it is doubtful

whether any idea of interfering with dogma ever crossed the minds of

the monarchs, who, for more than a generation, had been proclaiming the

need for a reformation. Their proposal was to reform the practice of the

clergy ; and the method they favoured most was the abolition of clerical

privileges and the appropriation of ecclesiastical property. The Reform-

ation in England, so far as it was carried by Henry VIII., Avas, indeed, neither

more nor less than a violent self-assertion of the laity against the immu-

nities which the Church had herself enjoyed, and the restraints which

she imposed upon others. It was not primarily a breach between the

Church of England and the Roman communion, a repudiation on the

part of English ecclesiastics of a harassing Papal yoke ; for it is fairly

obvious that under Henry VIII. the Church took no measures against Rome

that were not forced on it by the State. It was not till the reigns ot

Edward VI. and Elizabeth that the Church accorded a consent, based

on conviction, to a settlement originally extorted by force. The Reform-

ation was rather a final assertion by the State of its authority over the

Church in England. The breach with the Roman Church, the repudiation

of Papal influence in English ecclesiastical affairs, was not a spontaneous

clerical movement; it was the effect of the subjection of the Church to the

national temporal power. The Church in England had hitherto been a semi-

independent part of the political community. It was semi-national, semi-

universal; it owed one sort of fealty to the universal Pope, and another to

the national Ring. The rising spirit of nationality could brook no divided

allegiance ; and the universal gave way to the national idea. There was

to be no imperium in impcrlo, but one body politic, with one Supreme

Head. Henry VIII. is reported by Chapuys as saying that he was King,

Emperor, and Pope, all in one, so far as England was concerned. The

Church was to be nationalized ; it was to compromise its universal charac-
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ter, and to become the Church of England, rather than a branch of the

Church universal in England.

The revolution was inevitably effected through the action of the State

rather than that of the Church. The Church, which, like religion itself, is

in essence universal and not national, regarded with abhorrence the pro-

spect of being narrowed and debased to serve political ends. Hence the

agency employed was Parliament and not Convocation. The repi'esenta-

tives of the clergy met of course as frequently as those of the laity, but

their activity was purely defensive. They suggested no changes themselves,

and endeavoured without much success to resist the innovations forced

upon them by King and by Parliament. They had every reason to fear both

Henry and the Commons. They were conscious that the Church had lost

its hold upon the nation. Its impotence was due in part to its own cor-

ruption, in part to the fact that thriving commercial and industrial classes,

like those which elected Tudor Parliaments, are as a rule impatient of

religious or at least sacerdotal dictation. God and Mammon, in spite of

all efforts at compromise, do not really agree. In 1529, before the meeting

of Parliament, Campeggio had appealed to Henry to prevent the ruin of

the Church ; he felt that without State protection the Church could hardly

stand. In 1531, Warham, the successor of Becket and Langton, excused

his compliance with Henry's demands by pleading Ira principis mors est.

In the draft of a speech he drew up just before his death, the archbishop

referred to the case of St. Thomas, and hinted that Henry VIII. was going

the way of Henry II. The fate that attended the Angevin king might

have befallen the Tudor, had Warham been Becket and the Church of the

sixteenth been the same as the Church of the twelfth century. But they

were not, and Warham appealed in vain to the liberties of the Church

granted by Magna Charta, and to the "ill end" of "several Kings who

violated them." Laymen, he complained, now "advanced" their own laws

rather than those of the Church. The people, admitted so staunch a

churchman as Pole, were beginning to hate the priests. " There, were, '

wi'Ote Norfolk, "infinite clamours of the temporalty here in Parliament against
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the misuse of the spiritual jurisdiction. . . . This realm did never grudge

the tenth part against the abuses of the Church at no Parliament in my

days, as they do now."

These infinite clamours and grudging were not the result of the con-

scientious rejection of any Catholic or Papal doctrine. Englishmen are

singularly free from the bondage of abstract ideas, and they began their

Reformation not with the enunciation of some new truth , but with an

attack on clerical fees. Reform was stimulated by a practical grievance,

closely connected with money, and not by a sense of wrong done to the

conscience. No dogma plays such a part in the English Reformation as

Justification by Faith did in Germany, or Predestination in Switzerland.

Parliament in 1530 had not been appreciably affected by Tyndale's trans-

lation of the Bible or by any of Luther's works. Tyndale was still an

exile in the Netherlands, pleading in vain for the same toleration in England

as Charles V. permitted across the sea . Frith was in the Tower, and

Bilney was martyred in 1531. A parliamentary inquiry was threatened in

the latter case, not because Parliament sympathized with Bilney's doctrine,

but because it was said that the clergy had procured his burning before

obtainina; the State's consent. Parliament was as zealous as Convocation

against heresy, but it urged that the punishment of heretics should be left

in secular hands.

In this, as in other respects, the King and his Parliament were in the

fullest agreement. Henry had already given proof of his anti-clerical bias

by substituting laymen for churchmen in those great offices of State which

churchmen had usually held. From time immemorial the Lord Chancellor

had been a Bishop, but, in 1529 Wolsey was succeeded by More, and, later

on, More by Audley. Similarly, the privy seal had been held in Henry's

reign by three bishops successively. Fox, Ruthal, and Tunstall : now it

was intrusted to the hands of Anne Boleyn's falher, the Earl of Wiltshire.

Gardiner remained secretary for the time, but Du Bcllay thought his

power would have increased, had he abandoned his clerical vows, and

he, too, was soon superseded by Cromwell. Even the clerkship of Parliament



190 HENRY VIII.

was now given up to a layman. During the first half of Henry's reign,

clerical influence had been supreme in Henry's councils ; during the second,

it was almost entirely excluded. Like his Parliament, he was now impugning

the jurisdiction of the clergy in the matter of heresy; they were doctors,

he said, of the soul, and had nothing to do with the body. He was even

inclining to the very modern theory, that marriage is a civil contract,

and that matrimonial suits should therefore be removed from clerical

cognisance. As early as 1528, he ordered Wolsey to release the Abbot ot

Reading, who had been imprisoned for Lutheranism, "unless the matter is

very heinous." In 1530 he was praising Latimer's sermons ; and in the

same year the Bishop of Norwich complained of a general I'eport in his

diocese that Henry favoured heretical books. "They say that, wherever

they go, they hear that the Ring's pleasure is that the New Testament

in English shall go forth." There seems little reason to doubt Hall's

statement that Henry now commanded the Bishops, who, however, did

nothing, to prepare an English translation of the Bible to counteract the

errors of Tyndale's version. He wrote to the German princes extolling

their efforts towards the reformation of the Church ; and many advisers

were urging him to begin a similar movement in England. Anne Boleyn

and her father were, said Chapuys, more Lutheran than Luther himself;

they were the true apostles of the new sect in England.

But, however Lutheran Anne Boleyn may have been, Henry was still

true to the orthodox faith. If he dallied with German princes, and held out

hopes to his heretic subjects, it was not because he believed in the doc-

trines of either, but because both might be made to serve his own ends. He

rescued Crome from the flames, not because he doubted or favoured Crome's

heresy, but because Crome appealed from the Church to the King, and

denied the Papal Supremacy; that, said Henry, is not heresy, but truth.

When he sent to Oxford for the articles on which Wycliffe had been

condemned, it was not to study the great Reformer's doctrine of the mass,

but to discover Wycliffe's reasons for calling upon the State to purify a

corrupt Church, and to digest his arguments against the temporal wealth
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of the clergy. When he lauded the reforms effected by the German

princes, he was thinking of their secularization of ecclesiastical revenues.

The spoliation of the Church was consistent with the most fervent devo-

tion to its tenets. In i.")31, Henry warned the Pope that the Emperor would

probably allow the laity "to appropriate the possessions of the Church,

which is a matter which does not touch the foundations of the faith; and

what an example this will afford to others, it is easy to see." Henry

managed to do without Charles's example in this respect. "He meant," he

told Chapuys in 1533, "to repair the errors of Henry 11. and John, who,

being in difficulties, had made England and Ireland tributary to the Pope;

he was determined also to reunite to the crown the goods which churchmen

held of it, which his predecessors could not alienate to his prejudice
;

and he was bound to do this by the oath he had taken at his corona-

tion." Probably it was about this time, or a little later, that he drew up

his suggestions for altering the coronation oath, and making the royal

obligations binding only so far as the royal conscience thought fit.

The German princes had a further claim to his consideration beyond the

example they set him in dealing with the temporalties of the Church.

They might be very useful if his difference with Charles over Catherine

of Aragon came to an open breach; and the English envoys, who congra-

tulated them on their zeal for reform, also endeavoured to persuade them

that Henry's friendship might be no little safeguard against a despotic

Emperor.

All these phenomena, the Reformation in Germany , heresy at home,

and the anti-sacerdotal prejudices of his subjects, were regarded by Henry

merely as circumstances, which might be made subservient to his own

particular purpose ; and the skill with which he used them is a monument

of farsighted statecraft. He did not act on the impulse of violent caprice.

His passions were strong, but his self-control was stronger; and the breach

with Rome was effected with a cold and calculated cunning, which the most

adept disciple of Machiavelli could not have excelled. He did not create

those circumstances ; the hostility to the Church had a real objective exist-
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ence. Henry was a great man; but he was- not endowed with such magical

powers as to be able to make his people feel burdens which he alone could

discover, lie could only divert those grievances to his own use. He had no

personal dislike to probate dues or Annates; he did not pay them, but the

threat of their abolition might compel the Pope to grant his divorce.

Heresy in itself was abominable, but if heretics would maintain the royal

against the Papal supremacy, might not their sins be forgiven ? The

strength of Henry's position lay in the fact that he stood between two

evenly balanced parties. It is obvious that by favouring the anti-clericals

he could destroy the power of the Church. It is not so certain, but it is

probable that, by supporting the Church, he could have staved off its ruin

so long as he lived. Parliament might have been urgent, but there was

no necessity to call it together. The Reformation Parliament, which sat

for seven years, would probably have been dissolved after a few weeks,

had Clement granted the divorce. It met session after session, to pass one

measure after another, each of which was designed to put fresh pressure

on the Pope. It began with the outworks of the Papal fortress; as soon as

one was dismantled, Henry cried "Halt," to see if the citadel would sur-

render. When it refused, the attack recommenced. First one, then another

of the Church's privileges and the Pope's prerogatives disappeared, till there

remained not one stone ujion another of the imposing edifice of ecclesias-

tical liberty and Papal authority in England.

The Reformation Parliament met for its first session on the 3rd ot

November, 1529, at the Black Friars' Hall in London. No careful observer

was in any doubt as to what its temper would be with regard to the

Church. It was opened by the King in person, and the new Lord Chan-

cellor, Sir Thomas More, delivered an address in which he denounced his

predecessor, Wolsey, in scathing terms. Parliament had been summoned,

he said, to reform such things as had been used or permitted in England
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by inadvertence. On the following day both Houses adjourned to West-

minster on account of the plague, and the Commons chose, as their Speaker,

Sir Thomas Audley, the future Lord Chancellor. One of their first duties

was to consider a bill of attainder against Wolsey, and the fate of that

measure seems to be destructive of one or the other of two favourite

theories respecting Ilonry VIII. 's Parliaments. The bill was opposed in the

Commons by Cromwell and thrown out; either it was not a mere expression

of the royal will, or Parliament was something more than the tool of the

Court. For it is hardly credible that Henry first caused the bill to be

introduced, and then ordered its rejection. The next business was Henry's

request for release from the obligation to repay the loan which Wolsey had

raised; that, too, the Commons refused, except on conditions. But no such

opposition greeted the measures for reforming the clergy. Bills were passed

in the Commons, putting a limit on the fees exacted by bishops for pro-

bate, and for the performance of other duties then regarded as spiritual

functions. The clergy were prohibited from holding pluralities, except in

certain cases, but the act was drawn with astonishing moderation; it did

not apply to benefices acquired before 1530, unless they exceeded the

number of four. Penalties against non-residents wei'e enacted, and an

attempt was made to check the addiction of spiritual persons to commercial

pursuits.

These reforms seem reasonable enough, but the idea of placing a bound

to the spiritual exaction of probate seemed sacrilege to Bishop Fisher.

"My lords," he cried, "you see daily what bills come hither from the

Common House, and all is to the destruction of the Church. For God's

sake, see what a realm the kingdom of Bohemia was ; and when the

Church went down, then fell the glory of the kingdom. Now with the

Commons is nothing but 'Down Avith the Church!' And all this, meseemeth,

is for lack of faith only." The Commons thought a limitation of fees

an insufficient ground for a charge of heresy, and complained to the King

of Fisher through the mouth of their Speaker. The Bishop explained

away the offensive phrase, but the spiritual peers succeeded in rejecting
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the Commons' bills. The way out of the- deadlock was suggested by the

King; he proposed a conference between eight members of either House.

The Lords' delegates were half spiritual, half temporal, peers. Henry knew

well enough that the Commons would vote solidly for the measures, and

that the temporal peers would support them. They did so; the bills were

passed; and, on 17 December, Parliament was prorogued. We may call it

a trick or skilful Parliamentary strategy ; the same trick, played by the

Tiers Etat in 1789, ensured the success of the French Revolution, and it

was equally effective in England in 1529.

These mutterings of the storm fell on deaf ears at Rome. Clement was

deaf, not because he had not ears to hear, but because the clash of im-

perial arms drowned more distant sounds. " If anyone, " wrote the bishop

of Auxerre in 1531, "was ever in prison or in the power of his enemies,

the Pope is now." He was as anxious as ever to escape responsibility.

"He has told me," writes the Bishop of Tarbes to Francis I. on 27 March,

1530, "more than three times in secret that he would be glad if the

marriage (with Anne Boleyn) was already made, either by a dispensation

of the English legate or otherwise, provided it was not by his authority,

or in diminution of his power as to dispensation and limitation of divine

law." Later in the year he made his suggestion, that Henry should have

two wives without prejudice to the legitimacy of the children of either.

Henry, however, would listen to neither suggestion. He would be satisfied

with nothing less than the sanction of the highest authority recognised

in England. When it became imperative that his marriage with Anne

should be legally sanctioned , and evident that no such sanction would

be forthcoming from Rome, he arranged that the highest ecclesiastical

authority recognised by law in England should be that of the Archbishop

of Canterbury.

Meanwhile, the exigencies of the struggle drove Clement into assertions

of Papal prerogative which would at any time have provoked an outburst

of national anger. On 7 March, 1530, he promulgated a bull to be affixed to

the church-doors at Bruges, Tournay, and Dunkirk, inhibiting Henry, under







SUPREME HEAD OF THE CHURCH. 195

pain of the greater excommunication, from proceeding to that second mar-

riage, which he was telling the Bishop of Tarbes he wished Henry would

complete. A fortnight later, he issued a second bull forbidding all

ecclesiastical judges, doctors, advocates and others to speak or write against

the validity of Henry's marriage with Catherine. If he had merely desired

to prohibit discussion of a matter under judicial consideration, he should

have imposed silence also on the advocates of the marriage, and not left

Fisher free to write books against the King and secretly send them to

Spain to be printed. On 23 December following, it was decreed in Con-

sistory at Rome that briefs should be granted prohibiting the Archbishop

of Canterbury from taking cognizance of the suit, and forbidding Henry

to cohabit with any other woman than Catherine, and "all women in

general to contract marriage with the King of England." On the 5th of

January, 1531, the Pope inhibited laity as well as clergy, universities, par-

liaments and courts of law, from coming to any decision in the case.

To these fulminations the ancient laws of England provided Henry

with sufficient means of reply. A proclamation, based on the Statutes of

Provisors, was issued on 12 September, 1530, forbidding the purchasing

from the court of Rome or the publishing of anything prejudicial to the

realm, or to the King's intended purposes; and Norfolk was sent to

remind Chapuys of the penalties attaching to the importation of bulls into

England without the King's consent. But the most notorious expedient

of Henry's was the appeal to the universities of Europe, first suggested

by Cranmer. Throughout 1530, English agents were busy abroad, obtaining

decisions from the Universities on the question of the Pope's power to

dispense with the law against marrying a deceased brother's wife. Their

success was considerable. Paris and Orleans, Bourges and Toulouse, Bologna

and Ferrara, Pavia and Padua, all decided against the Pope. Similar

verdicts, given by Oxford and Cambridge, may be as naturally ascribed to

intimidation by Henry, as may the decisions of Spanish universities in the

Pope's favour to pressure from Charles ; but the theory that all the French

and Italian universities were bribed is not very credible. The cajolery,
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the threats, and the bribes were not all on one side ; and in Italy at

least the imperial agents would seem to have enjoyed greater facilities

than Henry's. In some individual cases there was, no doubt, resort to

improper inducements; but, if the majority in the most famous seats of

learning in Europe could be induced by fdthy lucre to vote against their

conscience, it implies a greater need for drastic reformation than the

believers in the theory of corruption are usually disposed to admit. Their

decisions were, however, given on general grounds; the question of the

consummation of Catherine's marriage with Arthur seems to have been care-

fully excluded. How far that consideration would have affected the votes of

the universities can only be assumed ; but it does not appear to have mate-

rially influenced the view taken by Catherine's advocates. They allowed

that Catherine's oath would not be considered sufficient evidence in a

court of law; they admitted the necessity of proving that urgent reasons

existed for the grant of the dispensation, and the only urgent reason they put

forward was an entirely imaginary imminence of war between Henry VII.

and Ferdinand in 1503. Cardinal Du Bellay, in 1534, asserted that no one

would be so bold as to maintain in Consistory that the dispensation ever

was valid; and the papalists were driven to the extreme contention, which

was certainly not then admitted by Catholic Europe, that, whether the mar-

riage with Arthur was merely a form or not, whether it was or was not

against divine law, the Pope could, of his absolute power, dispense.

Pending the result of Henry's appeal to the universities, little was done

in the matter in England. The lords spiritual and temporal signed in

June, 1530, a letter to the Pope urging him to comply with their King's

request for a divorce. Parliament did not meet until 16 January, 1531,

and even then Chapuys reports that it was employed on nothing more

important than cross-bows and hand-guns, the act against which was not,

however, passed till 1534. The previous session had shown that, although

the Commons might demur to fiscal exactions, they were willing enough

to join Henry in any attack on the Church, and the question was how

to bring the clergy to a similar state of acquiescence. It was naturally
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a more difficult task, but Henry's ingenuity provided a sufficient induce-

ment. His use of the Statutes of Praemunire was very characteristic. It

was conservative, it was legal, and it was unjust. Those statutes were

no innovation designed to meet his particular case; they had been for

centuries the laAV of the land ; and there was no denying the fact that the

clergy had broken the law by recognising Wolsey as legate. Henry, of

course, had licensed Wolsey to act as legate, and to punish the clergy for an

offence, at which he had connived, was scarcely consistent with justice;

but no Ring ever showed so clearly how the soundest constitutional maxims

could be used to defeat the pleas of equity, and it was frequently laid

down during his reign that no licence from the King could be pleaded

against penalties imposed by statute. So the clergy were fairly entangled

in the meshes of the law. Ghapuys declares that no one could under-

stand the mysteries of PriEmunire ; "its interpretation lies solely in the

King's head, who amplifies it and declares it at his pleasure, making it

apply to any case he pleases." He at least saw how Praemunire could

be made to serve his purposes.

These, at the moment, were two. He wanted to extract from the

clergy a recognition of his Supremacy over the Church, and he wanted

money. He was always in need of supplies, but especially now, in case

war should arise from the Pope's refusal to grant his divorce; and Henry

made it a matter of principle that the Church should pay for wars due

to the Pope. The penalty for Praemunire was forfeiture of goods and

imprisonment, and the King probably thought he was unduly lenient in

granting a pardon for a hundred thousand pounds, when he might have

taken the whole of the clergy's goods, and put them in gaol as well.

The clergy objected strongly; in the old days of the Church's influence,

they would all have preferred to go to prison, and a unanimous refusal

of the King's demands would even now have baulked his purpose. But

the spirit was gone out of them. Ghapuys instigated the Papal nuncio

to go down to Convocation and stiffen the backs of the clergy. They

were horrified at his appearance, and besought him to depart in haste.
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fearinir lest this fresh constitutional breach should be visited on their

heads. Warham frightened them with the terrors of royal displeasure;

and the clerics had to content their conscience with an Irish bull and

a subterfuge. "Silence gives consent," said the archbishop when putting

the question; "then are we all silent," cried the clergy. To their recog-

nition of Henry as Supreme Head of the Church, they added the salvo

"so far as the law of Christ allows." It was an empty phrase, thought

Chapuys, for no one would venture to dispute with the Ring the point

where his supremacy ended, and that of Christ began. The clergy repented

of the concession as soon as it was granted ; and they made a vain,

and not very creditable, effort to get rejected by spiritual votes in the

House of Lords the measures to which they had given their assent in

Convocation. The Church had surrendered Avith scarcely a show of fight;

henceforth Henry might feel sure that, whatever opposition he might

encounter in other quarters, the Church in England would offer no real

resistance.

In Parliament, notwithstanding Chapuys' remark on the triviality of its

business, more than a score of acts were passed, some limiting such

abuses as the right of sanctuary, some dealing in the familiar way with

social evils like the increase of beggars and vagabonds. The act depriving

sanctuary-men, who committed felony, of any further protection from their

sanctuary was I'ecommended to Parliament by the Ring in person. So was

a curious act making poisoning treason. There had recently been an

attempt to poison Fisher, which the Ring brought before the House of

Lords. However familiar poisoning might be at Rome, it was a novel

method in England, and was considered so heinous a crime that the ordi-

nary penalties for murder were thought to be insufficient. Then the Ring's

pardon to the clergy was embodied in a parliamentary bill. The Com-

mons pei'ceived that they were not included, took alarm, and refused to

pass the bill. Henry at first assumed a superior tone; he pointed out

that the Commons could not prevent his pardoning the clergy ; he could

do it as well under the Great Seal as by statute. The Commons, however,
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were not satisfied. "There was great murmuring among them," says

Chapuys, "in the House of Commons, where it was publicly said in the

presence of some of the Privy Council that the King had burdened and

oppressed his kingdom with more imposts and exactions than any three

or four of his predecessors, and that he ouglil to consider that the strength

of the King lay in the affections of his people. And many instances were

alleged of the inconveniences which had happened to princes through the

ill-treatment of their subjects." Henry was too shrewd to attempt to

punish this very plain speaking. He knew that his faithful Commons were

his one support, and he yielded at once. "On learning this," continues

Chapuys, " the King granted the exemption which was published in Par-

liament on Wednesday last without any reservation." The two acts for

the pardon of the spiritualty and temporalty were passed concurrently.

But, whereas the clergy had paid for their pardon with a heavy fine and

the loss of their independence, the laity paid nothing at all. The last

business of the session was the reading of the sentences in Henry's favour

obtained from the Universities. Parliament was then prorogued, and its

members were enjoined to relate to their constituents that which they

had seen and heard.

Primed by communion with their neighbours, members of Parliament

assembled once more on 15 January, 1532, for more important business than

they had yet transacted. Every effort was made to secure a full atten-

dance of Peers and Commons ; almost all the Lords would be present,

thought Chapuys, except Tunstall, who had not been summoned. The

readiness of the Commons to pass measures against the Church, and their

reluctance to consent to taxation, were even more marked than before.

Their critical spirit was shown by their repeated rejection of the Statutes

of Wills and Uses designed by Henry to protect from evasion his feudal

rights, such as reliefs and primer seisins. This demand, writes Chapuys,

"has been the occasion of strange words against tlie King and the Council."

In the matter of supplies they were equally outspoken ; they would only

grant one tenth and one fifteenth, a trifling sum which Henry refused to
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accept. It was during this debate on the question of supplies that a

member moved that the King be asked to take back Catherine as hie

wife. They would then, he said, need no fresh armaments, and his words

are reported to have been well received by the House. The Commons

were not more enthusiastic about the bill restraining the payment of

Annates to the Court at Rome. They did not pay them ; their grievance

was against bishops in England, and they saw no particular reason for

relieving those prelates of their financial burdens. The King had appa-

rently to use all his persuasion to get the bill through the Lords and

the Commons. Only temporal lords voted for it in the Upper House,

and, in the Lower, recourse was had to the rare expedient of a division.

In both Houses the votes were taken in the King's presence. But it is

possible that his influence was brought to bear, not so much in favour of

the principle of the bill, as of the extremely ingenious clause which left

the execution of the Act in Henry's discretion, and provided him with a

powerful means of putting pressure on the Pope. That was Henry's state-

ment of the matter. He had taken care, he wrote to his ambassadors

at Rome, to stop the mouth of Parliament and to have the question of

Annates referred to his decision. "The King," writes the French envoy

in England at the end of March, "has been very cunning, for he has

caused the nobles and people to remit all to his will, so that the Pope

may know that, if he does nothing for him, the King has the means of

punishing him." The execution of the clauses providing for the confirmation

and consecration of bishops without recourse to Rome was also left at

Henry's option.

But no pressure was needed to induce the Commons to attack abuses,

the weight of which they felt themselves. Early in the session they

were discussing the famous petition against the clergy, and, on 28 February,

Norfolk referred to the "infinite clamours" in Parliament against the

Church. The fact that four corrected drafts of this petition are extant in

the Record Office, is taken as conclusive proof that it really emanated

from the Court. But the drafts do not appear to be in the known hand
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of any of the govcrnmcnl clerks. The corrections in Cromwell's hand

doubtless represent the wishes of the King; but, even were the whole

in Cromwell's hand, it would be no bar to the hypothesis that Cromwell

reduced to writing, for the King's consideration, complaints, which he

heard from independent members in his place in Parliament. The fact

that nine-tenths of our modern legislation is drawn up by Government

draughtsmen, cannot be accepted as proof that that legislation represents

no popular feeling. On the face of them, these petitions bear little evi-

dence of Court dictation ; the grievances are not such as were felt by

Henry, whose own demands of the clergy were laid directly before Con-

vocation, without any pretence that they really came from the Commons.

Some are similar to those presented to the Parliament of 1515 ; others

are directed against abuses Avhich recent statutes had sought, but failed,

to remedy. Such were the citation of laymen out of their dioceses, the

excessive fees taken in spiritual courts, the delay and trouble in obtaining

probates. Others complained that the clergy in Convocation made laws

inconsistent with the laws of the realm; that the ordinaries delayed instituting

parsons to their benefices; that benefices were given to minors; that the

number of holy-days, especially in harvest-time, was excessive ; and that

spiritual men occupied temporal offices. The chief grievance seems to have

been that the ordinaries cited poor men before the spiritual courts without

any accuser being produced, and then condemned them to abjure or be

burnt. Henry, reported Chapuys, was "in a most gracious manner" pro-

mising to support the Commons against the Church "and to mitigate the

rigours of the inquisition which they have here, and which is said to be

more severe than in Spain."

After debating these points in Parliament , the Commons agreed that

"all the griefs, Avhich the temporal men should be grieved with, should

be put in writing and delivered to the King;" hence the drafts in the

Record Office. The deputation, with the Speaker at its head, presented

the complaints to Henry on 18 March. Its reception is quite unintelligible

on the theory that the grievances existed only in the King's imagination.
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Henry was willing, he said, to consider the Commons' petition, hut, if they

expected him to comply with their wishes, they must make some concession

to his; and he recommended them to forego their opposition to the bills of

Uses and Wills, to which the Lords had already agreed. After Easter he

sent the Commons' petition to Convocation ; the clergy appealed to the

King for protection. Henry had thus manceuvred himself into the position

of mediator, in which he hoped, but in vain, to extract pi'ofit for him-

self from both sides. From Convocation he demanded submission to three

important claims ; the clergy were to consent to a reform of ecclesiastical

law, to abdicate their right of independent legislation, and to recognise

the necessity of the Ring's approval for existing canons. These demands

were granted. As usual, Henry was able to get what he wanted from

the clergy ; but from the Commons he could get no more than they were

willing to give. They again rejected the bills of Uses and Wills, and

would only concede the most paltry supplies. But they passed with ala-

crity the bills embodying the submission of the clergy. These were the

Church's concessions to Henry, but it must bend the knee to the Commons

as well, and other measures were passed reforming some of the points

in their petition. Ordinaries were prohibited from citing men out of their

proper dioceses, and benefit of clergy was denied to clerks under the

order of sub-deacon who committed murder, felony, or petty treason; the

latter was a slight extension of a statute passed in 1512. The bishops,

however, led by Gardiner and aided by More, secured in the House of

Lords the rejection of the concessions made by the Church to the King,

though they passed those made to the Commons. Parliament, which had

sat for the unusual space of four months, was prorogued on the 14th of

May; two days later. More resigned the chancellorship and Gardiner retired

in disfavour to Winchester.

Meanwhile the Divorce case at Rome made little progress. In the

highest court in Christendom the facilities afforded for the law's delays
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were naturally more extended than before inferior tribunals ; and two years

had been spent in discussing whether Henry's "excusator," sent merely

to maintain that the King of England could not be cited to plead before

the papal court, should be heard or not. Clement was in suspense between

two political forces. In December, 1532, Charles was again to interview

the Pope, and imperialists in Italy predicted that his presence would be as

decisive in Catherine's favour as it had been three years before. But

Henry and Francis had, in October, exhibited to the world the closeness

of their friendship by a personal interview near Calais . No pomp or

ceremony, like that of the field of Cloth of Gold, dazzled men's eyes

;

but the union between the two kings was never more real. Neither

Queen was present ; Henry would not take Catherine, and he objected so

strongly to Spanish dress that he could not endure the sight of Francis's

Spanish Queen. Anne Boleyn, recently created Marquis (so she was styled,

to indicate the possession of the peerage in her own right) of Pembroke,

took Catherine's place ; and plans for the promotion of the divorce formed

the staple of the royal discussions. Respect for the power of the two kings

robbed the subsequent interview between Emperor and Pope of much of

its effect; and before Charles and Clement parted, the Pope had secretly

agreed to accord a similar favour to Francis ; he was to meet him at Nice

in the following summer. Long before then, the divorce had been brought

to a crisis. By the end of January, Henry knew that Anne Boleyn was

pregnant. Her issue must at any risk be made legitimate. That could only

be done by Henry's divorce from Catherine, and by his marriage with

Anne Boleyn. There was little hope of obtaining these favours from Rome.

Therefore it must be done by means of the archbishop of Canterbury; and

to remove all chance of disputing his sentence, the court of the archbishop

of Canterbury, must, before his decision was given, be recognized as the

supreme tribunal for English ecclesiastical cases.

These circumstances, of which not a hint was suffered to transpire in

public, dictated Henry's policy during the early months of 1533. Never

was his skill more clearly displayed. The difficulties with which he was
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surrounded might liavc tried the nerve of any man, but they only seemed

to render Henry's course more daring and steady. The date of his mar-

riage with Anne Boleyn is even now a matter of conjecture. Cranmer

repudiated the report that he performed the ceremony. He declares he

did not know of it until a fortnight after the event, and says it took place

about S. Paul's Day (25th January). A more important question was the

individuality of the archbishop who was to pronounce the nullity of

Henry's marriage with Catherine of Aragon. He must obviously be one

on whom the King could rely. Fortunately for Henry, Archbishop Warham

had died in August, 1532. His successor was to be Thomas Cranmer,

whose election was naturally received with some injurious comment. He

had recently been on an embassy to Charles V., but he had held no

high ecclesiastical office, and his selection was obviously due to the facts

that he had been chaplain to Anne Boleyn, and had first suggested to

Henry the plan of seeking the opinions of the Universities on the divorce.

No time was to be lost. . Henry usually gathered a rich harvest during

the vacancy of great bishoprics, but now Canterbury was to be filled up

without any delay, and the King even lent Cranmer a thousand marks to

meet his expenses. But would the Pope be so accommodating as to

expedite the bulls, suspecting, as he must have done, the object for which

they were wanted ?

For this contingency also Henry had provided ; and he was actually

using the Pope as a means for securing the divorce. An appearance of

friendship with Clement was the weapon he now employed with the greatest

effect. The Pope was discussing with the French ambassadors a proposal

to remit the divorce case to some neutral spot, such as Cambrai ; the

Papal nuncio was being feasted in England, and was having suspiciously

amicable conferences with members of Henry's council. Henry himself

was writing to Clement in the most cordial terms; he was now willing to

suspend his consent to the general council, where the Pope feared that a

scheme would be mooted for restoring the Papal States to the Emperor;

and he told the Papal nuncio in England that, though he had studied
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Lhe question of the Pope's authority and retracted his defence of the Holy

See, yet possibly Clement might give him occasion to probe the matter

further still, and to reconfirm what he had originally written. Was he not,

moreover, withholding his assent from the Act of Annates, which would

deprive the Pope of large revenues? Backed by this gentle hint, Henry's

request not merely for Cranmer's bulls, but for their expedition without

the payment of the usual 10,000 marks, reached Rome. The Cardinals

were loth to forego their perquisites for the bulls, but the Annates of

all England were more precious still, and, on February 22, Consistory

decided to do what Henry desired.

The same deceptive appearance of concord between King and Pope

was employed to lull both Parliament and Convocation. The delays in the

divorce suit disheartened Catherine's adherents. The Pope, wrote Chapuys,

would lose his authority little by little, unless the case were decided at

once ; everyone, he said, cried out " au murdre " on Clement for his

procrastination of the divorce, and for the speed with which he granted

Cranmer's bulls. There was a general impression that "he would betray

the Emperor," and "many think that there is a secret agreement between

Henry and the Pope." That idea was sedulously fostered by Henry.

Twice he took the Pope's nuncio down in state to Parliament, to adver-

tise the excellent terms upon which he stood with the Holy See. In

the face of such evidence, what motive was there for prelates and

others to reject the demands which Henry was pressing upon them ?

The Convocations of Canterbury and York approved, by overwhelming

majorities, of two propositions : firstly, that, as a matter of law, the

Pope was not competent to dispense with the obstacle to a marriage

between a man and his deceased brother's wife, when the previous

marriage had been consummated; and secondly, that, as a matter of fact,

the marriage between Catherine and Prince Arthur had been so consum-

mated. In Parliament, the Act forbidding Appeals to Rome, and providing

for the confirmation and consecration of bishops without recourse to the

Papal Court, was discussed. It was, like the rest of Henry's measures,
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based on a specious conservative plea. General councils had, the King

said, decreed that suits should be determined in the place in which they

originated ; so there was no need for appeals to go out of England.

Such opposition as it encountered was based on no religious principle.

Commercial interests Avere the most powerful impulse of the age, and the

Commons were afraid that the Act of Appeals might be followed by a

Papal Interdict. They did not mind the Interdict as depriving them of

religious functions, but they dreaded lest it might ruin their trade with

the Netherlands. Henry, however, persuaded them that the wool trade

was as necessary to Flemings as it was to Englishmen, and that an

Interdict would prove no more than an empty threat. He was careful to

make no other demands upon the Commons. No subsidies were required;

no extension of royal prerogative was sought; and eventually the Act

of Appeals was passed with a facility that seems to have created general

surprise.

Henry's path was now clear.. Cranmer was archbishop and legatiis

natus with a title which none could dispute. By Act of Parliament his

court was the final resort for all ecclesiastical cases. No appeals from

his decision could be lawfully made. So, on April 11, before he was yet

consecrated, he besought the King's gracious permission to determine his

"great cause of matrimony, because much bruit exists among the common

people on the subject." No doubt there did ; but that was not the cause

for the haste. Henry was pleased to accede to this request of the "prin-

cipal minister of our spiritual jurisdiction;" and, on the iOth of May, the

archbishop opened his court at Dunstable. Catherine, of course, could

recognise no authority in Cranmer to try a cause that was before the Papal

curia. She was declared contumacious, and, on the 23rd, the Archbishop

gave his sentence. Following the line of Convocation, he pronounced that

the Pope had no power to license marriages such as Henry's, and that the

King and Catherine had never been husband and wife. Five days later,

after a secret investigation, he declared that Henry and Anne Boleyn were

lawfully married, and on ^^'hit Sunday, the 1st of June, he crowned Anne
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as Queen in Westminster Abbey. Three months later, on Sunday, the

7th of September, between three and four in the afternoon, Queen Anne

gave birth to a daughter at Greenwich. The child was christened on the

following Wednesday by Stokesley, Bishop of London, and Cranmer stood

godfather. Chapuys scarcely considered the matter worth mention. The

King's amie had given birth to a bastard, a detail of little importance to

anyone, and least of all to a monarch like Charles V. Yet the "bastard"

was Queen Elizabeth, and the child, thus ushered into a contemptuous

world, lived to humble the pride of Spain, and to bear to a final triumph

the banner which Henry had raised.

That victorious issue of Tudor policy was distant enough in 1533.

Then the Tudor monarch seemed rushing headlong to irretrievable ruin.

Sure of himself and his people, and feeling no longer the need of Clement's

favour, Henry threw off the mask of friendship, and, on the 9th of July,

confirmed, by letters patent, the Act of Annates. Cranmer's proceedings

at Dunstable, Henry's marriage, and Anne's coronation, constituted a still

more flagrant defiance of Catholic Europe. The Pope's authority was

challenged with every parade of contempt. He could do no less than

gather round him the relics of his dignity and prepare to launch against

Henry the final ban of the Church. So, on the 11th of July, the King Avas

laid under the sentence of the greater excommunication. Clement did not

yet, nor did he ever, venture to assert his claims to temporal supremacy in

Christendom, by depriving the English King of his kingdom; he thought

it prudent to rely on his own undisputed prerogative. His spiritual powers

seemed ample. Henry was cut off from the Church while he lived, removed

from the pale of Christian society, and deprived of the solace of the rites

of religion; when he died, he must lie without burial, and in hell suffer

torment for ever.

What would be the effect of this terrific anathema? The omens looked
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ill for the English King. If he had flouted the Holy See, he had also

offended the temporal head of Christendom. The Emperor's aunt had been

divorced, his cousin had been declared a bastard, and the despatches of his

envoy, Chapuys, were fdled with indignant lamentations over the treatment

meted out to Catherine and to her daughter. Both proud and stubborn

women, they resolutely refused to admit in any way the validity of

Henry's acts and recent legislation. Catherine would rather starve as

Queen, than be sumptuously clothed and fed as Princess Dowager. Henry

would give her anything she asked, if she would acknowledge that she was

not the Queen, nor her daughter the Princess ; but her bold resistance

to his commands and wishes brought out all the worst features of

his character. His anger was not the worst the Queen and her daughter

had to fear ; lie still preserved a feeling of res2:)ect for Catherine and of

affection for Mary. "The King himself," writes Chapuys, " is not ill-

natured ; it is this Anne who has put him in this perverse and wicked

temper, and alienates him from his former humanity." The new Queen's

jealous malignity passed all bounds. She caused her aunt to be made

governess to Mary, and urged her to box her charge's ears ; and she

used every effort to force the Princess to serve as a maid upon her little

half-sister, Elizabeth.

This humiliation was deeply resented by the people, who, says Chapuys,

though forbidden, on pain of their lives, to call Catherine Queen, shouted

it at the top of their voices. " You cannot imagine," he writes a few

weeks later to Charles, " the great desire of all this people that your

Majesty should send men. Every day I have been applied to about it by

Englishmen of rank, wit, and learning, who give me to understand that

the last King Richard was never so much hated by his people as this

King. " The Emperor, he went on, had a better chance of success than

Henry VII. Fisher was urgent that Charles should prepare an invasion of

England; the young Marquis of Exeter, a possible claimant to the throne,

was giving the same advice. Abergavenny, Darcy, and other peers brooded

in sullen discontent. They were all listening to the hysterical ravings of
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Elizabeth Barton, the Nun of Kent, who jirophcsied that Henry had not

a year to live. Charles's emissaries were busy in Ireland, where Rildare

was about to revolt. James V. of Scotland was hinting at his claims to

the English crown, should Henry be deprived by the Pope; and Chapuys

was divided in mind whether it would be better to make James the

executor of the Papal sentence, or marry Mary to some great English

noble, and raise an internal rebellion. At Catherine's suggestion, he

recommended to the Emperor Reginald Pole, a grandson of Lionel, Duke

of Clarence, as a suitor for Mary's hand; ami he urged, on his own

account, Pole's claims to the English throne. Catherine's scruples, not

about deposing her husband, or passing over the claims of Henry's sisters,

but on the score of Edward IV.'s grandson, the Marquis of Exeter, might,

thought Chapuys, be removed by appealing to the notorious sentence

of Bishop Slillington, who, on the demand of Richard HI., had pro-

nounced Edward IV.'s marriage void and his children illegitimate. Those

Avho had been the King's firm supporters when the divorce first came up,

were some of them wavering, and others turning back. Archbishop Lee,

Bishops Tunstall and Gardiner, and Bennet, were now all in secret or

open opposition ; like other half-hearted revolutionists, they would never

have started at all, had they known how far they would have to go. It

was the King, and the King alone, who kept England on the track wliu h

he had laid down. Pope and Emperor were defied; Europe was shocked;

Francis himself disapproved of the breach with the Church; Ireland was

in revolt; Scotland, as ever, was hostile; legislation had been thrust down

the throats of a recalcitrant Church, and, we are asked to believe, ol a

no less unwilling House of Commons, while the people at large were

seething with indignation at the insults heaped upon the injured (^ueen

and her daughter. By all the laws of nature, of morals, and of politics,

it would seem, Henry was doomed to the fate of the monarch in the Book

of Daniel the Prophet, who did according to his will and exalted and

magnified himself above every god; who divided the land for gain, and

had power over the treasures of gold and silver; who was troubled by
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tidings from the east and from the north; who went forth with great

fury to destroy and utterly make away many, and yet came to his end,

and none helped him.

All these circumstances, real and alleged, would be quite convincing

as reasons for Henry's failure ; but they are singularly inconclusive as

explanations of his success, of the facts that his people did not rise and

depose him, that no Spanish Armada disgorged its host on English

shores, and that, for all the Papal thunderbolts, Henry died quietly in

his bed fourteen years later, and was buried with a pomp and respect, to

which Popes themselves were little accustomed. He may have stood

alone in his confidence of success, and in his penetration through these

appearances into the real truth of the situation behind. That, from a purely

political or non-moral point of view, is his chief title to greatness. He

knew from the beginning what he could do ; he had counted the cost and

calculated the risks. When the Papal nuncio first hinted at excommunication

and a papal appeal to the secular arm, Henry declared that he cared nothing

for either. He would open the eyes of princes, he said, and show them

how small was really the power of the Pope. That threat, at least, he

fulfilled with a vengeance. He did not fear the Spaniards ; they might

come, he said, as they eventually did, and might not return. England,

he told his subjects, anticipating Shakespeare, was not conquerable, so

long as she remained united. The great fear of Englishmen was lest

Charles should ruin them by prohibiting the trade with Flanders. " Their

only comfort," wrote Chapuys, " is that the King persuades the people

that it is not In your Majesty's power to do so." Henry had put the

matter to a practical test, In the autumn of 1533, by closing the Staple

at Calais. It Is possible that the dispute between him and the merchants,

alleged as the cause for this step, was real ; but the King could have

provided his subjects with no more forcible object lesson. Distress was felt

at once In Flanders; complaints grew so clamorous that the Regent sent an

embassy post-haste to Henry to remonstrate, and to represent the closing

of the Staple as an Infraction of commercial treaties. Henry coldly replied
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tliat he had broken no treaties at all ; it was merely a private dispute

between his merchants and himself, in which foreign powers had no gronnd

for intervention. The envoys had to return, convinced against their will.

The Staple at Calais was soon re-opened, but the English King was able

to demonstrate to his people that the Flemings " could not do without

England's trade, considering the outcry they made when the Staple of

Calais was closed for only three months."

Henry, indeed, might almost be credited with second-sight into the

Emperor's mind. On May 31, 1533, Charles's council discussed the situa-

tion. After considering Henry's enormities, the councillors proceeded to

deliberate on the possible remedies. There were three : justice, force,

and a combination of both. The objections to relying on methods of

justice, that is, on the Papal sentence, were, firstly, that Henry would

not obey, and secondly, that the Pope was not to be trusted. The

objections to the employment of force were, that war would imperil the

whole of Europe, and especially the Emperor's dominions, and that Henry

had neither used violence towards Catherine nor given Charles any excuse

for breaking the treaty of Cambrai. Eventually, it was decided to leave

the matter to Clement. He was to be urged to give sentence against

Henry, but on no account to lay England under an interdict, as that

"would disturb her intercourse with Spain and Flanders. If, therefore, an

interdict be resorted to, it should be limited to one diocese, or to the

place where Henry dwells." Such an interdict might put a premium on

assassination, but otherwise neither Henry nor his people were likely to care

much about it. The Pope should, however, be exhorted to depose the

English King; that might pave the way for Mary's accession and for the

predominance in England of the Emperor's influence ; but the execution

of the sentence must not be intrusted to Charles. It would be excellent

if James V. or the Irish would undertake to beard the lion in his den,

but the Emperor did not see his way clear.

Charles was, indeed, afraid, not merely of Henry, but of Francis, who

was meditating fresh Italian schemes ; and various expedients were sug-
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gested to divert his attention in other directions. He might be assisted

in an attack upon Calais. "Calais" was Charles's cautious comment,

" is better as it is, for the security of" the Flanders." The Pope hinted

that the grant of Milan would win over Francis. It probably would; but

Cliarles would have abandoned half-a-dozen aunts rather than see Milan

in French possession. His real concern in the matter was not the

injustice to Catherine, but the destruction of the prospect of Mary's suc-

cession. That was a tangible political interest, and Charles was much

less anxious to have Henry censured than to have Mary's legitimate

claim to the throne established. He was a great politician, absolutely

impervious to personal wrong when its remedy conflicted with political

interests. "Though the Emperor," he said, "is bound to the Queen,

this is a private matter, and public considerations must be taken into

account." And public considerations, as he admitted a year later, "com-

pelled him to conciliate Henry." The least hint to Francis of any hostile

intent towards Henry would, thought Charles, be at once revealed to the

English King, and the two would join in making war on himself. War

he was determined to avoid, for, apart from the ruin of Flanders, which

it would involve, Henry and Francis had long been intriguing with the

Lutherans in Germany. A breach might easily precipitate civil strife in

the Empire. Francis, too, was always believed to have a working agree-

ment with the Turk ; Barbarossa was giving no little cause for alarm in

the Mediterranean ; while Henry on his part had established close rela-

tions with Lubeck and Hamburg, and was fomenting dissensions in Den-

mark, the crown of which he was offered.

This incurable jealousy between Francis and Charles made the French

King loth to weaken his friendship with Henry. The English King was

careful to impress upon the French ambassador that he could, in the last

resort, make his peace with Charles by taking back Catherine and by

restoring Mary to her place in the line of succession. Francis had too

poignant a recollection of the results of the union between Henry and Charles

from 1521 to 1525, ever to risk its renewal. The age of the crusades
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and chivalry was gone ; commercial and national rivalries were as potent

in the sixteenth century as they are to-day. Then, as in subsequent

times, mutual suspicions made impossible an effective concert of Europe

against the Turk. The fall of Rhodes and the death of Charles's own

brother-in-law at Mohacz had never been avenged, and, in 1534, the

Emperor was compelled to evacuate Goron. If Europe could not combine

against the common enemy of the Faith, was it likely to combine against one

who, in spite of all his enormities, was still an orthodox Christian? And,

without a combination of princes to execute them. Papal censures, excom-

munications, interdicts, and all the spiritual paraphernalia, served only

to probe the hoUowness of Papal pretensions, and to demonstrate the deaf-

ness of Europe to the calls of religious enthusiasm. In Spain, at least,

it might have been thought that every sword would leap from its scabbard

at a summons from Charles on behalf of the Spanish Queen. " Henry,"

wrote Chapuys, " has always fortified himself by the consent of Parlia-

ment." It would be well, he thought, if Charles could follow suit, and

induce the Cortes of Aragon and Castile, "or at least the grandees," to

offer their persons and goods in Catherine's cause. Such an offer, if pub-

lished in England, " will be of inestimable service." But here comes the

proof of Charles's pitiful impotence ; in order to obtain this public offer,

the Emperor was " to give them privately an exemption from such offer

and promise of persons and goods." It was to be one more pretence

like the others, and unfortunately for the Pope and for the Emperor, Henry

had an inconvenient habit of piercing disguises.

The strength of Henry's position at home was due to a similar lack

of unity among his domestic enemies. If the English people had wished

to depose him, they could have elFected their object without much diffi-

culty. In estimating the chances of a possible invasion, Chapuys points

out how entirely dependent Henry was upon his people : he has, said

the Spaniard, only one castle in London, and only a hundred yeomen of

the guard to defend him. He would, in fact, have been powerless against

a united people or even against a partial revolt, if well organised and
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really popular. There was chronic discontent throughout the Tudor period,

but it was sectional. The remnants of the old nobility always hated Tudor

methods of government, and the poorer commons were sullen at their

ill-treatment by the lords of the land ; but there was no common basis

of action between the two. The dominant class was commercial, and it

had no grievance against Henry, while it feared alike the lords and the

lower orders. In the spoliation of the Church temporal lords and com-

mercial men, both of whom could profit thereby, were agreed ; and

nowhere was there much sympathy with the Church as an institution apart

from its doctrine. Chapuys himself admits that the act, depriving the

clergy of their profits from leases, was passed "to please the people;"

and another conservative declared that, if the Church were deprived of all

its temporal goods, many would be glad and few would bemoan. Sym-

pathy with Catherine and hatred of Anne were general, but people thought,

like Charles, that these were private griefs, and that public considerations

must be taken into account. Englishmen are at all times reluctant to turn

out one government until they see at least the possibility of another to

take its place, and the only alternative to Henry VHI. was anarchy. The

opposition could not agree on a policy, and they could not agree on a

leader. There were various grandchildren of Edward IV. and of Clarence,

who might put forward distant claims to the throne ; and there were other

candidates in whose multitude lay Henry's safety. It was quite certain that

the pushing of any one of these claimants would throw the rest on

Henry's side. James V., whom at one time Chapuys favoured, knew that

a Scots invasion would unite the whole of England against him ; and

Charles was probably wise in rebuking his ambassador's zeal, and in

thinking that any attempt on his own part would be more disastrous to

himself than to Henry. For all this, the English King was, as Chapuys

remarks, keeping a very watchful eye on the countenance of his people,

seeing how far he could go and where he must stop, and neglecting no

precaution for the peace and security of himself and his kingdom. Acts

were passed to strengthen the navy, improvements in arms and armament
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were being continually tested, and the fortifications at Calais, on the Scots

Borders, and elsewhere Avere strengthened. Wales was I'educed to law

and order, and through the intermediation of Francis, a satisfactory peace

was made with Scotland.

Convinced of his security from attack at home and abroad, Henry

proceeded to accomplish what remained for the subjugation of the Church

in England and the final breach with Rome. Clement had no sooner

excommunicated Henry than he began to repent ; he was much more

alarmed than the English King at the probable effects of his sentence.

Henry at once recalled his ambassadors from Rome, and drew up an appeal

to a General Council. The Pope feared he would lose England for ever.

Even the Imperialists proved but Job's comforters, and told him that,

after all, it was only " an unprofitable island," the loss of which was not

to be compared with the renewed devotion of Spain and the Emperor's

other dominions
;
possibly they assured him that there would never again

be a sack of Rome. Clement delayed for a time the publication of the

sentence against Henry, and in November he went to his interview with

Francis I. at Marseilles. While he was there, Bonner intimated to him

Henry's appeal to a General Council. Clement angrily rejected the appeal

as frivolous, and Francis regarded this defiance of the Pope as an affront

to himself in the person of his guest, and as the ruin of his attempts to

reconcile the two parties. "Ye have clearly marred all," he said to Gar-

diner ; "as fast as I study to win the Pope, you study to lose him,"

and he declared that, had he known of the intimation beforehand, it

should never have been made. Henry, however, had no desire that the

Pope should be won. He was, he told the French ambassador, determined

to separate from Rome ; "he will not, in consequence of this, be less

Christian, but more so, for in everything and in every place he desires

to cause Jesus Christ to be recognised, who alone is the patron of Chris-
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tians ; and he will cause the Word to be preached, and not the canons

and decrees of the Pope."

Parliament was to meet to effect this purpose in January, 1534, and

during the previous autumn there are the first indications, traceable to

Cromwell's hand, of an attempt to pack it. He drew up a memorandum of

such seats as were vacant from death or from other causes; most of these

members appear to have been freely elected, but there were " several

vacancies to be fdled by the King's pleasure." More extensive and less

doubtful was the royal interference in the election of abbots. Many abbeys

fell vacant in 1533, and in every case commissioners were sent down to

secure the election of the Ring's nominee ; in many others, abbots were

induced to resign, and fresh ones put in their place. It is not clear that the

main object was to pack the clerical representation in the House of Lords,

because only a few of these abbots had seats there, the abbots gave much

less trouble than the bishops in Parliament, and Convocation, where they

largely outnumbered the bishops, was much more amenable than the

House of Peers, where the bishops' votes preponderated. It is more pro-

bable that the end in view was already the dissolution of the monasteries

by means of surrender. Cromwell, who was now said to " rule every-

thing," was boasting that he would make his King the richest monarch in

Christendom, and his methods may be guessed from his praise of the

Sultan as a model to other princes for the authority he wielded over his

subjects. Henry, however, was fortunate in 1533, even in the matter of

episcopal representation. He had, since the fall of Wolsey, had occasion

to fdl up the sees of York, Winchester, London, Durham, and Canter-

bury ; and in this year five more became vacant : Bangor, Ely, Coventry

and Lichfield by death, and Salisbury and Worcester through the deprivation

by Act of Parliament of their foreign and absentee pastors, Campeggio and

Ghinucci. Of the other bishops. Clerk of Bath and Wells, and Longland

of Lincoln, had been active in the divorce, which, indeed, Longland, the

King's confessor, was said to have originally suggested about the year

1523 ; the Bishops ot Norwich and of Chichester were both over ninety
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years of age. Llaiulalf was (^allicrines confessor, a Spaniard wlio could

not speak a word of English. On the whole bench there was no one but

Fisher of Rochester, who had the will or the courage to make any effective

stand on behalf of the Church's liberty.

Before Parliament met, Francis sent Du Rcllay, Bishop of Paris, to

London to make one last effort to keep the peace between England and

Rome. Du Bellay could get no concessions of any value from Henry.

All the King would promise was that, if Clement would before Easter

declare his marriage with Catherine null and that with Anne valid, he

would not complete the extirpation of the Papal authority. Little enough

of that remained, and Henry himself had probably no expectation and no

wish that his terms should be accepted. Long before Du Bellay had

reached Rome, Parliament was discussing; measures designed to effect the

final severance. Opposition was of the feeblest character alike in Convoca-

tion and in both Houses of Parliament. Chapuys himself gloomily pro-

phesied that there would be no difficulty in getting the principal measures,

abolishing the Pope's authority and arranging for the election of bishops,

through the House of Lords. The second Act of Appeals embodied the

concessions made by Convocation in 1532 and rejected that year in the

House of Lords. Convocation was neither to meet nor to legislate without the

King's assent; Henry might appoint a royal commission to reform the canon

law ; appeals were to be permitted to Chancery from the Archbishop's

Court ; abbeys and other religious houses, which had been exempt from

episcopal authority, were placed immediately under the jurisdiction of

Chancery. A fresh Act of Annates defined more precisely the new method

of electing bishops, and provided that, if the Chapter did not elect the

royal nominee within twelve days, the King might appoint him by letters

patent. A third act forbade the payment of Peter-pence and other impo-

sitions to the Court of Rome, and handed over the business of dispensa-

tions and licences to the Archbishop of Canterbury ; at the same time it

declared that neither King nor realm meant to vary from the articles of

the Catholic Faith of Christendom. An act, pressed upon the King by
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Parliament, provided that charges of heresy must be supported by two

lay witnesses, and that indictments for that offence could only be made

by lay authorities.

The final act of the session, which ended on March 30, was a constitu-

tional innovation of the utmost importance. From the earliest ages the

succession to the crown had, or was supposed to have, been determined,

first by election, and then by indefeasible hereditary right. But right is

vague, it may be disputed, and there was endless variety of opinion as

to the proper claimant to the throne if Henry should die. So vague right

was to be replaced by definite law, which could not be disputed, but

which, unlike right, could be easily changed. The succession was no

longer to be regulated by an unalterable principle, but by the popular

(or royal) will expressed in Acts of Parliament. The first of a long series

of Acts of Succession was now passed to vest the succession to the

crown in the heirs of the King by Anne Boleyn ; clauses were added

declaring that persons who impugned that marriage by writing, printing,

or other deed were guilty of treason, and those who impugned it by

words, of misprision. The Government proposal that both classes of

offenders should be held guilty of treason was modified by the House of

Commons.

On March 23, a week before the prorogation of Parliament, and seven

years after the Divorce case had first begun, Clement gave sentence at

Rome pronouncing valid the marriage between Catherine and Henry. The

decision produced not a ripple on the surface of English affairs ; Henry,

writes Chapuys, took no account of it and was making as good cheer

as ever. There was no reason why he should not. While the Impe-

rialist mob at Rome after its kind paraded the streets in crowds, shout-

ing " Imperio et Espagne," and firing feux-de-joie over the news, the

Imperialist agent was writing to Charles that the judgment would not be

of much profit, except for the Emperor's honour and the Queen's justi-

fication, and was congratulating his master that he was not bound to

execute the sentence. Flemings were tearing down the Papal censures
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from the doors of their churclies, and Charles was as convinced as ever of

the necessity of Henry's friendship. He proposed to the Pope that some-

one should be sent from Rome to join Chapuys in "trying to move the

King from his error;" and Clement could only reply that "he thought

the embassy would have no elTect on the Ring, but that nothing would

be lost bv it, and it would be a good compliment !
" Henry, however,

was less likely to be influenced by compliments
,
good or bad , than

by the circumstance that neither Pope nor Emperor was in a position to

employ any ruder persuasive. There was none so poor as to reverence

a Pope, and, when Clement died six months later, the Roman populace

broke into the chamber where he lay and stabbed his corpse ; they were

with difficulty prevented from dragging it in degradation through the

streets. Such was the respect paid to the supreme Pontilf in the Holy

City, and deference to his sentence was not to be expected in more

distant parts.

Henry's political education was now complete ; the events of the last

five years had proved to him the truth of the assertion, with which he

had started, that the Pope might do what he liked at Rome, but that

he also could do what he liked in England, so long as he avoided the

active hostility of the majority of his lay subjects. The Church had, by

its actions, shown him that it was powerless; the Pope had proved the

impotence of his spiritual weapons ; and the Emperor had admitted that

he was both unable and unwilling to interfere. Henry had realised the

extent of his power, and the opening of his eyes had an evil effect upon

his character. Nothing makes men or Governments so careless or so

arbitrary as the knowledge that there will be no effective opposition to

their desires. Henry, at least, never grew careless; his watchful eye was

always wide open. His ear was always strained to catch the faintest rum-

bling of a coming storm, and his subtle intellect was ever on the alert to

take advantage of every turn in the diplomatic game. He was always efficient,

and he took good care that his ministers should be so as well. But he

became very arbitrary ; the knowledge that he could do almost whatever he
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wished was to him an irresistible reason for doing it. De.spotic power is

twice cursed; it debases the ruler and degrades the subject; and Henry's

progress to despotism may be connected with the rise of Thomas Cromwell,

who looked to the Great Turk as a model for Christian princes. Cromwell

became secretary in May, 1534 ; in that month Henry's security was

enhanced by the definitive peace with Scotland, and he set to work to

enforce his authority with the weapons which Parliament had placed in

his hands. Elizabeth Barton, and her accomplices, two Friars Obser-

vants, two monks, and one secular priest, all attainted of treason by

Act of Parliament, were sent to the block. Commissioners were sent

round, as Parliament had ordained, to enforce the oath of Succession

throughout the land. A general refusal would have stopped Henry's career,

but the general consent left Henry free to deal as he liked with the

exceptions. Fisher and More were sent to the Tower. They were willing

to swear to the Succession, regarding that as a matter within the com-

petence of Parliament, but they refused to take the oath required by

the commissioners ; it contained, ihey alleged, a repudiation of the Pope

not justified by the terms of the statute. Two cart-loads of Friars fol-

lowed them to the Tower in June, and the order of Observants, in

Avhose church at Greenwich Henry had been baptized and married, and

of whom in his earlier years he had written in terms of warm admira-

tion, was suppressed altogether.

In November, Parliament reinforced the Act of Succession by laying

down the precise terms of the oath, and providing that a certificate of

refusal signed by two commissioners was as effective as the indictment

of twelve jurors. Other Acts empowered the King to repeal by royal

proclamation certain statutes regulating imports and exports. The. first-

fruits and tenths, of which the Pope had been already deprived, were

now conferred on the King as a fitting ecclesiastical endowment for the

Supreme Head of the Church. That title, granted him four years before

by both Convocations, was confirmed by Act of Parliament ; its object

was to enable the King as Supreme Head to effect the " increase of virtue
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ill (llirist's Religion within this Realm of England, and to repress and

extirp all Errors, Heresies and other Enormities, and Abuses heretofore

used in the same." The Defender of the Faith was to be armed with

more than a delegate power ; he was to be supreme in himself, the

champion not of the Faith of anyone else, but of his own; and the quali-

fying clause, "as far as the law of Christ allows," was omitted. His

orthodoxy must be above suspicion, or at least beyond the reach of open

cavil in England. So new treasons were enacted, and anyone who called

the King a heretic, schismatic, tyrant, infidel, or usurper, was rendered

liable to the heaviest penalty which the law could inflict. As an earnest

of the royal and parliamentary desire for an increase of virtue in religion,

an act was concurrently passed providing for the creation of a number of

suffragan bishops.

Henry was now Pope in England with powers no Pope had possessed.

The Reformation is variously regarded as the liberation of the English Church

from the Roman yoke it had long impatiently borne, as its subjection to

an Erastian yoke which it was henceforth, with more or less patience,

long to bear, or as a comparatively unimportant assertion of a supremacy

which Kings of England had always enjoyed. The Church is the same

Church, we are told, before and after the change ; if anything, it was

Protestant before the Reformation, and Catholic after. It is, of course,

the same Church. A man may be described as the same man before and

after death, and the business of a coroner's jury is to establish the iden-

tity ; but it does not ignore the vital difference. And the identity of the

Church before and after the legislation of Henry VIII. covers a considerable

number of not unimportant changes. It does not, however, seem strictly

accurate to say that Henry either liberated or enslaved the Church. Rather,

he substituted one form of despotism for another, a sole for a dual control.

The democratic movement within the Church had died away, like the demo-

cratic movements in national and municipal politics, before the end ot the

fifteenth century. It was never merry with the Church, complained a

Catholic in 1533, since the time wdien bishops were wont to be chosen
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by the Holy Ghost ami by their Chapters. The free election of bishops

and abbots had long given way before a system of joint royal and papal

nomination.

Since then the Church had been governed by a partnership between King

and Pope, without much regard for the votes of the shareholders. It was

not Henry who first deprived them of influence ; neither did he restore

it. What he did was to eject his foreign partner, appropriate his share

of the profits, and put his part of the business into the hands of a

manager. First-fruits and tenths were described as an intolerable burden
;

but Ihey were not abolished ; they were merely transferred from the

Pope to the King. Bishops became royal nominees, pure and simple,

instead of the joint nominees of King and Pope. The supreme appel-

late jurisdiction was taken away from Rome, but it was not restored

to the English Church. For one year, indeed, it was left in Cran-

mer's hands; Henry could not, in decency, decide the all-pervading suit

between Catherine and himself ; but as soon as that was out of the

way. Chancery, and not the Archbishop's Court, was made the final

resort for ecclesiastical appeals. The authority, divided erstwhile be-

tween two, was concentrated in the hands of one; and that one was

thus placed in a far different position from that which either had held

before.

The change was analogous to that in Republican Rome from two consuls

to one dictator. In both cases the dictatorship was due to exceptional

circumstances. There had long been a demand for reform in the Church

in England as well as elsewhere, but the Church was powerless to

reform itself. The dual control was in effect, as dual controls often are,

a practical anarchy. The condition of the Church before the Reformation

may be compai-ed with that of France before the Revolution. In purely

spiritual matters the Pope was supreme : the conciliar movement of the

fifteenth century had failed. The Pope had gathered all powers to him-

self, in much the same way as the French monarch in the eighteenth

century had done ; and the result was the same, a formal despotism and
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a real anarchy. Pope and Monarch were crushed by the weight of their

own authority; they coukl not reform, even when they wanted to. P^rom

1500 to l.)30 almost every scheme started in Europe was based on the

plea that its ultimate aim was the reform of the Church; and so it would

have continued, co.r et praeterea nihil, had not the Church been galvanized

into action by the loss of half its inheritance. In England the change

from a dual to a sole control at once made that control effective, and

reform became possible. But it was a reform imposed on the Church

from without and by means of the exceptional powers bestowed on the

Supreme Head. Hence the burden of modern clerical criticism of the

Reformation. Objection is raised not so much to the things that were

done, as to the means by which they were brought to pass, to the

fact that the Church was forcibly reformed by the State, and not freed

from the trammels of Rome, and then left to work out its own sal-

vation. But the view of Henry, of the laity, and even of a party in

the Church itself, was that the clergy were a privileged class, that it was

contrary to all reason and experience to expect them, being such, to

reform themselves, and that reform, if it was to come at all, must come

from W'ithout.

Henry's dictatorship was also temporary in character. His supremacy

over the Church was royal, and not parliamentary. It was he, and not

Parliament, that had been invested with a semi-ecclesiastical nature. In

one capacity he was head of the State, in another, head of the Church.

Parliament and Convocation were co-ordinate one with another, and sub-

ordinate to the King. The Tudors, and especially Elizabeth, vehemently

denied to their Parliaments any share in their ecclesiastical powers.

Their supremacy over the Church was their own, and, as a really effective

control, it died with them. As the authority of the Crown declined, its

secular powers were seized by Parliament ; its ecclesiastical powers fell

into abeyance between Parliament and Convocation. Neither has been

able to vindicate an exclusive claim to the inheritance ; and the result

of this dual claim to control has been a state of helplessness, similar in
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some respects to that from which the Church was rescued by the violent

metliods of Henry VHI.

Henry's title as Supreme Head of the Church was incorporated in the

royal style by letters patent of January 15, 1535, and that year was mainly

employed in compelling its recognition by all sorts and conditions of men.

In April, Houghton, the prior of the Charterhouse, a monk of Sion, and

the vicar of Isleworth, were the first victims offered to the Supreme

Head. But the machinery supplied by Parliament was barely sufficient

to bring the penalties of the statute to bear on the two most illustrious

of Henry's opponents, Fisher and More. Both had been attainted of mis-

prision of treason by Acts of Parliament in the previous autumn ; but

those penalties extended no further than to life-long imprisonment and

forfeiture of goods. Their lives could only be exacted by proving that

they had maliciously attempted to deprive Henry of his title of Supreme

Head ; their opportunities in the Tower for compassing that end were

limited; and it is possible that they would not have been further molested,

but for the incredible folly of Clement's successor, Paul III. Impotent

to effect anything against the King, the Pope did his best to sting

Henry to fury by creating Fisher a cardinal on May 20. He afterwards

explained that he meant no harm, but the harm was done, and it involved

Fisher's friend and ally. Sir Thomas More. Henry declared that he would

send the new cardinal's head to Rome for the hat ; and he immediately

despatched commissioners to the Tower to inform Fisher and More that,

unless they acknowledged the royal supremacy, they would be put to

death as traitors. Fisher apparently denied the King's supremacy, More

refused to answer ; he was, however, entrapped during a conversa-

tion with the Solicitor-General, Rich, into an admission that Englishmen

could not be bound to acknowledge a supremacy over the Church in

which other countries did not concur. In neither case was it clear that
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they came within the chitrhes of the hiw. Fisher, indeed, had really

been guilty of treason. More than once he had urged Chapuys to press

upon Charles the invasion of England, but this fact was unknown to the

Enalish Government. The evidence it had collected was, however, con-

sidered sufficient by the juries which tried the prisoners ; Fisher went to

the scaffold on June 22, and More on July 6. Condemned justly or not

by the law, both sought their death in a cjuarrel which is as old as the

hills and will last till the crack of doom. Where shall we place the

limits of conscience, and where those of the national will ? Is conscience

a luxury which only a king may enjoy in peace? Fisher and More refused

to accommodate theirs to Acts of Parliament, but neither believed con-

science to be the supreme tribunal. More admitted that in temporal

matters his conscience was bound by the laws of England ; in spiritual

matters the conscience of all was bound by the will of Christendom ; and

on that ground both Fisher and he rejected the plea of conscience when

urged by the heretics they condemned to the flames. The dispute, indeed,

passes the wit of man to decide. If conscience must reign supreme, all

government is apis dltcr, and in anarchy the true millennium must be found.

If conscience is deposed, man sinks to the level of the lower creation.

Human society can only be based on compromise, and compromise itself is

a matter of conscience. Fisher and More protested by their death against

a principle which they had practised in life; both they and the heretics

whom they persecuted proclaimed, as Antigone had done thousands of years

before, that they could not obey laws which they could not believe God

had made.

It was the personal eminence of the victims rather than the merits

of their case that made Europe thrill with horror at the news of their

death ; for scores of others were sacrificing their lives in a similar cause

in most of the countries of Christendom. For the first and last time in

English history a cardinal's head had rolled from an English scaffold;

and Paul III. made an effort to bring into play the artillery of his temporal

powers. As supreme lord over all the princes of the earth, he arrogated
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to himself the right to deprive Henry Vlll. of his kingdom; and he sent

couriers to the various Courts to seek tlicir co-operation in executing his

judgment. But the weapons of Innocent HI. were rusty with age. F'rancis

denounced the Pope's claim as a most impudent attack on monarchical

dignity; and Charles was engaged in the conquest of Tunis. Thus Henry

was able to take a high tone in reply to the remonstrances addressed to

him, and to proceed undisturbed with the work of enforcing his royal

supremacy. The autumn was occupied mainly by a visitation of the

monasteries and of the universities of Oxford and Cambridge; the school-

men, Thomas Aquinas, Duns Scotus, and others were deposed from the

seat of authority they had held for so many centuries, and efforts were

made to substitute studies like that of the civil law, more in harmony

with the King's doctrine and with his views of royal authority.

The more boldly Henry defied the Fates, the more he was favoured

by Fortune. The new year was but eight days old when the persecuted

Queen, Catherine of Aragon, died, resolutely refusing to the last to

acknowledge in any way the invalidity of her marriage with Henry. She

had derived some comfort from the Papal sentence in her favour, but

thai was not calculated to soften the harshness with which she was

treated. Her pious soul, too, was troubled with the thought that she

had been the occasion, innocent though she was, of the heresies that

had arisen in England, and of the enormities that had been practised

against the Church. Her last days were cheered by a visit from Chapuys,

who went down to Kimbolton on New Year's day and stayed until the

5th of January, when the Queen seemed well on the road to recovery.

Three days later she passed away, and on the 29th she was buried with

the state of a Princess Dowager in the church of the Benedictine abbey

at Peterborough. Her physician told Chapuys that he suspected poison,

but the symptoms are now declared, on high medical authority, to have

been those of cancer of the heart. The suspicion was the natural result

of the circumstance that her death relieved the King of a pressing

anxiety. "God be praised!" he exclaimed, "we are now delivered
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from ;ill foar of war;" and on llic following tlay he proclaiinccl his joy

l)y appearing at a ball, clad in yellow from head to foot. Even Bishop

Gardiner wrote that by her death " God had given sentence " in the

Divorce suit between her and the King.

A week later, the Reformation Parliament met for its seventh and last

session. It sat from February 4 to April 14, and in those ten weeks

succeeded in passing no fewer than sixty-two acts. Some were local and

some were private, but the residue contained not a few of public import-

ance. The fact that the Ring obtained at last his statute of Uses may

indicate that Henry's skill and success had so impressed Parliament, that

it was more willing to acquiesce in his demands than it had been in its

earlier sessions. But, if the drafts in the Record Office are to be taken

as indicating the proposals of Government, and the acts themselves are

those proposals as modified in one or other House, Parliament must

have been able to enforce views of its own to a certain extent; for

those drafts differ materially from the Acts as finally passed. Not a few

of the bills were welcome, if unusual, concessions to the clergy. They

were relieved from paying tenths in the year they paid their first-fruits.

The payment of tithes, possibly rendered doubtful in the wreck of canon

law, was enjoined by Act of Parliament. An attempt was made to deal

with the poor, and another, if not to check enclosures, at least to

extract some profit for the Ring from the process. It was made high

treason to counterfeit the Ring's sign-manual, privy signet, or privy seal;

and Henry was empowered by Parliament, as he had before been by

Convocation, to appoint a commission to reform the canon law. But the

chief acts of the session were for the dissolution of the lesser monasteries

and for the erection of a Court of Augmentations in order to deal with the

revenues which were thus to accrue to the Ring.

The way for this great revolution had been carefully prepared during

the previous autumn and winter. In virtue of his new and effective

supremacy, Henry had ordered a general visitation of the monasteries

throughout the greater part of the kingdom ; and the reports of these
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visitors were made the basis of parliamentarv action. On the face of

them they represent a condition of human depravity -which has rarely

been equalled : and the extent to which those reports are worthy of credit

will always remain a point of contention. The visitors themselves were

men of doubtful character : indeed, respectable men could hardiv have

been persuaded to do the work. Their methods were certainly harsh

;

the object of their mission was to get up a case for the Crown, and

they probably used every means in their power to induce the monks and

the nuns to incriminate themselves. Perhaps, too. an entirelv false im-

pression may be created by the fact that in most cases only the guilty

are mentioned : the innocent are often passed over in silence, and the

proportion between the two is not recorded. Some of the terms emploved

in the reports are also oj>en to dispute ; it is possible that in manv

instances the stigma of unchastity attached to a nun merely meant that she

had been unchaste before entering religion, and it is known that nun-

neries were considered the proper resort for ladies who had not been

careful enough of their honour. On the other hand, the lax state of

monastic morality does not depend only upon the visitors' reports ; apart

from satires like those of Skelton, from ballads, and from other mirrors

of popular opinion or prejudice, the correspondence of Henry VIII. "s reign

is, firom its commencement, full of references, by bishops and other unim-

peachable witnesses, to the necessity of drastic reform. Wolsey had felt

the need of it. and had begun the process of suppression, with a view

to increasing the number of cathedrals and devoting other proceeds to

educational endowments. Friar Peto, afterwards a cardinal, who had fled

abroad to escape Henry's anger for his bold denunciation of the Divorce,

and who had no possible motive for cloaking his conscientious opinion,

admitted that there were grave abuses, and approved of the dissolution

of monasteries, if their endowments were used for proper ends. The

reports of the visitors, too. can hardly be entirely false, though they may

not be entirely true. The charges they make are not vague, but very

precise. They specify names of the offenders, and the nature of their
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ofTences; and an air of verisimilitude, if nothing more, is imparted to the

condemnations they pronounce against the many, by the commendations they

bestow on the few.

Probably the staunchest champion of monasticism would acknowledge

that in the reign of Henry VIII. there was at least a plausible case for

mending monastic morals. But that was not then the desire of the

government of Henry VIII. ; and the case for mending their morals was

tacitly assumed to be the same as a case for ending the monasteries. It

would be unjust to Henrv to deny that he had always shown himself

careful of the appearance, at least, of morality in the Church ; but it

requires a robust faith in the Ring's disinterestedness to believe that dis-

solution was not the real object of the visitation, and that it was merely

forced upon him by the reports of the visitors. The moral question

afiforded a erood excuse, but the monasteries fell, not so much because

their morals were lax, as because their position was weak. Moral laxity

contributed no doubt to the general result, but there were other causes

at work. The monasteries themselves had long been conscious that their

possession of wealth was not, in the eyes of the middle-class laity, justified

by the use to which it was put ; and, for some generations at least,

they had been seeking to make friends with Mammon by giving up part

of their revenues, in the form of pensions and corrodies to courtiers, in

the hope of being allowed to retain the remainder. Such grants were

utterly alien from the spirit of monastic foundations, and their only effect

was to whet the lay appetite for more. It had also become the custom

to entrust the stewardship of their possessions to secular hands ; and,

possibly as a result, the monasteries were soon so deeply in debt to the

neighbouring gentry that their lay creditors saw no hope of recovering

their claims except by extensive foreclosures. There had certainly been a

good deal of private spoliation before the Ring gave the practice a national

character. The very privileges of the monasteries were now turned to

their ruin. Their immunity from episcopal jurisdiction deprived them of

episcopal aid ; their exemption from all authority, save that of the Pope,
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left them without support, when the Papal jurisdiction was abolished.

Monastic orders knew no distinction of nationality. The national cha-

racter claimed for the mediaeval Church in England, could scarcely cover

the monasteries, and no place was found for them in the Church when

it was given a really national garb.

Their dissolution is probably to be connected with Cromwell's boast

that he would make his King the richest prince in Christendom. That was

not its effect, because Henry was compelled to distribute the greater part

of the spoils among his nobles and gentry. One rash reformer suggested

that monastic lands should be devoted to educational purposes ; had that

plan been followed, education in England would have been more magnifi-

cently endowed than in any other country of the world, and England might

have become a democracy in the seventeenth century. From this point

of view, Henry spoilt one of the greatest opportunities in English history;

from another, he saved England from a most serious danger. Had the

crown retained the wealth of the monasteries, the Stuarts might have

made themselves independent of Parliament. But this service to liberty

was not voluntary on Henry's part. The dissolution of the monasteries

was in effect, and probably in intention, a gigantic bribe to the laity to

induce them to acquiesce in the revolution effected by Henry VIII. When

he was gone, his successors might desire, or fail to prevent, a reaction
;

something more permanent than Henry's iron hand was required to sup-

port the fabric he had raised. That support was sought in the wealth

of the Church. The prospect had, from the very opening of the Reformation

Parliament, been dangled before the eyes of the new nobles, the members

of Parliament, the justices of the peace, the rich merchants who thirsted

for lands wherewith to make themselves gentlemen. Chapuys again and

again mentions a scheme for distributing the lands of the Church amono-

the laity as a project for the ensuing session; but their time was not

yet; not until their work was done were the labourers to reap their

reward. The dissolution of the monasteries harmonised well with the

secular principles of these predominant classes. The monastic ideal of
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going out of iho world to sock something, which cannot he vahied in

terms of pounds, shillings, and pence, is ahhorient to a husy, indus-

trial age ; and every principle is hated most at the time when it most

is needed.

Intimately associated as they were in their lives, Catherine of Aragon

and Anne Boleyn were not long divided hy death; and, piteous as is the

story of the last years of Catherine, it pales before the hideous tragedy

of the ruin of Anne Boleyn. On January 29, 1536, the day of her rival's

funeral, Anne Boleyn was prematurely delivered of a dead child. It was

her second miscarriage, and Henry's old conscience began to work again.

In Catherine's case the path of his conscience was that of a slow and

laborious pioneer; now it moved easily on its royal road to divorce. On

January 29, Chapuys, ignorant of Anne's miscarriage, was retailing to his

master a court rumour that Henry intended to marry again. The King was

reported to have said that he had been seduced by witchcraft when he

married his second Queen, and that the marriage was null for this reason,

and because God would not permit them to have male issue. There

was no peace for her who supplanted her mistress. Within three months

of her marriage, Henry's roving fancy had given her cause for jealousy,

and, when she complained, he is said to have brutally told her she must

put up with it as her belters had done before. These disagreements, how-

ever, were described by Chapuys as mere lovers' quarrels, and they were

generally followed by reconciliations, after which .\nne's influence seemed

as secure as ever. But by January, 1536, the imperial ambassador and

others were counting on a fresh divorce. The rumour grew as spring

advanced, when suddenly, on May 2, Anne was arrested and sent to the

Tower. She was accused of incest with her brother, Lord Rochford,

and of less criminal intercourse with Sir Francis Weston, Henry Norris,

William Brereton, and .Mark Smeaton. All were condemned by juries to
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death for high treason on May 12. Three days later Anne herself was

put on her trial by a panel of twenty-six peers, over which her uncle,

the Duke of Norfolk, presided. They returned a unanimous verdict of

guilty, and, on the 19th, the Queen's head was struck off with the sword

of an executioner brought for the purpose from St. Omer.

Two days before Anne's death, her marriage with Henry had been declared

invalid by a court of ecclesiastical lawyers with Cranmer at its head. The

grounds of the sentence are not stated, but there may have been two— the

alleged precontract with the Earl of Northumberland, which the earl denied

on oath and on the sacrament, and the previous affinity between Anne and

Henry arising from the King's relations with Mary Boleyn. The latter seems

the more probable. Henry had obtained of Clement VII. a dispensation from

this disability ; but the Pope's power to dispense had been denied, while

the canonical objection remained. The effects of this piece of wanton

injustice were among the troubles which Henry bequeathed to Queen Eliza-

beth; the sole advantage to Henry was that his infidelities to Anne ceased

to be breaches of the seventh commandment. The justice of her sentence

to death is also open to doubt. Anne herself went to the block boldly

proclaiming her innocence. Death she regarded as a relief from an

intolerable situation, and she " laughed heartily," writes the Lieutenant

of the Tower as she put her hands round her "little neck," and thought

how easy the executioner's task would be. She complained when the day

of her release from this Avorld was deferred, and regretted that so many

innocent persons should suffer through her. Of her accomplices, none con-

fessed but Smeaton, though Henry is said, before Anne's arrest, to have

offered Norris a pardon if he would admit his crime. On the other hand,

her conduct must have made the charges plausible. Even in those days,

when justice to individuals was regarded as dust if weighed in the balance

against the real or supposed interests of the State, it is not credible that

the juries should have found her accomplices guilty, that twenty-six peers,

including her uncle, should have condemned Anne herself, without some

colourable justification. If the charges were merely invented to ruin the
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Queen, one culprit besides herself would have been enough. To assume

that Henry sent four needless victims to the block is to accuse him of a

lust for superfluous butchery, of which even he, in his most bloodthirsty

moments, was not capable.

On the day that his second Queen was beheaded, Henry obtained from

Cranmer a special licence to marry a third. He was betrothed on the

morrow and privately married on the 30th of May. The lady of his

choice was Jane, daughter of Sir John Seymour of WoU Hall in \A'ilt-

shire. She was descended on her mother's side from Edward HI., and

Cranmer had to dispense with a canonical bar to the marriage arising

from her consanguinity to the Ring in the third and fourth degrees. She

had been lady-in-waiting to the two previous Queens, and her brother, Sir

Edward Seymour, the future Protector, had for years been steadily rising

in Henry's favour. In October, 1535, the Ring had paid a visit to Wolf

Hall, and from that time his attentions to Jane became marked. She

seems to have received them Avith real reluctance; she refused a purse of

gold and returned the Ring's letters unopened. She even obtained a

promise from Henry that he would not speak with her except in the pre-

sence of others, and the Ring ejected Cromwell from his rooms in the

Palace in order to bestow them on Sir Edward Seymour, and thus to

provide a place where he and Jane could converse without scandal. All

this modesty has, of course, been attributed to prudential and ambitious

motives, which were as wise as they were successful. But Jane seems to

have had no enemies, except Luther who denounced her as an enemy to

the Gospel, probably because she extinguished the shining light of Anne

Boleyn. Cardinal Pole described her as "full of goodness," and she

certainly did her best to reconcile Henry with his daughter the Princess

Mary, whose treatment began to improve from the fall of Anne Boleyn.

"She is," writes Chapuys, "of middle stature, and no great beauty; so

fair that one would call her rather pale than otherwise." But all agreed

in praising her intelligence. She had neither Catherine's force of cha-

racter nor the temper of Anne Boleyn ; she was a woman of gentle
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spirit, striving always to mitigate the rigour of others; her brief married

life was probably happier than that of any other of Henry's Queens ; and

her importance is mainly due to the fact that she bore to Henry his only

legitimate son.

The disgrace of Anne Boleyn necessitated the summons of a fresh Par-

liament to put the succession to the crown on yet another basis. The Long-

Parliament had been dissolved on April 14 ; another was called to meet on

the 8th of June. The eighteen acts passed during its six weeks' session

illustrate the parallel development of the Reformation and of the royal

autocracy. The Act of Succession made Anne's daughter Elizabeth a bastard,

without declaring Catherine's daughter, Mary, legitimate, and settled the

crown on Henry's prospective issue by Jane. A unique clause empowered

the King to dispose of the crown at will, should he have no issue by

his present Queen. Probably he intended it, in that case, for the Duke of

Richmond ; but the Duke's life was ebbing fast, and four days after the dis-

solution of Parliament, he breathed his last. The royal prerogative was

extended by a statute enabling a king, when he reached the age of twenty-

four, to repeal by proclamation any act passed during his minority; and the

royal caste was further exalted by a statute making it high treason for

anyone to marry a king's daughter, legitimate or not, his sister, his niece,

or his aunt on the father's side, without royal licence. The reform of clerical

abuses was advanced by an act to prevent non-residence, and by another to

obviate the delay in instituting to benefices practised by bishops with a view

to keeping the tithes of the vacant benefice in their own hands. The breach

with Rome was widened still further by a statute, declaring all who extolled

the Pope's authority to be guilty of Prajmunire, imposing an oath of renun-

ciation on all lay and clerical officers, and making the refusal of that oath

high treason. Thus the hopes of a reaction built on the fall of those

"apostles of the new sect," Anne Boleyn and her relatives, were promptly

and roughljr destroyed.

Henry's position had been immensely strengthened alike by the death

of Catherine of Aragon and by the fall of Anne Boleyn ; and on both
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occasions he had expressed his appreciation of the fact in the most inde-

cent and heartless manner. He was now free to marry whom he liked,

and no objection based on canon or on any other law could be raised to the

legitimacy of his future issue ; whether the Pope could dispense or not,

it made no difference to Edward VI. 's claim to the throne. The fall of

Anne Boleyn, in spite of some few rumours that she might have been

condemned on insufficient evidence, was generally popular; for her arro-

gance and that of her family made them hated, and they were regarded

as the cause of the King's persecution of Catherine, of Mary, and of those

who maintained their cause. Abroad the efTect was still more strikina-. The

moment Henry heard of Catherine's death, he added a postscript to Crom-

well's despatch to the English ambassadors in France, bidding them to take

a higher tone with Francis, for all cause of difference had been removed

between him and Charles V. The Emperor secretly believed that his aunt

had been poisoned, but that private grief was not to affect his public policy
;

and Charles, Francis, and even the Pope, became more or less eager com-

petitors for Henry's favour. The bull of deprivation, which had been drawn

up and signed, became a dead letter, and everyone was anxious to disavow

his share in its promotion. Charles obtained the suspension of its publica-

tion, made a merit of that service to Henry, and tried to represent that it

was Francis Avho, with his eyes on the English crown, had extorted the bull

from the Pope. Paul III. himself used words to the English envoy at Rome,

which might be interpreted as an apology for his denunciations of the

execution of Fisher and More.

Henry had been driven by fear of Charles in the previous year to make

further advances than he relished towards union with the German princes

;

but the Lutherans could not be persuaded to adopt Henry's views of the

mass and of his marriage with Catherine ; and now he was glad to sub-

stitute an understanding with the Emperor for intrigues with the Emperor's

subjects. Cromwell and the council were , indeed, a little too eager to

welcome Chapuys' professions of friendship and to entertain his demands

for help against Francis. Henry allowed them to go on for a time ; but
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Cromwell was never in Wolsey's position, and the King was not inclined

to repeat his own and the Cardinal's errors of 1521. He had suffered

enough from the prostration of France and the predominance of Charles

;

and he was anxious now that neither should be supreme. So, when the

imperial ambassador came expecting Henry's assent, he, Cromwell, and

the rest of the council were amazed to hear the King break out into an

uncompromising defence of the French king's conduct in invading Savoy and

Piedmont. That invasion was the third stroke of good fortune which

befell Henry in 1536. As Henry and Ferdinand had, in 1512, diverted

their arms from the Moors in order to make war on the Most Christian

King, so, in 1536, the Most Christian King and the sovereign, who was

at once King Catholic and the temporal head of Christendom, instead of

turning their arms against the monarch who had outraged and defied the

Church, turned them against one another. Francis had never lost sight

of Milan ; he had now recovered from the effects of Pavia ; and in the

spring of 1536 he overran Savoy and Piedmont. In April, the Emperor

once more visited Rome, and on the 17th he delivered a famous oration

in the papal Consistory. In that speech he denounced neither Luther nor

Henry Vlll. ; he reserved his invectives for Francis I. Unconsciously he

demonstrated once and for all that unity of faith was impotent against

diversity of national interests, and that, whatever deference princes might

profess to the counsels of the Vicar of Christ, the counsels they would

follow would be those of secular impulse.

Henry was thus left to deal with the great domestic crisis of his reign

without intervention from abroad. The dissolution of the monasteries inevi-

tably inflicted considerable hardship on a numerous body of men. It had

been arranged that the inmates of the dissolved religious houses should

either be pensioned or transferred to other monasteries ; but, although the

pensions were adequate and sometimes even generous in scale, and although
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the commissioners themselves showed a desire to prevent unnecessary

trouble by obtaining licences for many houses to continue for a time,

the monks found some difficulty in obtaining their pensions, and Chapuys

ihaws a moving picture of ihcir sufl'erings as they wandered about the

country, seeking employment in a market that was already overstocked

with labour, and endeavouring to earn a livelihood by means to which

they had never been accustomed. They met with no little sympathy from

the commons, who were oppressed with a like scarcity of work, and

who had looked to the monasteries for such relief as charity could afford.

Nowhere were these feelings so strong as in the North of England, and

there the commissioners for dissolving the monasteries were often met

with open resistance. Religious discontent was one of the motives for

revolt, but probably the rebels were drawn mainly from evicted tenants,

deprived of their holdings by enclosures or by the conversion of land from

tillage to pasture, men who had nothing to lose and everything to gain

by a general turmoil. In these men the wandering monks found ready

listeners to their complaints, and there were others, besides the monks,

who eagerly turned to account the prevailing dissatisfaction. The northern

lords, Uarcy and Hussey, had for years been representing to Chapuys the

certainty of success if the Emperor invaded England, and promising to

do their part when he came. Darcy had, at Christmas 1534, sent the

imperial ambassador a sword as an intimation that the time had come

for an appeal to its arbitrament; and he was seeking Henry's licence to

return to his house in Yorkshire in order to raise '^the crucifix" as the

standard of revolt. The King, however, was doubtful of Darcy's loyalty,

and kept him in London till early in 1536. It would have been well, had

he kept him longer.

Towards the end of the summer, rumours were spread among the

commons of the North that heavy taxes would be levied on every burial,

wedding, and christening, that all cattle would be marked and pay a

fine to the King, and that all unmarked beasts would be forfeit; churches

within five miles of each other were to be taken down as superfluous,
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jewels and church phite confiscated; taxes were to be paid for eating

white bread, goose, or capon ; there was to be a rigid inquisition into

every man's property : and a score of other absurdities gained currency,

obviously invented by malicious and lying tongues. The outbreak began

at Caistor in Lincolnshire on the 3rd of October, with resistance, not to

the commissioners for dissolving the monasteries, but to those appointed

to collect the subsidy granted by Parliament. The rebels entered Lincoln

on the 6th ; they could, they said, pay no more money ; they demanded

the repeal of religious changes, the restoration of the monasteries, the

banishment of heretics like Cranmer and Latimer, and the removal of

low-born advisers such as Cromwell and Rich from the council. The

mustering of an army under Suffolk and the denial by heralds and others

that the King had any such intentions as were imputed to him, induced

the commons to go home ; the reserves which Henry was collecting

at Ampthill were disbanded; and the commotion was over in less than

a fortnight.

The Lincolnshire rebels, however, had not dispersed when news arrived

of a much more serious rising which affected nearly the whole of York-

shire. It was here that Darcy and his friends were most powerful;

but, though there is little doubt that they were the movers, the ostensible

leader was Robert Aske, a lawyer. Even here the rebellion was little

more than a magnified riot, which a few regiments of soldiers could soon

have suppressed. The rebels professed complete loyalty to Henry's person;

they suggested no rival candidate for the throne ; they merely demanded

a change of policy, which they could not enforce without a change of

government. They had no means of effecting that change without deposing-

Henry, which they never proposed to do, and which, had they done it,

could only have resulted in anarchy. The rebellion was formidable mainly

because Henry had no standing army; he had to rely, as Chapuys pointed

out, almost entirely on the goodwill or at least acquiescence of his

people. Outside Yorkshire the gentry were willing enough
;
possibly they

had their eyes on monastic rewards ; and they sent to Cambridge double
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or treble the forces Henry demanded, which they could hardly have

done, had their -tenants shown any great sympathy with the rebellion.

But transport in those days was more difficult even than now ; and before

the musters could reach the Trent, Darcy, after a show of reluctance,

yielded Pomfret castle to the rebels and swore to maintain their cause.

Henry was forced, much against his will, to temporise. To pardon or

parley with rebels, he thought would distain his honour. II Norfolk

was driven to offer a pardon, he must on no account involve the King

in his promise.

Norfolk apparently had no option. An armistice was accordingly

arranged on the 27th of October, and a deputation came up to lay the

rebels' grievances before the King. It was received graciously, and

Henry's reply was a masterly piece of statecraft. He drew it up "with

his own hand, and made no creature privy thereto until it was finished."

Their complaints about the Faith were, he said, "so general that hard

they be to be answered," but he intended always to live and to die in

the faith of Christ. They must specify what they meant by the liber-

ties of the Church, whether they were lawful or unlawful liberties ; but

he had done nothing inconsistent with the laws of God and man. With

regard to the Commonwealth, what King had kept his subjects so long-

in wealth and peace, ministering indifferent justice, and defending them

from outward enemies ? There were more low-born councillors when he

came to the throne than now; then there were "but two worth calling

noble. Others, as the Lords Marny and Darcy, were scant well-born gentle-

men, and yet of no great lands till they were promoted by us. The

rest were lawyers and priests. . . . How came you to think that there

were more noble men in our Privy Council then than now?" It did not

become them to dictate to their sovereign whom he should call to his

Council; yet, if they could prove, as they alleged, that certain of the

Council were subverters of God's law and the laws of the realm, he would

proceed against them. Then, after denouncing their rebellion and referring

to their request for pardon, he says : "To show our pity, we are con-
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tent, if we find you penitent, to grant you all letters of pardon on your

delivering to us ten such ringleaders of this rebellion as we shall assign

to you. Now note the benignity of your Prince, and how easily bloodshed

may be eschewed. Thus 1, as your head, pray for you, my members, that

God may enlighten you for your benefit."

A conference was held at Doncaster in December, and towards the end

of the year, Aske came at Henry's invitation to discuss the complaints with

him. No one could be more gracious than the King, when he chose
;

no one could mask his resentment more completely, when he had an

object to gain. It was important to win over Aske, and convince him

that Henry had the interests of the rebels at heart. So on Aske were

lavished all the royal arts. They were amply rewarded. In January, 1537,

the rebel leader went down to Yorkshire fully convinced of the King's

goodwill, and anxious only that the commons should observe his condi-

tions. But there were wilder spirits at work over which he had little

control. They declared that they were betrayed. Plots were formed to

seize Hull and Scarborough ; both were discovered. Aske, Constable, and

other leaders of the original Pilgrimage of Grace exerted themselves to

stay this outbreak of their more violent followers ; and between moderates

and extremists the whole movement quickly collapsed. The second revolt

gave Henry an excuse for recalling his pardon, and for exacting revenge

from all who had been implicated in either movement. Darcy deserved

little pity; the earliest in his treason, he continued the game to the end;

but Aske was an honest man, and his execution, condemned though he

was by a jury, was a violent act of injustice. Norfolk was sent to the

North on a Bloody Assize, and if neither he nor the King was a Jeffreys,

the rebellion was stamped out with a good deal of superfluous cruelty.

Henry was resolved to do the Avork once and for all, and he based his

system on terror. His measures for the future government of the north,

now threatened by James V., were, however, wise on the whole. He would

put no more nobles in places of trust ; the office of Warden of the

Marches he took into his own hands, appointing three deputies of some-
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what liunible rank for the cast, midcHe, and west marches. A strong

Council of the Norlli was appointed to sit at York, under the presidency

of Tunstall, Bishop of Durham, and with powers almost as extensive as

those of the Privy Council at London ; and henceforth Henry had little

trouble from disaffection in England.

With one aftermath of the Pilgrimage of Grace he had yet to deal.

The opportunity had been too good for Paul III. to neglect ; and early

in 1537, he had sent a legale to Flanders to do what he could to abet

the rebellion. His choice fell on Reginald Pole, the son of the Countess

of Salisbury and grandson of Lionel, Duke of Clarence. Pole had been

one of Henry's great favourites ; the King had paid for his education,

given him, while yet a layman, rich church preferments, and contributed

the equivalent of about twelve hundred pounds a year to enable him to

complete his studies in Italy. In 1530, Pole was employed to obtain

opinions at Paris favourable to Henry's divorce, and was offered the arch-

bishopric of York. He refused from conscientious scruples, sought in

vain to turn the King from his evil ways, and, in 1532, left England; they

parted friends, and Henry continued Pole's pensions. While Pole was

regarding with increasing disgust the King's actions, Henry still hoped

that Pole was on his side, and, in 1536, in answer to Henry's request

for his views, Pole sent his famous treatise De Unitate Ecclesiae. His

heart was better than his head; he thought Henry had been treated too

gently, and that the fulmination of a bull of excommunication earlier in

his course would have stopped his headlong career; and, to repair the

Pope's omissions, he now proceeded to administer the necessary castiga-

tion. Even his friend. Cardinal Contarini, thought it too bitter, and

among his family in England it produced consternation. Some of them

were hand in glove with Chapuys, who had suggested Pole to Charles

as a candidate for the throne ; and his book might well have broken the

thin ice on which they stood. Henry, however, suppressed his anger

and invited Pole to England ; he, perhaps wisely, refused, but imme-

diately afterwards he accepted the Pope's call to Rome, where he was
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made Cardinal, and sent to ^''landers as Legate to foment the northern

rebellion.

lie came too late to do anything except exhibit his own and the papal

impotence. The rebellion was crushed before his commission was signed.

As Pole journeyed through France, Henry sent to demand his extradition

as a traitor. With that request Francis could hardly comply, but he ordered

the Legate to quit his dominions. Pole sought refuge in Flanders, but

was stopped on the frontier. Charles could no more than Francis afford to

offend the English King, and the Cardinal-Legate was informed that he might

visit the bishop of Liege, but only if he went in disguise. Never, wrote

Pole to the Regent, had a papal legate been so treated before. Truly

Henry had fulfdled his boast that he would show the princes of Europe

how small was the power of a Pope. He had obliterated every vestige

of papal authority in England and defied the Pope to do his worst
;

and now, when the Pope attempted to do it, his Legate was chased out

of the dominions of the faithful sons of the Church at the demand of the

excommunicate King. Henry had come triumphant out of perils which

everyone else believed would destroy him. He had carried England through

the greatest revolution in her history. He had crushed the only revolt

which that revolution evoked at home ; and abroad the greatest princes

of Europe had shown that they valued as nothing the goodwill of the Pope

against that of Henry Vlll.

The culminating point in his good fortune was reached in the following

autumn. On the 12th of October, 1537, Queen Jane gave birth to a son.

Henry had determined that, had he a son by Anne Boleyn, the child should

be named Henry after himself, or Edward after his grandfather, Edward IV.

Queen .lane's son was born on the eve of the feast of St. Edward, and that

fact determined the choice of his name. Twelve days later the mother, who

had never been crowned, passed away. She, alone of Henry's wives,

was buried with royal pomp in St. George's Chapel at Windsor ;
and to

her alone the King paid the compliment of mourning. His grief was sincere,

and for the unusual space of more than two years he remained without
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a wife. But Queen Jane's death was not to be compared in importance

with the birth of Edward VI. The legitimate male heir, the object of so

many desires and the cause of so many disasters, had come at last to fdl

to the brim the cup of Henry's triumph. The greatest storm and stress

of his reign was passed. There were crises to come, which might have

been deemed serious in a less troubled reign, and they still needed all

Henry's wary cunning to meet; Francis and Charles were even now pre-

paring to end a struggle from which only Henry drew profit ; and Paul

was hoping to join them in war upon England. Yet Henry had weathered

the worst of the gale, and he now felt free to devote his energies to

the extension abroad of the authority which he had established so firmly

at home.





CHAPTER SIX.

REX ET IMPERATOR.

oTwiTHSTANDiNG thc abscnceof "Empire" and "Em-

peror " from the various titles which Henry VHI.

possessed or assumed, he has more than one claim

to be reputed the father of modern imperialism.

It is not till a year after his death that we have

any documentary evidence of an intention on the

part of the English Government to unite England

and Scotland into one Empire, and to proclaim their sovereign the

Emperor of Great Britain. But a marriage between Edward VI. and

Mary, Queen of Scots, by which it was sought to effect that union, had

been the main object of Henry's efforts during the closing years of his

reign, and the imperial idea was a dominant note in Henry's mind. No

king was more fond of protesting that he wore an imperial crown and

ruled an imperial realm. When, in 1536, Convocation declared England to
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be " an imperial See of itself, " it only clothed in decent and formal

language Henry's own boast that he was not merely King, but Pope and

Emperor, in his own domains. The rest of western Europe was under

the temporal sway of Caisar, as it was under the spiritual sway of the

Pope ; but neither to one nor to the other did Henry owe any allegiance.

For the word "imperial" itself he had shown a marked predilection

from his earliest days. Henry Imperial was the name of the ship in which

his admiral hoisted his flag in 1513, and ''Imperial" was the name given

to one of his favourite games. But, as his reign wore on, the word was

translated into action, and received a more definite meaning. To mark

his claim to supreme dignity, he assumed the style of "His Majesty"

instead of that of "His Grace," which he had hitherto shared with mere

dukes and archbishops; and possibly "His Majesty" banished "His Grace"

from Henry's mind no less than it did from his title. The story of his

life is one of consistent, and more or less orderly, evolution. For many

years he had been kept in leading-strings by Wolsey's and other clerical

influences. The first step in his self-assertion was to emancipate himself

from this control, and to vindicate his authority within the precincts of his

Court. His next was to establish his personal supremacy over Church and

State in England ; this was the work of the Reformation Parliament

between 1529 and 1536. The final stage in the evolution was to make

his rule more effective in the outlying parts of England, on the borders

of Scotland, in Wales and its Marches, and then to extend it over the

rest of the British Isles.

The initial steps in the process of expanding the sphere of royal

authority had already been taken. The condition of Wales exercised the

mind of King and Parliament, even in the throes of the struggle with

Rome. The "manifold robberies, murders, thefts, trespasses, riots, routs,

embraceries, maintenances, oppressions, ruptures of the peace, and many

other malefacts, which be there daily practised, perpetrated, committed

and done," obviously demanded prompt and swift redress, unless the

redundant eloquence of Parliamentary statutes protested too much; and, in
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1534, several acts were passed restraining local jurisdictions, and extend-

ing the authority of the President and Council of the Marches. Chapuys

declared that the effect of these acts was to rob the Welsh of their freedom,

and he thought that the probable discontent might be turned to account

by stirring an insurrection in favour of Catherine of Aragon and of the

Catholic Faith. If, however, there was discontent, it did not make itself

effectively felt, and, in 1536, Henry proceeded to complete the union of

England and Wales. First, he adapted to Wales the institution of justices

of the peace, which had proved the most efficient instrument for the

maintenance of his authority in P]ngland. A more important statute fol-

lowed. Recalling the facts that "the rights, usages, laws and customs"

in Wales "be far discrepant from the laws and customs of this realm,"

that its people "do daily use a speech nothing like, nor consonant to,

the natural mother-tongue used within this realm," and that " some rude

and ignorant people have made distinction and diversity between the

King's subjects of this realm" and those of Wales, "His Highness, of a

singular zeal, love, and favour" which he bore to the Welsh, minded to

reduce them "to the perfect order, notice, and knowledge of his laws of

this realm, and utterly to extirp, all and singular, the sinister usages and

customs differing from the same." The Principality was divided into shires,

and the shires into hundreds; justice in every court, from the hio'hest to

the lowest, was to be administered in English, and in no other tono-ue •

and no one who spoke Welsh was to "have or enjoy any manner of Office

or Fees " whatsoever. On the other hand, a royal commission was

appointed to inquire into Welsh laws, and such as the King thour>lit

necessary might still be observed; while the Welsh shires and boroughs

were to send members to the English Parliament. This statute was, to

all effects and purposes, the first Act of Union in English history. Six

years later, a further act reorganized and developed the jurisdiction of the

Council of Wales and the Marches. Its functions were to be similar to

those of the Privy Council in London, of which the Council of Wales,

like that of the already established Council of the North, was an offshoot.
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Its object was to maintain peace with a firm hand in a specially disor-

derly district; and the powers, with which it was furnished, often con-

flicted with the common law of England, and rendered the Council's juris-

diction, like that of other Tudor courts, a grievance to Stuart Parliaments.

But Ireland demanded even more than Wales the application of Henry's

doctrines of union and empire; for if Wales was thought by Chapuys to

be receptive soil for the seeds of rebellion, sedition across St. George's

Channel was ripe unto the harvest. Irish affairs, among other domestic

problems, had been sacrificed to Wolsey's passion for playing a part in

Europe, and on the eve of his fall, English rule in Ireland was reported

to be weaker than it had been since the Conquest. The outbreak ol

war with Charles V., in 1528, was followed by the first appearance of

Spanish emissaries at the courts of Irish chiefs, and from Spanish intrigue

in Ireland Tudor monarchs were never again to be free. In the autumn

of 1534 the whole of Ireland outside the Pale blazed up in revolt. Sir

William Skeffington succeeded in crushing the rebellion ; but Skeffington

died in the following year, and his successor, Lord Leonard Grey, failed

to overcome the difficulties caused by Irish disaffection and by jealousies

in his council. His sister was wife of Fitzgerald, the Earl of Kildare,

and the revolt of the Geraldines brought Grey himself under suspicion.

He was accused by his council of treason ; he returned to England in

1540, declaring the country at peace. But, before he had audience with

Henry, a fresh insurrection broke out, and Grey was sent to the Tower

;

thence, having pleaded guilty to charges of treason, he trod the usual

path to the block.

Henry now adopted fresh methods ; he determined to treat Ireland in

much the same way as Wales. A commission, appointed in 1537, had

made a thorough survey of the land, and supplied him with the outlines

of his policy. As in Wales, the English system of land tenure, of jus-

tice, and the English language, were to supersede indigenous growths; the

King's supremacy in temporal and ecclesiastical affairs was to be enforced,

and the whole of the land was to be gradually won by a judicious
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admixture of force and conciliation. The new deputy, Sir Anthony St.

Leger, was an able man, who had presided over the commission of 1537.

lie landed at Dublin in 1541, and his work was thoroughly done. Henry,

no longer so lavish with his money as in Wolsey's days, did not stint

for this purpose. The Irish Parliament passed an act that Henry should be

henceforth styled King, instead of Lord, of Ireland; and many of the chiefs

were induced to relinquish their tribal independence in return for glittering

coronets. By 1542 Ireland had not merely peace within her own borders,

but was able to send two thousand kernes to assist the English on the

borders of Scotland; and English rule in Ireland was more widely and

more firmly established than it had ever been before.

Besides Ireland and Wales, there were other spheres in which Henry

sought to consolidate and extend the Tudor methods of government. The

erection, in 1542, of the Courts of Wards, of First-fruits and Tenths, and

the development of the jurisdiction of the Star Chamber and of the Court

of Requests, were all designed to further two objects dear to Henry's heart,

the efficiency of his administration and ihe exaltation of his prerogative.

It was thoroughly in keeping with his policy that the Parliamentary

system expanded concurrently with the sphere of the King's activity.

Berwick had first been represented in the Parliament of 1529, and a step,

which would have led to momentous consequences, had the idea, on

which it was based, been carried out, was taken in 1542, when a member

was summoned from Calais. There was now only one district under

English rule which was not represented in Parliament, and that was the

county of Durham, known as the bishopric, which still remained detached

from the national system. It was left for Oliver Cromwell to complete

England's Parliamentary representation by summoning members to sit

for that palatine county. This was not the only respect in which the

Commonwealth followed in the footsteps of Henry VIII., for the Parliament

of 1542, in which members from Wales and from Calais are first recorded

as sitting, passed an "Act for the Navy," which provided that goods could

only be imported in English ships. It was, however, in his dealings with
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Scotland that Henry's schemes for the expansion of Enghind became most

marked; but, before he could develop his plans in that direction, he had

to ward off a recrudescence of the danger from a coalition of Catholic

Europe.

*

In spite of Henry's efforts to fan the flames of strife between the

Emperor and the Ring of France, the war, which had prevented either

monarch from countenancing the mission of Cardinal Pole or from pro-

fiting by the Pilgrimage of Grace, was gradually dying down in the

autumn of 1537 ; and, in order to check the growing and dangerous

intimacy between the two rivals, Henry was secretly hinting to both

that the death of his Queen had left him free to contract a marriage

which might bind him for ever to one or the other. To Francis he

sent a request for the hand of Mary of Guise, who had already been

promised to James V. of Scotland. He refused to believe that the Scots

negotiations had proceeded so far, that they could not be set aside for so

great a king as himself, and he succeeded in convincing the lady's relatives

that the position of a Queen of England provided greater attractions than

any James could hold out. Francis, however, look matters into his own

hands, and compelled the Guises to fulfil their compact with the Scottish

Ring. Nothing daunted, Henry asked for a list of other French ladies

eligible for the matrimonial prize. He even suggested that the handsomest

of them might be sent, in the train of Margaret of Navarre, to Calais,

where he could inspect them in person. " I trust to no one," he told

Castillon, the French ambassador, "but myself. The thing touches me too

near. 1 wish to see them and know them some time before deciding."

This idea of "trotting out the young ladies like hackneys" was not much

relished at the French Court; and Castillon, to shame Henry out of the

indelicacy of his proposal, made an ironical suggestion for testing the

ladies' charms, the grossness of which brought the only recorded blush to
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Henry's cheeks. No more was said of the beauty-show; and Henry declared

tliat he did not intend to marry in France or in Spain at all, unless his

marriage brought him a closer alliance with Francis or Charles than the

rivals had formed witli each other.

While these negotiations for obtaining the hand of a French princess

were in progress, Henry set on foot a similar (juest in the Netherlands.

Before the end of 1537, he had instructed Hutton, his agent, to report

on the ladies of the Regent Mary's Court; and Hutton replied that Christina

of Milan was said to be " a goodly personage and of excellent beauty."

She was daughter of the deposed King of Denmark and of his wife, Isabella,

sister of Charles V. ; at the age of thirteen she had been married to the

Duke of Milan, but she was now a virgin widow of sixteen, " very tall

and competent of beauty, of favour excellent and very gentle in countenance."

On March 10, 1538, Holbein arrived at Brussels for the purpose of painting

the lady's portrait, which he finished in a three hours' sitting. Christina's

fascinations do not seem to have made much impression on Henry; indeed,

his taste in feminine beauty cannot be commended. There is no good

authority for the alleged reply of the young duchess herself, that, if she

had two heads, she would willingly place one of them at His Majesty's

disposal. Henry had, as yet, beheaded only one of his wives, and even

if the precedent had been more firmly established, Christina was too

wary and too polite to refer to it in such uncourtly terms. She knew

that the disposal of her hand did not rest with herself, and though the

Emperor sent powers for the conclusion of the match, neither he nor

Henry had any desire to see it concluded. The cementing of his friend-

ship with Francis freed Charles from the need of Henry's goodwill, and

impelled the English King to seek elsewhere for means to counterbalance

the hostile alliance.

The Emperor and the French King had not been deluded by English

intrigues, nor prevented from coming together by Henry's desire to kee])

them apart. Charles, Francis, and Paul III. met at Nice in June, 1538, and

there the Pope negotiated a ten years' truce. Henceforth they were to
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consider their interests identical, and their ambassadors in England com-

pared notes in order to defeat more effectively Henry's skilful diplomacy.

The moment seemed ripe for the execution of the long-cherished project for

a descent upon England. Its King had just added to his long list of offences

against the Church, by despoiling the shrine of St. Thomas at Canter-

bury and burning the bones of the Saint. This outrage was effected by

a man named Pollard, and the Saint was even said to have been put on his

trial in mockery, declared contumacious, and condemned as a traitor. If

the canonised bones of martyrs could be treated thus, Avho would, for

the future, pay respect to the Church or tribute at its shrines ? At

Rome a party, of which Pole was the most zealous, proclaimed that the

real Turk was Henry, and that all Christian Princes should unite to

sweep him from the face of God's earth, which his presence had too long

defded. Considering the effect of Christian leagues against the Ottoman,

the English Turk was probably not dismayed. But Paul HI. and Pole

were determined to do their worst. The Pope resolved to publish the bull

of deprivation, which had been drawn up in August, 1535, though its

execution had hitherto been suspended owing to papal hopes of Henry's

amendment and to the request of various princes. Now the bull was to

be published in France, in Flanders, in Scotland, and in Ireland. Beton

was made a Cardinal and sent home to exhort James V. to invade his uncle's

kingdom, while Pole again set out on his travels to promote the conquest

of his native land.

It was on Pole's unfortunate relatives that the effects of the threatened

bull were to fall. Besides the Cardinal's treason, there was another

motive for proscribing his family. He and his brothers were grand-

children of Lionel, Duke of Clarence; years before, Chapuys had urged

Charles V. to put forward Pole as a candidate for the throne; and Henry

was as convinced as his father had been, that the real way to render his

government secure was to put away all the possible alternatives. Now

that he was threatened with deprivation by papal sentence, the need

became more urgent than ever. But, while the proscription of the Poles
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was undoubtedly dictated by political reasons, their conduct enabled

Henry to eflect it by legal means. There was no doubt of the Cardinal's

treason ; his brother, Sir GeofTrey, had often taken counsel with Charles's

ambassador, and discussed plans for the invasion of England ; and even

their mother, the aged Countess of Salisbury, although she had denounced

the Cardinal as a traitor and had lamented the fact that she had given him

birth, had brought herself within the toils by receiving papal bulls and

corresponding with traitors. The most innocent of the family appears to

have been the Countess's eldest son, Lord Montague ; but he, too, was

involved in the common ruin. Plots were hatched for kidnapping the

Cardinal and bringing him home to stand his trial for treason. Sir Geoffrey

was arrested in August, 1538, was induced, or forced, to turn King's evi-

dence, and as a reward was granted his miserable, conscience-struck life.

The Countess was spared, for a while, but Montague mounted the scaffold

in December.

With Montague perished his cousin, the Marquis of Exeter, whose

descent from Edward IV. was as fatal to him as their descent from Clarence

was to the Poles. The Marquis was the White Rose, the next heir to the

throne if the line of the Tudors failed. His father, the Earl of Devonshire,

had been attainted in the reign of Henry VII.; but Henry VIII. had reversed

the attainder, had treated the young earl with kindness, had made him

Knight of the Garter aod Marquis of Exeter, and had sought in various

ways to win his support. But his dynastic position and dislike of Henry's

policy drove the Marquis into the ranks of the discontented. He had been

put in the Tower, in 1531, on suspicion of treason; after his release he

listened to the hysterics of Elizabeth Barton, intrigued with Chapuys, and

corresponded with Reginald Pole; and in Cornwall, in 1538, men conspired

to make him King. Less evidence than this would have convinced a jury

of peers in Tudor times of the expediency of Exeter's death; and, on the

Uth of December, his head paid the price of his royal descent.

These executions do not seem to have produced the faintest symp-

toms of disgust in the popular mind. The threat of invasion evoked a
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national enthusiasm for defence. In August, 1538, Henry Avent down to

inspect the fortifications he had been for years erecting at Dover
;

masonry from the demolished monasteries was employed in dotting the

coast with castles, such as Calshot and Hurst, which were built with

materials from the neighbouring abbey of Beaulicu. Commissioners were

sent to repair the defences at Calais and Guisnes, on the Scottish

Borders, along the coasts from Berwick to the mouth of the Thames,

and from the Thames to Lizard Point. Beacons were repaired, ordnance

was supplied wherever it was needed, lists of ships and of mariners

were drawn up in every port, and musters were taken throughout the

kingdom. Everywhere the people pressed forward to help ; in the Isle

of Wight, they were lining the shores with palisades, and taking every

precaution to render a landing of the enemy a perilous enterprise. In

Essex, they anticipated the coming of the commissioners by digging-

dykes and throwing up ramparts ; at Harwich, the Lord Chancellor saw

" Avomen and children working with shovels at the trenches and bul-

warks." Whatever we may think of the roughness and rigour of Henry's

rule, his methods were not resented by the mass of his people. He

had not lost his hold on the nation ; whenever he appealed to his sub-

jects in a time of national danger, he met with an eager response ; and,

had the schemers abroad, who idly dreamt of his expulsion from the throne,

succeeded in composing their mutual quarrels and launching their bolt

against England, there is no reason to suppose that its fate would have

differed from that of the Spanish Armada.

In spite of the fears of invasion which prevailed in the spring of

1539, Pole's second mission had no more success than the first ; and the

hostile fleet, for the sight of which the Warden of the Cinque Ports was

straining his eyes from Dover Castle, never came from the mouths of the

Scheldt and the Rhine; or rather, the supposed Armada proved to be a

harmless convoy of traders. The Pope himself, on second thoughts, with-

held his promised bull. He distrusted its reception at the hands of his

secular allies, and dreaded the contempt and ridicule which would follow
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nil open failure. Moreover, at the height of liis fervour against Henry, he

could not refrain from attempts to extend his temporal power, and his

seizure of Urbino alienated Francis and afforded Henry some prospect of

creating an anti-papal party in Italy. Francis would gladly join in a pro-

hibition of English commerce, if Charles would only begin ; but, without

Charles, he could do nothing, and, even when his amity with the Emperor

was closest, he was compelled, at Henry's demand, to punish the French

priests who inveighed against English enormities. To Charles, however,

English trade was worth more than to Francis, and the Emperor's subjects

would tolerate no interruption of their lucrative intercourse with England.

With the consummate skill which he almost invariably displayed in political

matters, Henry had, in 1539, when the danger seemed greatest, provided the

Flemings with an additional motive for peace. He issued a proclamation

that, for seven years, their goods should pay no more duty than those of

the English themselves ; and the thrifty Dutch were little inclined to stop,

by a war, the fresh stream of gold. The Emperor, too, had more urgent

matters in hand. Henry might be more of a Turk than the Sultan himself,

and the Pope might regard the sack of St. Thomas's shrine with more

horror than the Turkish defeat of a Christian fleet ; but Henry was not

harrying the Emperor's coasts, nor threatening to deprive the Emperor's

brother of his Hungarian kingdom ; and Turkish victories on land and

on sea gave the imperial family much more concern than all Henry's

onslaughts on the saints and their relics. And, besides the Ottoman

peril, Charles had reason to fear the political effects of the union between

England and the Protestant princes of Germany, for which the religious

development in England was paving the way, and which an attack on

Henrv would at once have cemented.

The powers conferred upon Henry as Supreme Head of the Church were

not long suffered to remain in abeyance. Whatever the theory may have
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been, in practice Henry's supremacy over the Church was very different

from that which Kings of England had hitherto wielded ; and from the

moment he entered upon his new ecclesiastical kingdom, he set himself

not merely to reform practical abuses, such as the excessive wealth of the

clergy, but to define the standard of orthodox faith, and to force his sub-

jects to embrace the royal theology. The Catholic Faith was to hold good

only so far as the Supreme Head willed; the "King's doctrine" became

the rule to which ''our Church of England," as Henry styled it, was hence-

forth to conform; and "unity and concord in opinion" were to be established

by royal decree.

The first royal definition of the Faith was embodied in ten articles sub-

mitted to Convocation in 1536. The King was, he said, constrained by

diversity of opinions " to put his own pen to the book and conceive

certain articles. . . . thinking that no person, having authority from him,

would presume to say a word against their meaning, or be remiss in setting

them forth." His people, he maintained, whether peer or prelate, had

no right to resist his temporal or spiritual commands, whatever they might

be. Episcopal authority had indeed sunk low. When Convocation was

opened, in 1536, a layman. Dr. William Petre, appeared, and demanded

the place of honour above all bishops and archbishops in their assembly.

Pre-eminence belonged, he said, to the King as Supreme Head of the Church;

the King had appointed Cromwell his Vicar-general ; and Cromwell had

named him, Petre, his proctor. The claim was allowed, and the sub-

missive clergy found little fault with the royal articles of faith, though

they mentioned only three sacraments, baptism, penance, and the sacra-

ment of the altar, denounced the abuse of images, warned men against

excessive devotion to the saints, and against believing that "ceremonies

have power to remit sin," or that masses can deliver souls from purgatory.

Finally, Convocation transferred from the Pope to the Christian princes the

right to summon a General Council.

With the Institution of a Christian Man, issued in the following year,

and commonly called The Bishops' Book, Henry had little to do. The
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Bishops dchatod tlie doclriiial qucslions IVoni February to .Inly, l.");{7, but

the Kinc wrote, in Autjusl, that he had bad no time to examine their

conehisions. He trusted, however, to their wisdom, and agieed that the

book shouUl be pubHshed and read to the people on Sundays and holy-

days for three years to come. In the same year he permitted a change,

which inevitably gave fresh im|)ulsc to the reforming movement in England

and destroyed every prospect of that "union and concord in opinions,"

on which he set so much store. Miles Coverdale was licensed to print

an edition of his Bible in England, with a dedication to Queen Jane Sey-

mour; and, in 1538, a second English version was prepared by John Rogers,

under Cranmer's authority, and published as Matthew's Bible. This was

the Bible " of the largest volume" which Cromwell, as Henry's Vice-gerent,

ordered to be set up in all churches. Every incumbent was to encourage

his parishioners to read it; he was to recite the Paternoster, the Creed,

and the Ten Commandments in English, that his flock might learn them

by degrees ; he was to require some acquaintance with the rudiments of

the Faith, as a necessary condition from all before they could receive the

Sacrament of the Altar ; he was to preach at least once a quarter ; and to

institute a register of births, marriages, and deaths.

Meanwhile, a vigorous assault was made on the strongholds of super-

stition; pilgrimages were suppressed, and many wonder-working images

were pulled down and destroyed. The famous Rood of Boxley, a figure

whose contortions had once imposed on the people, was taken to the market-

place at Maidstone, and the ingenious mechanism, whereby the eyes and

lips miraculously opened and shut, was exhibited to the vulgar gaze.

Probably these little devices had already sunk in popular esteem, for the

Blood of St. Januarius could not be treated at Naples to-day in the same

cavalier fashion as the Blood of Ilailes was in England in 1538, without

a riot. But the exposure was a useful method of exciting popular indig-

nation against the monks, and it fdled reformers with a holy joy. "Dagon,"

wrote one to BuUinger, " is everywhere falling in England. Bel of

Babylon has been broken to pieces." The destruction of the images was
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a preliminary skirmish in the final campaign against the monks. The Act

of 1536 had only granted to the King religious houses which possessed

an endowment of less than two hundred pounds a year; the dissolution

of the greater monasteries was noAV gradually effected by a process of

more or less voluntary surrender. In some cases the monks may have

been willing enough to go; they were loaded with debt, and harassed by

rules imposed by Cromwell, which would have been difficult to keep in

the palmiest days of monastic enthusiasm; and they may well have thought

that freedom from monastic restraint, coupled with a pension, was a wel-

come relief, especially when resistance involved the anger of the prince and

liability to the penalties of elastic treasons and of a Pra-munire which

no one could understand. So, one after another, the great abbeys yielded

to the persuasions and threats of the royal commissioners. The dissolution

of the Mendicant Orders and of the Knights of St. John dispersed the last

remnants of the papal army as an organized force in England, though

warfare of a kind continued for man)' years.

These proceedings created as much satisfaction among the Lutherans

of Germany as they did disgust at Rome, and an alliance between Henry and

the Protestant Princes seemed to be dictated by a communitj' of religious,

as well as of political, interests. The friendship between Francis and

Charles threatened both English and German liberties, and it behoved

the two countries to combine against their common foe. Henry's manifesto

against the authority of the Pope to summon a General Council had been

received with rapture in Germany ; at least three German editions were

printed, and the Duke of Saxony and the Landgrave of Hesse urged on

him the adoption of a common policy. English envoys were sent to

Germany with this purpose in the spring of 1538, and German divines

journeyed to England to lay the foundation of a theological union. They

remained five months, but failed to effect an agreement. To the three

points on which they desired further reform in England, the Communion

in both kinds, the abolition of private masses, and of the enforced

celibacy of the clergy, Henry himself wrote a long reply, maintaining in
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each case the Catholic faith. But the conference showed tliat Henry was

for the time anxious to be conciliatory in religious matters, while from a

political point of view the need for an alliance grew more urgent than

ever. All Henry's efTorts to break the amity between Francis and Charles

had failed; his proposals of marriage to imperial and French princesses had

come to nothing; and, in the spring of 1539, it was rumoured that the

Emperor would further demonstrate the indissolubility of his intimacy with

the French king by passing through France from Spain to Germany, instead

of going, as he had always hitherto done, by sea, or through Italy and

Austria. Cromwell seized the opportunity and persuaded Henry to strengthen

his union with the German princes by seeking a wife from a Lutheran

house.

This policy once adopted, the task of selecting a bride was easy. As

early as 1531, the old Duke of Cleves had suggested some marriage alliance

between his own and the royal family of England. He was closely allied

to the Elector of Saxony, the most powerful prince in Germany; and the

young Duke, who was soon to succeed his father, had also claims to the

Duchy of Gueldres. Gueldres was a thorn in the side of the Emperor; it

stood to the Netherlands in much the same relation as Scotland stood to

England, and when there was war between Charles and Francis, Gueldres

had always been one of the most useful pawns in the French king's hands.

Hence an alliance between the German princes, the King of Denmark, who

had joined their political and religious union, Gueldres, and England, would

have seriously threatened the Emperor's hold on his Dutch dominions.

This was the step which Henry was induced to take, when he realised that

Charles's friendship with France remained unbroken, and that the Emperor

had made up his mind to visit Paris. Hints of a marriage between Henry

and Anne of Cleves were thrown out early in 1539; the only difficulty, which

subsequently proved very convenient, was that the lady had been pro-

mised to the son of the Duke of Lorraine. The objection was waived

on the ground that Anne herself had not given her consent ; in view of

the advantages of the match and of the Duke's financial straits, Henry
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agreed to forego a dowry ; and, on the fith of October, tlie treaty ol

marriage was signed.

Anne of Cleves had already been described to Henry by his ambassador.

Dr. Wotton, and Holbein had been sent to paint her portrait, which Wotton

pronounced "a very lively image." She had an oval face, long nose,

chestnut eyes, a light complexion, and very pale lips. She was thirty-four

years old, and in France was reported to be ugly ; but Cromwell told

the King that "everyone praised her beauty, both of face and body, and

one said she excelled the Duchess of Milan as the golden sun did the

silver moon." Wotton's account of her accomplishments was pitched in a

minor key. Her gentleness was universally commended, but she spent her

time chiefly in needlework. She knew no language but her own; she could

neither sing nor play upon any instrument, accomplishments which were

then considered by Germans to be unbecoming in a lady. On the i2th of

December, 1539, she arrived at Calais; but boisterous weather and bad tides

delayed her there till the 27th. She landed at Deal and rode to Canter-

bury. On the 30th, she proceeded to Sittingbourne, and thence, on the 21st,

to Rochester, where the King met her in disguise. If he was disap-

pointed with her appearance, he concealed the fact from the public eye.

Nothing marred her public reception at Greenwich on the 3rd, or was

suffered to hinder the wedding, which was solemnised three days later.

Henry "lovingly embraced and kissed" his bride in public, and allowed

no hint to reach the ears of anyone but his most intimate counsellors of the

fact that he had been led wnllingly or unwillingly into the most humiliating

situation of his reign.

Such w-as, in reality, the result of his failure to act on the principle

laid down by himself to the French ambassador two years before. He

had then declared that the choice of a wife w^as too delicate a matter

to be left to a deputy, and that he must sec and know a lady some time

before he made up his mind to marry her. Anne of Cleves had been

selected by Cromwell, and the lady, whose beauty was, according to Crom-

well, in everyone's mouth, seemed to Henry no better than " a Flanders
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marc." The day after llic interview at Rochester, he told Cromwell that

Anne was " nothing so well as she was spoken ol," and that, "if he had

known before as much as he knew then, she should not have come within

his realm." lie demanded of his Vice-gerent what remedy he had to

suggest, and Cromwell had none. Next day Granmer, Norfolk, Suffolk,

Southampton, and Tunstall were called in with no better result. "Is

there none other remedy," repeated Henry, "but that I must needs, against

my will, put my neck in the yoke?" Apparently there was none. The

Emperor was being feted in Paris; to repudiate the marriage would throw

the Duke of Cleves into the arms of the allied sovereigns, alienate the

German princes, and leave Henry without a friend among the powers

of Christendom. So he made up his mind to put his neck in the yoke and

to marry "the Flanders mare."

Henry, however, was never patient of matrimonial or other yokes, and

it was quite certain that, as soon as he could do so without serious risk,

he would repudiate his unattractive wife, and probably other things besides.

For Anne's defects were only the last straw added to the burden which

Henry bore. He had not only been forced by circumstances into marriage

with a wife who was repugnant to him, but into a religious and secular

policy which he and the mass of his subjects disliked. The alliance with

the Protestant princes might be a useful weapon, if things came to the

worst, and if there were a joint attack on England by Francis and Charles;

but, on its merits, it was not to be compared with a good understanding

with the Emperor; and Henry would have no hesitation in throwing over

the German Princes when once he saw his way to a renewal of friendship

with Charles. He would welcome, even more, a relief from the necessity

of paying attention to German divines. He had never wavered in his

adhesion to the cardinal points of the Catholic faith. He had no enmity

to Catholicism, provided it did not stand in his way. The spiritual juris-
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diction of Rome had been abolished in England because it imposed limits

on Henry's own aiitlioritj'. Some of the powers of the English clergy had

been destroyed, partly for a similar reason, and partly as a concession

to the laity. But the purely spiritual claims of the Church remained un-

impaired; the clergy were still a caste, separate from other men, and divinely

endowed with the power of performing a daily miracle in the conversion

of the bread and wine into the Body and Blood of Jesus Christ. Even

when the Protestant alliance seemed most indispensable, Henry endeavoured

to convince Lutherans of the truth ot the Catholic doctrine of the mass,

and could not refrain from persecuting heretics with a zeal that shook

the confidence of his reforming allies. His honour, he thought, was

involved in his success in proving that he, with his Royal Supremacy, could

defend the Faith more effectively than the Pope, with all his pretended

powers; and he took a personal interest in the conversion and burning

of heretics. Several instances are recorded of his arguing a whole day

Avith Sacramentaries, exercises which exhibited to advantage at once the

royal authority, and the royal learning, in spiritual matters. His beliefs

were not due to caprice or to ignorance
;

probably no Bishop in his

realm was more deeply read in heterodox theology. He was constantly

on the look out for books by Luther and other heresiarchs, and he kept

quite a respectable theological library at hand for private use. The tenacity

with which he clung to orthodox creeds and Catholic forms, was not only

strengthened by study but rooted in the depths of his character. To

devout but fundamentally irreligious men, like Henry VIII. and Louis XIV.,

rites and ceremonies are a great consolation ; and Henry seldom neglected

to creep to the Cross on Good Friday, to serve the priest at mass, to receive

holy bread and holy water every Sunday, and daily to use "all other

laudable ceremonies."

With such feelings at heart, a union with Protestants could never for

Henry be more than a mariage cle coiwenance ; and in this, as in other

things, he carried with him the bulk of popular sympathy. In 1539,

it was said that no man in London durst speak against Catholic usages.
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anil, in Lent of that year, a man was hanged, a|)parenLly at the instance of

the Recorder ot London, for eating flesh on a Friday. The attack on the

Church had heen limited to its privileges and to its property ; its doctrine

had scarcely been touched. The upper classes among the laity had been

gorged with monastic spoils; they were disposed to rest and be thankful.

The middle classes had been satisfied to some extent by the restriction of

clerical fees, and by the prohibition of the clergy from competing with

laymen in profitable trades, such as brewing, tanning, and speculating in

land and houses. There was also the general reaction which always follows

a period of change. How far that reaction had gone, Henry first learnt

from the Parliament which met on the 28th of April, 1539.

The elections were characterised by more court interference than is

traceable at any other period during the reign, though even on this occa-

sion the evidence is fragmentary and affects comparatively few consti-

tuencies. It was, moreover, Cromwell and not the King, who sought to

pack the House of Commons in favour of his own particular policy. The

Earl of Southampton was required to use his influence on behalf of Crom-

well's nominees at Farnham, although that borough was within the Bishop

of Winchester's preserves. So, too, Cromwell's henchman, Wriothesley,

was returned for the county of Southampton in spite of Gardiner's oppo-

sition. Never, till the days of the Stuarts, was there a more striking

instance of the futility of these tactics; for the House of Commons, which

Cromwell took so much pains to secure, passed, without a dissentient, the bill

of Attainder against him; and before it was dissolved, the Bishop, against

whose influence Cromwell had especially exerted himself, had taken Crom-

well's place in the royal favour. There was, indeed, no possibility of

stemming the tide which was flowing against the Vice-gerent and in favour

of the King; and Cromwell was forced to swim with the stream in the

vain hope of saving himself from disaster.

The principal measure passed in this Parliament was the Act of Six

Articles, and it was designed to secure that unity and concord in opinions

which had not been effected by the King's injunctions. The Act affirmed
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the doctrine of Transubstanliation, declared that the administration of the

Sacrament in both kinds was not necessary, that priests might not marry,

that vows of chastity were perpetual, that private masses were meet and

necessary, and auricular confession was expedient and necessary. Burn-

ing was the penalty for once denying the first article, and a felon's death

for twice denying any of the others. This was practically the first Act ot

Uniformity, the earliest definition by Parliament of the faith of the Church.

It showed that the mass of the laity were still orthodox to the core, that

they could persecute as ruthlessly as the Church itself, and that their only

desire was to do the persecution themselves. The Bill was carried through

Parliament by means of a coalition of King and laity against Cromwell and

a minority of reforming Bishops, who only relinquished their opposition at

Henry's personal intervention; and the royal wishes were communicated,

when the King was not present in person, through Norfolk and not through

the royal Vice-gerent.

It was clear that Cromwell was trembling to his fall. The enmity

shown in Parliament to his doctrinal tendencies was not the result of

royal dictation; for even this Parliament, which gave royal proclamations the

force of law, could be independent when it chose. The draft of the Act of

Proclamations, as originally submitted to the House of Commons, provoked

a hot debate, was thrown out, and another was substituted more in accord

with the sense of the House. Parliament could have rejected the second as

easily as it did the first, had it wished. Willingly and wittingly it placed

this weapon in the royal hands, and the chief motive for its action was that

overwhelming desire for "union and concord in opinion" which lay at the

root of the Six Articles. Only one class of offences against royal proclam-

ations could be punished with death, and those were offences "against

any proclamation to be made by the King's Highness, his heirs or suc-

cessors, for or concerning any kind of heresies against Christian doctrine."

The King might define the faith by proclamations, and the standard of

orthodoxy thus set up was to be enforced by the heaviest legal penalties.

England, thought Parliament, could only be kept united against her foreign
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foes by a rigid imitbrmity oF opinion ; and thai uniformily could only be

enforced by the royal authority based on lay support, for the Church was

now deeply divided in doctrine against itself.

Such was the temper of England at the end of 1539. Cromwell and his

policy, the union with the German Princes, and the marriage with Anne of

Cleves were merely makeshifts. They stood on no surer foundation than

the passing political need of some counterpoise to the alliance of Francis

and Charles. So long as that need remained, the marriage would hold

good, and Henry would strive to dissemble; but not a moment longer.

The revolution came with startling rapidity; in April, 1540, Marillac, the

French ambassador, reported that Cromwell was tottering. The reason was

not far to seek. No sooner had the Emperor passed out of France, than

he began to excuse himself from fulfdling his engagements to Francis.

He was resolute never to yield Milan, for which Francis never ceased to

yearn. Charles would have found Francis a useful ally for the conquest

of England, but his own possessions were now threatened in more than

one quarter, and especially by the English and German alliance. Henry

skilfully widened the breach between the two friends, and, while pro-

fessing the utmost regard for Francis, gave Charles to understand that he

vastly preferred the Emperor's alliance to that of the Protestant Princes.

Before April, he had convinced himself that Charles was more bent on

reducing Germany and the Netherlands to order than on any attempt

against England, and that the abandonment of the Lutheran Princes would

not lead to their combination with the Emperor and Francis. Accordingly

he returned a very cold answer when the Duke of Cleves's ambassadors

came, in May, to demand his assistance in securing, for the Duke, the

Duchy of Gueldres.

Cromwell's fall was not, however, effected without some violent oscil-

lations, strikingly like the quick changes which preceded the ruin of

Robespierre during the Reign of Terror in France. The Vice-gerent had

fdled the court and the government with his ow n nominees ; at least

half a dozen Bishops, with Cranmer at their head, inclined to his theo-
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logical and polilical views; Lord Chancellor Aiidley and the Earl of South-

ampton were of the same persuasion ; and a small but zealous band of

reformers did their best, by ballads and sermons, to prove that the people

were thirsting for further religious change. The council, said Marillac,

was divided, each party seeking to destroy the other. Henry let the fac-

tions fight till he thought the time was come for him to intervene. In

February, 1540, there was a theological encounter between Gardiner and

Barnes, the principal agent in Henry's dealings with the Lutherans, and

Barnes was forced to recant ; in April, Gardiner and one or two con-

servatives, who had long been excluded from the Council, were believed

to have been readmitted ; and it was reported that Tunstall would succeed

Cromw^ell as the King's Vice-gerenL But a few days later, two of Crom-

svell's satellites, Wriothesley and Sadleir, were made secretaries of State

;

Cromwell himself was created Earl of Essex; and, in May, the bishop of

Chichester and two other opponents of reform were sent to the Tower. At

last Henry struck. On the lOlh of June, Cromwell was arrested; he had, wrote

the Council, "not only been counterworking the King's aims for the settle-

ment of religion, but had said that, if the King and the realm varied from

his opinions, he would withstand them, and that he hoped in another year

or two to bring things to that frame that the King could not resist it."

His cries for mercy evoked no response in that hardened age. Parliament

condemned him unheard, and, on the 28th of July, he was beheaded.

The truth was that Henry had found a way of getting rid of Anne of

Cloves. His case, as stated by himself, was, as usual, a most ingenious

mi.^ture of fact and fiction, reason and sophistry. His marriage had only

been a conditional form. Anne had never received a release from her con-

tract with the son of the Duke of Lorraine ; Henry had only gone through

the ceremony on the assumption that that release would be forthcoming

;

and actuated by this conscientious scruple, he had refrained from consum-

mating the match. To give verisimilitude to this last statement, he added

the further detail that he found his bride personally repugnant. He there-

fore sought from "our" Church a declaration of nullity. Anne was pru-
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denlly rcatly to submit to its decision ; aiul, through Convocalion, Henry's

Church, which in his view existed mainly to transact his ecclesiastical

business, declared, on the 7th of July, that the marriage was null and

void. Henry's neck was freed from the matrimonial and Lutheran yoke.

The news was promptly sent to Charles, who remarked that Henry would

always find him his loving brother and most cordial friend. At Antwerp

it was said that the King had alienated ihe Germans, but gained the

Emperor and France in their stead. Luther declared that "Junker Harry

meant to be God and to do as pleased himself;" and Melanctlion, pre-

viously so ready to find excuses, now denounced the English King as a

Nero, and expressed a wish that God would put it into the mind of some

bold man to assassinate him. Francis sighed, when he heard the news,

foreseeing a future alliance against him, but the Emperor's secretary believed

that God was bringing good out of all these things. Anne received a

handsome endowment of four thousand pounds a year in lands, was given

two country residences, and lived on amicable terms with Flenry and his

successors, till 1557, when she died and was buried in Westminster Abbey.

The first of the "good things" brought out of the divorce of Anne of

Cleves was a fifth wife for the much-married monarch. Parliament, which

had petitioned Henry to solve the doubts troubling his subjects as to the

validity (that is to say, political advantages) of his union with Anne, now

besought him, "for the good of his people," to enter once more the holy

state of matrimony, in the hope of more numerous issue. The lady had

been already selected by the predominant party, and used as an instru-

ment in procuring the divorce of her predecessor and the fall of Crom-

well ; for, if her morals were something lax, Catherine Howard's orthodoxy

was beyond dispute. She was niece of Cromwell's great enemy, the Duke

of Norfolk ; and it was at the house of Bishop Gardiner that she was first

given the opportunity of subduing the King to her charms. She was to
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play the part in the Catholic reaction that Anne Boleyn had done in the

Protestant revolution . Both religious parties were unfortunate in the

choice of their lady protagonists. Catherine Howard's father, in spite of

his rank, was very penurious, and his daughter's education had been

neglected, while her character had been left at the mercy of any chance

tempter. She had already formed compromising relations with three

successive suitors. Her music master, Mannock, boasted that she had

promised to be his mistress; a kinsman, named Dereham, called her his

wife; and she was reported to be engaged to her cousin, Culpepper.

Marillac thought her beauty was commonplace ; but that, to judge by her

portraits, seems a disparaging verdict. Her eyes were hazel, her hair was

auburn, and Nature had been at least as kind to her as to any of Henry's

wives. Even Marillac admitted that she had a very winning countenance.

Her age was uncertain, but she had almost certainly seen more than the

twenty-one years politely put down to her account. Her marriage, like

that of Anne Boleyn, was private. Marillac thought she was already wedded

to Henry by the 21st of July, and the Venetian ambassador at the court of

Charles V. said that the ceremony took place two days after the sentence

of Convocation (7th July). That may be the date of the betrothal, but the

marriage itself was privately celebrated at Oatlands on the 28th of July,

and Catherine was publicly recognised as Queen at Hampton Court on the

8th ol August, and prayed for as such in the churches on the following

Sunday.

The King was thoroughly satisfied with his new marriage from every

point of view. The reversal of the policy of the last few years, which he

had always disliked and for which he avoided responsibility as well as

he could, relieved him at once from the necessity of playing a part, and

from the pressing anxiety of foreign dangers. These troubles had preyed

upon his mind and impaired his health; but now, for a time, his spirits

revived and his health returned. He began to rise every morning, even

in the winter, between five and six, and rode for four or five hours. He

was enamoured of his bride ; her views and those of her uncle, the Duke
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of Norfolk, and o( lier patron, Bishop Gardiner, were in much closer

accord with his own, than Anne Boleyn's or Cromwell's had been. Until

almost the close of his reign Norfolk was the chief instrument of his

secular policj'^, while Gardiner represented his ecclesiastical views ; but

neither succeeded to the place which Wolsey had held and Cromwell had

tried to secure. Henceforth the King had no prime minister ; there was

no second Vice gerent, and the praise or the blame for his policy can be

given to no one but Henry.

That policy was, in foreign affairs, a close adherence to the Emperor,

partly because it was almost universally held to be the safest course for

England to pursue, and partly because it gave Henry a free hand for

the development of his imperialist designs on Scotland. In domestic

affairs, the predominant note was the extreme rigour with which the

Iving's secular autocracy, his supremacy over the Church, and the Church's

orthodox doctrine, were imposed on his subjects. Although the Act of

Six Articles had been passed in 1539, Cromwell appears to have prevented

the issue of commissions for its execution. This culpable negligence did

not please Parliament, and, just before his fall, another Act was passed for

the more effective enforcement of the Six Articles. One relaxation was

found necessary ; it was impossible to inflict the death penalty on incon-

tinent priests, because there were so many. But that was the only indul-

gence granted. Two days after Cromwell's death, a vivid illustration was

given of the spirit which was henceforth to dominate the government.

Six men were executed at the same time ; three were priests, condemned

to be hanged as traitors for denying the Royal Supremacy ;
three were

heretics, condemned to be burnt for impugning the Catholic Faith.

And yet there was no peace. Henry, who had succeeded in so much,

had, with the full concurrence of the majority of his people, entered upon

a task in which he was foredoomed to failure. Not all the whips with

six strings, not all the fires at Smithfield, could compel that unity and

concord in opinion which Henry so much desired, but which he had

done so much to destroy. He might denounce the diversities of belief to
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which his opening of the Bible in English churches had given rise; but men,

who had caught a glimpse of hidden verities, could not all be lorced to

deny the things which they had seen. The most lasting result of Henry's

repressive tyranny was the stimulus it gave to reform in the reign of his

son, even as the persecutions of Mary finally ruined in England the cause of

the Roman Church. Henry's bishops themselves could scarcely be brought

to agreement. Latimer and Shaxton lost their sees; but the submission of

the rest did not extend to comi^lete recantation, and the endeavour to stretch

all his subjects on the Procrustean bed of Six Articles was one of Henry's

least successful enterpriser. It was easier to sacrifice a portion of his

monastic spoils to found new bishoprics. This had been a project of

Wolsey's, interrupted by the Cardinal's fall. Parliament subsequently

authorised Henry to erect twenty-six sees ; he actually established six, the

bishoprics of Peterborough, Oxford, Chester, Gloucester, Bristol, and West-

minster. Funds were also provided for the endowment, in both univer-

sities, of Regius professorships of Divinity, Hebrew, Greek, Civil Law, and

Medicine; and the royal interest in the advancement of science was further

evinced by the grant of a charter to the College of Surgeons, similar to

that accorded early in the reign to the Physicians.

Disloyalty, meanwhile, was no more extinct than diversity in religious

opinion. Early in 1541, there was a conspiracy under Sir John Neville, in

Lincolnshire, and about the same time there were signs that the Council

itself could not be immediately steadied after the violent disturbances of

the previous year. Pate, the ambassador at the Emperor's Court, absconded

to Rome in fear of arrest; Sir John Wallop, Sir Thomas Wyatt, diplo-

matist and poet, and his secretary, the witty and cautious Sir John Mason,

were sent to the Tower; both Cromwell's henchmen, Wriolhesley and

Sadleir, seem to have incurred suspicion. Wyatt, Wallop, and Mason were

soon released, while Wriothesley and Sadleir regained favour by abjurino-

their former opinions; but it was evident that the realization of arbitrary

power was gradually destroying Henry's better nature. His suspicion was

aroused on the slightest pretext, and his temper was gettino- worse, ill-
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Iieallh contributed not a little to this IVanic of iniiul. The ulcer on

his leg caused him such agony that he sonictinics went almost black

in the face and speechless from pain. He was beginning to look grey

and old, and was growing daily more corpulent and unwieldy. He had,

he said, on hearing of Neville's rebellion, an evil peo[)Ic to rule; he would,

he vowed, make them so poor that it would be out of their power to

rebel; and, before he set out for the North to extinguish the discontent

and to arrange a meeting with .James V., he cleared the Tower by sending

all its prisoners, including the aged Countess of Salisbury, to the block.

A greater trial than the failure of James to accept his invitation to

York awaited Henry on his return from the North. Rumours of Catherine

Howard's past indiscretions had at length reached the ears of the Privy

Council. On All Saints" dav, 1541, Henry directed his confessor, the Bishop

of Lincoln, to give thanks to God with him for the good life he was leading

and hoped to lead with his present Queen, "after sundry troubles of mind

which had happened to him by marriages." At last he thought he had

reached the haven of domestic peace, whence no roving fancy should tempt

him to stray. Twenty-four hours later, Cranmer put in his hand proofs of

the Queen's misconduct. Henry refused to believe in this rude awakening

from his dreams; he ordered a strict investigation into the charges. Its

results left no room for doubt. Dereham confessed his intercourse; Mannock

admitted that he had taken liberties ; and, presently, the Qiieen herself

acknowledged her guilt. The Ring was overwhelmed with shame and

vexation; he shed bitter tears, a thing, said the Council, "strange in his

courage." He "has wonderfully felt the case of the Queen," wrote Chapuys;

"he took such grief," added Marillac, "that of late it was thought he had

gone mad." He seems to have promised his wife a pardon, and she might

have escaped with nothing worse than a divorce, had not proofs come to light

of her misconduct with Culpepper after her marriage with Henry, and even

during their recent progress in the North. This offence was high treason,

and could not be covered by the King's pardon for Catherine's pre-nuptial

immorality. Henry, however, was not at ease until Parliament, in January,
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1542, considerately relieved him of all responsibility. The faithful Lords

and Commons begged him not to take the matter too heavily, but to permit

them freely to proceed with an Act of Attainder, and to give his assent

thereto by commission under the great seal without any words or ceremony,

which might cause him pain. Thus originated the practice of giving the

royal assent to Acts of Parliament by commission. Another innovation

was introduced into the Act of Attainder, whereby it was declared treason

for any woman to marry the King, if her previous life had been unchaste;

" few, if any, ladies now at court," commented the cynical Chapuys,

" would henceforth aspire to such an honour." The bill received the royal

assent on the 11th of February, Catherine having declined Henry's per-

mission to go down to Parliament and defend herself in person. On

the 10th, she was removed to the Tower, being dressed in black velvet and

treated with "as much honour as when she was reigning." Three days

later, she was beheaded on the same spot where the sword had severed

the fair neck of Anne Boleyn.

Thus ended one of the " good things" which had come out of the

repudiation of Anne of Cleves. Other advantages were more permanent.

The breach between Francis and Charles grew ever wider. In 1541, the

French King's ambassadors to the Turk were seized and executed by the

order of the Imperial governor of Milan. The outrage brought Francis's

irritation to a head. He was still pursuing the shadow of a departed

glory, and the vain hope of dominion beyond the Alps. He had secured

none of the benefits he anticipated from the Imperial alliance ; his inter-

views with Charles and professions of friendship were lost on that heartless

schemer, and he realized the force of Henry's gibe at his expectations from

Charles. "•
1 have myself," said Henry, "held interviews for three weeks

together with the Emperor. ' Both sovereigns began to compete for

England's favour. The French, said Chapuys, " now almost offer the English

carte blanche for an alliance ;
" and he told Charles that England must, at any

price, be secured in the Imperial interest. In June, 1542, Francis declared

war on the Emperor, and, by the end of July, four French armies were
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iiivading or thrcaleniny Charles's cloiniiiioiis. Ilemy, in spite of all tempta-

tions, was not to be the tool ol cither; he had designs ol his own; and

the breach between Francis and Charles gave him a unique opportunity

for completing his imperialist projects, by extending his sway over the

one portion of the Britisli Isles which yet remained independent.

* *

As in the case of similar enterprises, Henry could easily find colourable

pretexts for his attack on Scots independence. Beton had been made Car-

dinal with the express objects of publishing in Scotland the Pope's Bull

against Henry, and of instigating James V. to undertake its execution; and

the Cardinal held a high place in the Scots King's confidence. James

had intrigued against England with both Charles V. and Francis I., and

hopes had been instilled into his mind that he had only to cross the

Border to be welcomed, at least in the North, as a deliverer from Henry's

oppression. Refugees from the Pilgrimage of Grace found shelter in

Scotland, and the ceaseless Border warfare might, at any time, have pro-

vided either King with a case for war, if war he desired. The desire

varied, of course, with the prospects of success. James V. would, without

doubt, have invaded England, if Francis and Charles had begun an attack,

and if a general crusade had been proclaimed against Henry. So, too,

war between the two European rivals afforded Henry some chance of success,

and placed in his way an irresistible temptation to settle his account with

Scotland. He revived the obsolete claim to suzerainty, and pretended that

the Scots were rebels. Had not James V., moreover, refused to meet him

at York to discuss the questions at issue between them ? Henry might

well have maintained that he sought no extension of territory, but was

actuated solely by the desire to i-emove the perpetual menace to England

involved in the presence of a foe on his northern Borders, in close alliance

with his inveterate enemy across the Channel. He seems, indeed, to have

been willing to conclude peace, if the Scots would repudiate their ancient
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connection with France; but this they considered the sheet-anchor of their

safety, and they declined to destroy it. They gave Henry greater offence

by defeating an English raid at Halidon Rig, and the desire to avenge a

trifling reverse became a point of honour in the English mind and a power-

ful factor in English policy.

The negotiations lasted throughout the summer of 1542. In October,

Norfolk crossed the Borders. The transport broke down; the commis-

sariat was most imperfect; and Sir George Lawson of Cumberland was

unable to supply the army with sufficient beer. Norfolk had to turn back

at Kelso, having accomplished nothing beyond devastation. James now

sought his revenge. He replied to Norfolk's invasion on the East by

throwing the Scots across the Borders on the \yest. The Warden was

warned by his spies, but he had only a few hundreds to meet the thousands

of Scots. But, if Norfolk's invasion was an empty parade, the Scots

attempt was a fearful rout. Under their incompetent leader, Oliver Sinclair,

they got entangled in Solway Moss ; enormous numbers were slain or taken

prisoners, and among them were some of the greatest men in Scotland.

James died broken-hearted at the news, leaving his kingdom to the week-

old infant, Mary, Queen of Scots. The triumph of Flodden Field was

repeated; a second Scots Ring had fallen; and, for a second time in Henry's

reign, Scotland was a prey to the woes of a royal minority.

Within a few days of the Scots disaster. Lord Lisle (afterwards Duke of

Northumberland) expressed a wish that the infant Queen were in Henry's

hands and betrothed to Prince Edward, and a fear that the French would

seek to remove her beyond the seas. To realize the hope and to prevent

the fear were the main objects of Henry's foreign policy for the rest of his

reign. Could he but have secured the marriage of Mary to Edward, he

would have carried both England and Scotland many a weary stage along

the path to Union and to Empire. But, unfortunately, he was not content

with this brilliant prospect for his son. He grasped himself at the Scot-

tish crown; he must be not merely a suzerain shadow, but a real sovereign.

The Scottish peers, who had been taken at Solway Moss, were sworn to
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Henry VIII., "to set forth his Majesty's title that he had to the realm of

Scotland;" early in J 543, an official declaration was issued, "containing

the just causes and considerations of this present war with the Scots,

wherein also appeareth the true and right title that the King's most royal

Majesty hath to the sovereignty of Scotland ;
" while Parliament affirmed

that "the late pretensed King of Scots was but an usurper of the crown

and realm of Scotland," and that Henry had " now at this present (hy

the infinite goodness of God), a time apt and propice for the recovery of

his said ri<rht and title to the said crown and realm of Scotland." The

promulgation of these high-sounding pretensions was fatal to the cause

which Henry had at heart. Seeing no means of resisting the victorious

English arms, the Scots had, in March, 1543, agreed to the marriage

between Henry's son and their infant Queen. But to admit Henry's extra-

vagant claims to Scottish sovereignty was quite a different matter. The

mere mention of them was sufficient to excite distrust and patriotic resent-

ment. The French Catholic party led by Cardinal Beton Avas strengthened,

and, when Francis declared that he would never desert his ancient ally,

and gave an earnest of his intentions by sending ships and money and men

to their aid, the Scots repudiated their compact with England, and entered

into negotiations for marrying their Queen to a Prince in France.

Such a danger to England must at all costs be averted. Marriages

between Scots Kings and French Princesses had never boded good to

England; but the marriage of the Queen of Scotland to a French Prince,

and possibly to one who might succeed to the French throne, transcended

all the other perils with which England could be threatened. The union

of the Scots and French crowns would have destroyed the possibility of a

British Empire. Henry had sadly mismanaged the business through vaulting

ambition, but there was little fault to be found with his efforts to prevent

the union of France and Scotland ; and that was the real objective of his

last war with France. His aim was not mere military glory or the conquest

of France, as it had been in his earlier years under the guidance of

Wolsey; it was to weaken or destroy a support, which enabled Scotland
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lo rcsisl the union willi England, and portended a union between Scotland

and France. The Emperor's efforts to draw England into his war with

France thus met with a comparatively ready response. In May, 1543, a

secret treaty between Henry and Charles was ratified; on the 22nd of June,

a joint intimation of war was notified to the French ambassador ; and a

detachment of English troojis, under Sir John Wallop and Sir Thomas

Seymour, was sent to aid the Imperialists in their campaign in the North

of France.

Before hostilities actually broke out, Henry wxdded his sixth and last

wife. Catherine Parr was almost as much married as Henry himself.

Thirty-one years of age in 1543, she had already been twice made a widow;

her first husband was one Edward Borough, her second. Lord Latimer.

Latimer had died at the end of 1542, and Catherine's hand was imme-

diately sought by Sir Thomas Seymour, Henry's younger brother-in-law.

Seymour was handsome and won her heart, but he was to be her fourth,

and not her third, husband; her will "was overruled by a higher power,"

and, on the I2th of July, she was married to Henry at Hampton Court.

Catherine was small in stature, and appears to have made little impression

by her beauty ; but her character was beyond reproach, and she exercised

a wholesome influence on Henry during his closing years. Her task can

have been no light one, but her tact overcame all difficulties. She nursed

the King with great devotion, and succeeded to some extent in mitigating

the violence of his temper. She intervened to save victims from the

penalties of the Act of Six Articles; reconciled Elizabeth with her father;

and was regarded with affection by both Henry's daughters. Suspicions of

her orthodoxy and a theological dispute she once had with the King are

said to have given rise to a reactionary })lot against her. "A good

hearing it is," Henry is reported as saying, "when women become such

clerks; and a thing much to my comfort to come in mine old days to be

taught by mv wife!" Catherine explained that her remarks were only

intended to "minister talk," and that it would be unbecoming in her to

assert opinions contrary to those of her lord. "Is it so, sweetheart," said
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Henry; "then ;u-c wo perfect IVieiuls;" aiul when Lord Cliniuellor Wiiollicslcv

rame to arrest her, he was, we are tokl, almsed hv the King as a knave,

a beast, and a fool.

The winter of LVjiJ-'i and the following spring were spent in pre-

parations for war on two fronts. The punishment of the Scots for

repudiating their engagements to England was entrusted to the skilful

hands of Henry's brother-in-law, the Earl of Hertford; while the King

himself was to renew the marlial exploits of his youth, by crossing the

Channel and leading an army in person against the French King. The

Emperor was to invade France from the noith-cast ; the two monarchs

were then to effect a junction and march on Paris. There is, however,

no instance in the first half of the sixteenth century of two sovereigns

heartily combining to secure any one object whatever. Charles and

Henry both wanted to extract concessions from Francis, but the con-

cessions were very different, and neither monarch cared much for those

which the other demanded. Henry's ultimate end related to Scotland,

Charles's to Milan and the Lutherans. The Emperor sought to make

Francis relinquish his claim to Milan and his support of the German

Princes; Henry was bent on compelling him to abandon the cause of Scottish

independence. If Charles could secure his own terms, he would, without

the least hesitation, leave Henry to get what he could by himself; and

Henry was equally ready to do Charles a similar turn. His suspicions ol

the Emperor determined his course; he was resolved to obtain some tangible

result; and, before he would advance any fuither, he sat down to besiege

Boulogne. Its capture had been one of the objects of Suffolk's invasion

of 1523, when Wolsey and his Imperialist allies had induced Henry to forego

the design. The result of that folly was not forgotten. Suffolk, his ablest

general, now well stricken in years, was there to recall it; and, under Suffolk's

directions, the siege of Boulogne was vigorously pressed It fell on the I4th
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of September. Charles, meanwhile, was convinced that Boulogne was all

Henry wanted, and that the English Avould never advance to support him.

So, five days after the fall of Boulogne, he made his peace with Francis.

Henry, of course, was loud in his indignation ; the Emperor had made no

effort to include him in the settlement, and repeated embassies were sent

in the autumn to keep Charles to the terms of his treaty with England,

and to persuade him to renew the war in the following spring.

His labours were all in vain, and Henry, for the first lime since 1514,

was left to face unaided the threat of a French invasion. The horizon seemed

clouded at every point. Hertford, indeed, had carried out his instructions in

Scotland with signal success. Leith had been burnt and Edinburgh sacked.

But, as soon as he left for Boulogne, things went wrong in the North, and,

in Februarv, 1545, Evers suffered defeat from the Scots at Ancrum Moor.

Now, when Henry was left without an ally, when the Scots were victorious

in the North, when France was ready to launch an Armada against the

southern coasts of England, now, surely, was the time for a national uprising

to depose the bloodthirsty tyrant, the enemy of the Church, the persecutor

of his people. Strangely enough his people did, and even desired, nothing

of the sort. Popular discontent existed only in the imagination of his

enemies; Henry retained to the last his hold over the mind of his people.

Never had they been called to pay such a series of loans, subsidies, and

benevolences; never did they pay them so cheerfully. The King set a royal

example by coining his plate and mortgaging his estates at the call of

national defence; and, in the summer, he went down in person to Ports-

mouth to meet the threatened invasion. The French attack had begun

on Boulogne, where Norfolk's carelessness had put into their hands some

initial advantages. But, before dawn, on the 6th of February, Hertford

sallied out of Boulogne with four thousand foot and seven hundred horse.

The French commander, Marechal du Biez, and his fourteen thousand men

were surprised, and they left their stores, their ammunition, and their

artillery in the hands of their English foes.

Boulogne was safe for the time, but a French fleet entered the Solent,
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and effected a laiuliny at Bembridge. Skiiinisliini^- took place in the wooded,

undulating eountiy between the shore and the slopes of Bembridge Down;
the English retreated and broke the bridge over the Yar. This checked

the French advance, though a force which was stopped by that puny

stream, could not have been very determined. A day or two later, the

French sent round a party to fill their water-casks at the brook which

trickles down Slianklin Chine; it was attacked and cut to pieces. They

then proposed forcing their way into Portsmouth Harbour, but the mill-

race of the tide at its mouth, and the mysteries of the sandbanks of

Spithead deterred them; and, as a westerly breeze sprang up, they dropped

down before it along the Sussex coast. The English had suffered a disaster

by the sinking of the Mary Rose with all hands on board, an accident

repeated on the same spot two centuries later, in the loss of the Royal

George. But the Admiral, Lisle, followed the French, and a slight action

was fought off Shoreham; the fleets anchored for the night almost within

gunshot, but, when dawn broke, the last French ship was hull-down on

the horizon. Disease had done more than the English arms, and the French

troops landed at the mouth of the Seine, were the pitiful wreck of an

army.

France could hope for little profit from a continuance of the war, aud

England had everything to gain by its conclusion. The terms of peace

were finally settled in June, 1546. Boulogne was to remain eight years

in English hands, and France was then to pay heavily for its restitution.

Scotland was not included in the peace. In September, 1545, Hertford

had revenged the English defeat at Ancrum Moor by a desolating raid on

the Borders; early in 1546, Cardinal Beton, the soul of the French party,

was assassinated, not without Henry's connivance; and St. Andrews was

seized by a body of Scots Protestants in alliance with England. Throughout

the autumn, preparation was being made for a fresh attempt to enforce

the marriage between Edward and Mary; but the further prosecution of

that enterprise was reserved for other hands than those of Henry VIII.

He left the relations between England and Scotland in no better state than
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ho found thein. His aggressive imperialism paid little heed to the suscep-

tibilities of a stubborn, if weaker, foe; and he did not possess the military

force to crush out resistance. He would not conciliate and he could not

coerce.

Meanwhile, amid the distractions of his Scottish intrigues, of his cam-

paij^n in France, and of his defence of England, the Kino- was eno-ased

in his last hopeless endeavour to secure unity and concord in religious

opinion. The ferocious Act of Six Articles had never been more than

fitfully executed ; from fear of exasperating his people, or from some lin-

gering sense of humanity, Henry refrained from using, to the full, the powers

with which he had been entrusted by Parliament. The fall of Catherine

Howard may have impaired the influence of her uncle, the Duke of Norfolk,

who had always expressed his zeal for the burning of heretics ; and the

reforming party was rapidly growing in the nation at large, and even

within the guarded precincts of the King's Privy Council. Cranmer retained

his curious hold over Henry's mind; Hertford was steadily rising in favour;

Queen Catherine Parr, so far as she dared, supported the New Learning;

the majority of the Council were prepared to acce])t the authorised form

of religion, whatever it might happen to be, and, besides the Howards,

Gardiner was the only convinced and determined champion of the Catholic

Faith. Even at the moment of Cromwell's fall, there was no intention

of undoing anything that had already been done ; Henry only determined

that things should not go so fast, especially in the way of doctrinal change,

as the Vice-gerent wished, for he knew that unity was not to be sought

or found in that direction. But, between the extremes of Lutheranism and

the status quo in the Church, there was a good deal to be done, in the

way of reform, which was still consistent with the maintenance of the

Catholic Faith. In May, 1541, a fresh proclamation was issued for the use

of the Bible. He had, said the King, intended his subjects to read the
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Bil)le humbly and reverently for their instruction, not reading aloud in

time of Holy Ma«s or other divine service, nor, being laymen, arguing

thereon; but, at the same time, he ordered all curates and parishioners

who had failed to obey his former injunctions, to provide an English

Bible for their Church without delay. Two monlhs later, another pro-

clamation followed, regulating the number of Saints' days; it was charac-

teristic of the age that various Saints' days were abolished, not so much

lor the purpose of checking superstition, as because they interfered with

the harvest and other secular business. Other proclamations came forth in

the same year for the destruction of shrines and the removal of relics. In

1543, a general revision of service-books was ordered, with a view to

eradicating "false legends" and references to Saints not mentioned in the

Bible, or in the " authentical doctors." The Sarum Use was adopted as

the standard for the clergy of the province of Canterbury, and things w^ere

steadily tending towards that ideal uniformity of service as well as of

doctrine, which was ultimately embodied in various Acts of Uniformity.

Homilies, "made by certain prelates," were submitted to Convocation, but

the publication of them, and of the Rationale of rites and ceremonies, was

deferred to the reign of Edward VI.; possibly it was thought that their

purpose was sufficiently served by the Necessan/ Doctrine.

This definition of the Faith was a revision of the Bishops' Book of 1537,

for which Henry had declined all responsibility, and it was commonly

called the King's Book. Henry, indeed had urged on the revision, he

had fully discussed with Cranmer the amendments he thought the book

needed, and he had brought the bishops to an agreement, which ihey had

vainly sought for three years by themselves. It was the Ring who now

"set forth a true and perfect doctrine for all his people." So it was fondly

styled by his Council. A modern high-churchman asserts that the King's

Book taught higher doctrine than the book which the Bishops had drafted

six years before, but that "it was far more liberal and better composed.'

Whether its excellencies amounted to "a true and perfect doctrine" or not,

it failed of its purpose. The efforts of the old and the new parties were
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perpetually iliivinjj;' llie Church from the Via Media, which Henry marked

out. On the one hand, we have an act limiting the use of the Bible lo

gentlemen and their families, and plots to catch Cranmer in the meshes

of the Six Articles. On the other, there were schemes on the part of

some of the Council to entrap Gardiner, and we have Cranmer's assertion

that, in the last months of his reign, the King commanded him to pen a

form for the alteration of the Mass into a Communion, a design obviously

to be connected with the fact that, in his irritation at Charles's desertion

in 1544, and fear that his neutrality might become active hostility, Henry

had once more entered 'into communication with the Lutheran princes of

Germany.

The only ecclesiastical change that went on without shadow of turning

was the seizure of Church property by ihe King; and it is a matter of

curious speculation as to where he would have stayed his hand, had he

lived much longer. The debasement of the coinage had proceeded apace

during his later years to supply the King's necessities, and, for the same

purpose. Parliament, in 1545, granted him all chantries, hospitals, and

free chapels. That session ended with Henry's last appearance before his

faithful Lords and Commons, and the speech he then delivered may be

regarded as his last political will and testament. He spoke, he said,

instead of the Lord Chancellor, " because he is not so able to open and

set forth my mind and meaning, and the secrets of my heart, in so plain

and ample manner, as I myself am and can do." He thanked his sub-

jects for their commendation, protested that he was "both bare and

barren " of the virtues a Prince ought to have, but rendered to God

"most humble thanks" for "such small qualities as He hath indued me

withal. . . . Now, since I find such kindness in your part towards me,

I cannot choose but love and favour you ; affirming that no Prince in

the world more favoureth his subjects than 1 do you, nor no subjects or

Commons more love and obey their Sovereign Lord, than 1 perceive you

do; for whose defence my treasure shall not be hidden, nor my person

shall not be unadventured. Yet, although 1 wish you, and you wish me,
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to be in this perfect love and concord, this friendly amity cannot con-

tinue, except both you, my Lords Temporal and my Lords Spiritual, and

you, my loving subjects, study and take pains to amend one thing, which

surely is amiss and far out of order ; to the which I most heartily require

you. Which is, that Charity and Concord is not amongst you, but Discord

and Dissension beareth rule in every place. Saint Paul saith to the

Corinthians, the thirteenth chapter. Charity is gentle. Charity is not em-ioiis.

Charity is not proud, and so forth. Behold then, what love and charily

is amongst you, when one calleth another heretic and anabaptist, and he

calleth him again papist, hypocrite, and Pharisee ? Be these tokens of

Charity amongst you ? Are these signs of fraternal love amongst you ?

No, no, I assure you that this lack of charity among yourselves will be

the hindrance and assuaging of the perfect love betwixt us, except this

wound be salved and clearly made whole. ... I hear daily that you of

the Clergy preach one against another, without charity or discretion ; some

be too stiff in their old Mumpsimus, others be too busy and curious in

their new Siimpsinms. Thus all men almost be in varietv and discord,

and few or none preach truly and sincerely the word of God. . . . Yet

the Temporally be not clear and unspotted of malice and envy. For

you rail on Bishops, speak slanderously of Priests, and rebuke and taunt

preachers, both contrary to good order and Christian fraternitv. If you

know surely that a Bishop or Preacher erreth, or teacheth perverse doc-

trine, come and declare it to some of our Council, or to us, to whom

is committed by God the high authority to reform such causes and

behaviours. And be not judges of yourselves of your fantastical opinions

and vain expositions. ... I am very sorry to know and to hear how

unreverently that most precious jewel, the Word of God, is disputed,

rhymed, sung, and jangled in every Ale-house and Tavern. . . . And yet

I am even as much sorry that the readers of the same follow it in doing

so faintly and so coldly. For of this I am sure, that charity was never

so faint amongst you, and virtuous and godly living was never less used,

nor God himself among Christians was never less reverenced, honoured,
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or served. Therefore, as I said before, be in charily one with another

like brother and brother; love, dread, and serve God; to which I, as

your Supreme Head and Sovereign Lord, exhort and require you ;
and

then I doubt not but that love and league, that 1 spake of in the be-

ginning, shall never be dissolved or broken betwixt us."

The bond betwixt Henry and his subjects, which had lasted thirty-

eight years, and had survived such strain as has rarely been put on the

loyalty of any people, Avas now to be broken by death. The King was

able to make his usual progress in August and September, 1546; from

Westminster he went to Hampton Court, thence to Oatlands, Woking,

and Guildford, and from Guildford to Chobham and Windsor, where he

spent the month of October. Early in November, he came up to London,

staying first at Whitehall and then at Ely Place. From Ely Place he

returned, on the 3rd of January, 1547, to Whitehall, whicli he was never

to leave alive. He is said to have become so unwieldy that he could

neither Avalk nor stand, and mechanical contrivances were used at Windsor

and his other palaces for moving the royal person from room to room.

His days were numbered and finished , and everyone thought of the

morrow. A child of nine would reign, but who should rule? Hertford

or Norfolk ? The party of reform or that of reaction .' Henry had appa-

rently decided that neither should dominate the other, and designed a

balance of parties in the council he named for his child-successor.

Suddenly the balance upset. On the 12th of December, 1546, Norfolk

and his son, the Earl of Surrey, were arrested for treason and sent to

the Tower. Endowed with great poetic gifts, Surrey had even greater

defects of character. Nine years before, he had been knoAvn as "the

most foolish proud boy in England." Twice he had been committed to

prison by the Council for roaming the streets of the city at night and

breaking the citizens' windows, offences venial in the exuberance of youth,
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l)iit higlily iinbecoiiiing in a iiian who was nearly thirty, who aspired to

high place in the councils of the reahn, and who despised most of his

colleagues as upstarts. His enmity was specially directed against the

Prince's uncles, the Seymours. Hertford had twice been called in to

retrieve Surrey's military blunders. Surrey made improper advances lo

Hertford's w^ife, but repudiated with scorn his father's suggestion for a

marriage alliance between the two families. His sister testified that he

had advised her to become the King's mistress, with a view to advancing

the Howard interests. Who, he asked, should be Protector, in case the

King died, but his father? He quartered the royal arms with his own,

in spite of the heralds' prohibition. This at once roused Henry's suspi-

cions; ho knew that, years before, Norfolk had been suggested as a possible

claimant to the throne, and that a marriage had been proposed between

Surrey and the Princess Mary.

The original charge against Surrey was prompted by personal and local

jealousy, not on the part of the Seymours, but on that of a member of

Surrey's own party. It came from Sir Richard Southwell, a Catholic and

a man of weight and leading in Norfolk, like the Howards themselves; he

even appears to have been brought up with Surrey, and for many years

had been intimate with the Howard family. When Surrey was called

before the Council to answ^er Southwells charges, he wished to fight his

accuser, but both were committed to custody. The case was investigated

by the King himself, wdth the help of another Catholic, Lord Chancellor

Wriothesley. The Duke of Norfolk confessed to technical treason in con-

cealing his son's offences, and was sent to the Tower. On the 13th ol

January, 1547, Surrey was found guilty by a special commission sitting

at the Guildhall ; two days later he was beheaded. On the 18th, Par-

liament met to deal with the Duke; by the 24th, a bill of attainder had

passed all its stages and awaited only the King's assent. On Thursday,

the 27th, that assent was given by royal commission. Orders are said to

have been issued for the Duke's execution the following morning.

That night Norfolk lay doomed in his cell in the Tower, and Henry VHl.
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in his palace at \A'^eslminslei-. The Angel of" Death hovered over the twain,

doubting which to take. Eighteen years before, the King had said that,

were his will opposed, there was never so noble a head in his kingdom,

but he would make it fly. Now his own hour was come, and he was loth to

hear of death. His physicians dared not breathe the word, for to prophesy

the King's decease was treason by Act of Parliament. As that long Thursday

evening wore on, Sir Anthony Denny, chief gentleman of the chamber,

"boldly coming to the King, told him what case he was in, to man's judg-

ment not like to live ; and therefore exhorted him to prepare himself to

death." Sensible of his weakness, Henry "disposed himself more quietly to

hearken to the words of his exhortation, and to consider his life past; wdiich

although he much accused, 'yet,' said he, 'is the mercy of Christ able to

pardon me all my sins, though they were greater than they be.'" Denny

then asked if he should send for "any learned man to confer withal and to

open his mind unto." The King replied that if he had anyone, it should

be Cranmer ; but first he would "take a little sleep; and then, as I feel

myself, I will advise upon the matter." And while he slept, Hertford

and Paget paced the gallery outside, contriving to grasp the reins of

power, as they fell from their master's hands. ^^'hen the King woke,

he felt his feebleness growing ujjon him, and told Denny to send for

Cranmer. The Archbishop came about midnight : Henry was speechless,

and almost unconscious. He stretched out his hand to Cranmer, and

held him fast, while the Archbishop exhorted him to give some token

that he put his trust in Christ. The King wrung Cranmer's hand with

his fast-ebbing strength, and so passed away about two in the morning,

on Friday, the 28th of January, 1547. He was exactly fifty-five years

and seven months old, and his reign had lasted for thirty-seven years

and three-quarters.

"And for my body," wrote Henry in his will, "which when the soul

is departed, shall then remain but as a cadaver, and so return to the

vile matter it was made of, were it not for the crown and dignity which

God hath called us unto, and that We would not be counted an infringer
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of honest worldly policies and ciistoins, when llicy be not contrary to

God's laws, We would be content to have it buried in any place accus-

tomed to Christian folks, were it never so vile, lor it is but ashes, and

to ashes it shall return. Nevertheless, because We would be loth, in the

reputation of the people, to do injury to the Dignity , which We are

unworthily called unto, We are content to will and order that Our

body be buried and interred in the choir of Our college of Windsor."

On the 8th of February, in every parish church in the realm, there was sung

a solemn dirge by night, with all the bells ringing, and on the morrow a

Recjuiem mass for the soul of the King. Six days later, his body "was

solemnly with great honour conveyed in a chariot towards Windsor," and the

funeral procession stretched four miles along the roads. That night, the

body lay at Sion under a hearse, nine storeys high. On the iSlh, it was

taken to Windsor, where it was met by the Dean and choristers of the

Chapel Royal, and by the members of Eton College. There in the Castle

it rested under a hearse of thirteen storeys; and on the morrow it was

buried, after mass, in the choir of St. George's Chapel.

Midway between the stalls and the Altar, the tomb of Queen Jane Seymour

was opened to receive the bones of her lord. Hard by, stood that mau-

soleum "more costly than any royal or papal monument in the world,"

which Henry VII. had commenced as a last resting-place for himself and

his successors, but had abandoned for his chapel in \\'estminster Abbey.

His son bestowed the building on ^^'olsey, who prepared for his own

remains a splendid cenotaph of black and white marble. On the Car-

dinal's fall, Henry Vlll. designed both tomb and chapel for himself post

multos et felices annos. But King and Cardinal reaped little honour by

these strivings after posthumous glory. The dying commands of the

monarch, whose will had been omnipotent during his life, remained unful-

fdled ; the memorial chapel was left incomplete; and the monument of

marble was taken down, despoiled of its ornaments, and sold, in the Great

Rebellion. At length, in a happier age, after more than three centuries of

neglect, the magnificent building was finished, but not in Henry's honour;
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it was atlonied and dedicated to the memory of a Prince in whose veins

tliere flowed not a drop oF Henry's blood.

So died and so was buried the most remarkable man who ever sat

on the English throne. His reign, like his character, seems to be

divided into two inconsistent halves. In 1519, his rule is pronounced more

suave and gentle than the greatest liberty anywhere else ; twenty years

later, terror is said to reign supreme. It is tempting to sum up his

life in one sweeping generalisation, and to say that it exhibits a con-

tinuous development of Henry's intellect and deterioration of his character.

Yet it is difficult to read the King's speech in Parliament at the close

of 1545, without crediting him with some sort of ethical ideas and aims;

his life was at least as free from vice during the last, as during the first,

seven years of his reign ; in seriousness of purpose and steadfastness of

aim it was immeasurably superior; and at no time did Henry's moral standard

vary greatly from that of many whom the world is content to regard as

its heroes. His besetting sin was egotism, a sin which princes can hardly,

and Tudors could nowise, avoid. Of egotism Henry had his full share

from the beginning; at first it moved in a limited, personal sphere, but

gradually it extended its scope till it comprised the whole realm of national

religion and policy. The obstacles which he encountered in prosecuting

his suit for a divorce from Catherine of Aragon, were the first check he

experienced in the gratification of a personal whim, and the effort to

remove those impediments drew him on to the world-wide stage of the

conflict with Rome. He was ever proceeding from the particular to the

general , from an attack on a special dispensation to an attack on the

dispensing power of the Pope, and thence to an assault on the whole edifice

of Papal claims. He started with no desire to separate England from

Rome, or to reform the Anglican Church; those aims he adopted, little by

little, as subsidiary to the attainment of his one great personal purpose.
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lie arrived at his [irinciples by a process of deduclinn from his own par-

ticular case.

As Henry went on, his "quick and penetrable eyes," as More des-

cribed them, were more and more opened to the extent of" ^vhat he could

do ; and he realized, as he said, how small was the power of the Pope.

Papal authority had always depended on moral influence and not on material

resources; that moral influence had long been impaired; the sack of Rome

in 1.527 afforded further demonstration of its impotence; and, when Clement

condoned that outrage, and formed a close alliance with the chief offender,

the Papacy suffered a blow from which it never recovered. Temporal

princes might continue to recognise the Pope's authority, but it was

only because they chose, and not because they were compelled so to do;

they supported him , not as the divinely commissioned Vicar of Christ,

but as a useful instrument in the prosecution of their own and their people's

desires. National interests had already become the dominant factor in

European politics ; they were no longer to be made subservient to the

behests of the universal Church. The change was tacitly recognised every-

where. It was assumed that each prince could do what he liked in his

own country; they might combine to make war on an excommunicate King,

but only if war suited their secular policy; and the rivalry between Francis

and Charles was so keen, that each set greater store upon Henry's help

than upon his total destruction.

Thus the breach with Rome was made a possible, though not an easy,

task ; and Henry was left to settle the matter at home with little to fear

from abroad, except threats which he knew to be empty. England was the

key of the situation, and in England must be sought the chief causes ol

Henry's success. If we are to believe that Heni-y's policy was at variance

with the national will, his reign must remain a political mystery, and we

can offer no explanation of the facts that Henry was permitted to do his

work at all, and that it has stood so long the test of time. He had, no

doubt, exceptional facilities for getting his way. His dictatorship was the

child of the Wars of the Roses, and his people, conscious of the fact that



290 HENRY VIII.

Henry was their only bulwark against the recurrence of civil strife, and

bound up as they were in commercial and industrial pursuits, were willing

to bear with a much more arbitrary government than they would have been

in less perilous times. The alternatives may have been evil, but the choice

was freely made. No government, whatever its form, whatever its resources,

can permanently resist the national will; and every nation has, roughly

speaking, the government it deserves and desires. There is no reason

to suppose that a plebiscite in Russia would result in anything but a decla-

ration of confidence in the Czar's autocracy, and a popular vote would

never in Henry's reign have decreed his deposition. The popular mind

may be ill-informed, distorted by passion and prejudice, and based upon

selfish motives. Temporarily, too, the popular will may be neutralized by

skilful management on the part of the government, by dividing its enemies,

and counterworking their plans ; and of all those arts Henry was a past

master. But such expedients cannot prevail in the end; in i553, the

Duke of Northumberland had a subtle intellect and all the machinery of

Tudor government at his disposal; Queen Alary had not a man, nor a

shilling. Yet Mary, by popular favour, prevailed without shedding a drop

of blood. Henry himself was often compelled to yield to his people. Abject

self-abasement on their part and stupendous power of will on Henry's,

together provide no adequate solution for the history of his reign.

With all his self-will, Henry was never blind to the distinction be-

tween what he could and what he could not do. Strictly speaking, he

was a constitutional king ; he neither attempted to break up Parliament,

nor to evade the law. He combined in his royal person the parts of

despot and demagogue, and both he clothed in Tudor grace and ma-

jesty. He led his people in the way they wanted to go, he tempted them

with the baits they coveted most, he humoured their prejudices against

the clergy and against the pretensions of Rome, and he used every con-

cession to extract some fresh material for building up his own authority.

He owed his strength to the skill with which he appealed to the weak-

nesses of a people, whose prevailing characteristics were a passion for







REX ET IMPERATOR. 291

material prosperity aiul an absolute indifference to human suffering. "We,"

wrote one of Henry's secretaries of State, "we, which talk much of Christ

and His Holy Word, have, I fear me, used a much contrary way ; for

we leave fishing- of men, and fish again in the tempestuous seas of this

world for gain and wicked Mammon." A few noble examples. Catholic

and Protestant, redeemed, by their blood, the age from complete condem-

nation, but, in the mass of his subjects, the finer feelings seem to have

been lost in the pursuit of wealth. There is no sign that the hideous tor-

tures inflicted on men condemned for treason, or the equally horrible

sufferings of heretics burnt at the stake, excited the least qualm of com-

passion in the breast of the multitude ; the Act of Six Articles seems to

have been a highly popular measure, and the multiplication of treasons

evoked no national protest.

Henry, indeed, was the typical embodiment of an age, that was at

once callous and full of national vigour, and his failings were as much

a source of strength as his virtues. His defiance of the conscience of

Europe did him no harm in England, where the splendid isolation of

Athanasins contra tnnndnm is always a popular attitude ; and even his

bitterest foes could scarce forbear to admire the dauntless front he pre-

sented to every peril. National pride was the highest motive to which

he appealed. For the rest, he based his power on his people's material

interests, and not on their moral instincts. He took no such hold of

the ethical nature of men as did Oliver Cromwell, but he was liked none

the less for that; for the nation regarded Cromwell, the man of God,

with much less favour than Charles II., the man of sin; and statesmen

who try to rule on exclusively moral principles are seldom successful

and seldom beloved. Henry's successor, Protector Somerset, made a fine

effort to introduce some elements of humanity into the spirit of govern-

ment ; but he perished on the scaffold, while his colleagues denounced

his gentleness and love of liberty, and declared that his repeal of Henry's

savage treason-laws was the worst deed done in their generation.

The Kinff avoided the error of the Protector; he was neither behind



292 IIRNRY VIII.

nor hc'lorc tlie average man of the lime; he appealed to the nioh, and

the mob apphiuded. Saliis ])oj)uli, he said in effect, suprema lex, and

the peoj)le agreed ; for tliat is a principle which suits democrats no less

than despots, though they rarely possess Henry's skill in working it out.

Flenry, it is true, modified the maxim slightly by substituting jirince for

people, and by practising, before it wa.s preached, Louis XIV. 's doctrine

that L'Elat. c'est /no/ : but the assumption that the welfare of the people

was bound up with that of their King was no idle pretence. It Avas based

on solid facts, the force of which the people themselves admitted. They

endorsed the tyrant's plea of necessity. The pressure of foreign rivalries,

and the fear of domestic disruption, convinced Englishmen of the need

for despotic rule, and no consideration whatever was allowed to interfere

with the stability of government ; individual rights and even the laws

themselves must be overridden, if they conflicted with the interests of

the Stale. Torture was illegal in England, and men were proud of the

fact, yet, in cases of treason, when the national security was thought to

be involved, torture was freely used, and it was used by the very men

who boasted of England's immunity. They were conscious of no inconsis-

tency; the common law was very Avell as a general rule, but the highest

law of all was the welfare of the State.

This was the real tyranny of Tudor limes; men were dominated by

the idea that the Slate was the be-all and end-all of human existence. It

supplied an excuse to despots and an inspiration to noble minds. "Surely,"

wrote a genuine patriot in 1548, "every honest man ought to refuse no

pains, no travail, no sludy, he ought to care for no reports, no slanders,

no displeasure, no envy, no malice, so that he might profit the common-

wealth of his country, for whom next after God he is created." The

service of the Slate tended, indeed, to encroach on the service of God, and

to obliterate altogether respect for individual liberty, ^^"olsey on his death-

bed was visited by cjualms of conscience, but, as a rule, victims to the prin-

ciple afford, by their dying words, the most striking illustrations of the

omnipotence of the idea. Condemned traitors are concerned on the scaffold,
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not to asscrl llicir iniKKiMice, hut to proclaim their reaihiicss to die as an

example of obedience to the law. However unfair the judicial methods of

Tudor times may seem to us, the sufferers always thank the King for granting

them free trial. Their guilt or innocence is a matter of little moment;

the one thing needful is thai no doubt should be thrown on the inviola-

bility oi the will of the State; and the audience commend them. They

are not expected to confess or to express contrition, but merely to submit

to the decrees of the nation; if they do that, they are said to make a

charitable and godly end, and they deserve the respect and sympathy of

men; if not, they die uncharitably, and arc held up to reprobation. To

an age like that, there was nothing strange in the union of State and

Church and the supremacy of the Ring over both ; men professed Chris-

tianity in various forms, but to all men alike the State was their real reli-

gion, and the King was their great High Priest. The sixteenth century,

and especially the reign of Henry VHI., supplies the most vivid illustra-

tion of the working, both for good and for evil, of the theory that the indi-

vidual should be subordinate in goods, in life, and in conscience, to the

supreme dictates of the national will. This theory was [uit into practice

by Henry Vlll. long before it was made the basis of any political philosophy,

just as he practised Erastianism before Erastus gave it a name. It Avas

not till Henry's system had been wrecked by Stuart incompetence that

llobbes, looking back over the welter of the Civil Wars, wrote his Leviathan,

and proclaimed that in the stranded vessel of Tudor autocracy lay the only

hope of political salvation.

The devotion jiaid to the State in Tudor times inevitably made exped-

iency, and not justice or morality, the supreme test of public acts. The

dictates of expediency were, indeed, clothed in legal forms, but laws are

primarily intended to secure neither justice nor morality, but the interests

of the State ; and the highest penalty known to the law is indicted for

hidi treason, a lecral and political crime which does not necessarily involve

any breach whatever of the code of morals. Traitors are not executed

because they are immoral, but because they are dangerous. Never did a
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more innocent head tall on the scaffold than that of Lady Jane Grey
;

never was an execution more fully justified by the laAv. The contrast was

almost as flagrant in many a state trial in the reign of Henry VIII.; no

king was so careful of law, and none so careless of justice. Therein lay

his safety, for the law takes no cognizance of injustice, unless the injus-

tice is also a breach of the law, and Henry rarely, if ever, broke the law.

Not only did he keep the law, but he contrived that the nation should

always proclaim the legality of his conduct. Acts of attainder, his favourite

weapon, are erroneously supposed to have been the method to which he

resorted for removing opponents whose conviction he could not obtain

by a legal trial. But acts of attainder were, as a rule, supplements to, not

substitutes for, trials by jury; many were passed against the dead, whose

goods had already been forfeited to the King as the result of judicial

verdicts. Moreover, convictions were always easier to obtain from juries

than acts of attainder from Parliament It was simplicity itself to pack

a jury of twelve, and even a jury of peers ; but it was a much more

serious matter to pack both Houses of Parliament. What then was the

meaning and use of Acts of Attainder ? They were Acts of Indemnity

for the King. People might cavil at the verdict of juries ; for they were

only the decisions of a handful of men; but who should impugn the

voice of the whole body politic expressed in its most solemn, complete,

and legal form ? There is no way, said Francis to Henry in 1532, so

safe as by Parliament, and one of Henry's invariable methods was to

make the whole nation, so far as he could, his accomplice. For pardons

and acts of grace the King was ready to assume the responsibility ; but

the nation itself must answer for rigorous deeds. And Acts of Attainder

were neither more nor less than deliberate pronouncements, on the part

of the people, that it was expedient that one man should die rather than

that the whole nation should perish or run any risk of danger.

History, in a democratic age, tends to become a series of popular apolo-

gies, and is inclined to assume that the people can do no wrong; someone

must be the scapegoat for the people's sins, and the national sins of Henry's
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reign are all laid on Henry's shoulders. But the nation in the sixteenth

century deliberately condoned injustice, when injustice made for its peace,

it has done so before and after, and may possibly do so again. It is easy in

Kngland to-day to denounce the cruel sacrifices imposed on individuals in

the time of Henry VHI. by their subordination in everything to the interests

of the State; but, whenever and wherever like dangers have threatened,

recourse has been had to similar methods, to government by proclamation,

to martial law, and to verdicts based on political expediency.

The contrast between morals and politics, which comes out in Henry's

reign as a terrible contradiction, is inherent in all forms of human society.

Politics, the action of men in the mass, are akin to the operation of

natural forces; and, as such, they are neither moral nor immoral; they

are simply non-moral. Political movements are often as resistless as the

tides of the ocean ; they carry to fortune, and they bear to ruin, the

just and the unjust with heedless impartiality. Cato and Brutus striving

against the torrent of Homan imperialism, Fisher and More seeking to

stem the secularization of the Church, are like those who would save

men's lives from the avalanche by preaching to the mountain on the text

of the sixth commandment. The efforts of good men to avert a sure

but cruel fate are the truest theme of the Tragic Muse ; and it is pos-

sible to represent Henry's reign as one long nightmare of ''truth for

ever on the scaffold, wrong for ever on the throne;" for Henry VHI.

embodied an inevitable movement of politics, while Fisher and More stood

only for individual conscience.

That is the secret of Henry's success. He directed the storm of a

revolution, which was doomed to come, wdiich was certain to break those

who refused to bend, and which may be explained by natural causes, but

cannot be judged by moral considerations. The storm cleared the air and

dissipated many a pestilent vapour, but it left a trail of rack and ruin over

the land. The nation purchased political salvation at the price of moral

debasement; the individual was sacrificed on the altar of the State; and

popular subservience proved the impossibility of saving a people from
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itself. ConstiUilioiial guarantees are worthless without a national deter-

mination to maintain them; men lightly abandon what they lightly hold;

and, in Henry's reign, the English spirit of independence burned low in its

socket, and love of freedom grew cold. The indifference of his subjects

to political issues tempted Henry along the path to tyranny, and despotic

power developed in him features, the repulsiveness of which cannot be

concealed by the most exquisite art, appealing to the most deep rooted

prejudice. lie turned to his own profit the needs and the faults of his

people, as well as tl/oir national spirit. He sought the greatness of

England, and he spared no toil in the quest; but his labours were spent

for no ethical purpose. His aims were selfish ; his realm must be strong,

because he must be great. He had the strength of a lion, and like a lion

he used it.

Yet it is probable that Henry's personal influence and personal action

averted greater evils than those they provoked. Without him, the storm

of the Reformation would still have burst over England; without him, it

might have been far more terrible. Every drop of blood shed under

Henry VHI. might have been a river under a feebler king. Instead of a

stray execution here and there, conducted always with a scrupulous regard

for legal forms, wars of religion might have desolated the land and swept

away thousands of lives. London saw many a hideous sight in Henry's

reign, but it had no cause to envy the Catholic capitals which witnessed

the sack of Rome and the massacre of St. Bartholomew ; for all Henry's

iniquities, multiplied manifold, would not equal the volume of murder

and sacrilege committed at Rome in May, 1527, or at Paris in August,

1572. From such orgies of violence and crime, England was saved by

the strong right arm and the iron will of her Tudor king. "He is,"

said Wolsey after his fall, "a prince of royal courage, and he hath a

princely heart; and rather than he will miss or want part of his appetite

he will hazard the loss of one-half of his kingdom." But Henry discerned

more clearly than Wolsey the nature of the ground on which he stood
;

by accident, or by design, his appetite conformed to potent and permanent



REX ET IMPERATOR. 297

forces; and, wherein it did not, he was, in spite of Wolsey's remark,

content to forego its gratification. It was not he, but the Reformation,

which put the kingdoms of Europe to the Iiazard. The Sphinx propounded

her riddle to all nations alike, and all were required to answer. Should

they cleave to the old, or should they embrace the new? Some pressed

forward, others held back, and some, to their own confusion, replied in

dubious tones. Surrounded with doubting hearts and unstable minds,

Henry VIII. neither faltered nor failed. He ruled in a ruthless age with

a ruthless hand, he dealt with a violent crisis by methods of blood and

iron, and his measures were crowned with whatever sanction wordly success

can give. Whether or no the history of England for the past four centuries

has been all a mistake, whether or no she took the wrong path at the

parting of the ways in 1529, it was well for her peace and material

comfort that she had for her King, in her hour of need, a man, and a

man who counted the cost, faced the risk, and did with his might whatsoever

his hand found to do.
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